
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

People and Health Scrutiny Committee 
Date: Monday, 1 November 2021 

Time: 10.00 am 

Venue: A link to the meeting can be found on the front 
page of the agenda. 

Membership: (Quorum 3)  

 
Gill Taylor (Chairman), Molly Rennie (Vice-Chairman), Piers Brown, Barry Goringe, 

Nick Ireland, Robin Legg, Louie O'Leary, Mary Penfold, Bill Pipe and Daryl Turner 

 

 
Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, County Hall, Colliton Park,  

Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1XJ (Sat Nav DT1 1XJ) 
 
For more information about this agenda please telephone Fiona King  01305 224186 - 

fiona.king@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

 

 
For easy access to the Council agendas and minutes download the free public 

app Mod.gov for use on your iPad, Android and Windows tablet. Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council. 

Due to the current coronavirus pandemic the Council has reviewed its approach to holding 

committee meetings. Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting and listen 
to the debate either online by using the following link:- 

 
https://youtu.be/AdGReDFHvxE 

 
Members of the public wishing to view the meeting from an iphone, ipad or android 
phone will need to download the free Microsoft Team App to sign in as a Guest, it is 

advised to do this at least 30 minutes prior to the start of the meeting.    

 
Please note that public speaking has been suspended.  However Public Participation will 

continue by written submission only.  Please see detail set out below.  
 

Dorset Council is committed to being open and transparent in the way it carries out its 
business whenever possible.  A recording of the meeting will be available on the council’s 
website after the event.  

 

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/AdGReDFHvxE


A G E N D A 
 

  Page No. 

 

1   APOLOGIES 
 

 

 To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

 

2   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 To disclose any pecuniary, other registrable or non-registrable interest 

as set out in the adopted Code of Conduct. In making their disclosure 
councillors are asked to state the agenda item, the nature of the 

interest and any action they propose to take as part of their 
declaration.  
 

If required, further advice should be sought from the Monitoring Officer 
in advance of the meeting. 
 

 

3   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 

 

 To receive questions or statements on the business of the committee 

from town and parish councils and members of the public.  

Public speaking has been suspended for virtual committee 
meetings during the Covid-19 crisis and public participation will 
be dealt with through written submissions only.  

Members of the public who live, work or represent an organisation 

within the Dorset Council area, may submit up to two questions or a 
statement of up to a maximum of 450 words. All submissions must be 

sent electronically to fiona.king@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk  by the deadline 
set out below. When submitting a question please indicate who the 
question is for and include your name, address and contact details. 

Questions and statements received in line with the council’s rules for 
public participation will be published as a supplement to the agenda.  

Questions will be read out by an officer of the council and a response 

given by the appropriate Portfolio Holder or officer at the meeting. All 
questions, statements and responses will be published in full within the 
minutes of the meeting.  

The deadline for submission of the full text of a questions or 
statements is 8.30am on Wednesday 27 October 2021.  

Please refer to the guide to public participation at committee meetings 
for more information about speaking at meetings. 
 

 

mailto:fiona.king@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s23499/Participation%20at%20Committees.pdf


4   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS 

 

 

 To receive any questions from members in accordance with procedure 
rule 13. The deadline for the receipt of questions is 8.30am on 

Wednesday 27 October 2021. 
 

 

5   DORSET SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 

 
5 - 38 

 To consider the Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board annual report 
2020/21. 
 

 

6   ADULT CARE MARKET SUFFICIENCY AND THE IMPACT OF 
COVID-19 
 

39 - 54 

 To consider a report by the Interim Executive Director for People, 

Adults. 
 

 

7   HEALTH RECOVERY PLANS 

 
55 - 66 

 To review the recovery plans for the NHS and to receive an update on 
the Minor Injuries Units (MIUs). 
 

 

8   SOCIAL MOBILITY SELF-ASSESSMENT 
 

67 - 264 

 To consider a report from the Chief Executive. 
 

 

9   COMMITTEE AND CABINET FORWARD PLANS 
 

265 - 278 

 To consider the Committee’s Forward Plan and the Cabinet’s Forward 
Plan. 
 

 

10   URGENT ITEMS 
 

 

 To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 

notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4)b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972.  The reason for the urgency shall 

be recorded in the minutes. 
 

 

11   EXEMPT BUSINESS 
 

 

 To move the exclusion of the press and public for the following item in 

view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the meaning 
of paragraph 3 of schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (as 

amended). 
 

 



The public and press will be asked to leave the meeting whilst the item 

of business is considered. 
 

 

    
 



 

Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board 

Annual Report 2020-21 

 

The Board brings together all public, voluntary and 

community sector agencies cross Dorset with the aim of 

working together to protect adults at risk from abuse, harm, 

or neglect. We achieve this through joined up strategic 

leadership and collective accountability. 

Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board (dorsetcouncil.gov.uk) 

dsab@dorsetcc.gov.uk 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/care-and-support-for-adults/dorset-safeguarding-adults-board/dorset-safeguarding-adults-board.aspx


 

2 | P a g e  
 

 

Contents 

Introduction from the Independent Chair                   page 3                            
News about the incoming Independent Chair            page 4 
About the Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board             page 5 
Our Budget                                                                        page 6 
Local Safeguarding Activity                                             page 7 
Equalities data                                                                   page 8 
What we set out to achieve in 2020-21                        page 8 
Progress on the business plan 2020-21                         page 9 
Work of the subgroups                                                     page 11 
LGA Covid 19 Insight Project                                            page 14 

Our plans for 2021-22                                                       page 15 

A local safeguarding case study                                       page16 

Board member reports – challenges, achievements    page18 

and areas of focus 
Appendix 1 – List of current Board members                page 34                               
 

 

 

Page 6



 

3 | P a g e  
 

 

Introduction from the Independent Chair in 2020/ 2021     

The arrival of Covid-19 with its impact upon the most vulnerable in our society has overtaken many 

planned activities during 2020-21. There has often been little previous experience to guide 

professionals with decisions being made on the best possible information available at the time. 

Inevitably the focus for members of the Board has been on management of the pandemic in 

hospitals and the adult care sector. This has involved a step change in multi-agency work during the 

year and a more intensive engagement with the independent care sector.  

Patterns of safeguarding during the pandemic 

In the first quarter of 2020-21 the Association of Directors of Social Services (ADASS) undertook a 

national study of safeguarding data collated during April to June 2020 (the Insight report). In 

comparison with Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Dorset did not record a significant 

increase in safeguarding concerns in April and May but began to see an upward trend in June. In two 

of the three months, Section 42 enquiries stayed at a similar level to the previous year’s data. In line 

with national trends a greater number of concerns involved people in their own home. However, at 

the same time there was restricted access to care homes for the normal range of quality monitoring 

visits.  

A second Insight report will focus upon later stages of the pandemic and may indicate different 

trends. Some safeguarding issues, for example domestic abuse or the impact of prolonged social 

isolation upon self-neglect, mental health, and carer stress, may not be revealed fully until some 

months after ‘lockdown’ has finished. 

The Care Sector 

The Dorset & BCP Safeguarding Adults Review subgroup has examined the safeguarding response to 

the pandemic and identified many indications of assurance about the work organisations are 

undertaking to protect people in need of care and support. These include 

• The support that has and is being provided to the care sector, including financial assistance, 
provision of PPE. Care home support plans give more detail of these measures 

• Significant stepping up of multi-agency coordination from the beginning of the pandemic – 
one of the examples of good practice in the Insight report concerns the multiagency 
operational meetings run across Dorset and BCP. 

• Close liaison and involvement with provider representatives to enable their concerns to be 
heard and escalation of issues. 

• Positive feedback from providers re: the response when safeguarding issues have been 
raised 

• Examples of the Quality Assurance Process that have been provided by both local authorities 
showing how commissioning and quality improvement teams have monitored health and 
safety and infection control measures being implemented by care providers.  

It is clear that the positive relationships established during phase 1 of the pandemic have been a 

valuable foundation for continued joint work to manage the perhaps more widespread impact of 

Page 7



 

4 | P a g e  
 

phase 2 in the early months of 2021. Throughout decisions have had to be taken in real time to 

manage what is an unpredictable pandemic.  

‘Business as usual’ 

At the outset the DSAB identified a more limited business plan with the expectation that in some 

instance’s objectives would take longer than a year to be achieved. 

With support from Public Health the Boards have engaged in a national project seeking to improve 

the safeguarding response to alcohol dependent drinkers. The project has identified some best 

practice indicators for work with this group, which are being disseminated through national and local 

virtual seminars. 

This theme relates closely to another of the Board’s priorities, homeless people. The pandemic has 

led to many people who are long-term homeless, being offered accommodation with an increased 

focus upon their wellbeing. There has also needed to be careful assessment of the safeguarding risks 

for rough sleepers housed in temporary placements to prevent abuse by those with whom they are 

living in close proximity. 

The DSAB has continued to analyse the data regularly gathered about safeguarding and use this to 

promote improved practice. Some safeguarding enquiries resulted in no further action and these 

have been audited and learning identified to continue to improve practice.   

Looking back 

I am now stepping down after five and a half years as independent Chair. In that time, we have 

started to look at more issues in greater depth as illustrated, it now encompasses concerns for 

different groups such as the homeless and dependent drinkers and substance misusers. We are also 

more aware of the extent of sexual and financial exploitation. Some of the casework involving 

individuals caught up in these forms of abuse is increasingly complex and challenging.  

I want to express my appreciation of the excellent work being carried out by staff in all member 

organisations of the Board, exemplified more than ever during the past year.  

I must also thank the Board’s Business Manager, Administrator, and chairs of subgroups for their 

continued support. I am grateful for having had the opportunity to undertake such a worthwhile role 

and I have learned a great deal from all my colleagues. 

Barrie Crook 

Independent Chair, Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board 

News about incoming Joint Independent Chair – Siân Walker    

Since April 2021 Siân Walker has been the new joint independent chair of the Dorset Safeguarding 

Adults Board and the Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole Safeguarding Adults Board.  

Siân is a registered social worker with over 40 years’ experience working in social care and a wealth 

of knowledge in adult safeguarding. Sian is also currently Chair of the Bath & North East Somerset 

Page 8



 

5 | P a g e  
 

Community Safety & Safeguarding Partnership and previously Chaired 3 other safeguarding adults 

boards in Kingston, Lambeth and Devon prior to her appointment at the end of March 2021.  

Siân has led and chaired the regional South-West Chairs Network for 3 years and has recently been 

appointed as the national co-chair for the SAB Chairs Network.  With experience in diverse 

geographic areas, Siân is very well-placed to understand safeguarding issues pertaining to more rural 

areas as well as towns and cities.  

Siân is driven by a passion for excellence, ensuring all services to vulnerable people are person-

centred, easy to access and more importantly promote independence, while making sure people are 

safe. Sian’s experience and personal qualities combined will surely be an asset to the Boards during 

the course of her tenure. 

See Siân talk about her new role and the importance of adult safeguarding in the following YouTube 

link - 

Video for Safeguarding Week - YouTube 

 

About the Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board   

The Care Act (2014) states that every local authority must have a Safeguarding Adults Board. Each 

SAB has 3 core duties –  

• Develop and publish a strategic plan setting out how we will meet our objectives and how our 

member and partner agencies will contribute. 

• Publish an annual report detailing how effective our work has been. 

• Commission safeguarding adults’ reviews (SARs) for any cases which meet the criteria for these. 

The Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board (DSAB) was established on 2009 and is the statutory board 

that co-ordinates safeguarding adults work in Dorset. The Board meets quarterly to review and 

discuss safeguarding activity and consider ways that it can help to improve safeguarding practice and 

keep adults with care and support needs safe from abuse and neglect. 

The Board is not responsible for the delivery of any services but those agencies who do plan and 

deliver services locally, are represented on the Board (see Appendix 1). Each Board member must 

provide the DSAB with regular assurance that they are effectively responding to supporting and 

protecting those at risk of abuse and neglect. 

The Board also works to ensure that all resident living and working in Dorset understand their 

safeguarding responsibilities and know how to respond if they are made aware of a concern. 

Promoting and maintaining a positive relationship with providers and communities is central to 

creating a safe environment for all.  

As Dorset has two local authorities (Dorset Council and Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole Council) 

they must each have a Safeguarding Adults Board. However, we share one independent Chair and 4 

sub-groups who are responsible for completing the priorities the Boards have agreed should be 

undertaken throughout the year. This is reflected in a shared Business plan. Each of the subgroups is 

Chaired by a different member of the Board. 

Page 9

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=StMR6LeXa24


 

6 | P a g e  
 

 

*Figure showing subgroups are all shared with the BCP SAB   

  

Our Budget 

The DSAB maintains a working budget to enable it to undertake its work and the priorities identified 

in the business plan. Each year contributions are received from partners to support this work. 

 

 

Total budget 2020/21 - £50,709 

 

The budget funds the roles of the Independent Chair, Board Manager and Board Administrator who 

coordinate the work of the Board and its subgroups. These roles are hosted by Dorset Council on 

behalf of the Board. 

Page 10



 

7 | P a g e  
 

Local Adult Safeguarding Activity  

The Safeguarding Adults Collection (SAC) is a set of data recording details of all safeguarding activity 

relating to adults aged 18 and over in England. The SAC includes safeguarding activity reported to or 

identified by councils with adult social services responsibilities. The data includes demographic 

information about adults at risk and details of the incidents that have been alleged. It also refers to 

demographics (or the makeup of the local population), application of the mental capacity act and 

how, in Dorset we have addressed the principles of ‘making safeguarding personal’ as well as the 

number of formal safeguarding adults reviews which have been completed.  

 

Below is an infographic of safeguarding activity reported to Dorset in 2020/21 

 
Safeguarding data is received and scrutinised by the DSABs Quality Assurance subgroup. 

During 2020/21 we have seen an increase in the number of safeguarding concerns received 

particularly in June, September and November 2020 and March 2021. The average number of 

safeguarding concerns received each week during 2020/21 was 107 per week, compared to 80 per 

week in 2019/20.  

The number of safeguarding concerns which progressed to a S42 Safeguarding enquiry in 2020/21 

was 18% which is a 3% increase when compared to the figure for 2019/20 (15%). 

 

Page 11



 

8 | P a g e  
 

Equalities Data 

The Dorset Council area has a population of 375,00 residents, 28% of whom are aged 65 years and 

older.  

Data relating to primary support need shows that half of all safeguarding concerns received in 

2020/21 related to individuals requiring physical support.  

 

 

As highlighted in the infographics table above, women are almost twice as likely to be the subject of 

a S42 Safeguarding Enquiry than men in all age groups. The DSAB considers any additional 

preventative work that is required to support this group of individuals to remain safe. 

Data relating to ethnicity highlights that out of the 423 S42 Safeguarding enquiries undertaken 

during 202/21, 94% of individuals were recorded as white British. This is reflective of the Dorset 

Council area population, which is recorded as predominantly white British, with only 4.4% of Dorset 

residents recorded as being from black, Asian and other minority ethnic groups. 

Dorset’s beauty and rurality can conceal hidden pockets of deprivation. Whilst deprivation is mostly 

found in urbanised areas such as Weymouth and Portland, rural isolation and difficulty accessing 

housing, transport and essential services can have a significant impact on physical and mental 

wellbeing. Dorset has a large population of older people and relatively low birth rates. The 

population continues to grow slowly driven by people moving into the county and longer life 

expectancy. The life expectancy in Dorset is 80.9 years for men and 84.6 years for women. Further 

demographic information for Dorset can be accessed by following the links below -  

Understanding Dorset (dorsetcouncil.gov.uk)  

Life expectancy - Public Health Dorset 

 

What we set out to achieve during 2020-21 

Together with the BCP SAB, the Board set out what it wanted to achieve in its joint business 

plan Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board business plan 2020-22 - Dorset Council  

Page 12

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/your-council/about-your-council/dorset-council-plan/understanding-dorset.aspx
https://www.publichealthdorset.org.uk/intelligence/outcomes/life-expectancy.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/care-and-support-for-adults/dorset-safeguarding-adults-board/dorset-safeguarding-adults-board-business-plan-2020-22


 

9 | P a g e  
 

The Board has continued to work towards achieving the priorities -  

• Support the development of a more robust independent care and health provider 

market that leads to fewer safeguarding concerns. 

• Reduce the instances of people with care and support needs being involved in Domestic 

Abuse and improve the interface between Domestic Abuse and Safeguarding. 

• Help to establish working with the whole family as standard practice. 

• Evidence lessons from Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) and Domestic Homicide 

Reviews (DHRs) have changed the way we work. 

 

The business plan spanned 3 years and predated the Covid-19 pandemic. Although the Coronavirus 

Act (2020)  (Coronavirus Act 2020 (legislation.gov.uk) does not affect the statutory duties for 

safeguarding adults at risk as detailed in the Care Act (2014) and statutory guidance (Care and 

support statutory guidance - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) due to the pandemic we have all had to change 

the way in which we work and our partners have had to adapt and respond quickly to the significant 

and long term impact of the virus. This has required strategic partners to work effectively together 

to identify positive and efficient ways of working in order to support the safety and wellbeing of our 

communities.  

During the first lockdown period the Board was represented on the safeguarding and mental health 

sub group established as part of the ‘community shield’ response to enable a co-ordinated approach 

to supporting the emotional wellbeing and mental health of those individuals shielded or requiring 

support during this period. This group brought together key agencies including the local NHS Clinical 

Commissioning Group (CCG), Public Health, Children’s and Adults social care, Dorset Police, and the 

voluntary sector to promote a joined-up approach to supporting communities and vulnerable 

individuals. This group has now merged into the ‘Welfare Recovery Group’ which meets every 2 

weeks. An adult safeguarding update is provided to partners alongside education, ‘Live Well Dorset’ 

and the voluntary sector providing a richer picture of health and wellbeing across the whole county. 

Discussions from this meeting and any areas of particular concern are shared with the Dorset Local 

Resilience Forum (LRF). More information about the Dorset LRF can be found here –  

About the Local Resilience Forum | Dorset Local Resilience Forum (dorsetprepared.org.uk) 

The direction of the Board’s business plan has inevitably altered course to enable member 

organisations to focus on the most pressing issues associated with supporting people in the 

Pandemic. Safeguarding has remained at the heart of all activity; new ways of working have 

developed, and existing issues have required more innovative approaches to be identified. 

Throughout the last year partner organisations have consistently worked closely ensuring adult 

safeguarding has always remained a central focus and this is evidenced in the board member reports 

included in the following pages. 

 

Progress on Business Plan Priorities during 2020/21 

The Safeguarding Adults Board continues to monitor safety through data analysis and contributing to 

support plans in the care sector. The Boards joint business plan( Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board 

Page 13

https://www.dorsetprepared.org.uk/about-the-lrf/
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/care-and-support-for-adults/dorset-safeguarding-adults-board/dorset-safeguarding-adults-board-business-plan-2020-22


 

10 | P a g e  
 

business plan 2020-22 - Dorset Council ) plan was based on a 3-year strategy and predated the Covid 

19 pandemic.  

 

A reflective learning event was held with SAB members in November 2020 with a focus on 

understanding the experiences of board member organisations, Public Health Dorset and the care 

sector during the pandemic.  Its purpose was to share information, identify ways to prevent future 

harm, particularly in the context of increased infection rates during the winter period when the 

health and social care system was already under stress. An update was provided by commissioners 

about the challenges in residential, nursing, and domiciliary care settings. The pressure on 

recruitment and staff retention in an already fragile market has been amplified further by the 

pandemic. At the March 2021 Joint Board meeting a presentation was provided by both Local 

Authorities and the CCG detailing the ongoing supportive work being delivered to the provider 

sector. 

 

In previous years the SAB has supported providers, at an annual event which sadly was not possible 

in this reporting year. However, contact has been maintained and the SAB did seek the views of 

providers and ask what assistance would be welcomed. Relationships between the LAs and the 

provider market have been positive with daily and weekly phone calls being made to provide 

reassurance, guidance and support.  

Domestic abuse remains a continuing priority. The Board works closely with the Community Safety 

Partnership to develop and maintain a coordinated approach when responding to adults who have 

care and support needs and are experiencing domestic abuse or coercion and control. The Board 

recognises that domestic abuse between older partners or familial abuse has not always been fully 

understood and responded to effectively. The impact of Covid 19 restrictions are also recognised as 

having impacted on carer stress.   Adult Safeguarding data has been interrogated regularly to ensure 

any increases in concerns are identified and discussed.   

 
Understanding and responding to self-neglect also remains an ongoing priority and there is 

recognition of the risk of self-neglect increasing because of the Covid 19 virus as people became 

increasingly isolated, lonely, bereaved or as financial burdens intensified. The SAR sub-group has 

also been considering more cases of suicide. The Board actively engages with the ‘Pan-Dorset Suicide 

Prevention Steering Group’. 

 

It is acknowledged that an overarching governance structure for safeguarding in its widest sense 

would help to mitigate the risk of duplication across partnerships and lead to better coordination 

and outcomes for the person. Different models of governance which bring together the 

responsibilities of children and adult safeguarding and community safety are being implemented in 

some authorities. The SAB review, which commenced with an independent report in October 2019 

following local government reorganisation, was paused due to the pandemic. There is now a need to 

integrate into our planning the learning from how the whole safeguarding system has responded to 

the pandemic, the pattern of new safeguarding risks and the identified needs which have resulted 

from it. 

 
A new Board structure and governance arrangement will be agreed, and implementation plans 

designed during 2021/22. This will be overseen by the incoming SAB Independent Chair 

Page 14

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/care-and-support-for-adults/dorset-safeguarding-adults-board/dorset-safeguarding-adults-board-business-plan-2020-22


 

11 | P a g e  
 

In conjunction with Public Health Dorset and the BCP Safeguarding Adults Board, the DSAB 

has been involved in a major national project with Alcohol Change UK focusing on safeguarding 

vulnerable dependent drinkers. The project focuses on developing alternative approaches and care 

pathways for drinkers whose alcohol dependency is particularly entrenched and chronic.  The 

learning from this project will assist Board members to understand their responsibilities and how the 

legal frameworks can be applied to improve the outcomes for these individuals, their families, and 

communities. A series of learning sessions are also currently being planned for 2021/22 to support 

agencies to work positively with this group of individuals. 

Read the projects findings and guidance on how to use legal powers to safeguard highly vulnerable 

dependent drinkers in England and Wales here –  

Safeguarding-guide-final-August-2021.pdf 

 

Work of the Boards Subgroups 

As highlighted in the diagram above the DSAB shares 4 sub-groups with the Bournemouth, 

Christchurch & Poole Safeguarding Adults Board to maintain a joined-up approach across the whole 

of the county. During 2020/21 the subgroups have worked to align their workplan areas to ensure 

clear linkages are maintained which are translated back to the Boards’ strategic plan objectives.  

Policy & Procedures Subgroup 

The Policy & Procedures subgroup meets four times a year and has focussed on the oversight and 

revision of the Pan-Dorset Safeguarding Adults Procedures.  These are available on the Board 

website (currently hosted by Dorset Council Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board - Dorset Council) 

The refresh of the procedures in 2020/21 was paused due to the pandemic and group members 

needing to prioritise their focus to the pandemic response. An updated document is however now 

being prepared for publication in the summer of 2021.The group has continued to focus on 

modifying the procedures to enable a document to be developed which will be more accessible. 

The sub-group has also overseen a ‘communication and media campaigns task and finish group’ to 

update posters and has distributed these to all vaccination centres in Dorset.  This provided an 

opportunity to communicate the message that ‘safeguarding is everyone’s business’ and reach a 

wide community audience to ensure they knew where to contact should they have a safeguarding 

concern about an adult with care and support needs.  The posters and other resources can be 

accessed via the Boards website using this link Learning and development - Dorset Council 

 

Page 15

https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/files.alcoholchange.org.uk/documents/Safeguarding-guide-final-August-2021.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/care-and-support-for-adults/dorset-safeguarding-adults-board/dorset-safeguarding-adults-board
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/care-and-support-for-adults/dorset-safeguarding-adults-board/learning-and-development-3


 

12 | P a g e  
 

 Quality Assurance Subgroup 

The Quality Assurance (QA)subgroup meets quarterly to support the Safeguarding Adults Boards to 

take a strategic overview of the quality of safeguarding activity across its area of responsibility. The 

group reviews and analyses data and performance across all agencies and also the local Council data 

as the Council is responsible for completion of the statutory Safeguarding Adults Collection (SAC) 

Safeguarding Adults - NHS Digital 

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) is integral to supporting improvements in provision and 

practice to ensure effective prevention and early intervention. Making Safeguarding Personal means 

that every agency must ensure that when they intervene to protect or prevent someone from being 

harmed abused or neglected, people must be asked what it is they would like to happen.  We should 

all always listen to the views of people to ensure that the person remains at the very centre of their 

safeguarding journey. 

The subgroup interprets data from partner organisations to effectively identify trends, themes and 

key areas of focus. Referrals for Advocacy and reviews of contract monitoring of care and health 

providers are regularly undertaken to ensure effective support and representation of people’s views 

and wishes. 

This subgroup holds responsibility for assuring the Board that there are effective and accountable 

safeguarding adults monitoring systems in place. It produces a quarterly report to the board 

highlighting individual agency safeguarding themes, approaches and service provision and holds 

responsibility for ensuring this is maintained across all partner organisations. This enables the Board 

to consider how it should respond and whether it needs to focus on any areas for inclusion in its 

Business Plan. 

 

A major focus of the QA subgroup throughout 2020/21 was a comprehensive review of the Multi 

Agency Risk Management (MARM) Guidance. MARM originates in good practice which enables 

agencies to share information where there are concerns about a person living in the community. The 

MARM process must involve the person in discussions, enable them to participate and have their 

views heard.   

The review of the guidance was achieved through an independent audit to evaluate how MARMs are 

being used by agencies and their impact. It was reassuring to the Board that MARMs are used 

positively and are a valuable tool in bringing agencies together. Actions arising from the audit which 

the Board is now focusing on include a review of the guidance to update terminology and recording 

templates and a quick guide resource to support practitioners to convene and understand the 

principles of MARM which are based on Making Safeguarding Personal and Strengths-Based Practice. 

The Board’s Training & Workforce Development subgroup will also support in the design and 

delivery of multi-agency training to improve understanding, confidence and skill amongst agencies 

and practitioners of the purpose and effective use of MARMs.  

 

Page 16

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/safeguarding-adults


 

13 | P a g e  
 

   Training & Workforce Development Subgroup 

The Training & Workforce Development (TWD) Subgroup welcomed in a new Chair during 2020/21 

which has provided a new direction and focus for the group.  The Terms of Reference have been 

reviewed and updated and placed on the DSAB website.  TWD subgroup work during 2020/21 

included the following -  

 

• TWD Representation at the quarterly Pan Dorset Safeguarding Children’s Partnership 

meeting for training ensured sharing information regarding training across Children’s and 

Adults supporting the ‘Whole Family’ approach.  

• In February the TWD Sub-group hosted Mike Ward from Alcohol Change UK in delivering an 

update on the Safeguarding Vulnerable Dependent Drinkers Project.  47 people attended the 

virtual training session from across the Partnership. Professor Michael Preston-Shoot 

undertook research into the learning from SAR’s, this work identified that alcohol was a 

factor in approximately 25% of SARs sampled and provided the backdrop for the project.  

The session provided examples of how people dependent on drugs or alcohol were not 

being supported effectively due to the constraints of the legal framework in the UK 

• The subgroup and Board were reassured that all partner organisations are now delivering 

training via virtual means and this, although not fully back to pre-Covid rates, has moved on 

significantly. 

• The subgroup has developed a new system where safeguarding themes identified from 

referrals and reviews considered by the Safeguarding Adult Review subgroup, are shared to 

allow learning to be identified and embedded within organisations.   

• The TWD produced a Report for the Boards providing assurance that all member 

organisations were delivering training and/or learning that supported the Boards priorities 

of ‘Self-neglect’ and ‘Domestic Abuse’. This was achieved through canvassing all Board 

member organisations.  

 

 Safeguarding Adults Reviews Subgroup 

Under the Care Act 2014, the DSAB is responsible for the coordination of Safeguarding Adults 

Reviews (SARs). These are statutory independent reviews commissioned where there has been an 

incident of serious harm or death involving an adult at risk. SARs are about learning and not 

apportioning blame. They set out to establish what may have gone wrong and to identify where 

agencies or individuals could have acted differently or worked better together. SARs also recognise 

the complexity of safeguarding work and will also identify areas where there has been good practice. 

Recommendations are made at the end of a SAR and this will often include the learning needed to 

prevent future incidents of serious harm or death from happening again. This learning is shared 

Page 17



 

14 | P a g e  
 

across all partners and a multi-agency action plan is developed.  The Board is responsible for holding 

partner agencies to account for the learning they undertake. 

During 2020/2021, one review was undertaken. The review will conclude in July 2021 and findings 

will be published in 2021/22 and reported in next year’s annual report. An action plan will be 

developed, and progress updates requested from agencies on a quarterly basis to ensure learning 

has been shared and the required changes made to process and practice. 

A second SAR was agreed by the Board in 2020/21. An independent author has been identified to 

complete this review which began in March 2021. This review is not yet complete.  

The SAR Subgroup continues to monitor learning and progress, following SARs which were 

considered in previous years in Dorset.  The Board is considering our approach to implementing the 

recommendations and gathering assurance in light of the findings from the National SAR Analysis, 

which was completed at the end of 2020. 

Analysis of Safeguarding Adult Reviews: April 2017 - March 2019 | Local Government Association 

 

     LGA Covid-19 Safeguarding Insight Project 

The Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board has worked in partnership with the local authority to 

participate in this important ‘Insight Project’.  It was established to create a national picture 

regarding safeguarding activity during the Covid 19 pandemic. Dorset Council has and continues to 

submit data to the project on a voluntary basis.  

The majority of Local Authorities saw a marked drop in safeguarding concerns during the initial 

weeks of the Covid 19 lockdown but a return to normal levels by June 2020. This was expected as 

restrictions were eased. The trend in safeguarding enquiries showed a similar decline nationally 

during the initial weeks of the lockdown period.  

The percentage distribution of abuse types identified in safeguarding enquiries did not appear to 

change considerably overall. Whilst there was national evidence that some forms of abuse, 

particularly domestic abuse, had increased within some local authorities this was not the case in the 

Dorset Council area.  

The percentage of safeguarding enquiries undertaken where the risk is located in the persons own 

home has increased nationally and Dorset has also seen an increasing trend of ‘own home’ location 

in its safeguarding data analysis (Q1 2020/21 = 48%, Q4 2020/21 59%). This could be as a direct 

result of confinement of people in their own homes but requires additional analysis and has been 

brought to the Boards attention for further consideration.  Conversely whilst providers remain the 

primarily safeguarding concern referral source there has been a decrease both nationally and locally 

of risk being located in nursing and residential homes (Q1 2020/21 = 38%, Q4 2020/21 34%). This 

may suggest that because of a lack of outside scrutiny such as care quality monitoring visits 

safeguarding has not always been identified and reported. The reintroduction of these monitoring 

visits may lead to a number of quality and safeguarding issues being identified.  

Page 18

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/analysis-safeguarding-adult-reviews-april-2017-march-2019


 

15 | P a g e  
 

Covid 19 has presented new areas and cases for consideration under safeguarding particularly in 

relation to self-neglect, including the cancellation of care services. The local authority has worked 

proactively with providers throughout the crisis to maintain positive support networks and an open 

relationship via daily and weekly telephone calls from Commissioning, Quality and Brokerage to care 

providers to provide additional support and an opportunity to discuss any concerns including 

safeguarding related. Regular updates are also received by the specialist safeguarding team about 

any Covid related information and the number of cases identified in care settings from 

Commissioning. This has helped the safeguarding team to monitor concerns when raised. For those 

individuals who would ordinarily attend day service provision, regular contact has also been 

maintained with providers to ensure the persons health and wellbeing is maintained.  

 Many of the effects and impact of Covid 19 and lockdown on safeguarding activity are localised and 

may differ between different parts of England.  However, it is acknowledged both nationally and 

locally that the challenges of social distancing brought a further layer of complexity to the 

safeguarding enquiry process. The practicalities of progressing safeguarding enquiries were more 

difficult, and this has impacted on Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) more challenging. The 

pandemic has created new complexities and barriers for people to report their experiences of abuse 

and neglect as well as the ability to engage meaningfully with individuals. New and creative ways of 

engagement with people and their communities must continue to develop as we continue through 

the crisis.  

The Insight project is currently still live and therefore a fuller analysis of the project’s findings will 

not be available until the next reporting year. However, the initial report and findings are being used 

by the local authority and the Board to benchmark, reflect and identify issues which can support 

learning and change. 

Further information about the project can be accessed here - 

COVID-19 Adult safeguarding insight project: findings and discussion | Local Government Association 

COVID-19 Adult Safeguarding Insight Project - Second Report (July 2021) | Local Government 

Association 

 

Our Plans for 2021/22 

With a new joint independent chair this gives us an opportunity to review and refresh the way we 

work. With 2 Boards across Dorset, reviewing our structure and process will enable us to deliver a 

clearly focused strategic plan which is easy to understand for everyone and will be focused on 

involving citizens and communities. 

The new strategic plan will take account of the challenges that our citizens and partners have faced 

throughout the pandemic.  

We have identified that transitional safeguarding and homelessness are key priority areas and we 

will be agreeing our other key priorities at the September board meeting. 

Once complete the Boards new strategic plan will be available for review on the SAB websites. 

 

Page 19

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/covid-19-adult-safeguarding-insight-project-findings-and-discussion
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/covid-19-adult-safeguarding-insight-project-second-report-july-2021
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/covid-19-adult-safeguarding-insight-project-second-report-july-2021


 

16 | P a g e  
 

A local safeguarding case study 

 

 

                                                     

 

 

Edith is an older woman who has some mobility issues and can only walk short distances using a 
crutch for support. She would normally take a taxi to the shops, but as she wasn’t going out due to 
Covid-19 restrictions, was asking her son to collect some shopping.  

Edith’s son lives with her and requires support with his mental health. He is also reported to have 
some substance misuse issues. 

Edith gives her bank card to her son to use on her behalf for small contactless payments for food 
shopping. She has always been reluctant to accept any external support. She is a proud woman and 
is concerned about the cost of any care. 

A safeguarding concern was received from Dorset Police who had been contacted by Edith’s bank.  
The Bank were concerned about large cashpoint withdrawals resulting in Edith’s capital reducing and 
leaving her with insufficient money for food. 

Police also raised concerns about self-neglect as the condition of Edith’s home were very cluttered 
and hazardous with unclean kitchen surfaces and carpets.  There was also mouldy food in the fridge. 

The police and safeguarding team were concerned about Edith continuing to give her son her bank 
card and money and were worried that he maybe was coercively controlling her. Her unwillingness 
to accept any help also increased concern about her risk of self-neglect and abuse. 

Page 20



 

17 | P a g e  
 

How could Edith be supported to safeguard herself?  

  
It was established that Edith had a supportive granddaughter, and together they visited the bank.  
The bank spoke about their concerns with Edith and they agreed that she would only withdraw up to 
£50.00 per day and that she would visit the bank in person to do so. Other than food, all her bills are 
covered by direct debits and therefore she did not need to access larger sums of money daily. 
 
The safeguarding team also spoke with Edith about considering donating her Lasting Power of 
Attorney to her granddaughter, and in the meantime agreed that she could be the second person on 
her bank account, to monitor expenditure. Online shopping was discussed as a further safeguard, 
but Edith has always enjoyed going to the shops and wished to retain this aspect of her 
independence.  Advice was also given about care and support options and Edith agreed to an 
Occupational Therapy assessment to help her think about ways to increase her independence. 
Whilst there have remained some concerns about instances where Edith has given her son money, 
her granddaughter has access to the account and can monitor withdrawals.  
 
The trust that Edith built with the safeguarding team led to her engaging with adult social care who 
have been able to assist with some tasks around the home and collecting shopping improving her 
wellbeing and safety. Plans have also been made for Edith to visit the GP surgery to meet with her 
social worker and grand-daughter enabling her the opportunity to talk about home in a safe space 
and without worrying about her son being in the next room or listening in on the phone.  
 

Positive Outcomes: 

 
Edith continues to remain in her own home with her son, which is what she wanted. Support has 
been put in place to safeguard her finances and assist her to manage her home environment which 
has reduced concerns about self-neglect. 
 
Good multi-agency working and with liaison between the Police, Bank, Safeguarding, Locality Social 
Worker, and others enabled a positive relationship to be built with Edith and her expressed wishes 
to be respected and acted upon. 
 
NB – Edith is a pseudonym to protect identity. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21



 

18 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Board Member Reports 

We recognise that all communities and every aspect of adult social care including safeguarding 

services have been affected by the Covid-19 pandemic, it has been an exceptional year for all of us. 

The Covid-19 pandemic has also disrupted professional and supportive services relationships with 

children, families, carers and adults with care and support needs.  

Forced to stay at home during the pandemic, some families have reported a positive impact in 

spending more time with loved ones. In contrast, others have found the experience very isolating 

and lonely or feel unsafe. They raised further concerns about the impact on mental health and 

emotional wellbeing for all ages, and the resilience of families across the paid and unpaid workforce 

All the Member reports below reflect delivering safeguarding services in a different and difficult 

context. 

 

 

                  

Dorset Council maintained a key focus on adult safeguarding throughout the year despite the 

challenges brought about by Covid 19. Outlined below are some of the achievement and challenges 

throughout 2020/21 and identified areas of focus for 2021/22:   

2020/21 Achievements 

• 600 staff have completed the safeguarding adults e-learning module which is available in the 

new learning hub 

• Safeguarding, domestic abuse, coercive and controlling behaviour and scams awareness raising 

sessions were delivered as part of this year’s Festival of Learning  

• 198 staff attended supplementary learning events including sessions on domestic abuse and 

substance misuse  

• Adult Social Care working with the DSAB, Dorset Council Children’s Services and Community 

Safety Partnership has strengthened relationships by holding regular strategic meetings to share 

insights  

Page 22



 

19 | P a g e  
 

• The Mental Health and Safeguarding subgroup of the ‘Community Shield’ Response was 

highlighted as best practice by the LGA as part of the Covid 19 insight project which had 

representation from the SAB, adult social care, voluntary sector and other council colleagues 

• The safeguarding service is a key member of daily High Risk Domestic Abuse (HRDA) meetings 

and chairs a monthly panel to drive improvement in knowledge and local responsiveness to 

domestic abuse with improved working relationships with police and other partners  

• The focus on quality of practice continued during the year through case file audits. Findings 

revealed good decision-making practice was in place. An action plan for further improvements is 

in place and being monitored  

• Just under 400 participants attended the Mental Capacity Act conference in March 2021 this was 

good representation given Covid19 pressures. The theme was Life, Liberty and the Pursuit of 

Happiness. Keynote speakers were His Honour Judge Simmons (how decisions are made in the 

Court of Protection); Ken Wilson psychiatrist (brain injury and how this can impact on capacity); 

Dr Ben Henry psychiatrist (interface between the MCA and the Mental Health Act); and Lorraine 

Currie chair of the National MCA Forum and Social Worker (personal reflections on how to 

provide support in a less restrictive way). The conference received some excellent feedback. 

• The Mental Capacity Act Team continued to prioritise and attend the Learning Disability 

Mortality Review (LeDer) Panel, advising on good practice the quality of care people receive 

around their death 

• A Risk and Enablement Forum was established to support frontline staff in managing complex 

and high-risk situations, and is working well 

• Commissioning and Quality colleagues have continued to provide direct support to providers to 

keep service users and families safe and have been flexible and adapted practices and processes 

to do so. For example:  

 

- Continuous support and engagement in the Covid 19 Outbreak Management meetings 
- Ensuring Infection, Prevention and Control Funding is used innovatively such as: 

ensuring staff worked only at one site, funding staff to be paid to self-isolate, create 
larger changing spaces for staff and to supply more uniforms / scrubs, providers were 
encouraged to increase the use of technology to help residents stay in touch with 
families i.e. more computer tablets to enable Zoom and Skype calls.  

- Ensuring communications are concise and clear. Keeping care providers up to date with 
the ever-changing Government guidelines and providing additional funding for ‘Partners 
in Care’ to support this. 

- Actively participating in the newly established Social Care Subgroup to ensure system 
leaders and provider representatives agree approaches  

- Supporting all non-regulated care providers commissioned within the prevention 
portfolio to alter their operating models to ensure a greater virtual presence, as well as 
contributing to the wider community response ensuring groceries and medication needs 
were responded to 

- Developed a Care Collaborative Group 
- Supported care providers to complete government tracker systems and completed 

government questionnaires and self-assessments to help the Government better 
understand the impact of Covid on adult social care including providing information on 
providers and the different types of provision, the workforce, carers and informal carers 

- Ensuring care providers continue to have access to PPE 

Page 23



 

20 | P a g e  
 

- Supporting the vaccination roll out as required – by March 2021 4000 care home staff 
had their first vaccine 

- Working closely with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and the local NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) to ensure oversight of health and care provider settings - 
quality visits have taken place in different ways to comply with social distancing and this 
has involved weekly well-being calls to care home managers, to support to understand 
frequently changing Gov.uk guidance and offer additional support to manage Outbreaks 
where needed 

 
Challenges  

• Responding to a sustained increase in safeguarding activity during the pandemic 

• Application of the ethos of ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ – further work is needed to support 

staff and embed this in practice 

• Continuing to ensure services are safely staffed and can meet the needs of the community – this 

is likely to be extremely challenging from a workforce perspective 

 

2021/22 Areas of focus 

• Enable citizens to contact adult social care more easily by enhancing our ‘front door’ approach 

• Establishment of a Quality Improvement Process in adult social care to drive and monitor 

safeguarding practice, quality assurance and performance across operational teams.    

 

 
Housing update 

 

2020/21 Achievements 

Since the beginning of the pandemic, in March 2020, Dorset Council Housing Services has led a major shift – 

across a wider partnership - in how we have responded to homelessness demand.  This is to maintain our 

statutory duties during the pandemic, but also to adapt our service delivery to deal with new pressures, 

new ways of working and implementing changes in Government policy.  Not least of these has been the 

response to the ‘Everyone In’ initiative.  This has been an area where there have been significant 

safeguarding factors, with many of the people facing homelessness also living with drug and alcohol 

addiction, mental ill-health and complex needs.   

We developed the new approach in alliance with strong work across the voluntary sector.  Notably, The 

Lantern Trust, Julian House, Bus Shelter Project and Shelter.  There is a tight partnership in place across 

sectors.  Domestic tensions and abuse, tenancy security, rent arrears are continuing concerns and are a 

central part of our work.  There were also considerable community pressures to manage, so that any anti-

social behaviour in Weymouth was managed firmly but sensitively by the various agencies.  Weekly tactical 

meetings with the Police and enforcement agencies worked very well, to make sure that service users were 

supported at the same time as ensuring community safety. 

We have made a strong start in moving people on from B&Bs into settled housing. We work closely with 

partner Housing Associations to make best use of their stock.  They have been proactive in offering 

properties for the immediate needs for temporary housing, as well as the permanent lettings which are 

made available to us.  We look for solutions across Dorset Council area, recognising the greatest pressures 

focusing on the Weymouth and Portland area.   

Page 24



 

21 | P a g e  
 

We maintain a focus on strong ‘prevention’ advice to help people avoid housing crisis, explore options to 

remain in current homes, or find suitable alternatives.  We are developing options to provide consistently 

effective ‘wrap-around’ support for emergency housing, in the right locations. Reliance on B&Bs is 

reducing.  We want to maintain this, especially if demand rises due to the eviction ban being lifted.   

During the Winter, we operated a successful shelter to keep people safe and off the streets.  Safe Sleep 

2021 was run by the Lantern Trust, as a ‘Covid-safe’ shelter to keep rough sleepers safe from the threat of 

cold weather. This ran from 4 January to 31 March 2021.  It was funded via £50,000 MHCLG funds allocated 

to Dorset Council alongside £41,000 funding awarded to the Lantern Trust from the Homelessness Winter 

Transformation Fund, so was a great way to channel funding into the most acute areas of need.   

When the Severe Weather Emergency Protocol was triggered eight people sleeping rough across the 

county, some of whom do not want accommodation found for them, strong outreach work has taken place 

with them to ensure their safety and welfare.  We also pledged to support our rough sleepers to register 

with a GP, so that they were able to receive the COVID-19 vaccine at the earliest opportunity. This worked 

well, with a high take-up of vaccinations from this group, run by the local charity, The Lantern Trust. 

The benefit of joint working has continued to bear fruit and Dorset Council’s success in securing funding 

targets to support those who need assistance with their use of alcohol or other drugs and help them 

rebuild their lives. The project,  supports people to access detox and rehabilitation services outside Dorset 

where appropriate, as well as improving wraparound support in the local area, e.g. access to mental health, 

substance misuse workers and peer mentors, who are key to working with vulnerable people in treatment 

services. 

 

Challenges  

Challenges remain, based around the demand for housing exceeding supply available.  There is a strong 

new-build programme, delivered by locally active Housing Associations, where affordable housing for rent 

is provided for people in need.  This does not fully meet the need from people and families waiting in 

urgent or emergency categories on our Housing Register.  We also rely on the private rented sector 

providing settled or temporary housing for people in need, with this currently being a challenging area due 

to the buoyancy of the market rent, sale and holiday let market (making these options more attractive to 

landlords).  Providing a decent affordable home is key to maintaining health and well-being across our 

population, particularly for people who are vulnerable or at risk.  We work with local Housing Associations 

and property owners prepared to lease homes to us, so that we find suitable options. 

 

2021/22 Future Focus 

In the coming year, Dorset Council will develop a new Housing Strategy, pulling together all aspects of 

Housing to include analysis of need, demand, supply and the standards we expect as a Housing Authority.  

This will include a close analysis of the support needs associated with the provision of Housing, so that 

people are guided and supported to maintain tenancies and live independently and well in their own 

homes.  The ‘revolving door’ of homelessness, where people may struggle to maintain a tenancy and then 

revert to being homeless, is a key area of focus, to make sure people are able to settle and live well.  There 

will also be a focus on housing conditions, recognising that some of the worst standards are in the private 

rented sector, and make sure that these are tackled through advice, encouragement, and enforcement 

within Dorset’s landlords.  

Page 25



 

22 | P a g e  
 

 

 

NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) plan develop and commission health services on 

behalf of the local people. Our key providers include Dorset HealthCare, Dorset County Hospital, 

University Hospitals Dorset, South Western Ambulance Service, Salisbury Hospital, Southampton 

Hospital and Yeovil Hospital, as well as providers from the charitable, voluntary and private sectors. 

Challenges 

Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, practice has transformed through virtual working and the use of 

digital technology.  The pandemic has seen a rise in the complexity of domestic abuse incidents, an 

increase in Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHR) and referrals to HRDA and MARAC and also, an increase 

in incidents not meeting the threshold for criminal proceedings. Adult safeguarding referrals have 

reported frauds and scams targeted at the elderly and increased isolation for those in society who 

were already vulnerable.  

Safeguarding training compliance has been impacted on across all services due to the additional 

system pressures, however credit to all for transforming training into the virtual space so readily.   

Areas of focus 

The CCG has been supporting partners in shielding the most vulnerable and working with community 

safety partners in addressing the impact from lockdown. Targeted communication campaigns have 

been rolled out including domestic abuse, exploitation, frauds and scams and the impact of low level 

but frequent alcohol consumption. 

In Primary Care, the GP’s focus has been on understanding safeguarding demand and risk across the 

population and its link to health inequalities.    

Achievements 

• The team has embraced the ethos of “Think Family” working across the system to support 
each other and consider the impact of adults on children and vice versa.  

• A new streamlined approach to information sharing for MARAC and HRDA meetings. 

• The CCG Adult Lead chairs a High-Risk Domestic Abuse Conference monthly, enabling 
oversight of the quality of referrals and completion of health actions. 

• Domestic abuse has been the focus of a CCG well-being blog with resources attached, and also 
within the CCG’s Men’ s Health Forum.  

• A tracker for learning from statutory reviews has been developed, to identify learning to 
improve practice.  

• General Practice training has resumed and is cascaded via GP Safeguarding Leads. 

• The majority of health staff undertook Level 4/5 safeguarding training this year.  

• NHSE SW have funded a module for all Partners with Bournemouth University on risk 
assessment and decision-making in safeguarding.  

 
 

Page 26



 

23 | P a g e  
 

 

Dorset Police are committed to effectively targeting our resources on the basis of threat, risk and 

harm to safeguard our most vulnerable members of the community. We regularly engage with local 

people and partners to ensure we work collaboratively to fulfil the core policing duty of protecting 

our communities. 

Achievements 

During 2020/21 the recruitment of 3 vulnerability lawyers has expanded the ability of Dorset Police 

to obtain civil orders in order to protect victims.  For example, in 2019 we secured 53 Domestic 

Violence Protection Orders (DVPOs) but in 2020 it was 133. 

 

Throughout COVID the team has shown great flexibility in continuing to provide a service to partner 

agencies and vulnerable victims.   

 

The Adult Safeguarding specialist within in the Safeguarding Referral Unit has developed excellent 

relationships with colleagues in other agencies allowing effective discussions around safeguarding 

concerns. 

 

Challenges 

Due to sharp rises in demand in other areas such as domestic abuse and child protection the Adult 

Safeguarding Team (AST) has decreased in size and has less investigative capability.  This has meant 

that most investigations are passed to officers in general teams such as CID and uniform 

policing.  The AST still has 3 Detective Sergeants, 1 Detective Inspector and 1 Detective Chief 

Inspector who will still provide tactical advice and case direction but the ability to retain enquiries 

within AST has been reduced. 

 

We recognise that it can be frustrating for partner agencies when we change roles in the Police.  Due 

to sickness, promotions and maternity we have had a number of changes in our Inspector, Chief 

Inspector and Superintendent positions over the last 12 months.  It is hoped that this is now more 

stable as it is recognised that there is a need for consistency if partnership working is to be 

successful. 

 

It is felt that the Police are often asked to Chair Multi Agency Risk Management (MARM) meetings 

even when they are not the lead agency.  This usually occurs as a result of an action from a Multi-

Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) or High Risk Domestic Abuse (HRDA) meeting and can 

have an impact on the time-management of the Sergeants who have a number of competing 

demands on their time.  In addition, a member of the AST is often asked to attend a MARM when it 

should be the officer dealing with the investigation attending.  This can lead to some frustration 

from the other agencies attending who want an update on the investigation which the AST member 

of staff is not able to provide. 

Page 27



 

24 | P a g e  
 

Areas of Focus 

 

An area where we will increase our focus is on modern slavery and exploitation.  We continue to 

receive intelligence about issues such as pop-up brothels and domestic servitude and we will seek to 

drive some pro-active work around that. 

 

We will be increasing our use of Civil Orders.  Dorset Police now has 3 vulnerability lawyers and with 

their expertise we will be seeking to use new legislation such as the Modern Slavery and Stalking 

Protection Orders to tackle some of our repeat offenders. 

 

Our Force Intelligence Bureau are leading on some work to identify the offenders causing the most 

harm.  Some of this cohort will include those that prey on vulnerable adults and the work will assist 

in identifying enforcement opportunities. 

 

 

 
 

Achievements 

During 2020/21 there has been promotion of a positive safeguarding culture, achieved through 

innovation and the use of remote and digital platforms. Embedding ‘Safeguarding Everyone, Think 

Family’ embracing children, adults, families, and contextual safeguarding has continued with the 

development of resources to support staff’s understanding. Domestic Abuse learning has been a 

quality priority, and this includes completion of an internal eLearning package. The link safeguarding 

practitioner programme has been developed and launched, following the positive evaluation of a 

pilot project working with Steps to Wellbeing. Safeguarding has been central at the Large-Scale 

Vaccination site with awareness rising training programmes for individuals, volunteers and staff as 

well as developing resources such as posters and information in public places.  

Challenges 

Undoubtedly, this year has brought unprecedented challenge. The pandemic led to several changes 

within DHC in a very short time frame, including the successful introduction of remote working.   

During the year there was an increase in the number of safeguarding advice calls into the DHC 

service; this was the result of both an increased awareness amongst staff, and the three periods of 

lockdown. Analysis of the calls showed that they were primarily around complex case management 

where the individual had not met the criteria for adult safeguarding and included complex Domestic 

Abuse and Self Neglect.  

At times, communication and feedback from Local Authority and Police colleagues has been more 

challenging than usual for DHC practitioners, so an internal escalation process has been established 

which promotes effective challenge for cases where there is drift, or where risk is escalating.   

 

Page 28



 

25 | P a g e  
 

Areas of focus 

During the year the service has continued to support the DHC Mental Capacity Act team preparing to 

embed the Liberty Protection Safeguards.  

There has been focused work on data collection to ensure it is meaningful, adding value around 

workforce management and population safeguarding. Work has also taken place with clinical 

systems to ensure data is used effectively and in a complementary way. 

MAPPA arrangements across the Trust have been strengthened with a particular focus on the level 1 

& 2 cases and strong links have been built with the MAPPA coordinator and police.  

The safeguarding service has used a skill mix model to grow and develop. This has allowed a focus on 

the transfer and effective dissemination of learning from reviews, the embedding of the six 

principles of safeguarding and ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ whilst adopting strengths-based 

approaches to safeguarding for all clinicians.   

 

 

Strengthening leadership and partnership collaboration  

 

During 2020/21, NHS England and NHS Improvement have been central to coordinated responses 

during the pandemic. Solid multi-agency leadership and strategic direction focused on improving our 

central coordinated efforts to gain clarity regarding the problem(s) needing to be tackled across our 

communities, to keep vulnerable citizens safe during the Covid-19 pandemic. We have set-up the 

first SW Regional Serious Violence & Contextualised Safeguarding (all ages) Data and Information 

Sharing Group, securing regional leadership and collaboration across PHE, policing, community 

safety partnerships, violence reduction units and local safeguarding partnerships, linking strategic 

priorities and Joint Strategic Needs Assessments for violence and abuse. The group have produced a 

SW Regional Serious Violence & Contextualised Safeguarding Information Governance Framework.  

 

Early in the pandemic we restructured to deliver programmes of support through various groups, 

ranging from regional joint Covid-19 Gold calls, Health Outbreaks & Operational Pressures, Infection 

Prevention & Control (IPC), pathology, clinical cells, establishing care sector networks and the 

regional ethical referral groups, restructuring our regional safeguarding governance arrangements to 

improve collaborative data sharing and problem-focused analysis. This has provided core groups to 

oversee issues and challenges to keep citizens safe. In turn, we were supporting our communities 

including the care and independent sector, designated and named professionals for safeguarding, as 

well as the workforce supporting Nightingale hospitals, front line staff and individuals seeking 

guidance and advice, providing peer support for NHS volunteers, test and trace centres, swab test 

sites as well as mass vaccination sites. We continued to act as a key link between national, regional 

and local systems and practitioners and have been involved in the National Safeguarding Adults 

Network and working with both the Regional SW Safeguarding Adults Board Chairs and SW 

Safeguarding Adult Health Network, to tackle emerging or continued challenges. 

Page 29



 

26 | P a g e  
 

 

Challenges 

Impact on assessments  

Nationally and regionally we have also completed our Safeguarding Equality Impact Assessment, to 

ensure that the needs of people with protected characteristics, as well as those experiencing health 

inequalities, have been considered and actioned during the pandemic.  

The increased vulnerability of people with a learning disability was identified early into the pandemic 

and reinforced by the LeDeR national review of deaths of people with a learning disability during the 

Covid pandemic. This report highlighted key actions that were felt to reduce the risks for this group 

of people. The majority of the suggested actions had already been considered and actions 

implemented, including the rollout of Restore 2 & Restore Mini, to improve early identification of 

deteriorating health by social care staff. The report helped to raise awareness across the wider 

health and social care community and led to increased senior leadership involvement and inclusion 

of people with a learning disability as a priority group.  

 

Virtual working has improved the ability to network across systems and we have experienced 

increased collaborative working. An example of this is specialist learning disability services and 

primary care services with commissioners working together in a Call to Action to improve the uptake 

of Annual Health Checks for people with a learning disability. These checks are a good means of 

identifying health problems early and ensuring the right support is being offered. In quarters 1 and 2 

we saw a marked reduction in the number being provided however, following the Call to Action and 

excellent work in local areas, the number has increased to near or above last year’s number.  

 

Direct Commissioning  

We have been supporting the national work led by the National Quality Lead Nurse for Health and 

Justice, regarding safeguarding within the prison estate. A guide to wellbeing & safeguarding support 

in prisons is due to be published on the NHS Futures platform, and work is ongoing with Health 

Education England to design safeguarding training specific to prisons in May 2021.  

  

The South West NHS Safeguarding Workforce 

 

There are some challenges for safeguarding adults with care and support needs remaining for 

2021/22; We seek to work collaboratively to improve service pathways for our most vulnerable 

members of society and their families, particularly children and young people with learning 

disabilities, special educational needs and disabilities and those who are moving into adult services.  

We have planned a focus piece of work during 2021 to examine the pandemic’s impact on children 

in care and care leavers living in the South West.  

 

 
 

Despite the pandemic there have been many achievements during 2020/21: 

Page 30



 

27 | P a g e  
 

• Internal intranets sites for Safeguarding have been updated and refreshed.  

• Six monthly Safeguarding newsletters shared with all employees at DCH to celebrate good 

practice, share learning and inform on latest developments.  

• External internet site updated to include more links to accessible information.  

• Development within the Digital Patient Record system, for safeguarding specific templates.  

• Media spotlight on Domestic Abuse campaign initiative during the 16 days of action 2020  

 

Challenges –  

 

• The impact of COVID-19 has been significant nationally and even more so during the second 

wave locally. The audit programme was paused nationally during the pandemic. DCHFT 

safeguarding team has been proactive in assisting with all safeguarding concerns throughout the 

pandemic and has sustained full access if required to the Incident Management Team and access 

for escalation if required to the sub-board Quality Committee.  

• A challenge for the DCHFT Safeguarding team has been in relation to the local authority hospital 

social work team working in localities and not within the Trust with an on-site presence. The 

consequence of this has been that DCHFT safeguarding team have had to progress work that 

previously would have been undertaken by the hospital Local Authority team. However, we have 

developed a communication pathway with Dorset Council Safeguarding to ensure that oversight 

of risk management concerns have been mutually managed between the two teams.  

• COVID halted all routine face to face training, this recommenced in March 2021  

• Safeguarding activity increased month on month after the initial lockdown ceased, with a higher 

percentage of concerns being raised in relation to self-neglect, with substance abuse being a 

contributing factor.   

• The national gap in provision of mental health accommodation has impacted upon the 

Safeguarding team due to the utilisation of acute physical health facilities as a place of safety.  

This has required considerable support and supervision for staff as well as for the service users 

who had endured significant delays in their care pathways out of an acute hospital setting. This 

has been escalated and acknowledged regional in the South West and nationally.  

 

Areas of focus with Restart and Recovery  

 

• Focused training on domestic abuse and exploitation will be reintroduced in the next 6 months.  

• Scoping for the introduction of Liberty Protection Safeguards remains a focus.   

• Development of Integrated Care System for Health (Safeguarding) work has commenced, aligned 

to the national direction of travel.  

• Safeguarding will continue to focus on the national and regional priority of supporting and 

improving the pathway for those with complex mental health needs that attend DCHFT and 

require Safeguarding input, either for the patient or supervision support for staff. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



 

28 | P a g e  
 

 
Key Achievements –  

Reflecting back on what was a very challenging year the adult safeguarding team at UHD are proud to 

have maintained an effective safeguarding service that keeps the patient at the centre of services. The 

merger of Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals and Poole Hospital Foundation Trust has 

brought together our respective adult safeguarding services to establish a robust system to support the 

delivery of the safeguarding adult’s agenda across both sites in line with national and local legislation and 

guidance.   The Safeguarding Lead Nurses work collaboratively with the local authority and other partner 

agencies to provide Trust staff with expert advice and support colleagues to achieve safe, person centred 

care, delivered with compassion and kindness. 

The key Challenges: 

• As with partner agencies, the pandemic has impacted on the way the Adult Safeguarding Team has 

worked; supporting team members to work safely either at work, home or in a repositioned role.  To 

support the changing needs of the Trust the team however remained flexible in their approach, 

adjusting working patterns to deliver an effective core safeguarding service. 

• The implementation of a new Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Local Authority front 

door led to a review of working practices. During this time, the Trust worked closely with BCP to 

establish a process that works for both and to establish a system that will work for all. 

• Following national guidance for social workers during the pandemic, social care partners ceased 

their face-to-face working in the clinical areas, providing their services through off site working 

communication methods.  This created a challenge with key information not as readily available or 

consistently fed back to ward staff than it had been pre pandemic. 

• The requirement to cancel face to face training, due to social distancing legislation and workforce 

priorities to ensure that safe staffing and the delivery of high-quality care was maintained. 

• Adjusting to a different way of working including, working in Covid Secure environments, use of 

personal protective equipment for infection control and embracing virtual technology. 

 

Key Areas of focus   

The merger provided an opportunity to further develop safeguarding practice across both sites, sharing 

best practice to embed a culture that recognises and supports the need to safeguard and protect adults, 

children and their families within our care. The adult team worked closely with the children’s and 

maternity safeguarding teams to develop an integrated safeguarding policy, supporting the think family 

approach.   On-going work continues to strengthen this area of focus across all teams. 

Domestic abuse was a key area of focus at UHD as this can be an issue for both staff and patients. A new 

role of a health domestic abuse advocate was commissioned by BCP council for a fixed 2-year period and 

the contract was awarded to the “You Trust”. Adult safeguarding training, including mental capacity act 

training and Learning disability awareness training was updated and delivered via an eLearning platform. 

This enabled staff to undertake training at a time and in an environment convenient to them. 

Page 32



 

29 | P a g e  
 

 

In 2020 DWP introduced teams to lead work on its approach to supporting vulnerable customers. As part 

of this, a network of over 30 Advanced Customer Support Senior Leaders (ACSSLs) were appointed, 

providing an escalation route for all DWP colleagues to refer to when a customer requires some form of 

advanced support, ensuring that these customers are signposted or referred to the support that they need. 

• ACSSLs work with a range of external partners within their own geographical area, aligning support 

for vulnerable customers wherever possible. They have formed a network of robust links within 

local communities across England, Scotland and Wales that form an integral element of DWPs 

wider partnership agenda. 

• Whilst DWP does not have a legal duty to ‘safeguard’, we absolutely recognise the positive impact 

that a collaborative approach can have when supporting vulnerable customers.  We continue to 

work across all internal teams and with our external partners to help to provide the support that 

customers require.  

 

 

During this last year Volunteer Centre Dorset has led on the community response to COVID 19 in Dorset, 

this resulted in over 3000 new volunteers being recruited to support those most vulnerable, housebound, 

and isolated in our communities, working in partnership with key VCS groups we provided support in: 

• Prescription deliveries 

• Essential shopping 

• Telephone befriending 

• Dog walking 

• Fuel Poverty support 

• Emergency funding 

• Emergency food parcels 

• Benefit Advice and Guidance 
 

We supported over 160 community response organisations with good practice guides, weekly news 

bulletins and DBS checks. All groups and volunteers were provided with specific guidance on 

safeguarding awareness, and what to do if they had any concerns, this was repeated on a regular 

basis, and volunteers felt confident in reporting any concerns either direct to Adult Access or to the 

Volunteer Centre. 

VCD worked closely with Dorset Council to ensure any safeguarding issues could be reported quickly 

and effectively. All concerns were reported within 24 hours to the Adult Access Team. 

Page 33



 

30 | P a g e  
 

Since August 2020 VCD managed all emergency food parcels, and has provided over 140 households 

with emergency food, and provided ongoing help where required and signposted to other support 

groups where appropriate. 

Volunteer Centre Dorset have been stakeholders in various task groups during COVID 19, including 

Wellbeing, Mental Health & Safeguarding, Welfare and the Dorset Together. All include and report 

on safeguarding issues. 

 

 

Age UK North, South and West Dorset (NSWD) work closely in partnership with regional partners to 

deliver Information, advice, support and services to older people. Our partner Age UK Bournemouth, 

Poole and East Dorset provide a similar package to ensure all of Dorset is covered.  

Through new partnership relationships and appropriate information sharing across agencies, we are 

actively reducing isolation and loneliness. All Age UK charities act as a conduit between statutory 

agencies, other support groups and older people in need. One specific focus over the past 18 months 

has been to ensure those who are most isolated, and not captured through online communication, 

are not left without support, service or friendship. However, we predict that reducing isolation will 

remain a focus in many years to come.. 

Prior to 2019, Age UKs were not represented on the DAB. Over the past 2 years the organisation has 

also created opportunity to regularly present older people’s concerns and needs with local hospitals, 

councils, police, fire, and other agencies. Age UK NSWD has developed a positive and open working 

relationship with prisons in Dorset. 

Our teams are trained to spot indicators that an older person, family member or carer may need a 

safeguarding referral and as a direct result we have referred a series of concerns. They are also 

working directly with both Police and Fire Service to identify older people in need or at risk. 

Domestic violence issues in older people have also been examined within our specialist Reach Out 

Team who work directly and closely with Adult Services teams. 

  

During the pandemic safeguarding has remained at the centre of all that we do. New and often 

innovative approaches due to infection-control considerations, and ever-changing Government 

guidelines have seen us work more collaboratively to look for workable, safe solutions.  The changes 

and adaptations made over the course of the Pandemic will shape the way we work in the future. 

Throughout this year we have maintained our commitment to the provision of personal care and 

support needs, with the same level of protection as that which would be provided in the 

Community.  Our work with our Partner agencies has been vital in the pursuit of a safe and 

protective environment, where the shielding and sometimes isolation of our most vulnerable 

residents has been at the forefront of our efforts.                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

Page 34



 

31 | P a g e  
 

Our thoughts have not strayed far from the loss of those in our care who have died as a result of the 
virus and also of those who have died from their underlying illnesses. All were valued members of 
our community and their loss has had a profound effect on everyone who lives in, works in or visits 
the establishment. We continue to provide advice and support to all those affected by the deaths, 
including the families of those who have died, through our Family Liaison services.  
As we move forward and restart the activities and processes which have been suspended due to 

Covid, it is crucial that we maintain efforts to identify individual needs.  

Initial healthcare screening is once-again being conducted and The Verne has continued to work 

closely with Dorset Council to identify those individuals who need additional care and support. We 

have a large percentage of elderly residents and people with disabilities at The Verne. 

The strategic aims which underpin the Safeguarding Adults Board are mirrored by our own stated 

values; in that we work to enable individuals to live safely in our community by developing a culture 

which does not tolerate abuse. To achieve this aim, we actively maintain a commitment to working 

together, listening to what people say and do all that we can to deliver positive outcomes. 

We have continued to hold regular safeguarding meetings. Specific cases are discussed, and 

partnership working is reviewed. We recognise that it is important that all reports of suspected 

abuse or neglect are treated seriously and acted upon.  

Moving forward, decisions about how the establishment can ease restrictions will be made between 

the governor and the prison group director, depending on local circumstances such as community 

outbreaks and staffing levels.  The response to COVID-19 has been delivered at pace and we are 

extremely grateful for the tremendous contributions of our residents, staff and support agencies.  

 

 

 

 

Dorset & Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service has 50 fire stations serving local communities. Alongside 
emergency response, our work also focuses on prevention, protection and resilience – working for 
and with our communities to ensure that local people are as safe as they can be. 

Challenges – A continuing challenge is raising awareness with external agencies that the Fire Service 

is about more than big red fire engines and putting out fires. We have an ambitious Fire Prevention 

agenda and in line with our Service priorities make a real difference to keeping individuals and 

families safe in their homes from a range of risks.  

We find other agencies generally overlook factors of an individual’s situation which could increase 

the risk of fire and often a referral to the FRS is not considered, we are working with partners to 

strengthen the risk awareness of staff across agencies. 

Page 35



 

32 | P a g e  
 

Areas of focus – In conjunction with the challenges above, we have appointed a Prevention 

Partnership Manager whose focus is creating relationships with organisations to help us be more 

effective and efficient in the delivery of community safety initiatives across Dorset & Wiltshire, 

understanding how we can support each other’s objectives and look for opportunities to grow 

relationships further.  

The National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) and Care Quality Commission (CQC)  have signed a 
Memorandum of understanding (MOU) with an overriding objective to reduce fire risks and improve 
protection for people in receipt of health and social care services, safeguarding the wellbeing of 
those receiving health and social care.   
 
Following fire deaths that have been linked to the use of emollients near ignition risks, we continue 

to raise awareness on the safe use of emollients. A training package to highlight the risks as well as 

providing safety information for carers and NHS staff will be used as training opportunity and if 

possible, raise further awareness via Pharmacies.  

Achievements – Levels of Safeguarding Training for DWFRS staff is dependent on role. All staff 

receive L1 safeguarding training, with specialist roles training up to L3. All training is on track with 

excellent responses of 98% of 1240 L1 staff in-date. This combined with regular safeguarding 

campaigns has led to an increase in referrals. Staff awareness and professional curiosity has resulted 

in referrals and safeguarding being better embedded within DWFRS, with positive outcomes for 

vulnerable members of the community.   

Dorset & Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service has entered a formal partnership with Age UK in North, 

South and West Dorset (NSWD) to provide additional support to elderly and vulnerable residents in 

these areas. 

We have continued with BAU throughout Covid carrying out Safe and Well visits to high-risk 

individuals in their homes. We have supported work in vaccination centres, assisted with mask face 

fitting and supported SWAST with driving ambulances.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



 

33 | P a g e  
 

  See It?        

   Hear It? 

  Report It! 

 

Abuse is wrong – tell someone 
• Residents in the Dorset Council area call – 01305 221016 or at evening & 

weekends 01305 858 250 

 

• Residents in the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole area call – 01202 

123 654 or at evening & weekends 01202 123 8995 

 

If you think someone is at immediate risk of harm, contact the police by calling 

999. 

                                                 

 

Page 37



 

34 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Appendix 1 – Board membership 

The Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board is made up of senior representatives from the following 

agencies – 

• Dorset Council 
• Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group 
• Dorset Police 
• Dorset & Wiltshire Fire & Rescue 
• Dorset HealthCare NHS Foundation Trust 
• Dorset National Probation Service  
• Dorset, Devon & Cornwall Community Rehabilitation Company 
• Independent Provider 
• NHS England and NHS Improvement - South West 
• South West Ambulance Service Foundation Trust 
• University Hospitals Dorset NHS Foundation Trust  
• Healthwatch 
• Age UK 
• Dorset Volunteers Centre 
• Volunteer Sector representatives 

 

 

Page 38



 

People and Health Scrutiny  
1 November 2021  
Adult Care Market Sufficiency and the Impact 
of Covid-19  
  

For Review and Consultation 
 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr P Wharf, Adult Social Care and Health   

  
Local Councillor(s):   All 
 

Executive Director: V Broadhurst, Interim Executive Director of People - Adults   

   
Report Author: Lesley Hutchinson   

Title: Market Sufficiency and the Impact of Covid-19 on Adult Social Care   
Tel: (01305) 224680  

Email: Lesley.hutchinson@dorsetcc.gov.uk  

  
Report Status:  Public  

  
Recommendation:  

  
For Members of the People and Health Scrutiny Committee to consider and note:  
 

 The increase in the demand for care 

 The availability of care and support services in Dorset and associated 

workforce pressures 

 The impact on acute and community services 

 The associated financial challenge for the Council, and 

 Actions being taken to reduce and mitigate the risks 

  
Reason for Recommendation:       

  

To ensure Members of People and Health Scrutiny Committee are aware of 
the current lack of market sufficiency, the level of risk associated with this and the 

actions being taken to reduce and mitigate the situation.  

  
1. Executive Summary   

  
1.1 The lack of available care as a direct result of Covid-19 continues to be reported 

nationally. Dorset Council faces the same pressure that are being reported nationally 
however there are additional factors exacerbating the scale of the challenge in 
Dorset.   

  
1.2 These factors are set out in the Councils Plan and include:  

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



 The demographic profile - an ageing population and a decreasing working age 
population; consequently a higher number of people needing care and fewer 

people available to deliver it   
 The rural nature of Dorset – a large dispersed area with care staff have 

to travel distances to deliver support to people in their own homes means 
fewer people can be supported during the day than if there were working in 
urban areas  

 An affluent area (with pockets of deprivation) - a higher than average number 
of people are able to pay for their own care. This has a direct impact on the 

provider market as ‘self funders’ are likely to pay more for care than the 
Council rates. When resources are scarce as they are currently are in the 
home care sector the Council is less able to compete for care hours unless 

higher rates are being paid  
 Property prices – the Council Plan states that property prices are more than 

10 times average earnings; social care sector staff paid at living wage rates 
find it more difficult to buy and live in Dorset reducing the avai lable workforce  
  

1.3 The scope of the report focusses on the sufficiency of:  
 Reablement and short term services  

 Home care services (domiciliary care)  
 Supported living and supported housing services (including support to 

individuals in transitions)  

 Care homes  
 

1.4 The report particularly identifies the scale of the shortage of home care and 
therapy provision in the Dorset area as providers are not able to recruit and retain 
staff. This is having a significant impact on individuals with very high number of 

people waiting for care. The shortages are caused by multiple factors but Covid-19 
continues to have the most significant impact, since March 2020 there has been an 

increase in the number of people needing care and support and these people have a 
higher level of need than those pre-Covid-19. 
 

1.5 The shortage of home care and therapy support is also having an adverse 
impact on the local hospitals; people are waiting for packages of care or intermediate 

care and reablement to be available before they are discharged. Therefore 
increasing length of stay and decreasing hospital capacity. 
 

1.6 Currently the health and social care system is consistently reporting Opel levels 
3 and 4 which means it is on high alert and significantly compromised in its ability to 

deliver health and care. Opel 4 is the highest level rating. 
  
2. Financial Implications  

  
2.1 The Government have provided a number of funding streams over the Covid-19 

period to help ease the financial burden to the Council, CCG and health and social 
care providers including but not limited to:  
  

 Hospital Discharge Funding (administered by the CCG)  
 Adult Social Care Infection Control Fund  

 Workforce Capacity Fund for adult social care  

Page 40



 Community Outbreak Management Fund  
  

2.2 Each of these funding streams have clear criteria which the CCG 
and Council confirm when passing this on. Despite the welcomed increased 

funding it is insufficient to fund both the operational costs to meet the level of 
demand and the cost of care. Dorset Council faced a deficit in these areas for 
2020/21 of £5.4 million (£3.4 million is the additional operating costs and £2 million 

for the cost of placements and packages of care). The operating cost deficit 
continues into 2021/22 and the Council is currently reconciling the Quarter 2 cost of 

care placements and packages spend.  

    
3. Climate implications  

  
3.1 Staff are travelling across Dorset in order to deliver care and support. All 

providers and commissioners are cognisant of climate implications and reducing 
travel time by delivering support to people in the same areas rather than travelling 
across from one side of Dorset to the other.   

  
4. Other Implications  

  
4.1 The significant gaps in workforce capacity such as the lack of home care and 
therapy workers is impacting on people as:   

 People are waiting for care in the community for longer than they should or 
they are being placed in care homes prematurely  

 People are not being discharged from hospitals into the service they need in a 
timely way therefore blocking hospital beds for other patients  

 People are waiting for assessments, reviews and the brokering of packages 

and placements; this is not as timely as the Council would hope as 
teams prioritise people with the highest risk  

 Carers are being asked to do more   
  
And on the voluntary and community sector who are being asked to step in and do 

more to help support people in need.  
  

  
5. Risk Assessment  

  

5.1 Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has 
been identified as high due to:  
  

 The prioritisation of people at greatest risk  

 Delays for people accessing assessed levels of care and support because of 
lack of workforce capacity  

 Significant financial risk as set out above  
  

5.2 Dorset Council along with other Local Authorities are considering what to do in 
extremist situations such as this. Some Local Authorities have put in place extremist 

measures. Care Act easements have been rescinded.    
  
 

Page 41



6. Equalities Impact Assessment  

  

6.1 Not required for this report.  
  
7. Appendices  

 
7.1 N/A 
 

8. Background Papers  

 

8.1 None however various statutory documents and frameworks are noted in the 
report.  
  

Footnote:  

Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities implications 
have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is included within 

the report.  
  
THE REPORT  
 

1. Introduction and Background    

  

1.1 The report sets out the context and responsibilities of the Council for market 
sufficiency and the impact of Covid-19 on this and in turn the impact on people with 

care and support needs, on providers and on the Councils budget. 
   
1.2 The scope of the report focusses on the sufficiency of:  

 Reablement and other short term services  
 Home care services (domiciliary care)  

 Supported living and supported housing services  
 Care homes 

 

1.3 It does not include details on the sufficiency of extra care housing, prevention, 
advocacy, day opportunities, technology and digital services. Nor does it reference 

specialise health services which are the responsibility of the CCG. Further reports 
can be bought regarding these areas if required. 
 

1.4 Carers services are also not referenced however the impact on carers is noted 
through the report as they are directly affected by market sufficiency. 

 
1.5 The report makes reference to the demands on the Council social work service 

and on the commissioning and quality services but does not go into detail. 

  
2. Brief Overview of the Legal Framework and the Commissioning Context   

  
2.1 The Care Act 2014 is the key legal framework Local Authorities work within to 
ensure market sufficiency for social care. The Act sets out four areas of 

commissioning responsibility:    

 The Duty to Promote Diversity and Quality in Service Provision   
 Market Shaping and Commissioning of Adult Care and Support 

Services   

Page 42



 Managing Provider Failure and   
 Managing other Service Interruptions   

  
2.2 The responsibilities are to all people with eligible care and support needs and 

also their carers. It includes people transitioning from children to adult services. The 
Act places a duty to promote an individual’s ‘wellbeing’ and requires Local Authorities 
to take this into account when planning services.   

  
2.3 The Local Government Association (LGA), Association of Directors of Adult 

Social Services and the Department of Health have published a range of other 
guidance documents which set out how integrated commissioning 
arrangements will improve outcomes for people; a key workstream for the Integrated 

Care System is our approach to integrated commissioning to ensure better 
coordination of services.   

  
2.4 Guidance has been issued at pace by Government departments during Covid-19. 
Key documents include: Social care providers resilience during Covid-19: guidance to 

commissioners (issued March 2020) which sets out a number of considerations 
commissioners should make to stabilise the market and the revised Hospital 

Discharge and Community Support guidance setting out how rapid 
discharge arrangements for patients from hospital. There has also been sector 
specific guidance for care homes and the requirement for compulsory vaccination of 

staff working in care homes from the 11th November 2021.   
   

2.5 Commissioners have responsibility for oversight of the whole market not just 
providers the Local Authority has a contract with.   

  

3. What Does Sufficiency of Care Mean?   

  
3.1 In relation to the provision / the amount of care and support services the Local 
Authority has a requirement under section 4.39.  and 4.40 of the Care Act 

Guidance to have regard for provision in terms of:   
  

4.39 ... both capacity and capability – to meet anticipated needs for all people 
in their area needing care and support – regardless of how they are funded. 

This will include regularly reviewing trends in needs – including multiple and 
complex needs, outcomes sought and achieved, and trends in supply, 

anticipating the effects and trends    
  
and  

  
4.40. ... diversity of service provision, local authorities should consider all 

types of service that are required to provide care and support for the local 
authority’s population, including, for example, domiciliary (home) care, 
residential care, nursing care, live-in care services, specialist care, support for 

carers, sheltered accommodation and supported living, shared lives services, 
community support, counselling, social work, information, advocacy and 

advice services, and support services and universal and community services 
that promote prevention.    

  

Page 43



3.2 Local Authorities are required to ensure their Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
alongside a Market Position Statement helps the providers understand where to 

invest. Dorset Council published its Commissioning Intentions in February 2021 
which goes part way to facilitate this and plans to set out its market position 

statement in the new year alongside a number of care sector strategic documents. 
These will be provided to Health and Care Overview Committee.  
 

4. The Impact of Covid-19 on the Care Sector   
  

4.1 As the Committee are aware the health and care sector continue to deal with 
Covid-19 and its impacts whilst at the same time trying to return to usual working 

practices and meeting performance targets. This strain is recognised and reported 
nationally. Whilst the roll out of the vaccination has eased the strain on the sector the 

pressures remain immense.   

  

4.2 Challenges Faced by the Sector During the Initial Lockdown    

  

4.2.1 During the initial lockdown (pre vaccinations) the care sector faced the 
following challenges:   

  

 increased volumes of people rapidly discharged from hospital    
 reduction in care staff across the health and care sector as people were 

either unwell, having to isolate or dealing with loss  
 reduced bed capacity to comply with social distancing   
 reduced care home bed availability due to outbreaks and isolating 

people with Covid-19  
 initial difficulties accessing and funding personal protective equipment 

(PPE) and other supplies   
 the influx of government guidance to digest and adhere to in order to 

comply with care requirements  
  

4.2.2 Despite the above the health and social care sector worked well together at 
speed to ensure individuals were not left without care despite the challenges. 

Innovative solutions were put in place supported by the voluntary, independent and 
private sector as well as statutory partners for example safe and well checks were 
conducted for adults with learning disabilities who couldn’t attend day provision.  

  

4.3 The Ongoing Impact of Covid-19 and Other Factors on the Care Sector  
  

4.3.1 The Council Adult Social Care Service itself has seen an increase in the 
number of people requiring services and since April 2021 has provided interventions 

for an additional 1896 people through Covid-19 (nearly 50% extra), mostly through 
hospital discharge. This has resulted in a tripling of the activity for the hospital social 

work teams as they comply with the aforementioned Hospital Discharge 
Guidance and the associated commissioning teams which support this. The 
workforce has not increased to match the demand.  

  
4.3.2 Impact on the workforce:  

  

Page 44



 The longevity of the pandemic and the restrictions has impacted on the 
morale of the care workforce. Providers report high levels of staff stress and 

burnout. This has resulted in workers leaving care and seeking alternative 
employment   

 Alternative employment in the hospitality and retail sectors are competing for 
care sector staff as they also have staff shortages and are paying higher 
salaries with retention incentives which the care sector can not compete  

 Providers across the whole sector report that recruitment has been difficult 
over the last 6-12 months. Dorset’s demographic is a factor in this as set out 

in the Executive Summary but also some workers have return to their homes 
overseas and not returned  

 The mandatory vaccination policy for care home staff will also start to have an 

impact on the workforce – whilst Dorset care home sector is in a strong 
position with 93% of the workforce vaccinated it means currently there are 7% 

unvaccinated who will need to leave their current employment or be diverted 
to another care service if they are not exempt or vaccinated by 
the 11th November  

  
4.3.3 Impact on service provision and the care user/carer:  

  
 Home care provision is particularly challenged by lack of workforce as set out 

in section 5.1 – this has resulted in an increasing number 

of providers handing back packages of care because they are unable to 
employ sufficient staff. Care users are consequently having to wait for a new 

package to be sourced and no longer have the continuity of care needed. 
People requiring new or enhanced packages of care are having to wait for 
services and allocation teams are having to prioritise who gets care when its 

available. In some cases people who have been assessed as needing care at 
home are having to go into care homes to keep them safe whilst home care is 

sourced  
 There is a lack of therapy staff in the workforce and consequently people are 

not always receiving the level of therapeutic support they need to improve and 

get back to optimised health  
 Lack of home care and therapy is impacting on speed at which people are 

discharged from hospital and hospitals are putting in resilience alerts on a 
daily basis due to high and unsustainable levels of occupancy – meaning 
people are staying in hospital for longer than they need to and that beds are 

being blocked so other people can not access them for treatment  
 Commissioners are finding it difficult to source care in particular parts 

of Dorset for example it is difficult to source care in East Dorset as there isn’t 
the workforce and carers do not want to travel. In the west of the 
council area we are competing with Devon for care provision who pay a higher 

rate for care than Dorset  
 A small number of care homes are self imposing admission restrictions 

because they can not adequately staff their services  
 Some nursing homes are struggling to retain nursing staff and we have seen a 

higher number of care home closures  
 Care home providers are frequently relying on agency staff to help keep safe 

staffing again impacting on the continuity of care and cost  

Page 45



 Unpaid carers are being asked to do more to help support their family 
member or neighbour as care can not be sourced in a timely manner 
 

  

4.3.4 Financial Impact:  

  

 This is set out in the cover report with the Council forecasting a significant 
overspend this year.  

   
5. Market Sufficiency – Current Supply and Demand   

  
5.1 Care at Home for Older People and Older People with Dementia 
 

A widower in his 80’s with no family close by, lived on his own 
in an upstairs maisonette. He became forgetful and following a referral to adult social 

care from his GP he was assessed as needing one visit each day from a home care 
worker to ensure he took his medication and was eating. He was later diagnosed 

with Alzheimers and deteriorated rapidly. His driving license was revoked and he 
began to lose continence. As he declined he needed support to manage his 
finances, shopping and personal hygiene and over a short period of time his home 

care support was increased to four visits per day; a charitable organisation has been 
brought in to help with his shopping. District nurses visit to check his skin integrity 

and make sure he doesn’t develop pressure sores as he was no longer very mobile. 
He moved into a ground floor flat. His wish had always been to remain living at home 
and he has been supported by an advocate to do that. He remains living at home 

with the multi-agency package of care.     
   

5.1.2 Supply of Care at Home for Older People and Older People with Dementia 

 
Care at home can either be delivered via short term services such as 
‘Getting You Home’, ‘Active Recovery’ and Reablement services, or through longer 

term services supported by a range of providers across the Dorset Council footprint. 
The contracting arrangements vary from block hour contracts to individual package 

requirements.  The aim of the short term intervention schemes is to support 
people to help them recover to a level of independence with either no care or to a 
reduced level of care from an on going long term service in order to support day to 

day living. Long term support should always focus on promoting and maintaining 
independence.  

   
5.1.2 Short Term Care at Home Services for People Discharged from 
Hospital and Those Living in the Community   

 
The following short term block contract schemes are funded from Hospital Discharge 

Programme:  
 Seven Active Recovery Schemes running across Dorset with the capacity to 

deliver 1,580 hours of care per week for hospital discharges and to support 

admission avoidance to hospital  
 Short-term intervention service delivering 300 hours of support per week   

Page 46



 Getting You Home Schemes running out of 
Dorchester Community Hospital (DCH) and Poole Hospitals.  700 hours and 

270 hours of care per week respectively   
 Roaming Night Service, providing two response cars every night, to help with 

personal care, welfare checks, non-injury falls etc.  This service is referred to 
from urgent care partners, such as 111, 999.  

 

Utilisation of the above day time schemes is approx. 75% (due to the geographical 
spread and in some cases rural locations, along with the reactive nature of 

discharges, the ability to plan rounds more efficiently is limited, therefore under 
current arrangements it is unlikely that schemes would ever be utilised at a higher 
rate). 

  
The Roaming Night Service utilisation is 60%, with the vast majority of referrals from 

urgent care and therefore support admission avoidance. The service is promoted 
routinely.  
 

 The Reablement Service is Council wide and is commissioned to deliver 
2,500 hours of support per week – the majority of use is to support people 

following hospital discharge  
 

The Reablement Service is working at full capacity (but in some instances providing 

home care rather than reablement) and also acts in capacity of Provider of Last 
Resort. This involves taking on the aforementioned handed back packages where 

the incumbent provider has been unable to retain the package due to staffing 
shortages as described in 4.3.3 above.    
  

5.1.3 Long Term Care at Home Services for Those Living in the Community   
 

 There are two block contracts for long term (business as usual) arrangements 
– in North and East Dorset.  These blocks provide 100 hours of care in each 
area per week and have been established in order to stabilise care availability 

in the area.  Both contracts are fully utilised.     
 There are 40 home care providers on the Dorset Care Framework (signed up 

to the Framework terms and conditions and accepting the published rates) 
and 37 providers not on the Framework (ie do not accept Framework rates). 
All of these providers deliver long term home (domiciliary) care for older 

people and older people with dementia  
 As of September 2021 77% of packages are placed 

with Framework providers at the Councils published rate 
 

5.1.4 Demand for Care at Home   
 

A snap shot of the number of packages commissioned is set out below:  

   

Year Snap Shot   No. of People 

with Packages    

Total Number of 

Hours   

Average Cost 

Per Package    

30.09.2019    1,339  24,482 £258.43    

Page 47



30.09.2020    1,652 (12% increase 

on previous year)   

33,669 £305.94    

30.09.2021    1,351 (12% reduction 

on previous year)   

27,646 £346.34    

   

   

 Since Covid-19 we have seen the average packages size of home care 
increase from 13.6 hours per week per person to 20.4 hours per week per 
person due to increased acuity.    

 Self funders also purchase home care however these figures are not captured 
– a survey undertaken in the summer confirmed most providers have a higher 

percentage of self-funders than Council commissioned packages and these 
are charged at a higher rate 

 Since the summer there has been an increased number of people waiting for 

home care packages this figure fluctuating on average between 2,000 and 
2,300 hours of social care funded home care and 1,400 to 1,600 hours of 

health funded home care at any one time, this is due to lack of capacity within 
the provider market and includes those waiting for reablement  

 The number of people waiting for those hours of care across health and social 

care fluctuates between 300 and 360; this does not mean that people in the 
community do not have care, it means they either: – do not have the amount 

they have been assessed to need or, they are waiting alternative care, such 
as respite or long term residential care.  Some people, who wish and need to 
return home, are delayed in hospital because of the lack of available home 

care   
 The Reablement Service is continuing to support people who are ready to 

move onto long term home care as there is insufficient capacity – this is not 
the most effective use of this service as it is therefore not able to optimise 
people which is its function  

 In the main we are continuing to fund at the published rates however some 
providers are now demanding over and above the Framework rates  

 In summary the current demand outstrips capacity and despite efforts 
providers cannot recruit the workforce as stated above.  

 The market does not have sufficiency in this area   

 
5.2 Supported Living  - Adults with Disabilities [care in their own home]  

  

Sarah is 46 and usually lives at home with her children and partner. Sarah has an 
underlying mental health condition which she mainly manages herself with the 

support of her GP however following a traumatic experience two years ago she is 
receiving ongoing support by the Councils mental health service. Her mental health 

deteriorated during Covid19 and she was detained in hospital. After four weeks 
in hospital she was discharged with the support of her social worker and 
a programme of emotional support from a mental health charity funded by the 

Council. Without this ongoing support Sarah would be likely to return to hospital.  

 

5.2.1 Supply of Care at Home for Adults with Disabilities  

  

Page 48



An adult with a disability is someone with a learning disability, physical or sensory 
impairment or mental health need. This type of care at home provided to adults with 

a disability are generally known as supported living services, supported housing and 
shared lives. Sometimes adults remain living in their childhood home and support is 

provided there.   
   
Dorset Council commissions supported living in all localities. However, there is a 

higher proportion of services in Weymouth and in the East close to the boarder of 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole. This is largely due to the availability and cost 

of properties in those areas and the ability to recruit care staff.  

  
  
5.2.2 Current Provision for Supported Living for Adults with Disabilities  

  

Dorset Council has 48 providers delivering care packages for adults with Learning 
Disabilities in supported accommodation.  
 

Year  

 

Care and 

Support 
Needs 

No of People with Packages Average Cost Per Package 

Per Week  

Apr 2019 Learning 
Disability 

312 £839.45  

Apr 2020 Learning 

Disability 

317 £951.62  

Apr 2021 Learning 

Disability 

344 (8.5% increase on previous 

year) 

£1,081.26  

  

All packages vary from low level daily support up to 24 hours daily support. For 
people with more complex needs packages can involve two or more carers and 

overnight support.  

  

 
Dorset Council has 32 providers supporting people with mental health issues in 

supported accommodation 
  

Year  

 

Care and 

Support 
Needs 

No. of People with Packages  Average Cost Per 

Package  Per Week 

Apr 2019 Mental health 43 £468.08  

Apr 2020 Mental health 48 £891.92  

Apr 2021 Mental health 66 (37% increase on previous 

year) 

£694.79  

  

Most packages support people with lower levels of support needs and can vary from 

two hours a day up to eight with some overnight support.  
  

 

Dorset Council has 10 providers supporting people with a physical disability in 
supported accommodation 
 

Page 49



Year  Care and 
Support Needs 

No. of People with Packages  Average Cost Per Package Per 
Week 

Apr 2019 Physical 
Disability 

27 £686.59 

Apr 2020 Physical 
Disability 

16 £760.63 

Apr 2021 Physical 

Disability 

12 £866.83 

  

All Packages vary from low level daily support up to 24 hours daily support  

  

5.2.3 Demand for Care at Home for Adults with Disabilities  

  
 There has been an increase in the number of people with a learning disability 

or mental health issues in need of care and support during the Covid-19   
 The number of people requiring social care support for mental health 

conditions has grown by 43% since 2019.  
 A proportion of these people only require low level preventative support 

service, however since 2019 there has been a 53% increase in the number of 

people needing a higher level of support albeit the size of the package on 
average has reduced due to the increase in the number of individuals 
supported overall 

 There are 9 people living in hospitals or secure settings across the UK for 
whom national policy requires the Council and CCG to bring them back to 

their local community  
 The demand for purpose-built accommodation for people with disabilities is 

increasing, with over 100 people identified as requiring accommodation in the 

next three years 

 There are currently 1000 unsourced hours of care at home for adults with 

a disability  
 There market does not have sufficiency in this area    

  
 

5.3 Children Transitioning into Adulthood  

  

V moved into adulthood in 2020. As a child he was living in a specialist residential 
setting 200 miles from Dorset. He has complex behavioural needs and present risk 
to other as well as himself. He can set fire to objects, does not understand risk and 

can abscond. He has younger siblings but can not reside with them due to the risk 
he presents. When he was 18 accommodation was sourced for him and his carers. 

He has a 24/7 care package and needs constant monitoring. He has three carers at 
all times at a weekly cost of £17,387.00.  

  
5.3.1 Demand for Services  

  

 In April 2019 there were 198 18-25-year-olds receiving an adult service this 
figure has risen by 30% to 259 in October 2021   

 Sourcing care for young people has become increasingly challenging as there 

is not a sufficient supply of bespoke providers in Dorset 

Page 50



 Commissioners are often required to purchase from 
specialist agencies at enhanced rates 

 There is a practical challenge for providers who are registered to support 
young people up to the age of 18 but at present cannot continue support into 

adulthood   

 The market does not have sufficiency in this area    
 

 

5.4 Care Homes for Older People, Older People with Dementia and Adults With 
Disabilities 

  

Mr B is 89 and has a diagnosis of dementia, he had frequent falls at home which 

have led to multiple hospital admissions.  Mr B needs help with eating and drinking 
at meal times and cannot walk without his frame. He needs help to move from his 
chair, bed and to use the bathroom and has to wear incontinence aids during the day 

and night. He suffers from anxiety and particularly gets anxious at night. He is no 
longer able to stay in his own home as he requires significant care and consequently 

needs to move to a residential placement. Mr B does not own his own home and 
needs the continued financial support of the Council. His care is likely to cost £850 
per week.   

   

5.4.1 Current supply of Care Homes  

 
For Older People and Older People with Dementia: 

 There are 98 registered care homes with 3,450 beds in Dorset 
 6 of the 98 in Dorset Council area are CQC rated as ‘outstanding’, 85 are 

rated ‘good’, 6 ‘require improvement’ and 2 are awaiting assessment   
 The care homes are registered to provide:   

o residential care without nursing (2,013 beds)   
o             residential care with nursing (1,456 beds)   
o             residential care with and without nursing (dual registration, 71 

beds)   
 57 of the 98 care homes claim to offer specialist dementia care   
 Dorset’s care homes tend to be small, making them potentially less profitable 

and more vulnerable to closure 
 15 homes have less than 20 beds, 59 homes have 20-49 beds, 24 have 50+ 

beds. (In general larger care homes with at between 60 and 99 beds are the 
most profitable).   

 Six companies, have over 100 beds each and together they own 40% of all 

care home beds in the Dorset Council area   
 Supply is distributed unequally across the area - Weymouth has a 

disproportionately high number of care homes relative to the 65+ population, 
whilst Purbeck has relatively few   

 The average price paid by the Council: 

 
Type of Care Home 

for 65+ 
September 2020 

average weekly cost 

for the Council 

September 2021 
average weekly cost 

for the Council 

Nursing care home £749.31 £878.77 

Residential care home £784.43 £862.46 

Page 51



 
 These rates are noticeably higher than the Council’s published basic 

rates, indicating that – more often than not – the Council is forced to pay more 
for care home placements  

 Dorset Council purchases approximately 30%  of the available care home 

beds in the area. However, the collective buying-power of people who pay for 
their own care far outweighs this. Consequently, the Dorset care homes 

market is geared to meeting the needs and expectations of self-funders  
 Dorset Council has managed the closure of four care homes since August 

2020 and is currently managing another care home’s nursing care de-
registration.  The four care homes include three nursing homes and one 
residential. 

 
For Adults with a Disability: 

 There are currently approximately 130 people aged 18-65 with a mental 
health need or learning disability in a registered care home, with a further 103 
living outside of Dorset the majority of whom live in close proximity in 

adjoining counties.  
 Dorset Councils ambition is where possible to support people in their own 

home not in a care home  
  
5.4.2 Demand for Care Homes  

 Across the older people care homes sector occupancy levels dipped to 80% 
during 2020/21 but are now returning on average towards pre-Covid-19 

levels. At the time of writing there were 564 (15.4%) vacant beds in the 
Dorset area 

 In the main these are residential care beds and there is a limited number 

of nursing dementia beds available at any one time  
 There are a small number of people with complex needs waiting in hospital for 

specialist (pathway 3) care home beds which is difficult to source in area  
 There is sufficient care home beds for people who do not have complex 

needs 

 There is insufficient capacity for people with high level complex nursing 
needs 

  
 
6. Plans to Improve our Position   
   

6.1 As set out above the areas of greatest challenge are sufficiency in the home 
care, reablement and provision for adults with disabilities. A range of plans are in 
place to help alleviate the current crisis and to improve and stabilise the market 

position going forward. 
 

6.2 Short term actions to improve sufficiency includes: 
 

 Continuous monitoring of short term intervention services to ensure best 

utilisation. 

 Working closely with Home Care providers to look review the care they 
provide to each individual and identifying if any is non regulated care which 

can therefore be undertaken by the voluntary sector for a short period of time. 

Page 52



 Considering ways to support providers in their recruitment campaigns 

and looking at any benefits the Council can offer to enhance this. 

 Bringing providers together to review areas they are providing support in and 
whether they can find any efficiencies with rota changes to reducing travel 

time. 
 Offering provider guaranteed hours. 

 Continue to meet with providers to develop ideas to improve sufficiency. 

Providers themselves are going overseas to recruit new staff and are 
lobbying Government for visas. 

 Supporting care home providers who will have vacancies due to the loss of 
non vaccinated staff by funding agency cover and recruitment costs. 

 Re-establishment of Quality Visits - the Dorset Quality and Improvement 

team have maintained regular contact with the whole market, provided advice 
and escalated concerns where there is evidence of provider failure. This 

has enabled commissioners to intervene at an early stage and support with 
measures to reduce the risk of home or bed closures. 

 Service Continuity Planning -  continue to meet with providers to assess the 

risk of home care packages being handed back. Providers are required 
to develop plans to ensure service continuity and work with the Council to 

minimise risk.   
 Provider of Last Resort - Commissioners worked in partnership with 

the provider to increase capacity to support hospital discharges. Time limited 

packages have been set up with a view to reducing the care hours needed in 
the future.   

 Where possible request that care users and families are more flexible in their 
care visit timings this will enable providers to carry out visits through out the 

whole of the day rather than a specific times.  

 Where possible requests for a preferred gender of carer will only be enabled 
for exceptional reasons. 

 Extending the search for care home placements and in some circumstances 
this  
 

6.3 Medium to longer term actions to improve sufficiency includes: 
 

 The most important factor is to support providers in their Workforce 
Recruitment and Retention. This involves working in partnership with local 

health and care providers and the CCG to deliver the local strategy. Working 

with regional colleagues and Skills for Care to take a broader approach 
looking at training initiatives. Reinvigorating the Care Campaign. 

 Introducing a zone approach for home care - current localities are too big for 

providers to cover and we have asked home care providers to consider 
changing to working in 15 zones.  Each zone will have both urban and rural 

areas and will reduce the amount of travel between home care visits.   
 Piloting of a Trusted Practitioner model: Commissioners, operational staff 

and the home care market will work together to shape the trusted practitioner 
role within each provider organisation. The trusted practitioner model will help 
to identify those individuals who no longer need as much commissioned care 

and support thereby releasing some home care hours to recycle to others in 
need.   

Page 53



 Dorset Care Framework: The new framework will be launched in 

November 2021, this is a significant vehicle to enable new entrants to the local 

market. To support its launch Officers have engaged in a series of 
market engagement events, to date over 200 providers have attended. Many 

were existing providers but there were also key national providers who 
currently do not have a footprint in Dorset. Further events are planned in 
November targeting specialist providers who can work with Adults with 

disabilities who have complex needs or behaviour that challenges.   

 Cost of Care Exercise: Dorset Council has commissioned independent 

consultants who will work with providers to establish cost models and what 
else can be developed to meet increasing demand.   

 Encourage and support community groups and micro enterprises into the 

market thus encouraging a diverse market place. Various workstreams are in 
place under the Greater Partnership work undertaken as part of A Better Life 

Programme. 
 Home First Board – continue to work as a proactive system partner of the 

Board and support with the development of new service specification and 

contract monitoring.  
 Learn from other areas – jointly with health colleagues continue to review 

what is working in other areas to improve sufficiency. 
 Joint working with Children Services to ensure greater sufficiency for 

children transitioning into adulthood – a transitions lot is being developed as 

part of the Dorset Care Framework.   This is part of the Birth to Settled 
Adulthood Board which will improve planning and ways of working. 

 Continue to work with housing developers and support providers to bring 

on stream new accommodation offers for people. In 2022 there is a new 
development planned for 16 beds in Dorchester; two houses in Weymouth; 

eight flats and four bungalows in the East and four new properties are 
being purchased off the private market by a social landlord. Each of these will 

be purpose built for people with a range of needs including people with 
complex behavioural presentations.  
 

6.3  Publication of Strategic Plans – in the new year a range of commissioning 
strategies for Care Homes, Home Care, Prevention and Community Resilience, 

Day Opportunities, Adults with Disabilities and Carers will be published. These 
strategies will set out for the providers Dorset Councils direction of travel and 
requirements; this will provide clarity for providers wanting to deliver services in 

Dorset. 
 

6.4 Adult social care is expecting this to be a difficult winter period following the 
continuation of a very difficult Covid-19 period. Sufficiency will remain a very 
difficult position through out this period due to national and local pressures. 

Officers will continue to update the Committee and key Members throughout. 
 

7. Next Steps: 

7.1 Continue to work on the actions identified above and work closely with providers 

to develop ideas and identify more efficient ways of working 

Page 54



 
 

 

Urgent Care in Dorset – 111 First and Minor Injuries Units (MIUs)  
 
The way that Minor Injuries Units are accessed has been changing in Dorset since 
April 2020, allowing us to continue to provide responsive patient services whilst 
responding to the Covid-19 pandemic. In that time national guidance has also been 
published that sets out how urgent care services are expected to develop. This 
briefing note shares in one place the changes that have been made and how we 
expect the services to continue to evolve to best meet the needs of their 
communities. 
 
Timeline of evolution 
 
April 2020 

 
Changes were initially made to respond to the challenges of the COVID-19 
pandemic, particularly the impact on staffing (i.e. sickness absence) and the need to 
avoid having people together in waiting rooms. Our priority has been to maintain 
service delivery and ensure patient and staff safety. 
 
We switched our MIU services to provide telephone support and offer face-to-face 
appointments only where strictly necessary. MIUs in Blandford, Portland and 
Sherborne were temporarily closed, with staff redeployed to support extended 
opening hours at Shaftesbury and Wimborne MIUs, prioritising those areas that had 
the highest demand and greatest staff resilience. 
 
December 2020 
 
The national 111 First model – which we’re required to follow - was launched. This 
aims to persuade patients to contact NHS 111 or a GP practice first when they 
experience a health issue that is not immediately life-threatening. 
 
The goal is to reduce the need for people to go to a physical location when 
accessing healthcare (and so reduce the risk of infections) through remote 
assessments/treatments and to ensure that patients are able to access the right 
care.   
 
June 2021 
 
With the easing of lockdown restrictions, we re-opened our full network of MIUs, with 
their pre-pandemic opening times. However, they now operate to the national 111 
First model – asking people to go online or call 111 for an initial assessment, with a 
face-to-face MIU appointment booked if required. 

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



 
We have already advertised this change in access via the media and social media 
and continue to share messages in local communities. People attending MIUs 
unannounced have continued to be seen by staff, who carry out assessments before 
deciding the best course of action, which is not always receiving immediate 
treatment. 
 
The current position 
 
If people have an ailment or injury which requires urgent care, they are urged to use 
NHS 111 First by going online or calling NHS 111. Staff there will assess their 
needs, and may be able to provide treatment remotely and more rapidly.  If face-to-
face support is required, 111 staff will book an appointment at an appropriate 
location, at a time convenient to the caller.  
 
If someone lives close to a minor injuries unit (MIU) and chooses to go there instead, 
staff will similarly assess their condition and agree the most appropriate course of 
action to meet their needs. They may direct them to another service, or book them 
an MIU appointment. However, depending on demand and patient need, the 
appointment may be later that day or the next.  
 
Why have we shifted to the NHS 111 First model? 
 
Data shows that many people attending MIUs and Emergency Departments do not 
need to access treatment there, and can be supported in other ways. 
 
Using 111 First can: 
 

 save people travelling unnecessarily, for example through remote prescribing  

 provide appointments and help avoid long waits for assessment/treatment 
where face-to-face support is required 

 ensure people are directed to the most appropriate service 

 free up NHS staff to treat the highest priority patients 

 minimise the spread of COVID-19 or other infections by avoiding busy waiting 
rooms and maintaining social distancing. 

 
Patient feedback 
 
Between January and June this year, 77% of those responding to a survey who 
accessed the MIU said they would do so again. Reasons for this included that it was 
straightforward, they received a good service, they accessed the care they needed, it 
was convenient to be given an arrival time and they were seen more quickly than 
they expected. Comments included: 
 
“The whole experience was seamless. From being triaged at home, given an 
appointment to being seen on time by fantastic caring professional staff. This service 
is a credit to NHS and so Covid safe it is to be highly commended and supported for 
its efficient and time efficient delivery of medical assistance.” 
 

Page 56

http://going online


“Excellent experience, booked in by phone. Appointment started exactly on time. 
Treated by an experienced nurse practitioner and discharged within a few 
minutes. Highly recommended.”  

Next steps 
 
The 111 First approach has enabled MIUs to work more efficiently supporting  
people with minor injuries and urgent care needs remotely and face to face. We are 
committed to successfully implementing the model and improving the patient 
experience. 
 
While we encourage people to use 111 First, we understand local concerns raised 
about some aspects of this approach. We would reiterate that people who go to an 
MIU without an appointment will continue to be assessed by our staff. Depending on 
the patient’s need, they will either be treated immediately, given a timed appointment 
that day or the next, directed to a more appropriate service or given advice on self-
care. 
 
We are mindful that there has been an increase in demand for 111 services and are 
increasing capacity at 111 to make sure that we can deliver an effective MIU service. 
 
We will continue to trial the 111 First model for another six months and seek further 
feedback from stakeholders/service users about its implementation and 
effectiveness, before publishing a further update. 
 
Any queries 
 
Please contact our Patient Advice and Liaison Service with any further queries or 
concerns, via: FREEPHONE 0800 587 4997 
 
(When the office is unattended a confidential answerphone service is provided. If an 
interpreter is needed, one will be arranged for you.) 
  
By email: 
dhc.pals@nhs.net 
 
By post: 
 
Patient Advice and Liaison Service, Dorset HealthCare, Sentinel House 
4-6 Nuffield Industrial Estate, Poole, Dorset BH17 0RB 
 
In person: 
Every service in the Trust has a local PALS representative available to help you. You 
can ask to speak to the local PALS representative when you are visiting one of our 
healthcare sites. If they are not available or you wish to speak to someone who does 
not work as part of the hospital/team, you can ask a member of staff to contact the 
PALS Coordinator for you. 
 
 

Page 57

mailto:dhc.pals@nhs.net


This page is intentionally left blank



 
Request for a review by an Overview or Scrutiny Committee 

Title and description of review requested: 

 
Scrutiny of Minor Injury units and accessibility in Dorset.   

 
 
 

 
Reason for request (Please see note 1): 

Reports that MIU’s in Dorset since they have been re-opened are increasingly 

difficult to access via the 111 service. EG a resident and indeed a councillor tried 
to access the Sherborne MIU and after losing patients went online only to be 
directed to Weymouth hospital. I am sure the councillor would happily give 

evidence.  
The friends of the Yeatman hospital have compiled evidence and I will attach to 

the email with this request form   
 
 

 
 

 
Evidence (Please see note 2): 

Verbal. 
Friends of the Yeatman hospital documents 

 
 

 
 
 

Desired outcome (Please see note 3): 

Open door policy needs to be re-introduced at MIU’s. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
Timescale for undertaking review (if it is considered urgent please explain why) 

(Please see note 4): 
 

Urgent before the Chief exec decides to close them. 
 
 
Name(s) 

 
Jon Andrews 

 
Date: 

24-09-2021 

 Page 59



 
 
 
Note 1 – Reason to review 

 Why should the topic be reviewed? 

 How does it link to the Council’s priorities 

 What are the benefits of the review? 

 
Note 2 – Evidence 

 What evidence is there to suggest a review is necessary i.e. public 
concerns/media coverage/poorly performing service 

 What are the facts? 

 Has the topic been looked at before? Why was that not successful? 
 
Note 3 Desired outcome 

 What would you wish the outcome of the review to be? 

 
Note 4 Suggested timescale for the review 

 Please indicate if there is any suggested timescale for a review 

 If the issue is considered urgent, please explain your reasons 
 

Please refer to the ‘Review Checklist’ on the next page for information on what is 
suitable and not suitable for review. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 60



 
 

Review Checklist 

Topics are suitable for review when: 
 

 Topics are not suitable for review 
when: 

 Overview or Scrutiny could have an 

impact and add value 
 

  The issue is already being 

addressed elsewhere and change 
is imminent 

 

 The topic links to the ambitions set 
out in the Dorset Council Plan 

 

  The topic would be better 
addressed elsewhere (and will be 

referred there) 
 

 The topic is of high local 

importance and reflects the 
concerns of local people 

  Overview or Scrutiny involvement 

would have limited or no impact 
upon outcomes 

 

 The resources are available that 

would be required to conduct the 
review, in terms of councillor and 

officer capacity and budget 

  The topic may be sub-judice or 

prejudicial to the Council’s interest 
 

 
 

 It avoids work duplication 

elsewhere 
 

  The topic is too broad to make a 

review realistic 
 

 The issue is one that Overview or 

Scrutiny can realistically influence 

  New legislation or guidance 

relating to the topic is expected 
within the next year 

 

 The issue is related to an area 

where the Council, or one of its 
partners is not performing well 

 

  The topic area is currently subject 

to inspection or has recently 
undergone substantial change 

 

 The issue is relevant to all or large 
parts of the local area 

 

  
 

 The review would be in the 
Council’s interests 

  
 
 

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Request by a Councillor for a Review by an Overview or Scrutiny Committee 

Subject for Review: 

 
The operation post pandemic of Dorset MIUs 

 
 
Reason for request (Please see note 1): 

 

All MIUs in Dorset have ceased operation as walk in treatment centres. MIUs are 
supposed to relieve the pressure on A&E departments but their present working as 

an appointment only service through NHS 111 negates the reason why they were 
established. People attend A&E or MIUs because the nature of their illness / injury 
needs immediate assessment and not a booked appointment with a GP.  

 
 

 
Evidence (Please see note 2): 

 
Direct personal experience last month of being told by NHS 111 to take a patient 

from Sherborne to Weymouth to attend the MIU there – a 45 minute car journey 
when I live less than a quarter of a mile from the unit in the Yeatman. This resulted 

in me taking the patient to the A&E department in Yeovil.  
 
Searching for Dorset MIUs I came across a paper prepared by the CCG in 2015 

which contains the following statement: 
 

This specification sets out NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group’s 
commissioning requirements for all of the Minor Injury Units operating in Dorset.   
  

The overarching aims are as follows:  
  

preventing the need for patients to access ED with minor injuries. Diverting minor 
injury patients away from ED freeing up capacity in the department to treat urgent 

patients.  

quality, clinically effective, value for money service for those patients who have 
suffered a minor injury. 
 

The present arrangements clearly aren’t meeting that test. The local community 
needs a local facility to serve it. A&E departments are not being served either as 

people divert to them for urgent assessment and treatment. Both the NHS 111 
phone service and its online counterpart are disfunctional with long waits in the 
former and a lengthy series of multi-choice questions leading to an unsatisfactory 

appointment in the latter. 
 

 
Desired Outcome (Please see note 3): 

 

The return of a walk in MIU service across the whole of Dorset 
Page 63



 
 
 
Name(s) 

 
Robin Legg 

 
Signature(s) 

 
 

 
Date: 

5 October 2021 

 

 
Note 1 – Reason to review 

 Why should the topic be reviewed? 

 How does it link to the Council’s priorities 

 What are the benefits of the review? 

 
Note 2 – Evidence 

 What evidence is there to suggest a review is necessary i.e. public 
concerns/media coverage/poorly performing service 

 What are the facts? 

 Has the topic been looked at before? Why was that not successful? 

 
Note 3 Desired outcome 

 What would you wish the outcome of the inquiry to be? 

 
Note 4 – Submission of the form 

 Submit the form to Democratic Services 
(democraticservices@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk) who will place the matter on the 

agenda for the next available meeting of the Committee. 

 Members of the Committee will give consideration to including the review in 
their Forward Plan having regard to the Council’s priorities, resources 

available and the importance and impact of the Review. 

 You may wish to be present during the committee meeting to make a personal 

representation. 

 You will be notified of the Committee’s decision within 5 working days of the 

date of the Committee meeting. 
 
If you need any further assistance in completing the form please contact 

democraticservices@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 64

mailto:democraticservices@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


 
 

 
 
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY 

Date Received:     Decision:  Reject / Reserve (select) 
Date Acknowledged:    Date (decision notified: 
Committee Date:    By (print name): 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Review Checklist 

Topics are suitable for review when: 

 

 Topics are not suitable for review 

when: 

 Overview or Scrutiny could have an 
impact and add value 

 

  The issue is already being 
addressed elsewhere and change 

is imminent 
 

 The topic is of high local 

importance and reflects the 
concerns of local people 

  The topic would be better 

addressed elsewhere (and will be 
referred there) 

 
 
 

 The resources are available that 

would be required to conduct the 
review, in terms of manpower and 

budget 

  Overview or Scrutiny involvement 

would have limited or no impact 
upon outcomes 

 
 

 
 Page 65



 
 It avoids work duplication 

elsewhere 

  The topic may be sub-judice or 
prejudicial to the Council’s interest 

 
 

 The issue is one that the 

Committee can realistically 
influence 

  The topic is too broad to make a 

review realistic 
 
 

 

 The issue is related to an area 
where the Council, or one of its 

partners is not performing well 

  New legislation or guidance 
relating to the topic is expected 

within the next year 
 

 
 

 The issue is relevant to all or large 

parts of the local area 

  The topic area is currently subject 

to inspection or has recently 
undergone substantial change 

 

 

 The review would be in the 
Council’s interests 

  
 

 

 

Page 66



 
People and Health Scrutiny Committee 
01 November 2021 
Social Mobility in Dorset 
 

For Review and Consultation  

Portfolio Holder:  Cllr S Flower, Leader of the Council  

 
Local Councillor(s): All 

Executive Director: M Prosser, Chief Executive  

     

Report Author: James Roberts 
Title: Research Officer 

Tel: 01305 224579 
Email: James.Roberts@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Report Status:  Public 

 

Recommendation:  

 
That the Scrutiny Committee; 

i) Note the evidence attached regarding social mobility in Dorset. 
ii) Identify any recommendations to Cabinet for further work to improve 

social mobility in Dorset. 
 
 
Reason for Recommendation:      

 

To ensure the council is being evidence led in its response to social mobility and 
the barriers and challenges experienced by residents. 
 

 
1. Executive Summary  

 
 
1.1 On the 3 August 2021 all councillors were invited to a seminar on tackling 

inequalities. One of the outputs from those discussions identified by 
Senior Leadership was for a report to be prepared for this committee on 

what this council is doing to improve social mobility in Dorset, and identify 
any gaps or where more work could or needs to be done. 

Page 67

Agenda Item 8



 
1.2 In 2017 the Social Mobility Commission reported that Weymouth and 

Portland was the 3rd worst local authority in the country for social mobility. 
 

 
1.3 In 2018 The House of Commons Library research service, using the same 

methodology as the Social Mobility Commission, released a briefing paper 

which found that the South Dorset parliamentary constituency was the 
worst for social mobility, out of 533 constituencies in England. 

 
 
1.4 Against the backdrop of poor social mobility came the Covid-19 pandemic 

which has a significant impact. The Sutton Trust, in their report titled ‘lost 
learning, lost earning’ said that “school closures (during the pandemic) are 

likely to have substantial negative labour market impacts for those from 
less-well off groups, their chances of social mobility, and on the economy 
in general.” The updated Corporate Plan puts renewed emphasis on the 

importance of helping Dorset’s children to recover from the pandemic. 
Improving education is one of the key factors in improving social mobility. 

 
 
2. Financial Implications 

 
None in relation to this report. Improved social mobility has benefits including a 

higher skilled workforce, earning better wages, improving the local economy and 
increasing the tax take. Secondary benefits include better public health reducing 
the need for expensive interventions. 

 
 
3. Well-being and Health Implications  

 

Poor health has been linked to poor educational outcomes, reduced 

development, and ultimately, worse social mobility. Increased social mobility will 
have beneficial implications for public health. 

 
 
4. Climate implications 

 

No direct implications. 

 
 
5. Other Implications 

 
As explained above, the updated Corporate Plan puts renewed emphasis on the 

importance of helping Dorset’s children to recover from the pandemic. Improving 
education is one of the key factors in improving social mobility. 

Page 68



 
 
6. Risk Assessment 

 

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has 
been identified as: 
Current Risk: Medium 

Residual Risk: Medium 
 

 
7. Equalities Impact Assessment 
 

Not required. 
 

 
8. Appendices 
 

1. Key recommendations for local government 
 

 
 
9. Background Papers 

 
1. Institute for Employment Studies/Salvation Army report 

2. UK Prosperity Index 2021 
3. Members’ seminar slides 
4. Early Help Outcomes and Impact Statement 

 
 

 
10. Background and context 

 

10.1 On the 3 August 2021 all Members were invited to a seminar on tackling 
inequalities. One of the recommendations that followed from those 

discussions was for a report to be prepared for this committee on what this 
council is doing to improve social mobility. 

 

 
10.2 In their 2019 manifesto, the government committed to ‘levelling up’ every 

part of the UK. This was in response to a long-known issue with regional 
disparities which the Institute for Fiscal Studies found was greater than in 
most comparable countries. This led to the launch of the Levelling Up fund 

in March 2021. 
 

 

Page 69



10.3 The Levelling Up Fund methodology has faced considerable scrutiny since 
it was released for a number of reasons. One key issue identified early on 

by this council was the decision to evaluate ‘need’ at the local authority 
level. Dorset Council as a whole is not particularly deprived, but this hides 

the fact that within the area are some of the most deprived 
neighbourhoods in the country. This message had been relayed to our 
MPs in the hope that they will lobby ministers to rethink the way the 

funding is prioritised. We are not alone in this – organisations like The 
Salvation Army and The Young Foundation have raised the same issue. 

 
 
10.4 Dorset Council submitted a bid to the Levelling Up Fund for £17 million. 

The bid has two elements, the regeneration of Weymouth town centre and 
the regeneration of the harbourside. We will know if that bid has been 

successful on XXX 
 
 

10.5 On the 19 September 2021 the government announced that: 
 

“The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government will 
become the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities as 
the Government delivers on its central mission to level up every part of the 

UK.”  
 

The Rt Hon Michael Gove MP becomes the Secretary of State for 
Levelling Up, while former Bank of England Chief Economist Andy 
Haldane is the new Head of the Levelling Up Taskforce. Changes at 

national level present potential opportunities for the council to work with 
MPs and government to lobby for Dorset.  

 
 
10.6 From March 2020 the government provided an uplift of £20 a week to 

those in receipt of Universal Credit. This is due to end by 6 October 2021. 
This will have a significant impact on Dorset’s most vulnerable residents 

and particularly children and young people.  
 
 

10.7 Devolution has seen some powers passed from central government to 
regions and city mayors. Metro Mayors in parts of England (and the Mayor 

of London) hold executive powers over spatial planning, regional 
transport, the provision of skills training, business support services, and 
economic development. Champions of social mobility, like the Social 

Mobility Commission have long argued that more powers should be 
devolved to the regions to allow more flexibility in how the money is spent. 

 
 

Page 70



 
 

 
11. Social mobility in Dorset 

 
11.1 Social mobility is the movement of individuals, families, or groups through 

a system of social hierarchy. This can be movement upwards as well as 

downwards. ‘Good’ social mobility is facilitating this movement or, 
removing any barriers that may be preventing people from moving through 

the social hierarchy. 
 
 

11.2 What does good social mobility look like? Much of the literature around 
social mobility focusses on education, good quality jobs, particularly jobs 

which have a career ladder and social protections to give a helping hand 
to those who are struggling. Areas with the highest social mobility combine 
access, quality and equity in education, while also providing work 

opportunities and good working conditions, alongside quality social 
protection and inclusive institutions (World Economic Forum).  

 

 
11.3 Research over the course of the pandemic has shown that existing 

inequalities defined by income, place, health and ethnicity have been 
exacerbated. The Sutton Trust’s report ‘Lost Learning, Lost Earnings’ 

found that “school closures (during the pandemic) are likely to have 
substantial negative labour market impacts for those from less-well off 
groups, their chances of social mobility, and on the economy in general.” 

 
 

11.4 In 2018 the council’s Research Team carried out a detailed analysis of 
social mobility across Dorset, using the Social Mobility Commission’s 
national analysis as a basis. The Commission had found that out of 324 

local authority areas in England, Weymouth and Portland ranked 322. The 
poor ranking was primarily down to children from deprived families 

attending inadequately rated primary and secondary schools, poor KS2 
attainment, poor ‘points score entry’ for A-Levels and the proportion of the 
working age population earning below the ‘real living wage’. 

 
 

11.5 The other District areas in Dorset performed much better than Weymouth 
and Portland although none ranked near the top. Of the former districts 
that make up the Dorset Council area, East Dorset ranked highest at 147. 

 
 

Page 71



11.6 Dorset as a whole (including Christchurch) scored below the national 
average for nursery & primary Ofsted ratings, KS2 achievement, points 

score entry for A-levels and earnings. 
 

11.7 There are currently no secondary schools in Weymouth and Portland 
rated ‘good’ by Ofsted. The four schools, All Saints' Church of England 
Academy, Wey Valley, Budmouth Academy and Atlantic Academy are 

currently awaiting inspection. 
 

 
11.8 A thriving economy attracting employers who provide well-paid jobs is vital 

to improving social mobility. The UK Prosperity Index 2021 ranked Dorset 

94th out of 379 local authority areas. Dorset, however, ranks very poorly 
for infrastructure (359th) and below average for economic quality, 

enterprise conditions and social capital. 
 
 

11.9 The UK Prosperity Index uses Pembrokeshire County Council’s ‘Kickstart 
Scheme’ as an example of a project to get young people into work. The 

scheme provides funding to employers to create job placements for 16- to 
24-year-olds, which they suggest could act as a blueprint for other local 
authorities. 

 
 

11.10 The Social Mobility Commission’s recommendations for local authorities 
include raising aspirations of young people, building a sense of belonging 
and forming positive connections through local leadership and strong 

school–community links, improving transport links and increasing pay for 
the low paid. An improved sense of belonging alongside strong school–

community links are attributed to the dramatically improved social mobility 
seen in many London Boroughs in the last 20 years (along with increased 
funding for the capital’s schools). 

 

Recommendations 

11.11. The Social Mobility report makes a series of recommendations for 

councils, set out below with a summary of similar local action underway 

and possible additional action that could be considered. As an update the 

UK Prosperity Index 2021 report was recently published and highlights 

additional areas for which Dorset scored poorly that could be considered 

for action. These are included in italics below. 

 

  

Page 72



Appendix 1 

 
Key recommendations for local 

government  

Local action already underway and additional actions for consideration 

Improve infrastructure, including: 

 Transport: quality, diversity, and 

penetration of road and rail 
transport within a local authority, 
as well as access to key transport 

hubs. 

 Communications: internet speed 

and how widespread access to 
superfast internet is. 
 

Infrastructure plans relating specifically to Weymouth and Portland will inform 
development of the Stronger Neighbourhoods (SN) strategy as well as its 

delivery, 
 
Ever faster fixed and mobile broadband delivered by a series of programmes 

and projects to complement market-based delivery. Current Dorset Rural 5G 
projects exploring use in agritech and offshore applications, building on 

facilities at Council-owned Dorset Innovation Park. 
 
One of 6 priorities in our 3 year Children, Young People and Families Plan is 

“Delivering Locally”. The main intended outcome is that families are able to 
benefit from local services, whether those services are delivered face-to-face 

in the communities they live in or accessible virtually.  
 
Examples of Achievements of the Delivering Locally Plan in the first year: 

- children’s services locality teams working together, across disciplines, 
to wrap services around children, young people and families 

(approach praised in Ofsted inspection due to evidence of impact on 
outcomes for children) 

- strengthened / created Local Alliances (groups made up of 

representatives from key partner agencies in each of our localities, 
including parents, carers and young people as well as Voluntary and 
Community Partners) 

- each alliance has established local priorities and plans, to be 
delivered through steering groups 

P
age 73

https://dorsetcc.sharepoint.com/sites/DorsetChildrenThrive/SitePages/Children,-young-people-%26-familes-plan-2020---23.aspx


- in Weymouth and Portland, linked to the Stronger Neighbourhoods 

Project to influence planning and delivery 
- established the local authority Early Help offer for families, linking with 

local community members to deliver services for children, young 
people and their families 

- created / strengthened virtual and face-to-face support for families, 

responding to Covid guidance 
- sustained safe face-to-face services with children, young people and 

families  
 
Next steps:  

 
 -to understand gaps in access to services due to transport and 

infrastructure;  
- to understand where digital access is restricted  
 

Ensure locality plans help to address transport and digital access; linking to 
wider, strategic plans to improve access to services. 

 

Improve economic quality, including: 

 Productivity 

 Dynamism: business churn. 

 Labour force engagement 

 Fiscal sustainability (of the local 
authority). 

 Macroeconomic stability: GVA 

growth, inactivity shocks, 
economic shrinkage, SME 

growth. 
 

Economic regeneration plans and pieces of work relating specifically to 
Weymouth and Portland will inform development of the SN strategy as well 

as its delivery. 
 
The SN strategy will work alongside economic regeneration activity in 

Weymouth and Portland, making good use of connections and links for the 
benefit of other aspect of the councils work and service provision in the local 
area. 

 
Both LEP -level economic strategy (Strategic Economic Plan, Local Industrial 

Strategy, Dorset investment prospectus) and council level strategy (Dorset 

P
age 74



Council Plan, DC Economic Growth Strategy) are focused on increasing 

productivity through high quality jobs, particularly in key sectors. 
 

Dorset Innovation Park is designed to create a cluster of advanced 
engineering, defence, and security businesses. The nearly-complete MOD 
innovation Battle Lab will be a catalyst for future growth. The submitted 

Levelling Up Fund round 1 bid includes provision for a second battle lab on 
Portland. 

 
In our Local Alliance Groups we have set a priority to engage and work with 
local employers to: 

 
- Enable and support parents and carers and young people into work 

- Influence locality plans and play a role in supporting children and 
young people to aspire to work and live in Dorset 

 

We would also like to use our direct engagement with community members 
to inform economic strategy. 

 

Improve enterprise conditions, including: 

 Business environment: Property 

costs, compliance, local 
government restrictions. 

 Domestic Market Contestability: 

how open the market is to new 
participants vs. incumbents. 

 Labour Market Flexibility: how 
dynamic and flexible the 

workplace is for both employer 
and employee. 

 

The Growth and Economic Regeneration function at the council is in the 
process of a redesign to better serve these needs. The Local Development 

Order simplifies planning at the Dorset Innovation Park while Enterprise 
Zone status reduces business rates for new tenants. The Inward Investment 
team helps businesses source suitable employment space. Since much of 

Dorset is designated AONB there are significant planning constraints in 
many rural areas. 
 

As part of our commitment to “whole family working” we have sustained links 
with employment advisors (Department for Work and Pensions). Our 

practitioners sustain focus on economic wellbeing for families. This includes 

P
age 75



access to employment. We work with Family Learning to develop relevant 

learning opportunities for family members. 

Improve social capital, including: 

 Family relationships. 

 Civic and Social Participation: 
through volunteering, donating 

money, and local meeting places 
such as pubs and sports clubs. 

 Institutional Trust: courts and 

Parliament. 

 Social Networks: ties that an 

individual has with people in their 
wider network. 

 Personal Support: support that 
individuals feel from their 

community. 
 

Issues relating to social capital will form a significant core to the work of SN, 
and activities relating specifically to Weymouth and Portland will inform 

development of the SN strategy as well as its delivery, 
 

SN aims to take a whole council approach to strengthen whole communities 
and social networks, support and facilitate real civic and social engagement,  
working with whole families, and recognising supporting individuals in the 

context of their whole lives.  
 

In Children’s Services our priority is to keep children with their families and, 
where this is not possible, to keep them close to home so they can sustain 
connection and relationships with family and friends. We are creating new 

children’s homes in Weymouth and have invested in special provision for 
children with Special Educational Needs.  

 
Our locality model enables us to respond to the unique needs of each place 
and to connect to the local context our children grow up in. We are 

committed to an asset-based community development approach; to 
harnessing community assets to build on local resilience and local solutions. 

 
We are working with Help and Kindness to build on the great achievements 
of the volunteer network, built through the pandemic. 

 
We link to existing agencies working to enhance social capital such as credit 
unions, projects that provide local solutions to food poverty and 

organisations that offer positive activities to support good health.  
 

Our early help model in children’s services supports families through 4 levels 
of work: information, advice and guidance (linking families to existing 

P
age 76



community or online support); group work (working with cohorts of children, 

young people, parents and carers to enhance health and wellbeing; family 
work (working predominantly in family homes, drawing on multi-agency and 

community support to improve outcomes for children. Our practitioners also 
help and support others to initiate or sustain effective models of help such as 
“Team Around the Family”. 

 
We aspire to develop Family Hubs that are: 

 

 Intergenerational 
 

 Interoperable 
 

 Integrated with partners 
 

 Resident friendly 
 

 Local 
 

 Incorporating touchdown and meeting venues for staff 
 
 

 Every local authority should develop 

an integrated strategy for improving 
disadvantaged children’s outcomes. 

This should include:  
o quality improvement support for 

early education settings, including 

collaborative working groups, 
tailored advice and comprehensive 

training for early years teachers  

Improving outcomes for disadvantaged children relating specifically to 

Weymouth and Portland will inform development of the SN strategy as well 
as its delivery, 

 
We support schools and early years settings to work collaboratively to 
ensure children experience belonging in an educational setting and to ensure 

they share best practice. Each locality team includes: 
 

- Specialist Teachers who help schools support pupils with specific needs 

P
age 77



o driving uptake of the early education 

offer for disadvantaged two-year-
olds and ensuring that they do not 

lose places to children eligible for 
the 30-hour offer − ensuring that all 
parenting support programmes are 

evidence based and experimenting 
with ways to offer effective advice to 

more parents.  
 

 Early education and childcare 
providers should invest pupil premium 
funds in evidence-based practice using 

the Early Education Foundation’s 
toolkit. 

 

- Education Challenge Leads who support schools with sustaining inclusive 

and diverse curriculum and with quality improvement 
- Early Years Support and Advice officers who support early years providers 

in the same way 
- Inclusion Leads who work with schools to ensure children are well 
supported in educational settings and enabled to access the curriculum. 

Inclusion Leads work to prevent children experiencing fixed term or 
permanent exclusion. 

 
A strong focus in our Children, Young People and Families Plan – working 
with the LGA for a 10 year plan and working on implementation of a PAUSE 

programme.  
 
We are making good progress in delivering our Sufficiency Strategy and the 

quality of early years provision is high (99% good or above) 
We have a good understanding of the issues and challenges faced by the 

sector through regular surveys and conversations enabling us to: 
 Offer appropriate support including additional financial support to 
settings at risk of closure (over £190k to support sustainability). 

 Understand take-up of places and possible future demand 
 Take-up of early years places has increased from 1,153 children in 

Feb 2021 to 8,151 at the end of the summer term 
 

As a result of our concerns for those children (particularly around speech 

and language development) who are due to transfer to school but may not 
have accessed early education for the past 12 months we secured additional 
investment which has delivered: 

 161 children accessed over 7,000 hours of additional free early 
education to help boost their development 

P
age 78



 The roll-out of the WELCOM programme to all settings, so that 

children are given the help they need to catch up and targeted of support 
to those settings who identify children with a language delay 

 We are working with CCG colleagues to jointly commission a new 
model of Speech and Language support and we have increased our 
investment this year 

 
 We operate a Golden Ticket system whereby families eligible for early years 

education for children and 2 years receive a golden ticket to exchange for 
sessions with a local provider. Our uptake of early years funding is above 
national average.  

 
Our parent support offer is delivered both virtually and online by qualified and 

accredited practitioners in evidence-based practice. It is co-ordinated across 
the county and has reached over 200 parents and carers since April 2021 
and supports parents and carers of children of all ages, including teenagers. 

 
We are developing a robust workforce development offer for our early years 

workforce, drawing on the expertise of colleagues in health, education, social 
care and early help. 

 Local authorities should support 

collaboration between isolated 
schools, subsidise transport for 
disadvantaged young people in 

isolated areas and encourage Local 
Enterprise Partnerships (LEP) to follow 
the North East LEP’s approach to 

improving careers support for young 
people 

 

Work to improve careers support and work readiness for young people 

relating specifically to Weymouth and Portland will inform development of the 
SN strategy as well as its delivery 
 

Career support is provided through the Careers and enterprise company and 
join working across Economic Development and Children,s Services teams. 
 

We have recently TUPED staff from Ansbury Guidance to enable our young 
people to be supported into employment through our teams. 

 

P
age 79



 

 

 

• Schools should work with local 

employers to meet the key Gatsby 
careers support benchmarks (a set of 
critical careers support requirements 

based on international standards) and 
to ensure that all young people are 

well prepared for work.  
 

Our Education Challenge Leads work with schools, including primaries, to 

focus on education and employment opportunities and careers advice for 
young people. This has been achieved through linking with national and local 

projects. We would like to enhance this work further. 
 
Dorset Council is part of the Dorset Careers hub which is supporting all 

schools and colleges to deliver their statutory requirements relating to 
careers (including Gatsby Benchmarks). Every term all schools and colleges 

performance is measured by dedicated staff against these standard 
benchmarks by Dorset Council in partnership with other stakeholders. 

 Local government should develop 
shorter-term action plans with 

employers, educators, universities and 
other key local stakeholders to 

improve opportunities for local 
disadvantaged people. 

 

Strategies employed to improve opportunities for disadvantaged children 
relating specifically to Weymouth and Portland will inform development of the 

SN strategy as well as its delivery 
The Economic Growth Strategy acknowledges the need to update plans 

more frequently than usual especially considering the effects of Brexit and 
Covid. Work on the accompanying Action Plan was paused as the team 
shifted to delivering the “saving lives” action of pandemic response and 

recovery, including distributing £13 million in loans to micro and small 
businesses. Work will recommence shortly. 

The ICS Health Inequalities programme in Dorset is leading the development 
of an Anchor Institutions network to support partner organisations in 
progressing this agenda. Colleagues in Dorset Council see this as an 

opportunity to work with partners on a number of key policy areas such as 
opportunities for localising procurement, raising aspirations of local residents 

to seek careers in our larger public sector organisations (and in particular 
looking to provide apprenticeship opportunities for those young people 

P
age 80



furthest from employment readiness) and also to promote staff volunteering 

to enable the Council to better understand the communities we serve. 

 Local authorities should all become 
accredited Living Wage employers and 

encourage others in their communities 
to do likewise 

 

Dorset Council uses national pay scales. The lowest rate is currently 
£9.25/hour, slightly below the on-statutory “Real living wage” of £9.50 /hour. 

Dorset Council Terms and conditions for holiday, sick pay, pension etc are 
significantly above the statutory minima. 

 
 Local government leaders should put 

social mobility at the heart of economic 

and educational development and take 
coordinated action to tackle the social 

mobility challenges of their areas by 
each developing a ten-year social 
mobility strategy with clear 

progress measures. This should 

include a focus on improving transport 

links to social mobility hotspots in rural 
and coastal areas.  

 

 

Developments designed to increase social mobility relating specifically to 
Weymouth and Portland will inform development of the SN strategy as well 
as its delivery 

DCs corporate priorities of inclusive economic growth, suitable housing, 
strong, healthy communities, and staying safe and well all contribute to 

improving social mobility.  
DCs two recent bids to the Levelling Up Fund were entirely focused on 
Weymouth and Portland, one improving sustainable transport links around 

the station, the other regenerating derelict brownfield sites on or near the 
waterside.  

Reducing health inequality is also a key driver of Public Health Dorset’s 
activities. 

 Local government should develop a 
new deal with employers and 

educators for inclusive employment, 
based on jointly agreed local social 
mobility action plans, using the Social 

Mobility Employer Index as a 
framework for employer action. 

 

While there is significant work to better connect education and skills 
provision to employment demand, especially for higher quality jobs, this is 

not done within the context of a social mobility plan at present. 

 
 

P
age 81



 
 

 
 
Please do not delete the footnote. 
 

Footnote: 

Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities implications have been considered and any 

information relevant to the decision is included within the report. 

P
age 82



P
age 83



People and Health Scrutiny -  
purpose of the Webinar

• The overarching aim of the webinar is to present to council members 
information we have in relation to deprivation & inequality and its impact on 
Dorset’s communities

• This is an area that people and health scrutiny could play a really important role 
asking the key questions as to whether outcomes for people and communities 
are improving as we pass through this latest re-organisation of health and care. 

• This is in essence Part one: Setting the scene giving you the context
• A further webinar will follow looking at what work is already occurring
• Strategies and services we’ve put in place and are planning to put in place

P
age 84



Overview of Deprivation and inequality 
across Dorset

P
age 85



Deprivation and inequality across Dorset

P
age 86



P
age 87



Food Insecurity

P
age 88



Food banks

P
age 89



Health & disability deprivation

P
age 90



Click to add title

P
age 91



P
age 92



Child Poverty

P
age 93



Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 educational 
gaps for disadvantaged children

P
age 94



X

X

X

X

XX

Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 educational 
gaps for disadvantaged children

P
age 95



P
age 96



Coastal communities
•Higher burden of ill-health including 
–Mental ill-health 
–Long-term limiting conditions
–Substance use
–Risk factors – smoking and obesity

•Migration
–Inward migration of older people and vulnerable younger people in search 
of cheaper housing
–Outward migration of young people in search of employment

• Education and employment
–Greater unemployment and part time and seasonal work
–Limited access to further education, lack of employment opportunities
–Lack of diversification in local economy
–Unemployment linked to poor health

• Physical Barriers
–Poor transport connections and long distances to local employers, limited 
awareness of opportunities outside the local area

•Health services and workforce
–Greater hospital admissions, evidence of health service deficit in recorded 
health standards, challenges in recruitment and retention of medicaland 
social care workforce

•Housing
–Houses of multiple occupancy, static caravan parks

Prevalence of Coronary Heart Disease 
(2014/15

Chief Medical Report 2021

P
age 97



Weymouth 
and 

Portland

This Photo by Unknown Author is licensed under CC BY-SA

P
age 98

https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Underhill,_Wyke_Regis_and_Weymouth.jpg
https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/3.0/


1. Highest levels of crime
2. Poorest health outcomes

3. Lowest community satisfaction
4. Some worst housing conditions
5. Poorest levels of educational 

attainment
6. Highest proportion of children in care
7. Highest rates of vulnerable adults
8. Highest levels of homelessness

9. Weymouth and Portland has nine out of 
ten of Dorset’s most deprived areas, six 

within the top 10% most deprived

Compared to regional and national areas. 

Changing the Story for 
Weymouth and Portland

P
age 99



Children’s Services 
Data

• 0 – 19 population in Chesil is 14,999
• There is a higher proportion of vulnerable children in Weymouth and 

Portland than any other locality
• 6 children Permanently Excluded since September (downward trend 

from last academic year)
• 811 children have an EHCP – the highest number in Dorset
• Based on results at Key Stage 4  for 2018/19, if Chesil was a local 

authority, it would be placed third from bottom of all local authorities
• Attainment levels for children entitled to Free School Meals are 

notably lower than other areas - only 1 in 7 children achieving a good 
pass at KS4

• 102 children – Child Protection
• 140 Children in Care
• 273 children - Early Help (local authority)

P
age 100



Brid Featherstone 
(British Sociologist) 

and Poverty

• “robust evidence” from across 
the world that there is a clear 
association between poverty and 
child abuse and neglect - cited U.S. 
studies which showed that raising 
the income of families just a small 
amount can reduce abuse and 
neglect

P
age 101



Stronger 
Neighbourhoods

“To improve the life chances of our 
vulnerable communities in Weymouth 
and Portland; reduce inequalities and 
improve social mobility; andmaximise 
opportunitiesarising fromeconomic 
growth and regeneration in the area.”

P
age 102



Working with communities in a strength-based 
way–taking acommunity-ledapproach,unlocking 
the potential ofcommunity knowledge, drive 
and power

Focusing on 5 key issue areas and7  localities - 5 
in Weymouth and 2 in Portland

Taking a holistic approach and joining up the 
work of the council and partners – so the whole 
is greater than the sum of the parts

Being agile - building a framework that for 
change that supports the ability to adapt and 
adjust in accordance with local and national 
developments

Encouraging innovation - creating a supportive 
culture in which frontline staff are permitted to 
make decisions for themselves and rethink how 
they work

P
age 103



Homelessness
• If you are ‘sleeping rough or in homeless accommodation’, national figures show that your life expectancy is about 44 for men 
and 42 for women  (this does not refer to temporary accommodation)

• If you are homeless with another condition such as a serious mental illness your life expectancy is even more impacted

• An average of 28 households are known to become homeless or at risk of homelessness each week in the Dorset Council 
area

• In July, there are 329 households in temporary housing, with 92 of that number in bed and breakfast accommodation.

• The causes of homelessness include financial issues, mental health and substance misuse especially in relation to single 
people. Family homeless also remains a problem which impacts negatively across health and well-being indicators.

•Great work has been done in Dorset to accommodate people ‘sleeping rough’ since the pandemic.  There are, however, in 
July 2021, 13 people still sleeping out, and refusing accommodation and shelter.

P
age 104



People – Adults - inequality

P
age 105



P
age 106



P
age 107



Axis Title

Pe
r 1

,0
00
 p
op

ul
at
io
n

Learning Disability Memory & 
Cognition

Mental Health Physical Support Sensory Support Social Support
0.00

1.00

2.00

3.00

4.00

5.00

6.00

Prevalence of support per 1,000 population AS Clients 18-64
by Adult Locality Area

East Dorset  North Dorset  Purbeck  West Dorset  Weymouth & Portland

P
age 108



Pe
r 1

,0
00
 p
op

ul
at
io
n

Learning 
Disability

Memory & 
Cognition

Mental Health Physical Support Sensory Support Social Support
0.00

5.00

10.00

15.00

20.00

25.00

30.00

Prevalence of support per 1,000 population AS Clients 65+
by Adult Locality Area

East Dorset  North Dorset  Purbeck  West Dorset  Weymouth & Portland

P
age 109



East Dorset Locality Area North Dorset Locality 
Area

Purbeck Locality Area West Dorset Locality Area Weymouth & Portland 
Locality Area

Total 
0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

Comparison total number of Adults 18-64 supported by Dorset Council 2021 to 2041

2021 2041

P
age 110



East Dorset Locality 
Area

North Dorset 
Locality Area

Purbeck Locality 
Area

West Dorset 
Locality Area

Weymouth & 
Portland Locality 

Area

Total 
0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

Comparison - Total number of Clients supported aged 65+
2021 to 2024 

2021 2041

P
age 111



Healthy life expectancy – Dorset CCG 
context

Healthy life 
expectancy at 
birth: females in 
Dorset and BCP, 
significantly 
higher than 
England

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profi
le/public-health-outcomes-
framework/data#page/3/gid/100
0049/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/3
02/are/E06000059/iid/90362/ag
e/1/sex/2/cid/4/page-
options/ovw-do-0_car-do-0

P
age 112

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/3/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/302/are/E06000059/iid/90362/age/1/sex/2/cid/4/page-options/ovw-do-0_car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/3/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/302/are/E06000059/iid/90362/age/1/sex/2/cid/4/page-options/ovw-do-0_car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/3/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/302/are/E06000059/iid/90362/age/1/sex/2/cid/4/page-options/ovw-do-0_car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/3/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/302/are/E06000059/iid/90362/age/1/sex/2/cid/4/page-options/ovw-do-0_car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/3/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/302/are/E06000059/iid/90362/age/1/sex/2/cid/4/page-options/ovw-do-0_car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/3/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/302/are/E06000059/iid/90362/age/1/sex/2/cid/4/page-options/ovw-do-0_car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/3/gid/1000049/pat/6/par/E12000009/ati/302/are/E06000059/iid/90362/age/1/sex/2/cid/4/page-options/ovw-do-0_car-do-0


UTLA level HLE masks 
variation within the 
councils

BCP life expectancy at birth
Females just under 10 years 
difference between West 
Highcliffe (87.5 years) and 
Boscombe West (77.9 
years)
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/local-
health#page/3/gid/1938133185/pat/
202/par/E06000058/ati/8/are/E0501
0534/iid/93283/age/1/sex/2/cid/4/tb
m/1/page-options/ovw-do-0_car-do-
0

P
age 113

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/local-health#page/3/gid/1938133185/pat/202/par/E06000058/ati/8/are/E05010534/iid/93283/age/1/sex/2/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/ovw-do-0_car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/local-health#page/3/gid/1938133185/pat/202/par/E06000058/ati/8/are/E05010534/iid/93283/age/1/sex/2/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/ovw-do-0_car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/local-health#page/3/gid/1938133185/pat/202/par/E06000058/ati/8/are/E05010534/iid/93283/age/1/sex/2/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/ovw-do-0_car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/local-health#page/3/gid/1938133185/pat/202/par/E06000058/ati/8/are/E05010534/iid/93283/age/1/sex/2/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/ovw-do-0_car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/local-health#page/3/gid/1938133185/pat/202/par/E06000058/ati/8/are/E05010534/iid/93283/age/1/sex/2/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/ovw-do-0_car-do-0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/local-health#page/3/gid/1938133185/pat/202/par/E06000058/ati/8/are/E05010534/iid/93283/age/1/sex/2/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/ovw-do-0_car-do-0


What causes health 
inequalities?

•This ‘segment’ tool 
gives the (medical) 
causes of deaths
•Then there are the 
causes of the causes 
…

• https://analytics.phe.gov.uk/apps/segment-tool/

P
age 114



What causes health inequalities: treating place not just people

•Labonte model (adapted) gives 
a clear conceptual framework 
which analyses the causes, 
and opportunities for action
•Highlights why interventions 
must focus on treating place 
and not just people. 
•Acting on only one factor is 
likely to provide a partial and 
incomplete response to the 
situation.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/h
ealth-inequalities-place-based-approaches-to-
reduce-inequalities/place-based-approaches-
for-reducing-health-inequalities-main-report 

P
age 115

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-place-based-approaches-to-reduce-inequalities/place-based-approaches-for-reducing-health-inequalities-main-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-place-based-approaches-to-reduce-inequalities/place-based-approaches-for-reducing-health-inequalities-main-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-place-based-approaches-to-reduce-inequalities/place-based-approaches-for-reducing-health-inequalities-main-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-place-based-approaches-to-reduce-inequalities/place-based-approaches-for-reducing-health-inequalities-main-report


Considering CHD

Emergency hospital admissions 
for CHD (2013/14 - 2017/18)

P
age 116



Risk factors for CHD and positive preventative behaviours

P
age 117



Nuffield Trust 

Adult smoking and deprivation 

The percentage of adults 
who smoke is 8% higher 
in the most deprived areas 
of England than in the 
least deprived.

GP patient survey: smoking prevalence by practice deprivation 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice/

P
age 118

https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/chart/how-does-the-proportion-of-adults-who-smoke-vary-by-deprivation-2


Adults living in 
more deprived 
areas are less 
active than 
people living in 
the least 
deprived areas.

NHS 
Digital 

Adult physical activity and deprivation 

P
age 119

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-and-diet/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-and-diet-england-2019/part-5-adult-physical-activity#adult-physical-activity
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-and-diet/statistics-on-obesity-physical-activity-and-diet-england-2019/part-5-adult-physical-activity#adult-physical-activity


Inverse care law

•A perverse relationship between the need for health care and its actual utilisation

• Those who most need medical care are least likely to receive it. Conversely, those with least need of health care tend to use 
health services more (and more effectively).

–Inverse care law | The King's Fund (kingsfund.org.uk)

• Public health services need to take affirmative action to counter health inequities and ensure health inequalities aren’t widened 
by the inverse care law

P
age 120

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/articles/inverse-care-law


Inequity in healthcare services without affirmative action 

P
age 121



Proportionate Universalism 

P
age 122



LiveWell Dorset uptake by deprivation

P
age 123



LiveWell Dorset – proportionate universalism

•When commissioned, we applied a 30% payment by results (PbR) element to the contract for uptake in deprived communities, 
incentivising greater efforts to engage harder-to-reach, higher needs groups
•Additional and targeted marcomms activities to amplify messaging to deprived communities - including intel-based, paid-for 
social media advertising
• Engagement work with community groups and settings, in more deprived areas, e.g. libraries, children’s centres, charities, 
housing providers
•Additional targeted support to PCNs and Practices serving more deprived communities
•A consistent and high priority performance management indicator   

P
age 124



The numbers
MSOA Index of 

Multiple 
deprivation 
score

(2015) 

Life 
Expectancy at 
birth (males)

Deaths from 
causes 
considered 
preventable

Emergency 
hospital 
admissions

 

Hospital stays 
for alcohol 
related harm

Hospital stays 
for self harm

Child poverty

(2015)

England 21.8 79.1 100 100 100 100 19.9

Melcombe Regis & Weymouth 
East

39.3 73.8 141.8 115.7 126.8 333.6 31.0

Underhill Fortuneswell & the 
Grove

38.8 78.4 138.4 110.2 93.0 234.6 38.9

Upwey Broadwey & Littlemoor 28.1 77.8 124.3 117.4 93.7 186.5 25.7

Westham East & West 27.4 76.9 114.4 107.5 93.3 162.8 18.1

Wey Valley & Weston North 19.8 80.5 101.2 94.9 76.4 157.3 16.8

Tophill West & Easton 18.6 80.4 91.8 94.6 74.8 105.2 15.5

Wyke Regis 15.7 78.8 94.4 95.1 77.3 124.6 16.1

Weymouth West 17.2 79.9 84.0 92.6 70.9 136.8 16.5

Chickerell & Chesil Bank 13.7 79.0 104.8 84.1 65.9 74.1 12.6

Preston & Radipole 7.8 82.0 59.1 87.1 61.5 105.2 7.6

P
age 125



Next Steps

•This is the information we thought would be informative

•Further Webinar - Strategies and services we’ve put in place and are planning to put in place

•Community Support that is already out there that we don’t have direct impact on

•Are there any further areas that you would like for clarity

•The future Webinar to look at all of the above including for example: ‘stronger Neighbourhoods’

P
age 126



EARLY HELP OUTCOMES AND IMPACT 
Early Help is the total support that improves a family’s resilience and outcomes or reduces the chance of a problem getting worse. We understand the importance of high-

quality universal services as an important foundation of early help, building children, young people and family resilience. We are committed to providing help and support 

in communities, so that we are embedded in the places where families live, learn and thrive and alongside partners who want the best for our children. We recognise that 

an effective early help system is entirely reliant on strong relationships across the whole system as well as with our children, young people and families.   

 

 

P
age 127



Our Early Help Workforce 
Family Advisors 
Family Advisors provide direct support to families and help them to access local services in their community as well as other sources of support such as 
information online. They may also help families through practical support such as benefits advice or completion of forms.  

Link Workers   

Link workers from each locality are attached to every educational setting. They undertake link visits at least once every term to  support proactive 
identification of children likely to need early help; support settings to provide early help; understand thematic issues and arrange groups for children and 
young people.  As well as visiting the setting, they are a consistent point of contact for the setting to seek advice and guidance  

Family Workers 
Undertake assessments and provide interventions, primarily in the family home. 

Activity and Parenting Workers 

Design and deliver parenting support – parenting skills and strategies as well as evidence-based parenting programmes including Incredible Years 

Targeted Youth Workers 
Lead on contextual safeguarding in a locality, maintain links with community universal youth provision, provide detached youth work sessions and offer a 
small number of targeted group work interventions for vulnerable young people.  
 

Each Locality Early Help team has champions to lead and share best practice: Domestic Abuse, Child Exploitation, Parenting, Early Years, Relationships 

Universal Access to Information for partners and families 
Family Information Service and SEND Local Offer. 

Early Help Hub/direct contact with locality team (no wrong door) 
Families and Partners can directly request early help involvement through contact with the Early Help Hub or through direct contact with the locality team. The Early Help 

Hub works as part of our Integrated Front Door and triages requests for Early Help and lower level Police Protection Notices. 

 Between April 2021 and September 2021 

o 2826 early Help involvement requests were received 

 41% resulted in Information, Advice and Guidance 

 56% led to assessment 

 28 % led to Level 3 assessment– whole family approach with a Family Worker as the lead professional 

P
age 128



 28.% led to Level 2 assessment– supporting a community partners to lead a Team around the Family Approach OR supporting one individual in a 

family 

 0.2% resulted in request for social work assessment 

Early Help Assessments 
 The Early Help Hub determines at what level assessment might be undertaken in the locality. Level 2 assessments are undertaken when we work with one family member 

– usually a young person or when we are working alongside a community partner and we believe they are likely to take the lead professional role. Level 3 assessments are 
undertaken by Family Workers when we will take the lead professional role. These are more detailed and enable us to provide direct work, often in the family home.  

The outcome of these assessments is summarised below: 

 Between April 2021 and September 2021 

o 1,689 assessments were completed 

 59% led to further direct work and/or TAF led by Family Worker 

 34% no further early help support 

 2% step up to Level 4 (social work) 

 4% resulted in a TAF approach lead by a community partner 

Group Work 
We provide a core and consistent offer of group work including a range of evidence-based programmes. These are delivered virtually or face to face by our teams (Activity 

and Parenting Workers and Family Workers) and may be co-facilitated with partner agencies such as schools, public health nursing or voluntary and community sector. In 
each locality, the team agree a programme with partners, according to local context and need.  

This is determined by emerging issues or patterns evident in social care work, Early Help Involvement Requests, link work and local priorities as established in the Local 
Alliance Group. 

 Between April 2021 and September 2021 

o 1379 adults and 974 children have accessed groups and courses in all 6 localities and /or online 
 702 (72%) children were aged under 5 years old  

P
age 129



 

Family Feedback 
Family feedback is gathered as an ongoing part of the work and systematically through monthly audit. We asked family (parent/carer) and child: “What difference has the 
support made to you and your family?”  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

“I came in feeling really 

stressed and anxious but 

feel so much better at the 

end.  I feel supported and 

understood.” 

“Being here with my husband has 

made it easier to learn.  We have 

got better at working together.” 

 

90%

10%

0%

Child Feedback

Got Better Stayed the same

Got worse

94%

6%0%

Parent/Carer Feedback

Got Better Stayed the Same

Got Worse

P
age 130



Evaluation of Evidence Based Parenting Programme – using Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaires 
Our Evidence Incredible Years Programme is evaluated using SDQs completed by parents/carers.  These are reviewed regularly.  The graph below shows the impact these 

courses and clearly shows there is an increase in parental reports of children’s wellbeing in the normal range and a decrease in the proportion of parents reporting concerns 

in the significant range.  The Incredible Years Parenting Programme has been offered both face-to-face and virtually, daytime and evening. 122 families have accessed 
across 6 localities.  

 

 

Evaluation of Healing Together: Domestic Abuse Programme - children’s pre and post programme feedback and 
parent completed SDQ 
The ‘Healing Together’ programme was born out of a request from mothers who had started their journey of recovery from domestic abuse and violence in 2016. They 

expressed that they wanted similar help and support for their children but could not find anything suitable. Their children were labelled as ‘naughty’, they were at risk of 
exclusion from school and struggling to access any help.  We have a number of accredited facilitators delivering this programme across the county.   

 

 

P
age 131



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Supporting Families Programme (Dorset Families Matter) 
Our Payment by Results performance for Supporting Families (Dorset Families Matter) demonstrates excellent outcomes for families. 1,322 families were attached as at 
30th June 2021/22. We are ahead of target with PBR returns.  

Step-Up Step Down 
If we step up to social care, the allocated worker stays alongside to ensure a warm handover with the family. They may stay involved to support an aspect of the CIN / CP 

Plan.  

An Early Help Worker may also become involved in a CP / CIN plan to support Step Down. As at the end of August 2021, there are currently 161 CIN/CP cases being 
supported by the Early Help workforce. 

P
age 132



A Report on the Levelling Up Agenda
The Salvation Army and The Institute for Employment Studies

THE SALVATION ARMY, 
UNITED KINGDOM TERRITORY 
AND THE REPUBLIC OF IRELAND

Page 133



FROM THE LEADER 
OF THE SALVATION ARMY 
IN THE UK AND IRELAND
“Where there is a need, there is The Salvation Army”. 
Sir Winston Churchill reportedly said this during the Second 
World War on a visit to a bombed area of London.

I’m pleased to report that the 
sentiment remains true of the 
work of The Salvation Army 
during the past 18 months. 
Guided, fuelled, by God’s love  
and purpose, Salvation Army 
people have brought light and 
hope across the country, in 
another of our darkest hours.

Despite the pain, the fear, and  
the profound loss of life, Salvation 
Army officers, employees and 
church members have worked 
hard to serve and hold our 
communities together. 

By delivering food and offering 
friendship to people who needed 
to isolate; keeping our residential 
centres open and safe; preparing 
meals and serving them to 
people who struggled through 
the pandemic, I have witnessed 
gifts of love, of sacrifice, and 
of determination that enabled 
people to cope and even flourish 
during these extremely difficult 
months of the pandemic.

We are now entering a new 
phase of this pandemic due to 
this Government’s commendable 
roll out of the COVID-19 vaccine. 
However, without doubt there are 
very challenging days ahead.  
We must not speak of ‘going back’ 
to how things were before, but 
rather turn our mindset to going 
forward.

It is our hope that this paper gives 
clear direction to decision makers 
in Government on what going 
forward means for those we serve. 

This is a moment of opportunity 
to go forward to strengthen 
people, and to encourage 
everyone to take hold of the 
opportunities before them. 
Organisations like The Salvation 
Army are ready to do their part. 
Now is the time for action.

Commissioner Anthony Cotterill
Territorial Commander of 
The Salvation Army in the 
United Kingdom and Ireland

02
Page 134



CONTENTS

04.
AUTHOR’S NOTE 

06.
INTRODUCTION AND 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

08.
PART ONE:
MAPPING INVESTMENT 

14.
PART TWO:
DETERMINING LOCAL NEED 
IN HIGH PRIORITY AREAS 

16.
CASE STUDY:
COMPETITION FOR HIGH-
SKILLED GRADUATE JOBS  

18.
PART THREE: 
OUR RECOMMENDATIONS 

19.
CONCLUSION 

03
Page 135



AUTHOR’S NOTE
I speak to a lot of people who feel left 
behind. Left behind due to a lack of 
accessible after-school activities or 
mental health services; left behind due 
to a lack of jobs that excite them.

 As one of the country’s largest 
community and church-based 
charities, we see first-hand the 
work that is needed to rebuild. 
The success of this policy must 
be the priority of all decision 
makers.

 Since the launch of the initial 
Levelling Up Fund, in March 
2021, my greatest worry 
has been the lack of any 
community engagement on 
what Levelling Up looks like  
to our communities. As readers 
will see in this report, Levelling 
Up doesn’t simply mean 
expensive, one off, projects.  
It means real solutions to 
fix gaps in public services. 
It means people having the 
opportunity to work hard 
and achieve greater skills and 
higher wages. And it means 

creating communities in which 
children can thrive.

 
 It’s been a blessing to be able 

to conduct this work and hear 
directly from communities 
on what success on Levelling 
Up would mean to their lives. 
However, we need more from 
politicians to capture what real 
and sustained success looks like 
for each area.

 It is my hope that upon reading 
this paper, each and every 
Member of Parliament will go 
out to their community and 
ask – ‘What does Levelling 
Up look like to you? What do 
I need to fight for to invest in 
our community?’ And then 
take that to Whitehall, to 
the Cabinet Office, to feed 
directly into the upcoming 

White Paper, promised by 
this autumn. Because without 
real understanding of what 
communities need to rebuild,  
we risk failing those areas time 
and again. Organisations like  
The Salvation Army are ready 
to play their part in Levelling 
Up our society. To achieve this 
shared aim, we must begin by 
creating a shared understanding 
on how we define Levelling Up – 
and even more importantly, who 
has a say in what that looks like. 

 Annie Dell (Author)
 Policy Adviser
 The Salvation Army                                                                                 

 With thanks to: 

 Tolu Fashina-Ayilara
 Policy Analyst
 The Salvation Army

04

For The Salvation Army, the Levelling  
Up Agenda isn’t simply political rhetoric. 
The Levelling Up Agenda and its promises 
of a White Paper is set to be one of the 
largest and most crucial levers the state can 
utilise to successfully rebuild communities – 
both those impacted by Covid-19 as well as 
those affected by entrenched and historical 
inequalities.

Page 136



05

Thank you to Jonathan Buzzeo 
and Matthew Williams from the 
Institute for Employment Studies 
for their significant contribution 
to making this report a success.

Page 137



INTRODUCTION
AND EXECUTIVE 
SUMMARY

Build Back Better. 
Post-Covid recovery. 
Levelling Up. 

It’s heartening after 18 months 
of horror, of isolation, that we 
get to begin to look out to the 
horizon and think about what 
comes next. 

And it’s even more heartening 
that our leaders, of all political 
stripes, are thinking about a 
Levelling Up Agenda.

06
Page 138



 We hope this will be delivered 
via a White Paper in Autumn 
2021, which will outline how 
we can build back stronger 
and fairer in the face of what 
we have experienced.

 At The Salvation Army, our 
church members, centre staff 
and community organisers 
have time and time again 
stepped into the fire to 
help people who have been 
traumatised by the pandemic. 

 So, when government say that 
they plan to rebuild, who else, 
but these individuals should 
be the first to speak to the 
upcoming Levelling Up Agenda 
on what rebuilding is needed?

 We have partnered with the 
Institute for Employment 
Studies on this piece of work to 
inform governments on exactly 
what is needed and where.

 

 First the ‘where’. In tangent with 
the Institute for Employment 
Studies, we created 13 
quantitative indicators that we 
felt best identified which areas 
should be prioritised in any 
financial investments. Using 
economic, labour market and 
social quantifiers, we have 
best identified where funding 
is most needed. And more 
importantly, we have identified 
areas Government are at risk of 
leaving behind.

 Our research demonstrates 
that coastal regions, across 
the country, are a key area 
for investment missed in 
the Governments’ current 
prioritisation of Levelling Up. 
Coastal areas have previously 
been recognised as needing 
significant investment, but little 
has been done to rectify the 
issues faced. 

 Entrenched issues include 
limited economic opportunity, 
short term investments, and 
declining sectors, which have 
led to coastal towns being left 
behind.12 

 For the Levelling Up Agenda  
to be a success, we are first 
calling on government to rethink 
how it prioritises areas of need, 
and to include coastal areas in 
their prioritisation.

 

 Second, the ‘what’. Our 
expertise on the ground 
provides a unique opportunity 
for government to hear directly 
what is needed in local areas. 
By engaging communities on 
how government should invest 
in their neighbourhoods, we 
guarantee greatest success  
in Levelling Up the country. 

 Yes, good transport is a 
factor, but not a single person 
we interviewed said that 
infrastructure was the key to 
making Levelling Up a success. 
Not a single person felt that a 
research and development hub 
was the support needed to help 
them improve their lives and 
Level Up their neighbourhoods.

 People said they need affordable 
childcare. They said they need 
access to entry level jobs that 
provide progression. They 
said they needed to be able to 
pay their bills and still have a 
little left over at the end of the 
month. People said they need 
just a little bit more support, to 
make the day to day easier, and 
allow them to actually plan for 
upskilling in the future. From our 
research, we hope this paves the 
way for the Levelling Up Agenda 
to prioritise people, listen to 
them and create the long-term 
investment needed in the right 
parts of the country.

07
Page 139



1
  Despite the limitations in 

government metrics, we 
felt in order to best imitate 
the Government’s previous 
mapping around the Levelling 
Up Fund, lower-tier local 
authority areas were still the 
most appropriate geographical 
basis for analysis. 

 However, we recognise that local 
government reorganisation has 
led to an increasing number of 
larger, multiple districts being 
combined, which means that 
differences in local communities 
can get lost or missed in these 
areas. In order to prevent the 
needs and characteristics of 
local, less populated, areas 
getting lost in the surrounding 
city regions, county-based 
unitary authorities were sub 
divided into smaller areas of 
analysis. Using Middle-Layer 
Super Output Areas (MLSOA) 
we were best able to determine 
approximate Travel-to-Work-
Areas (TTWA). These areas 
identify self-contained labour 
market areas, encompassing 
areas where the majority of local 
people live and travel to work.

 In order to properly capture 
the wide range of potential 
disadvantage an area may face, 
13 indicators were chosen to 
reflect three broad themes – 
economic, labour market, and 
social disadvantage.

 Economic Indicators

 Three economic indicators were 
selected, based on availability 
of data at local authority level, 
as well as to reflect economic 
impacts of Brexit. The three 
indicators used are:

 1. Gross Value Added (GVA) per 
head

 2. Exports to the European 
Union as a percentage of total 
GVA

 3. Gross Disposable Household 
Income per head

 Labour Market Indicators

 4. Economic activity rate  
of working age population

 5. Proportion of employment  
in sectors that are projected  
to have the largest decreases  
in employment over the next  
ten years

 6. Proportion of employment  
in sectors that are projected  
to have the largest increases  
in employment over the next  
ten years

 7. Change in people in 
employment between 2015  
to 2019

 8. Proportion of workers in non-
permanent employment

 9. Recent trend in claimant 
count unemployment from 
January 2019 to January 2021

 10. Proportion of long term 
unemployed (over 12 months)

 Social Indicators

 11. Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation (IMD) Income 
Deprivation

 12.  Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation (IMD) Health 
Deprivation and Disability

 13. Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation (IMD) Barriers to 
Housing and Services

 The difference in our choice 
of metrics creates a more 
comprehensive and sensitive 
model of representation, which 
can help determine the critical 
areas in need of prioritisation  
for investment. 

 While Government analysis 
draws attention to regions that 
are economically vulnerable, 
our elaboration of indicators 
compensates for significant 
oversights such as social 
deprivation levels, economic 

PART ONE:
MAPPING INVESTMENT

As part of our research, The Salvation Army partnered with 
the Institute for Employment Studies to create a new, more 
nuanced set of metrics to determine areas that should be 
prioritised for any financial investment.

08
Page 140



activity and employment rates, 
which will help generate a more 
accurate depiction of areas that 
need funding.

 For example, our labour market 
indicators do not concentrate 
only on unemployment (whereas 
Government research solely 
does) but on the condition of 
opportunities experienced by 
those who are either employed 
or seeking employment. 

 Through this we identified 
coastal regions to be more 
at risk due to the insecurity 
of seasonal and zero-hour 
contracts. Similarly, if we take 
the indices of deprivation into 
consideration, we can observe 
from our indicators that 
coastal towns should also be 
prioritised for the investment 
fund as 67% are in the higher 
income deprivation category in 
comparison to just 36% of non-
coastal towns. 5 

 As each of these indicators 
could potentially contribute to 
communities being left behind, 
they have formed the premise 

 of our conclusions.

09
Page 141



FIGURE ONE: 
Areas of Need Determined by 
The Salvation Army and Institute 
for Employment Studies

Source: The Salvation Army and Institute for Employment Studies 
analysis of local economic, labour market, and social data.

FIGURE TWO: 
Areas of Need Determined 
by Levelling Up Fund

Source: The Salvation Army and Institute for Employment Studies 
analysis of local economic, labour market, and social data.

10

 We were heartened to see 
that our mapping was not so 
different from Government 
to warrant concern that the 
current Levelling Up Fund 
completely missed the mark 
of identifying key areas of 
priority. 

 However key differences are 
immediately identifiable, and 
it is the hope that this paper 
can influence more nuanced 
spending and prioritisation  
of the Levelling Up Agenda  
and White Paper.

 Our own research was compiled 
through a standardised Z scoring 
system which we used across all 
13 indicators and in each specific 
area. Each score was calculated 
by subtracting the area’s value 
from the mean across all areas 
and then by dividing it according 
to the standard deviation of the 
values. This created both positive 
and negative integers which 
were compared in proximity to a 
standardised mean score of zero. 

 
 Based on these calculations, 

an overall score was then 
summed across each indicator 

and each area was ranked and 
categorised into three groups in 
order to ascertain whether they 
reflect the highest, middle and 
lowest priority area. 

 What Government Identified: 
The Need for Investment in the 
North and East Midlands

 As seen in Figure 2, Government 
have rightly identified that more 
investment is needed in the 
North of England, as well as East 
Midlands. 

Group 1

Group 2

Group 3

Group 1

Group 2

Group 3

Page 142



FIGURE THREE: 
Comparison of High Priority 
Areas

Source: The Salvation Army and Institute for Employment Studies 
analysis of local economic, labour market, and social data.

11

 This is supported by our own 
research, seen in figure 1, which 
identifies that nine out of ten 
local areas in the North East as 
high priority areas, as well as 
just over half of local areas in the 
Northwest, Yorkshire and The 
Humber, as well as local areas in 
East Midlands.

 This compares to just over one 
in ten areas as being identified 
as high priority in London and 
the South East.

 

 What Government Missed:  
The importance of Coastal 
Areas in Levelling Up

 Our analysis shows a number of 
coastal areas across the country, 
including in the North West, 
Yorkshire and The Humber, East 
Midlands, East, and South West, 
that are high priority under 
our quantitative analysis, that 
was missed by Government’s 
calculations of the Levelling Up 
Fund.

 

 Furthermore, we can see that 
there are also specific types 
of area classifications that our 
research has identified as priority 
areas, that was originally missed 
by Government’s Levelling Up 
Fund.

 Our quantitative findings have 
prioritised areas classified by ONS 
data as Services and Industrial 
Legacy, Countryside Living (which 
includes coastal), with some 
Urban Settlements, although less 
than in Government’s Levelling Up 
Fund analysis.

 ONS Areas Classification 
Definition

 Services And Industrial Legacy: 
traditional mining areas in 
northern England. There is a 
much lower representation of 
ethnic minority groups than for 
the UK as a whole and a smaller 
proportion of people with higher-
level qualifications, with rates of 
unemployment above the national 
level.

 Countryside Living: Rural areas 
with a low population density 
and a much higher media age 
compared to the UK as a whole. 
Unemployment and qualification 
levels are both below national 
average. Part-time work is also 
more prevalent than generally in 
the UK.

  Urban Settlements: Slightly 
younger age structure than 
nationally, with higher proportions 
of all groups aged 45 and 
under. Ethnic groups are over-
represented compared with the 
national picture. Adults generally 
have lower qualifications than 
nationally and are more likely to 
be unemployed.

High priority in both groups

Salvation Army high priority

Levelling Up high priority

Page 143



FIGURE FOUR: 
Comparison of Analysis by ONS 
Areas Classification Supergroup

12

 Critically, the analysis shows 
where the Government’s original 
prioritisation missed key areas, 
importantly being coastal 
regions. While Government 
analysis focuses much more 
on Urban and City Periphery 
areas, one out of three areas 
our analysis identified but 
was missed by government, is 
classified as Sparse Countryside 
and Ageing Coastal living, which 
sits in the Countryside ONS 
classification.

 As Government turns now from 
its original Levelling Up Fund to 

Affluent England

Business, Education
& Heritage Centres

Countryside Living

Ethnically Diverse
Metropolitan Living

London Cosmopolitan

Services and Industrial Legacy

Town and Country Living

Urban Settlements

its wider Levelling Up Agenda 
and White Paper, it is critical 
that we can map and determine 
areas that need investment. 
This should be determined by 
a robust source of economic, 
labour and social measures, 
as well as by the input of the 
people in these respective 
communities. Otherwise, this 
important policy work will miss 
out on key areas that have been 
left behind. As we have seen 
in our analysis, Government’s 
current determination fails 
to recognise the importance 
of coastal and rural areas, 

particularly in the North, that 
have for too long been left 
behind from the opportunities 
enjoyed in other parts of the 
country. Only when we can shine 
a light on those areas that need 
investment the most, can we 
begin to truly rebuild.

Source: The Salvation Army and Institute for Employment Studies analysis of local economic, labour market, and social data.

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

% of local areas

SALVATION ARMY LEVELLING UP ALL

Page 144



Source: Office for National Statistics, 2-19a.

13

WHY DO COASTAL 
AREAS MERIT 
PRIORITISATION?

Our primary focus 
on coastal areas 
boils down to the 
apparent regional 
inequalities that 
present underlying 
challenges to social 
and economic 
advancement.

 Britain remains as an 
economically uneven country 
and some of the most significant 
differences can be observed 
between coastal and inland 
areas. 6 These inequalities call 
for Government aid in bringing 
deprived areas up to scratch and 
in allowing all people to enjoy 
the same standard of living, 
wherever they are positioned 
on the map. Based on the 
overall trajectory of the coastal 
experience and the devasting 
impact of the pandemic, we 
believe that such areas must be 
placed at the forefront of the 
Levelling Up Agenda.

 To demonstrate this matter 
further and why parity remains 
crucial, we can refer to Table 1 
below which illustrates the full-
time annual earning distributions 
among various UK regions. Not 
only are the priority regions 
we pinpointed on the lower 
end of the earning spectrum 

across each percentile group, 
but we can also draw out that 
the discrepancy within regions 
exacerbates as the figure of 
earning distribution increases. 
For instance, those in the 90th 
percentile in London (being 
the highest earners in that 
specific region) are earning 
approximately 35,000 more 
than those based in Yorkshire 
and Humber. These significant 
differences prove the eligibility 
of coastal areas in being a 
priority for investment. 

 By observing the employment 
landscape in coastal areas, we 
recognise that prioritisation is 
imperative. As inland areas have 
increasingly become a hub for 
regeneration, the Government 
face a growing responsibility 
to narrow the geographical 
gap between coastal areas and 
provide better employment 
opportunities.

Note: Percentiles of earnings distribution, full-time, residence basis. Ranked according to 70th percentile (highest to lowest).

TABLE ONE: 
70th, 80th and 90th percentiles of full-time distributions, by region

REGION 70TH PERCENTILE 80TH PERCENTILE 90TH PERCENTILE

London £49,240 £60,000 £86,473

South East £43,681 £52,186 £71,161

East of England £41,821 £49,688 £66,028

Scotland £38,117 £43,933 £55,573

South West £37,961 £43,619 £55,683

North West £37,143 £42,273 £53,988

West Midlands £36,978 £43,351 £54,384

East Midlands £36,839 £43,092 £55,000

Wales £36,290 £41,177 £49,945

Northern Ireland £35,979 £40,821 £50,142

Yorkshire and Humber £35,581 £41,846 £51,892

North East £35,233 £40,557 £50,390

United Kingdon £39,591 £46,485 £60,890

Page 145



2
  We are concerned about 

Government’s lack of 
consultation from people 
themselves on what investment 
should be taken to Level Up 
their communities.

 The impacts of Covid-19 have 
affected different communities, 
sectors, age groups, and 
ethnicities differently. So, it is 
our view that we cannot make 
recommendations without 
speaking to those who know 
best what will help them, to 
thrive.

 As part of our report, The 
Salvation Army, in partnership 
with the Institute for 
Employment Studies conducted 
a series of qualitative interviews 
in four key areas, which reflected 
our quantitative findings. 
These areas were – Liverpool, 
Sandwell, as well as the coastal 
communities of Castle Point and 
Hastings.

 Each area has its own unique 
set of recommendations on 
how investment should be used 
to level up. In our paper, we 
have focused on three themes 
that were raised in case study 
regions, particularly in coastal 
areas.

 1. Access to affordable 
childcare

 Individuals said that the inability 
to access affordable childcare 
was a key factor in their inability 
to access or progress 

 in employment.

 Childcare in their area is 
generally high quality but scarce 
and expensive. Generally, most 
localities have provision of 
good quality childcare available 
including small nurseries. 
However, the childcare available 
is expensive and acts as a 
major barrier to employment, 
particularly single parents.

 For some we spoke to, working 
to simply cover the cost of 
childcare wasn’t possible. 
One interviewee offered “the 
provision of childcare its good, 
it’s getting access to it that’s the 
issue. It’s so expensive, I know 
a lot of mums who are basically 
working just to pay childcare...I 
get quite a lot of single parents 
who are like ‘I can’t afford to 
take this job because I can’t 
afford £300 [a week] for 
childcare’.”

 These issues are especially true 
for those living in coastal areas, 
as the cost of living is higher, 
particularly the cost of housing, 

and wages are lower – making 
childcare difficult to afford. For 
those working in hospitality and 
retail, even full-time wages, only 
just cover the cost of living in 
coastal areas, making access to 
childcare even more challenging. 
And most work in these areas 
are seasonal. These jobs do 
not fit the traditional 9am-
5pm and term-time model that 
childcare is based on, making 
the long hour and seasonal work 
difficult to access for those with 
childcare responsibilities.

 2. Lack of training and 
progression in low wage and 
low skill sector jobs

 Particularly for those living 
in coastal areas, local labour 
markets do not provide much 
room for those to move beyond 
low wage, low skill, precarious 
work. This is particularly 
true for those with few or no 
qualifications living in these 
towns.

 For those in low skill 
employment, wages are usually 
low, with zero hours or fixed 
term contracts prevalent.8 
Agency based work is common, 
which means that individuals 
in these jobs have little to no 
opportunity to access further 
training or investment in 

PART TWO:
DETERMINING LOCAL NEED IN HIGH PRIORITY AREAS

It’s not enough to simply determine where the funding should 
go, but also how investment can best support local areas to 
thrive post Covid-19.

14
Page 146



further skills from employers. 
There are few opportunities 
for progression, and very 
few individuals move up into 
managerial roles.

 These issues are particularly 
true for those with low to 
no qualifications living in 
coastal areas. Local labour 
markets do not have much 
opportunity beyond sectors 
that are seasonal, low skill, and 
precarious. 

 For those who The Salvation 
Army helps, upon leaving 
school, many individuals 
become reliant on these low 
skill, seasonal sectors, and 
typically go past the age where 
they could more easily access 
training courses to reskill into 
other sectors that provide more 
stability and higher wages. Since 
the pandemic, these sectors 
have largely been shut, leaving 
many individuals without work. 

 This can be exemplified by 
the fact that at least 7% of 
businesses have permanently 
closed on the coast due to 
lockdown and how 53.7% of 
coastal businesses predicted 
that it would take more than 
a year before they can return 
a profit. 84.6% of businesses 
also reported that they were on 

the brink of collapse without 
sufficient government support. 
As the economy begins to 
reopen, we still expect vacancies 
to be lower than before, making 
access to jobs even that much 
more competitive.

 3. Competition for entry level 
jobs, including skilled entry 
level jobs 

 In city and suburban areas such 
as Liverpool and Sandwell, 
there is a provision of higher-
skilled entry level jobs in the 
area. Wages in these roles are 
higher and are more likely to 
offer secure contracts and 
good working conditions. There 
are also more opportunities 
to progress into higher-paid 
roles and roles with more 
responsibility and experience.

 However, jobs available 
in varying sectors differ 
significantly.

15
Page 147



CASE STUDY: 
COMPETITION FOR 
HIGH-SKILLED 
GRADUATE JOBS

ALICE IS 27 AND HAS 
A BA IN HISTORY AND 
AN MA IN SECURITY STUDIES. 
SHE LIVES WITH HER MUM 
IN LIVERPOOL. 

16
Page 148



 Since a young age she has 
aspired to move to the South 
of England, and to work in a 
museum as she is passionate 
about history. 

  Despite several museums, 
galleries, universities, and 
libraries in Liverpool offering 
work in her field Alice has 
been unable to find graduate 
employment in Liverpool. She 
has struggled to find even 
voluntary work in the sector 
as voluntary roles are “as 
competitive as paid work”. 

 She is currently looking for 
entry level work outside of her 
field and below the level of her 
qualifications, which has been 
very demotivating and has 
negatively affected her mental 
health. 

 She feels that there is a lack of 
support for graduates in terms 
of routes into work, especially 
those who are older than 25. 

 For example, recently the 
Kickstart scheme has created 
several high-quality vacancies 
in museums in Liverpool that 
match her aspirations, but as 
she is older than twenty-four, 
she is not eligible. 

 High levels of unemployment 
due the pandemic has led to 
increased competition for entry 
level roles, making it harder for 
those without much previous 
experience, including young 
people and those who have 
been long term unemployed, to 
move into higher skilled entry 
level positions. 

 As one interviewee offered, that 
“now competition is greater 
than ever, these entry level 
positions...people are up against 
competition from people who 
have been displaced due to the 
pandemic. And now they are 
applying for these roles...just 
to have work. So people with 
[less experience] are finding it 

more difficult, and they become 
quickly quite disheartened.” And 
without these opportunities, 
we are putting people into risk 
of never being able to access 
jobs where they can progress 
skills and move into more senior 
positions with higher wages.

17

“It’s extremely difficult [to find work 
in Liverpool], there’s no support for 
graduates. You’ll come out of university 
and it’s like you’re in the real world and 
there’s just nobody there to help you. 
And either you can’t get into your chosen 
field because it’s too competitive, or 
you’ve chosen a subject that doesn’t link 
into your chosen career, so you need an 
opportunity to retrain and there’s just 
nothing. There are all these traineeships 
and apprenticeships that come up and 
they don’t want people with a degree. 
A lot of them cut off the age at 24… the 
Kickstart scheme has just brought out 
some amazing jobs in museums, but you 
have to be 24 and under to apply for them 
which I just found so unfair because I’ve 
been trying to get a job in a museum  
in Liverpool for years and I’m only 27.”

Source: Interviews conducted by The Salvation Army
and Institute for Employment Studies

Page 149



3
  Based on our independent 

research, we believe that 
fulfilment can only be achieved 
when we move away from 
a nationwide perspective 
and towards locally- tailored 
solutions which are specific to 
each regional experience. 

 In recognition of this and the 
holistic approach we have taken 
to formulate our data, we would 
like to propose the following 
recommendations as practical 
steps which should address and 
better the crux of the issue.

 We want coastal communities 
to be listened to and become 

 a priority for investment:

 We have used a plethora of 
indicators to suggest that 
the UK’s coastal areas are in 
dire need for investment. The 
coastline which was once 
notorious for domestic tourism 
has faced disparaging levels 
of social disadvantage in the 
form of lower employment 
opportunities, economic 
productivity and overall 
standard of life and should 
therefore be targeted for reform.

 Regeneration can only happen 
when these communities 
are empowered to take 
local matters into their own 

hands. We would thus like the 
Government to engage more 
with local communities in these 
regions to better understand 
which mechanisms should be 
put in place to help facilitate 
higher levels of economic and 
social growth. As a ‘people’s 
government’ that has a 
responsibility to give taxpayers 
their value for money and build 
their assurance, we believe 
that working closely with these 
communities will engender the 
best outcomes.

 The Salvation Army are experts 
in being able to deliver services 
on the frontline across England 
for more than 120 years and 
have seen that local frameworks 
do work and are the driving 
force for fundamental change. 
By incorporating this factor 
at the heart of government 
investment plans, we can begin 
to understand what quality truly 
looks like and prevent recurring 
patterns that hold these areas 
back.

 We want greater access to 
affordable childcare:

 Our studies have shown that the 
expense of childcare has had a 
prohibitive impact on parents 
being able to access work and 
training opportunities. While the 

provision of childcare services 
has become increasingly 
available, the cost has made 
the option less viable and, in 
many cases has hindered career 
prospects as a result. 

 By creating an investment plan 
that centres around affordable 
childcare, it will eliminate one of 
the major barriers that priority 
areas face in being able to Level 
Up. Considering this, we would 
like to put forward the following 
suggestions as potential 
avenues to improve the scope 

 of childcare:

 1. Extend 30 hours per week 
free childcare to 52 weeks:

 By offering free childcare to 
cover 52 weeks of the year, this 
will eradicate the burden faced 
by families and resolve the issue 
of holiday hunger which has 
surfaced as a concern during the 
pandemic. 

 It should also help protect the 
sanctity of the family model 
by creating a less worrisome 
experience for parents, as well 
as serve the economic benefit 
of creating new jobs and thus 
getting more people into work 
due to increased demand for 
labour.

PART THREE: 
OUR RECOMMENDATIONS

Our hope for the Government’s Levelling Up Agenda 
is that it channels an effective course of action which brings 
fulfilment to the demands of the country we live in.

18
Page 150



 2. Extend business rates relief 
for nurseries:

 By extending Covid-19 business 
rates relief, many nurseries and 
small businesses that were 
struggling to provide childcare 
can continue to function under 
tax cuts and preserve thousands 
of jobs. 

 With more nurseries in 
operation, this can free 
up parents from childcare 
responsibilities and enable 
them to pursue fulfilling jobs 
and careers. Offering this relief 
will not only strengthen the 
economy but bodes well that 
the government is on the side 

 of workers.

 3. Tie Pupil Premium to 
Childcare:

 By providing additional 
childcare services to parents 
of pupil premium children, the 
government can offer a hand 
up to working families that 
would otherwise be unable to 
independently afford the cost 

 of childcare. 

 This could have a positive 
impact on disadvantaged 
families that need it the most 
and will ensure targeted and 
effective interventions are put 

 in place by the Government.

 The Salvation Army strongly supports this objective 
and desires to contribute to creating new pathways for 
development.

  We do, however, recognise the need to press in for a more 
coherent and people-focused strategy that serves the 
interests of the communities we serve. 

 This includes devising an investment plan which is more 
inclusive of high-risk priority areas especially within the 
coastal regions and that responds to the most significant 
investment asks such as childcare, employment support and 
training. 

 Most importantly, our clarion call 
to the Government is to think local 
and listen local.

19

CONCLUSION 

The efforts the Government has 
made in establishing the Levelling 
Up Agenda is promising and draws 
attention to the need to leverage 
communities that are at risk of 
being left behind. 

Page 151



The Salvation Army, 101 Newington Causeway, London SE1 6BN
Telephone: 020 7367 4800 www.salvationarmy.org.uk

Copyright © The Salvation Army 2021 The Salvation Army is a Christian church and registered charity in England (214779), 
Wales (214779), Scotland (SC009359) and the Republic of Ireland (CHY6399).Page 152



PROSPERITY INDEX

The United Kingdom
Prosperity Index 
2021

www.li.com 
www.prosperity.com

Page 153

http://www.li.com


© 2021 The Legatum Institute Foundation. All rights reserved. The Legatum Prosperity IndexTM and its underlying methodologies comprise the 
exclusive intellectual property of Legatum Foundation Limited. The word ‘Legatum’ and the Legatum charioteer logo are the subjects of trade mark 
registrations of Legatum Limited and ‘Legatum Prosperity Index’ is a registered trade mark of Legatum Foundation Limited. Whilst every care has 
been taken in the preparation of this report, no responsibility can be taken for any error or omission contained herein.

With thanks to the Atlas Network for their support 

The Legatum Institute would like to extend its gratitude to Richard Oldfield for his support for the production of this report.

The Legatum Institute would also like to thank the Legatum Foundation for its sponsorship and for making this report possible. Learn more about 
the Legatum Foundation at www.legatum.org

Page 154



Contents

Foreword ..................................................................................................................................................................................2

Introducing the Centre for UK Prosperity ...........................................................................................................................4

Using the United Kingdom Prosperity Index .....................................................................................................................6

The building blocks of prosperity.........................................................................................................................................8

Executive summary ..............................................................................................................................................................10

Key findings ............................................................................................................................................................................14

The pillars at a glance .......................................................................................................................................................... 15

Mapping UK prosperity in 2021 .........................................................................................................................................16

Rankings .................................................................................................................................................................................18

Pillar profiles ......................................................................................................................................................................... 26

 Inclusive Societies ........................................................................................................................................................ 28

 Open Economies .......................................................................................................................................................... 40

 Empowered People .......................................................................................................................................................52

Why clusters matter ........................................................................................................................................................... 66

Regional profiles ...................................................................................................................................................................73

Methodology and Acknowledgements ......................................................................................................................... 100

 Methodology ................................................................................................................................................................101

 Table of sources .......................................................................................................................................................... 105

 Acknowledgements ................................................................................................................................................... 109

Page 155



MEETING THE UNITED KINGDOM’S RESET MOMENT 

The Legatum Institute is delighted to launch the UK Prosperity Index at a unique moment in the country’s 
history. The United Kingdom stands at a ‘reset moment’. It has delivered on the vote for Brexit by exiting 
the European Union. It is forging a new trading relationship with its European allies and charting a new 
course toward Global Britain. And while the UK was among the hardest hit by Covid-19, it is now finding a 
way out of the global pandemic, emerging as a global leader in the design, development and distribution 
of effective vaccines.

If the country is to make the most of this reset moment, then it will need to unlock prosperity across all of 
its regions and communities. In many ways the UK is well positioned to do just this—it is one of the most 
prosperous countries in the world, with an open and vibrant economy. Its national institutions are robust, 
and its people are among the most educated in the world. As our 2020 Prosperity Index showed, globally 
the UK now ranks 13th out of 167 nations and has one of the world’s strongest economies. 

But there are also clear challenges. As our new UK Prosperity Index reveals, while levels of prosperity in the 
UK remain much higher than other nations and increased further during the first half of the 2010s, in more 
recent years this prosperity has been stagnating. This underlines the need for a more detailed assessment 
of what is going well and what is not. 

The UK Prosperity Index is designed to do just that. It is a tool that can be used to better map and mon-
itor the pathways toward prosperity in all corners of the UK. Drawing on a wealth of data, the Index is 
designed to map current levels of prosperity at the local authority level, how they have evolved over the 
past decade and how they will continue to track in the years ahead. It is, we believe, the most ambitious 
and comprehensive index of its kind to date. It draws on data for 379 local authorities across the UK, using 
256 indicators organised into more than 50 policy-relevant elements. The Index, supported by dozens 
of advisors and updated annually, will not only help decision-makers ‘level up’ the country and unlock 
prosperity, but also track progress at the local level over time. 

This transformational tool allows leaders to assess the relative strengths and weaknesses of their respective 
areas and explore the economic, social and institutional choices that need to be made in order to drive 
prosperity from the ground up. Just as importantly, it allows citizens and the media to hold government 
to account.

It finds that the UK is an amazing country—13th in the global Prosperity Index. It has been making great 
strides in many of the things that already dominate the debate about levelling up—including infrastruc-
ture, and the natural environment. We have a strong economy powered by innovators and a world class 
education system, but we are held back by declining enterprise conditions, weak health systems that were 
simply not pandemic ready, and have insufficiently created the environment in which our family life, and 
relationships have been able to thrive and feel valued.

All of our concern has been for the economy—but actually our concern should have been much more 
focused on who we are becoming and not on what we are getting. To really become a prosperous nation, 
Britain needs to become a place where we truly value the family, where we care for one another, investing 
in our mental and physical wellbeing and where we can innovate and build businesses that are not stifled 
by unnecessary regulation. 

Last year, we said that it is a time for each nation to decide its character and who it wants to be. This is 
especially true for the UK today. The decisions that the country makes now will have a profound impact 
on its future development, shaping the direction of an independent and sovereign country and the future 
for generations to come. The UK Prosperity Index is designed as a contribution to this process, and one 
that we hope you will use.

Foreword

UNITED KINGDOM 
PROSPERITY INDEX

2021

Baroness Philippa Stroud  
CEO, Legatum Institute

2

Page 156



Credit: shutterstock.com

3

Page 157



Introducing the Centre for UK Prosperity

The Centre for UK Prosperity was launched in October 2020 with the goal of supporting the UK’s jour-
ney toward prosperity. Our team is focused on creating a movement of people who are committed to 
unlocking prosperity across all regions and communities in the UK, supporting the ‘levelling up’ agenda, 
and tracking its performance over time.

At the Legatum Institute we have long argued, and demonstrated, that genuine prosperity is about 
far more than building a strong economy or supporting individual wealth—it is more than just giving 
people ‘bridges and trains’. True prosperity is possible only when all citizens, neighbourhoods and com-
munities are able to reach their full potential across broad aspects such as education, entrepreneurial 
activity, and community life.

This underlying philosophy is rooted in the observation by Robert F. Kennedy that the economic 
indicators that dominate the conversation, such as Gross Domestic Product (GDP), tend to measure 
‘everything except that which is worthwhile’. They say very little about the other drivers of prosperity 
that we explore in this report—including the quality of our natural environment, social capital, including 
the strength of families, health outcomes and the quality of education. Clearly, these things are linked 
to economic performance but they are often forgotten in a debate that often focuses only on growth.

This is why, while we support the Government’s new focus on levelling up regions that have historically 
been left behind, we believe that the Government can be bolder. Amid the UK’s ‘reset moment’, we 
need to do more than just level up regions to the status quo. We need to be much more ambitious and 
reach entirely new heights, by creating the conditions that will allow all of our regions and communities 
to reach their full potential.

For the first time in a long while, the UK is an independent and sovereign state. Its citizens now exercise 
more influence and control over the decisions that affect their daily lives. Together, the country has more 
autonomy, flexibility and control over its own destiny than at any other point for half a century. We need 
to embrace this moment with both hands and use the advantages that it brings to support as many 
of our regions and local communities into the ‘fast lane’ toward greater and long-lasting prosperity.

This is why, with the generous support of our donors, we are publishing the UK Prosperity Index. It 
includes detailed data on 379 boroughs, council areas, local government districts, unitary and local 
authorities that encompass the four nations of the UK, drawing on dozens of different datasets and the 
wisdom of more than 50 academic, research and policy advisors. The comprehensive set of indicators 
provides a rich and policy-relevant dataset that allows all local authorities to map, in granular detail, 
their journey toward greater prosperity.

The Index allows citizens, local authorities, regions, and government to sharpen their understanding of 
what is working, track their progress over time and, ultimately, hold government to account. It is the 
beginning of a conversation—not the final word.  The Index will also be accompanied by a sustained 
period of policy engagement that will see the Legatum Institute and its Centre for UK Prosperity work 
alongside local authorities, regional organizations and policymakers to identify best practice and share 
these lessons, both nationally and internationally. 

We hope that national, regional and local governments, businesses, investors, philanthropists, citizens 
and others will use the Index, engage with our Centre and work with us to bolster the prosperity of 
the UK. Please feel free to join this conversation by emailing me direct at matthew.goodwin@li.com.

I look forward to hearing from you.

Professor Matthew Goodwin 
Director of the Centre for UK Prosperity 

4

Page 158



Prosperity in the UK had 
improved from 2011, but has 
plateaued since 2018.

Credit: shutterstock.com

5

Page 159



Using the United Kingdom Prosperity Index

The United Kingdom Prosperity Index has been developed as a prac-
tical and policy-relevant tool to help identify what action will help 
to unlock prosperity in the UK. The Index is not designed to offer 
a definitive view, nor is it geared toward establishing the causal 
relationships that underpin our ranking of local authorities. Rather, 
it is designed to offer a helpful, data-led tool that organizations, 
agencies and people can use to inform their work.

The Index consists of 3 domains and 12 pillars, built upon 53 action-
able policy areas (elements), 256 indicators and covering 379 local 
authorities across all regions of the UK. It is designed to benefit a 
wide range of users. 

Specifically:

• Government and policymakers can use the Index to determine 
specific areas that require action to help drive increased pros-
perity in left-behind towns and regions;

• Local authority and regional leaders can use it to help shape their 
policy priorities, develop strategic relationships with neighbour-
ing areas and monitor their progress over time;

• National, regional and local investors can use it to inform 
capital allocation and to identify emerging areas that have 
the key ingredients of prosperity, including strong investment 
environments that support and nourish local businesses and 
entrepreneurs;

• Business leaders can use it to identify and communicate the 
changes they need, in order to improve the business climate 
and the productive capacity of local authorities and regions;

• Philanthropists can use it to identify areas where they can have 
the greatest impact;

• Journalists and citizens can use it to hold national, regional and 
local government to account; 

• Academics and researchers can use it to complement their other 
datasets to analyse the underlying patterns behind economic 
and social issues, identify new research questions, build strate-
gic partnerships with local case studies and inform the broader 
policy, business, and philanthropic community.

INTERPRETING THE INDEX

For every local authority1 in the UK, the Index uses the same indi-
cators, and combines them in the same way to create what we call 
‘pillars’. We also draw on national-level data to present the overall 
picture of prosperity in the UK. It is a multi-level approach.

By using the Index at a local authority, one can compare the relative 
performance of each local authority for prosperity and for each of 
the 12 pillars of prosperity, such as health, education, and social 
capital, as well as the 53 elements within the pillars. The elements 
represent key policy areas, such as education, government integrity, 

and mental health, to help facilitate more targeted action, identify 
areas of ‘best practice’ and also those where a refreshed approach 
is required. 

The higher the ranking, the stronger the performance of that local 
authority for the pillar or element, when compared with another 
authority lower down the rankings. 

Further to this, the Index provides data over a 10-year period, 
making it possible to see whether prosperity has been improving or 
deteriorating, and what is driving that change. This will enable areas 
of strength in a local authority to be built on and areas of weakness 
to be addressed. We will be updating the Index on an annual basis, 
allowing us to update this picture over time. 

APPLYING THE INDEX

The data in the Index and the analysis contained in the report can 
be used for a variety of purposes:

• Benchmarking performance against other authorities;

• In-depth analysis of prosperity at the local authority level;

• Understanding whether prosperity is improving or weakening 
over time, and why;

• Identifying the binding constraints to increasing prosperity and 
also ‘levelling up’;

• Informing new priorities for regional and local authority agendas.

Where a local authority is showing a strong or weak performance 
in a pillar, it is possible to drill down and identify what particular 
policy-related element is driving this trend. This will help inform the 
required policy action to strengthen performance.

RESOURCES AVAILABLE

There are several tools available to aid analysis and interpretation 
of the UK Prosperity Index. Alongside this report, which provides a 
high-level analysis of the findings from local authorities, additional 
information is available via our website at www.li.com.

Local authority profiles. This 15-page profile, for each of the 379 
local authorities in the selected regions, provides more detailed 
pillar, element and indicator information, including rankings and 
scores, and how these change over time.

Indicator scores. An Excel spreadsheet that contains the scores for 
all of the indicators for each year since 2011 at the local authority 
level. Using these scores, the user can carry out more in-depth anal-
ysis. Further information on how the scores for each indicator are 
calculated can be found in the Methodology section (see page 101).

Team members at the Legatum Institute are also available to 
engage and provide support to those interested in addressing the 
challenges and opportunities presented by these materials. Please 
contact us directly at ukprosperity@li.com.

6

Page 160



USING THE INDEX

Political leaders

This report provides national and local government with the abil-
ity to explore the performance of the regions of the UK and local 
authorities across 12 pillars of prosperity. The Index and the data 
on which it is built provide a foundation on which more effective 
interventions and policies can be designed. It provides an unparal-
leled overview of how these units have been performing over time 
and relative to one another.

Policymakers

The Index and its accompanying resources allow policymakers 
to benchmark the performance of local authorities against other 
authorities across 12 pillars and 53 elements of prosperity, to create 
a more granular perspective of performance and identify what is 
holding back their development.

Each of the 53 elements has been designed to be a recognizable, dis-
crete area of domestic policy, and is measured using a combination 
of indicators from a variety of public data sources. The indicators 
should be interpreted as a set of proxies for the underlying policy 
concept, and we would encourage policymakers to interpret their 
score and rank for an element as the trigger for more fundamental 
analysis of the strengths and weaknesses of its performance. 

In addition to helping focus analysis, these materials also allow 
policymakers to develop diagnostic tools and identify potential 
options to consider, based on the performance of other authorities.

Philanthropists

The Index also identifies areas where philanthropists might want 
to contribute to drive levels of prosperity in the UK, working in 
partnership with local agencies. This might involve using the Index 
to identify areas where civil society can make a meaningful differ-
ence to people’s lives, such as by contributing to the strengthening 
of social capital in particular local areas where it is fraying, or 
working in partnership with local authorities to try and boost the 
quality of local investment environments for small businesses and 
entrepreneurs.

Investors and business leaders

The business community is well positioned to identify barriers to 
starting, operating, and growing business, and to demonstrate to 
local and national government the economic potential from reforms 
such as lifting onerous regulation and reducing other barriers to 
help improve the investment environment. Furthermore, business 
leaders and investors can contribute to infrastructure policy devel-
opment by demonstrating the economic impact of investment in 
communications, transport, and energy projects, where they can 
constrain further prosperity.

Academics and researchers

For academics and researchers, our database of curated indicators 
is a unique resource, enabling comparison of trends and patterns 
across the past 10 years for much of the data. By providing a holistic 

dataset across many disciplines, it provides an opportunity to com-
pare in a straightforward way the impact of disparate factors, such 
as how living conditions are related to education levels, or how 
levels of social tolerance are related to levels of institutional trust.

Journalists and civil society

The UK Prosperity Index is based on publicly available and verifia-
ble data, which means it can be a powerful resource for those who 
want to hold up a mirror to those in power and society at large. 
Holding national and local leaders to account is a crucial role for 
both journalists and civil society. The institutional, economic and 
social performance of a local authority is critical to its prosperity, 
and that of the UK as a whole, and having non-government actors 
identifying weaknesses, as well as celebrating successes, can help spur 
on regional and local authority leaders. To do so well requires easy 
access to reliable data that can be represented in a digestible way.

THE PATHWAY TO TRANSFORMATION

Transformation is a process, not an event. Intermediate benchmarks 
are most helpful and effective, and the most obvious challenges 
facing a region, or a local authority, should be considered in the 
first instance. Understanding the specifics of each region and 
local authority’s circumstances will be critical to determining the 
sequencing and prioritisation. The Index provides a set of hypothe-
ses to test. The issues of highest priority will likely be the elements 
that are performing relatively poorly, but are not necessarily the 
weakest performing elements, as creating the conditions to warrant 
improving the weakest performing elements may require improving 
some of the elements that are less weak first.

It is important to identify the most binding constraint to progress 
and use it to inform the sequencing and prioritisation. To give a 
simplified example, a local authority may find itself with a weak 
environment for investment and low levels of dynamism. In such a 
situation, seeking to increase investment is unlikely to have much 
of an impact, as investors will be more attracted to investing in an 
area where there is already a large number of start-ups and new 
entrepreneurs. In such a circumstance, creating an environment 
that attracts new businesses and start-ups might make for a more 
impactful first step.

As every single local authority can improve both economic and 
social wellbeing of its residents, clear opportunities therefore exist 
for local authorities to learn from each other. The Index identifies 
these opportunities for improvement, and where other local author-
ities have been successful in addressing the same challenges. This 
can guide supplementary research to inform the ways in which suc-
cessful strategies from one authority might be adapted to address 
weaknesses in another local authority.

7

Page 161



M
aterial Resources 

Nutrition
Basic Services 

Shelter

Connectedness

Protection from Harm

Emissions 

Exposure to Air Pollution

Forest, Land and Soil

Oceans

Freshwater

Preservation Efforts

M
aterial Resources

Shelter

Access to Local Am
enities

Digital Connectedness

Protection from
 Harm

Emissions

Exposure to Air Pollution

Forest, Land and Soil

Flooding and Water Management

Waste Management
Violent Crime

Property Crime

Civil Disorder

Terrorism

Fa
mily

 Rela
tio

nsh
ips

Pe
rso

na
l S

up
po

rt

So
cia

l N
et

wor
ks

In
st

itu
tio

na
l T

ru
st

Ci
vic

 an
d 

So
cia

l P
ar

tic
ip

at
io

n

Fiscal Sustainability
M

acroeconom
ic Stability

Productivity and Com
petitiveness

Dynam
ism

Labour Force Engagem
ent

Pre-primary education

Primary education

Secondary education

Tertiary education provision

Adult skills

Quality
 of Local D

emocracy

Government In
tegrity

Government E
ffe

cti
veness

Fi
na

nc
in

g 
Se

rv
ice

s
In

ve
st

m
en

t D
em

an
d

D
om

es
tic

 M
ar

ke
t C

on
te

st
ab

ili
ty

Bu
si

ne
ss

 E
nv

iro
nm

en
t

La
bo

ur
 M

ar
ke

t  
Fl

ex
ib

ili
ty

Ca
pi

ta
l S

up
pl

y

Inclusive Societies

Safety

&
 Security
Safety

&
 Security

Personal

Freedom
Personal

Freedom

Governance

Governance

SocialCapital

SocialCapital
Investment

Environment

Investment
Environment Enterprise

Conditions

Enterprise
Conditions

Economic

QualityEconomic

Quality

Living

Conditio
ns

Living

Conditio
ns

Hea
lth

Hea
lth

Ed
uc

at
io

n
Ed

uc
at

io
n

N
at

ur
al

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t

N
at

ur
al

Elements ElementsPillars PillarsDomains Domains

Em
pow

er
ed

 P
eo

pl
e

Open Economies

Com
m

unications

Electricity &
 G

as

W
ater

Transport

Behavioural and Physiological

Risk Factors

Preventative Interventions

Care Systems

Mental Health

Physical Health

Longevity

Social Tolerance

Agency

Freedom of Assembly 

Freedom of Speech and 

Access to Information

Absence of Legal Discrimination

   Infrastructure

The building blocks of prosperity The domains, pillars, and elements of prosperity

8 9

P
age 162



UNITED KINGDOM 
PROSPERITY INDEX

2021

Executive summary
This report marks the inaugural publication of the Legatum 
Institute’s UK Prosperity Index. The Index tracks prosperity across 
all 379 local authorities of the United Kingdom. Its unique data 
allows policymakers at the national, regional and local level to 
assess the development, growth and extent of prosperity across all 
areas of the UK, as well as how different areas and ‘archetypes’ are 
changing over time. It comprehensively measures their comparative 
performance across 12 pillars of prosperity, which draw on more 
than 69 sources and are grouped into 53 policy-focused elements. 
Using the UK Prosperity Index, policymakers and opinion-formers 
can not only track the relative performance of local authorities 
and the government’s ‘levelling up’ agenda but also determine the 
choices that need to be made at this unique moment in history.

KEY FINDINGS: THE 2021 UK PROSPERITY INDEX

• The UK is one of the most prosperous nations in the world, 
ranked 13th in the Legatum Prosperity IndexTM. Its prosperity 
increased during the first half of the 2010s but since then has 
been stagnating. This underlines the need for a much closer 
assessment of prosperity in the UK if the country is to make 
the most out of its reset moment.

• Despite fears of economic stagnation, the UK Prosperity Index 
shows that the country continues to build an open and strong 
economy that benefits from one of the strongest education 
systems in the world, an increasingly strong natural envi-
ronment and improving infrastructure. The Index confirms 
that many of the UK’s ‘economic fundamentals’ are strong 
or improving.

• However, we also find that overall prosperity is currently being 
undermined by a deterioration in things that lie outside of the 
traditional focus on GDP, infrastructure and transport, includ-
ing: the safety and security of communities, people’s physical 
and mental health, conditions for local enterprise such as 
labour market flexibility, key aspects of social capital and, to a 
lesser extent, the effectiveness of local governance. Much of 
this is missed in a levelling up debate that focuses narrowly on 
‘bridges and trains’.

• Drilling down into the regional and local drivers of prosperity 
also reveals why the conversation about levelling up the UK is 
too simplistic. Crude distinctions between ‘north and south’ or 
‘cities and small towns’ gloss the considerable variation that 
exists both between and within regions and fails to highlight 
the success stories where were see considerable increases in 
prosperity.

OVERALL PROSPERITY IN THE UK HAS STAGNATED

The UK remains one of the most prosperous nations in the world 
and is well positioned to prosper in the future. But currently, its 
overall prosperity has plateaued. Since prosperity peaked in 2018, 
every region, excluding London, has reported a small overall decline 
in prosperity. 

Overall, the UK is continuing to build a strong and open economy. 
It has achieved big improvements in the quality of its infrastructure, 
labour force engagement and competitiveness. But these gains 
are currently being undermined by a deterioration in several spe-
cific areas: in the quality of conditions for local enterprise, which 
are needed to bolster business dynamism and entrepreneurialism; 
in the safety and security of communities, which are struggling 
with increasing violent crime; in the physical and mental health of 
people; in key indicators of social capital, including weaker family 
relationships, evidenced by an increase in looked after children; and, 
to a lesser extent, in the quality of local governance. The regions 
that have suffered the sharpest overall decline in prosperity in the 
last five years include Merseyside and the non-metropolitan areas 
in the North West.

-15 -10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15

Natural
Environment

Education

Health

Living
Conditions

Economic
Quality

Infrastructure

Enterprise
Conditions

Investment
Environment

Social Capital

Governance

Personal
Freedom

Safety &
Security

Score change

UK score change 2011-21, by pillar

10

Page 163



LEVELLING UP THE UK NEEDS MORE THAN BRIDGES  
AND TRAINS

Before Covid-19, the UK had one of the strongest economies in 
the world and enjoyed steady, albeit low, GDP growth, as well as 
historically low unemployment. In the decade before the pandemic, 
the rate of unemployment nearly halved, from 7.7% to 3.9%. The 
UK has also continued to improve its infrastructure, especially com-
munications. Internet speeds have increased sharply over the last 
decade and transport infrastructure has improved. These gains are 
broad rather than narrow; of the 50 areas with the most improved 
infrastructure, all of them are outside of major metropolitan areas. 

However, over the last decade, the quality of local investment envi-
ronments—which measures aspects such as investment demand 
and the extent to which businesses are satisfied with finance 
arrangements—has deteriorated in 11 of 15 regions. Furthermore, 
43 of the 50 areas with the strongest investment environments 
are in London and the South East, while 27 of the 50 weakest are 
found in Scotland.

The UK’s pathway to prosperity is being undermined by a marked 
deterioration in its enterprise conditions. Many businesses report 
a deterioration of local conditions for enterprise, including skill 
shortages and barriers to doing business. Things that help to drive 
enterprise, such as flexible local labour markets, are also deteriorat-
ing. Some areas are experiencing especially significant challenges in 
productivity, competitiveness and dynamism, especially Scotland, 
Northern Ireland and Wales. These areas typically have low business 
survival rates, fewer high-tech businesses, and few new businesses 
starting. 

Prosperity is also being undermined by significant increases in 
violent crime, including homicides, sexual offences and also an 
increased frequency of terrorist attacks, such as recent attacks in 
London and Manchester. Deterioration in the overall safety and 
security of communities has occurred across 13 of 15 regions in 
the UK, including more than three quarters of all local authorities. 
Some of the sharpest deteriorations have been recorded in Thanet 
(South East), Kensington and Chelsea (London), Bradford (Yorkshire 
and the Humber), and Warrington (North West).

Key aspects of social capital are also deteriorating. The strength 
of families appears to be weakening. There are rising numbers of 
looked after children and children on protection plans, as well as 
a slight decline in the number of times a week that families eat 
together. Before Covid-19, there was also a decline in the strength 
of people’s social networks and a fall in institutional trust. Social 
capital is especially poor in London and the North of England—of 
the 50 local authorities with the weakest social capital, 31 are in 
London, the North East or the North West. Of the 50 local author-
ities with the strongest social capital, 41 are in the South East or 
East of England. Furthermore, people are increasingly choosing 
cohabitation rather than marriage, with cohabiting couples more 
likely to separate and accounting for half of family breakdown. 
There is also a growing marriage gap between rich and poor—for 
families with children under 5, 87% of high earners (over £43,000) 
are married, compared with 24% of low earner families.

The quality of local governance is also declining, largely due to 
reductions in local election turnout and the collapse of political 
choice, measured as a lack of change in overall political control. The 
number of authorities that have not seen any change in the ruling 
party over the last twenty years has increased from 42 a decade ago 
to 66 today. These governance problems are especially affecting 
Rural England, the Industrial Heartlands, and Central London. 

PEOPLE’S LIVED EXPERIENCES ARE IMPROVING

People in the UK have some of the strongest living conditions in 
the entire world. Before Covid-19, they enjoyed significant improve-
ments in education, especially in attainment outcomes. The country 
also has a continually improving natural environment, reflected in a 
steady decline in emissions. All regions have experienced improve-
ments in educational outcomes at secondary level and in the skill 
levels of the adult population. More than half of the top-perform-
ing authorities for education are in London, although Wales and 
Northern Ireland have seen the largest improvements over the  
last decade.  

All regions within the UK have also seen their environment improve, 
including reductions in emissions and exposure to air pollution. 
The decreases in CO2 emissions in the UK are encouraging, with 
decreases from industry, commercial sources and transport. These 
decreases are a result of the changes in fuel mix from coal to gas 

Safety & Security element score change, by region

-10 -8 -6 -4 -2 0 +2

North East

Yorkshire and The Humber

Greater Manchester

East of England

North West non-metro

West Midlands non-metro

South East

Wales

London

Merseyside

East Midlands

South West

West Midlands metropolitan

Northern Ireland

Scotland

Score change

Health element score change, 2011-2021

-20 -15 -10 -5 0 +5

Longevity

Physical Health

Mental Health

Care Systems

Preventative
Interventions

Behavioural and Physiological
Risk Factors

Score change

11

Page 164



and renewable sources of electricity generation, as well as reduced 
energy use by businesses. Additionally, more trees are being planted 
and an increasing proportion of waste is recycled. Of the 50 author-
ities that have improved the most for natural environment, 35 are 
in London and Scotland.

However, even before the impact of Covid-19, these gains in social 
wellbeing were being offset by a marked deterioration in people’s 
overall physical and mental health and in the quality of health 
care. We find a significant decline in the number of care home beds 
and in the percentage of people that are admitted, discharged or 
treated within four hours of attending A&E. Even before Covid-19, 
there were declines in the proportion of people who were treated 
within 18 weeks for routine treatments or within 62 days for urgent 
cancer treatment. This deterioration in health over the last decade 
has been experienced across all regions, with the greatest deteri-
orations in the North East, Yorkshire and the Humber, and North 
West non-metropolitan area. However, the individual authorities 
experiencing the greatest deterioration come from outside these 
regions, including Tendring, Basingstoke, Cambridge, and Torbay. 

Covid-19 exposed many of the frailties in a health system that was 
not prepared for a pandemic. 

THE NATIONAL DEBATE ABOUT LEVELLING UP IS  
TOO SIMPLISTIC

Much of the discussion about UK prosperity draws crude distinctions 
between the north and south. These are too simplistic and lose 
sight of complex regional variations. Simply distinguishing between 
‘cities’ and ‘towns’ glosses over considerable variation within and 
between different geographical areas. 

To move the debate forward, we identify 17 distinctive ‘archetypes’.

While the Commuter Belt around London, London, Rural England 
and Mid-Sized Urban Hubs are the most prosperous, Post-Industrial 
Urban areas, the Welsh Valleys, Central-Belt Scotland and the 
Industrial Heartlands are the least prosperous.

Each cluster has strengths and weaknesses, and therefore each has 
a starting point from which to build greater prosperity. For example, 
the most prosperous cluster, the Commuter Belt, has weaknesses 

12

Page 165



including significant air pollution. In contrast, the least prosperous, 
the Industrial Heartlands, has high rates of poverty, weak gover-
nance and poor health outcomes, but has relatively competitive 
markets for business and good infrastructure.  In a mid-prosperity 
archetype, such as Coastal Towns, residents have poor health and 
low educational attainment, but strong family relationships and 
high rates of volunteering. Future policy and practice would be 
better targeted at these clusters, whose profiles we examine in 
detail in this report.

CONCLUSION

As the UK charts its way out of the Covid-19 pandemic with a 
world-leading vaccination programme and aims to take advantage 
of new freedoms post-Brexit, the importance of addressing regional 
disparities has never been greater. The pandemic has highlighted 
old inequalities and created new ones. The Index shows what is well 
understood—prosperity is concentrated in the South of England, 
and it is appropriate for the levelling up agenda to target more 
deprived areas. However, the Index also shows that deprivation 

and prosperity take different forms. Investment in infrastructure 
or even broader economic goals, although necessary, will not be 
sufficient to achieve a true ‘levelling up’ of the UK. Investment in 
health, education, and poverty reduction will be required, along-
side rebuilding trust in institutions, enhancing social cohesion, and 
addressing family relationships. The Index identifies a range of dis-
crete challenges, and addressing these will require input from all 
levels of government, the private sphere, and the non-profit sector.  
To really become a prosperous nation, Britain needs to become 
a place where we truly value the family, where we care for one 
another, investing in our mental and physical wellbeing and where 
we can innovate and build businesses that are not stifled by unnec-
essary regulation.

Credit: shutterstock.com

13

Before Covid-19, UK 
citizens enjoyed significant 
improvements in education  
and the environment.

Page 166



The United Kingdom is one of the most prosperous nations in 
the world, ranked 13th in the Legatum Prosperity IndexTM.

Despite fears of economic decline, the UK is continuing to build an 
open and strong economy. It has one of the strongest education 
systems in the world, an increasingly strong natural environment 
with improving infrastructure.

While overall prosperity increased in the first half of the 2010s, 
it has since stagnated. 

Only London, the South East, the East Midlands and West Midlands 
metropolitan region have seen rising overall prosperity. Eleven of 
15 UK regions have seen prosperity decline in recent years, with 
the sharpest deteriorations in the North West and West Midlands 
non-metropolitan regions. 

Prosperity is currently being undermined by factors that lie 
outside of the traditional focus on ‘bridges and trains’. 

These include a decline in the Safety and Security of communi-
ties due to rising violent crime, a deterioration in people’s mental 
and physical health, an erosion of Social Capital, including fraying 
family relationships, weakening Enterprise Conditions, a loss of 
public trust in institutions and deteriorating local democracy. These 
are all undermining the pathway to prosperity.

The national conversation about levelling up is far too 
simplistic. 

Talk about ‘north-south’ divides misses considerable variation both 
between and within regions. No region is homogenous; there are 
different ‘archetypes’ of prosperity in each region. We identify 17 
archetypes that cut across different regions and urban or rural areas. 
Each comes with its own unique challenges and opportunities.

GlobalUK

20
20

 P
ro

sp
er

ity

13th

20212011

U
K 

Pr
os

pe
rit

y

Score change, 2011-2021

Health

Enterprise
Conditions

Social
Capital

Safety &
Security

Industrial HeartlandsCommuter Belt

1st

17th

Pr
os

pe
rit

y

Key findings

14

Page 167



Monkey Business Images/Shutterstock.com

50

54

58

62

66

20212011

30

34

38

42

46

20212011

50

54

58

62

66

20212011

40

44

48

52

56

20212011

40

44

48

52

56

20212011

44

48

52

56

60

20212011

40

44

48

52

56

20212011

36

40

44

48

52

20212011

50

54

58

62

66

20212011
44

48

52

56

60

20212011
40

44

48

52

56

20212011
44

48

52

56

60

20212011

The Education pillar measures 
enrolment, outcomes, and quality 
across four stages of education 
(pre-primary, primary, secondary, 
and tertiary education), as well as 
the skills in the adult population.

The pillars at a glance

The Governance pillar measures 
the quality of local democracy, 
whether politicians are trusted, 
and effectiveness of local 
government services.

The Social Capital pillar 
measures the strength of family, 
personal and social relationships, 
institutional trust,  and civic 
participation in a country. 

The Safety and Security pillar 
measures the degree to which 
violent crime, property crime, 
civil disorder, and terror have 
destabilised the security of 
individuals, both immediately and 
through longer lasting effects.

The Personal Freedom pillar 
measures progress towards basic 
legal rights, individual liberties, 
and social tolerance.

The Living Conditions pillar 
measures the quality of life 
experienced by people, including 
material resources, shelter, digital 
connectivity, access to local 
amenities, and protection  
from harm.

The Health pillar measures the 
extent to which people are healthy 
and have access to the necessary 
services to maintain good health. 
It includes health outcomes, 
health systems, illness and risk 
factors, and mortality rates.

The Natural Environment pillar 
measures the aspects of the 
physical environment that have 
a direct effect on people in their 
daily lives and changes that might 
impact the prosperity of future 
generations.

The Enterprise Conditions pillar 
measures the degree to which 
regulations enable businesses to 
start, compete, and expand.

The Investment Environment 
pillar measures the extent to 
which investment capital is readily 
accessible and in demand.

The Infrastructure pillar measures 
the quality of the infrastructure 
that enables commerce and 
business activity.

The Economic Quality pillar 
measures how well a local 
economy is equipped to generate 
wealth sustainably and with the 
full engagement of the workforce. 

15

Page 168



Wolverhampton (366th) is the least pros-
perous local authority in the West Midlands. 

However, it has seen improvements in its 
Investment Environment (141st), Infrastructure 

(17th), and Education (293rd).

Swansea (285th) is one of the most improved 
local authorities in Wales, having seen improving 

Natural Environment (67th), Education (104th), and 
Living Conditions (326th). 

East Devon (102nd) has seen the largest improve-
ment in overall prosperity within the South West 
over the last 10 years. It has seen improvements 
including Governance (241st), Personal Freedom 

(179th), and Natural Environment (56th). 

Belfast (355th) is the least prosperous local 
authority in Northern Ireland, performing 

poorly in Health (365th), Governance (338th), 
and Enterprise Conditions (341st). However, it 

has benefited from a number of improvements, 
including its Infrastructure (167th).  

Brentwood (36th) in the East of England 
has the second-best rank for Living 
Conditions (2nd) in the UK, with low 
rates of homelessness and income 
deprivation. 

Wokingham (1st) is the most prosperous local 
authority in the UK. It performs strongly in 

Living Conditions (1st), Health (2nd), and  
Enterprise Conditions (10th).

Newham (187th) has seen the 
greatest improvement in prosperity 
in the UK in the last 10 years, with 
improvements in all pillars except 
Enterprise Conditions (263rd) and 
Health (121st). 

Leicester (215th) is the East Midland’s best 
performer for Enterprise Conditions (6th). However, 
it performs very poorly for Education, Natural 
Environment, and Safety and Security.

East Renfrewshire (41st) is the most prosperous 
local authority in Scotland. It has seen improve-
ments in Natural Environment (6th), Safety and 

Security (5th), and Governance (79th). 

Middlesbrough (378th) ranks the lowest for Social Capital in 
the UK, which is due to weak family relationships and lack of 
institutional trust. It consistently ranks near the bottom for all 
pillars except for Infrastructure (148th), Investment Environment 
(209th), and Natural Environment (195th).

Blackpool (379th) is the least prosperous local 
authority in the UK, ranking in the bottom 
quartile for 9 out of 12 pillars. It is also the 

weakest of all local authorities for Health, due 
to poor mental and physical Health. 

York (103rd) is the most prosperous local authority in Yorkshire 
and the Humber. It has seen improvements in Education (45th), 
Social Capital (146th), and Infrastructure (115th). 

Mapping UK prosperity in 2021

1–63 64–126 127–189 190–254 255–317 318–379

United Kingdom Prosperity Index 2021 rank:

16 17

P
age 169



2011 
rank

2020 
rank

2021 
rank Area Region

Sa
fe

ty
 &

 
Se

cu
rit

y

Pe
rs

on
al

 
Fr

ee
do

m

G
ov

er
na

nc
e

So
ci

al
 

Ca
pi

ta
l

In
ve

st
m

en
t 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t

En
te

rp
ris

e 
Co

nd
iti

on
s

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re

Ec
on

om
ic

 
Q

ua
lit

y

Li
vi

ng
  

Co
nd

iti
on

s

H
ea

lth

Ed
uc

at
io

n

N
at

ur
al

 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

t

5 2 1 Wokingham S East 43 189 86 13 211 10 128 22 1 2 17 222

4 3 2 Waverley S East 50 127 85 3 10 46 259 110 33 3 50 24

2 7 3 Elmbridge S East 103 127 35 35 21 189 82 6 44 5 68 201

21 4 4 Epsom and Ewell S East 93 127 2 52 96 269 75 18 3 30 37 60

7 6 5 Woking S East 155 127 36 37 15 163 95 51 7 25 69 29

25 10 6 Hart S East 110 269 7 63 12 157 51 58 34 55 65 87

40 12 7 Richmond upon Thames London 302 297 72 195 19 34 8 16 186 6 3 231

17 5 8 St Albans E Eng 210 163 17 4 167 4 67 122 12 8 36 155

30 18 9 Surrey Heath S East 105 127 214 25 14 108 91 19 30 9 136 63

16 17 10 Guildford S East 124 127 119 18 5 178 83 74 54 11 111 42

1 9 11 Mole Valley S East 68 127 33 9 82 115 165 27 105 7 58 53

37 16 12 Rutland E Mid 12 86 15 80 81 65 247 175 32 54 25 125

14 11 13 Winchester S East 74 269 10 21 6 30 166 167 144 64 56 207

10 1 14 Three Rivers E Eng 188 163 13 14 158 134 28 17 27 31 46 148

36 24 15 East Hampshire S East 35 269 23 82 7 128 207 95 119 86 80 105

46 13 16 Fareham S East 49 269 27 99 59 47 64 160 26 120 74 154

42 32 17 Runnymede S East 184 127 183 59 13 191 62 44 24 39 59 255

19 8 18 Windsor and Maidenhead S East 168 189 19 2 206 181 129 31 5 4 54 259

12 25 19 Reigate and Banstead S East 116 127 200 42 90 183 80 26 6 27 70 122

24 45 20 City of London London 378 121 51 301 1 17 288 1 62 87 1 379

32 43 21 Mid Sussex S East 71 127 120 29 76 116 152 33 14 92 216 58

6 19 22 Hertsmere E Eng 240 163 41 33 126 81 2 8 79 41 143 313

8 22 23 Tandridge S East 125 127 249 30 86 79 71 142 25 14 63 192

38 50 24 Horsham S East 82 127 114 27 74 73 191 25 95 24 230 81

48 37 25 Rushmoor S East 110 269 37 127 16 268 93 60 114 217 92 48

83 27 26 Harborough E Mid 58 86 78 54 89 32 225 141 28 22 94 261

22 28 27 Bath and North East Somerset S West 79 35 11 72 109 66 266 330 40 16 53 109

39 36 28 Basingstoke and Deane S East 98 269 30 60 28 190 157 72 50 197 119 151

11 14 29 East Hertfordshire E Eng 191 163 132 6 156 35 118 24 82 17 47 312

34 54 30 South Gloucestershire S West 67 35 165 109 115 88 146 157 16 34 72 164

60 29 31 Milton Keynes S East 197 189 59 46 173 48 9 20 140 95 112 143

57 20 32 West Berkshire S East 64 189 18 41 230 83 211 82 70 13 78 212

33 26 33 Watford E Eng 297 163 152 19 132 176 3 121 4 99 42 68

62 42 34 Eastleigh S East 88 269 113 108 56 56 163 79 49 62 210 133

61 65 35 Test Valley S East 69 269 63 128 8 244 181 146 154 33 186 179

20 30 36 North Hertfordshire E Eng 150 163 77 22 193 137 86 36 84 12 117 224

50 53 37 Harrow London 322 297 31 324 23 38 48 30 249 173 10 242

15 21 38 West Oxfordshire S East 37 189 101 23 91 91 267 163 75 44 116 157

28 33 39 Bracknell Forest S East 108 189 115 132 210 177 137 65 8 38 57 86

9 49 40 B’mouth, C’church and Poole S West 152 47 67 242 52 107 285 129 21 192 44 74

93 41 41 East Renfrewshire Scot 4 283 79 163 359 276 219 325 117 19 14 6

49 39 42 Isles of Scilly S West 6 343 179 5 219 36 373 210 11 1 173 17

27 23 43 South Oxfordshire S East 57 189 54 50 93 60 257 120 81 28 246 182

26 51 44 Brentwood E Eng 257 72 178 32 164 142 108 7 2 100 85 238

90 46 45 Charnwood E Mid 130 86 46 83 99 59 144 206 35 53 106 325

18 15 46 Vale of White Horse S East 27 189 74 53 104 180 284 145 43 23 157 191

58 64 47 Buckinghamshire S East 76 189 65 86 127 144 275 93 53 18 87 223

88 66 48 Chichester S East 140 127 123 31 54 31 269 29 99 79 312 163

29 34 49 Dacorum E Eng 242 163 50 11 168 162 131 52 87 67 81 120

79 94 50 Adur S East 107 127 116 61 84 256 92 80 19 112 249 158

68 60 51 Spelthorne S East 169 127 270 45 17 315 79 59 13 104 91 336

45 79 52 North Somerset S West 120 35 32 119 92 54 241 282 71 85 89 198

53 58 53 Welwyn Hatfield E Eng 253 163 81 7 172 121 32 123 110 20 115 203

121 96 54 Brighton and Hove S East 260 127 57 203 70 49 87 154 116 60 62 206

101 77 55 Central Bedfordshire E Eng 227 163 8 62 192 214 70 46 51 37 175 329

59 59 56 Epping Forest E Eng 251 72 177 43 165 94 90 14 31 45 202 273

Rankings

18

Page 170



2011 
rank

2020 
rank

2021 
rank Area Region

Sa
fe

ty
 &

 
Se

cu
rit

y

Pe
rs

on
al

 
Fr

ee
do

m

G
ov

er
na

nc
e

So
ci

al
 

Ca
pi

ta
l

In
ve

st
m

en
t 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t

En
te

rp
ris

e 
Co

nd
iti

on
s

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re

Ec
on

om
ic

 
Q

ua
lit

y

Li
vi

ng
  

Co
nd

iti
on

s

H
ea

lth

Ed
uc

at
io

n

N
at

ur
al

 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

t

76 61 57 Uttlesford E Eng 199 72 109 1 137 271 221 45 45 29 76 294

3 31 58 Stroud S West 44 35 94 173 153 105 299 126 118 82 77 54

71 84 59 Sevenoaks S East 248 102 215 12 102 5 183 75 139 58 159 213

99 35 60 Hinckley and Bosworth E Mid 83 86 125 141 94 61 227 169 55 50 149 237

75 80 61 Kingston upon Thames London 315 338 279 282 51 52 43 103 209 15 16 184

69 68 62 Warwick W Mid 217 151 141 148 105 53 72 125 146 102 73 144

41 48 63 Cherwell S East 104 189 106 71 95 194 214 139 58 36 109 277

110 72 64 Melton E Mid 62 86 95 73 71 80 281 244 52 132 178 119

115 74 65 Merton London 329 338 253 320 42 39 19 38 257 21 19 264

66 52 66 New Forest S East 72 269 61 85 50 106 276 174 218 127 103 132

108 111 67 Crawley S East 288 127 122 84 87 258 6 15 72 241 218 124

127 95 68 Colchester E Eng 245 72 29 34 185 86 141 140 29 202 163 94

77 69 69 Havant S East 113 269 28 125 65 55 52 303 133 277 278 80

187 91 70 Broxtowe E Mid 143 315 62 220 122 169 73 248 18 123 60 281

123 108 71 Camden London 373 121 181 353 3 28 25 2 285 63 20 311

119 86 72 Rushcliffe E Mid 141 315 298 138 117 57 125 214 47 65 32 293

95 57 73 Blaby E Mid 75 86 203 68 125 97 162 255 9 94 177 262

74 107 74 Worthing S East 194 127 104 87 72 223 81 159 17 152 314 91

52 120 75 Cheshire East N West 154 176 25 114 247 12 147 118 193 196 61 226

173 148 76 Bromley London 316 338 339 259 53 16 34 130 183 26 26 236

65 44 77 South Cambridgeshire E Eng 147 213 87 47 67 355 222 12 102 56 214 335

72 88 78 Barnet London 348 297 176 251 11 127 114 89 268 97 6 337

130 126 79 Wandsworth London 341 121 287 293 24 257 44 135 199 10 11 310

54 73 80 Tunbridge Wells S East 208 102 158 51 169 95 274 117 92 69 131 52

112 55 81 Oadby and Wigston E Mid 97 86 124 177 129 76 203 289 64 146 134 75

182 161 82 Islington London 371 64 56 350 9 13 41 4 327 76 34 347

141 63 83 Aberdeenshire Scot 5 256 42 196 267 21 362 112 172 51 252 49

92 110 84 Sutton London 304 338 321 312 47 85 31 168 222 68 12 160

91 83 85 Tonbridge and Malling S East 243 102 96 24 159 69 138 109 61 98 192 297

163 124 86 Hounslow London 359 297 155 321 37 33 15 11 332 159 23 271

56 85 87 Rochford E Eng 91 72 317 56 191 293 193 42 20 42 170 166

23 47 88 Tewkesbury S West 26 35 84 170 175 173 287 101 123 137 110 263

47 82 89 Broxbourne E Eng 259 163 137 57 151 279 46 138 131 49 164 90

230 131 90 Tower Hamlets London 366 64 99 334 25 23 126 5 340 105 8 369

35 38 91 Cotswold S West 36 35 142 160 111 63 301 108 203 114 240 175

13 40 92 Cheltenham S West 121 35 265 165 152 145 195 179 41 134 120 114

254 162 93 Hammersmith and Fulham London 369 121 222 347 18 43 50 21 305 66 5 356

44 76 94 Dorset S West 52 47 73 194 49 231 359 250 106 156 114 159

63 101 95 Chelmsford E Eng 255 72 217 26 166 229 94 98 42 48 203 247

136 62 96 North West Leicestershire E Mid 86 86 182 140 108 129 177 147 98 115 155 346

137 137 97 Ealing London 357 297 97 308 2 103 58 87 342 158 15 314

129 98 98 South Northamptonshire E Mid 204 86 38 150 197 126 329 68 38 70 146 266

131 233 99 South Lakeland N West 53 258 352 133 182 1 212 128 187 131 99 126

98 93 100 Gosport S East 85 269 47 112 66 149 196 307 57 351 303 35

81 122 101 Maldon E Eng 109 72 82 16 176 266 309 69 67 138 244 205

180 114 102 East Devon S West 13 179 241 126 48 310 355 213 157 103 171 56

146 71 103 York Yrk & Hum 48 248 92 146 342 196 115 262 168 43 45 234

233 106 104 Redbridge London 344 308 284 302 26 155 21 50 315 72 13 358

96 132 105 Rugby W Mid 246 151 147 180 107 147 104 99 228 80 66 326

132 150 106 Derbyshire Dales E Mid 66 315 170 205 62 70 314 314 69 130 181 219

150 78 107 Mendip S West 101 47 16 89 78 262 361 184 155 59 316 250

64 67 108 Stevenage E Eng 285 163 89 81 183 312 57 190 23 182 160 88

138 87 109 East Dunbartonshire Scot 10 283 314 202 365 232 130 245 109 83 29 26

105 146 110 Bristol, City of S West 250 35 202 169 98 89 170 249 83 117 200 193

67 103 111 Oxford S East 241 189 198 113 100 295 186 252 10 32 273 161

55 75 112 Wiltshire S West 38 35 264 100 194 143 297 212 91 47 176 249

19

Page 171



2011 
rank

2020 
rank

2021 
rank Area Region

Sa
fe

ty
 &

 
Se

cu
rit

y

Pe
rs

on
al

 
Fr

ee
do

m

G
ov

er
na

nc
e

So
ci

al
 

Ca
pi

ta
l

In
ve

st
m

en
t 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t

En
te

rp
ris

e 
Co

nd
iti

on
s

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re

Ec
on

om
ic

 
Q

ua
lit

y

Li
vi

ng
  

Co
nd

iti
on

s

H
ea

lth

Ed
uc

at
io

n

N
at

ur
al

 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

t

259 149 113 Hackney London 374 64 145 351 22 8 61 9 363 107 22 352

128 147 114 Dartford S East 324 102 173 101 135 93 20 115 80 167 139 315

144 166 115 Hillingdon London 345 297 144 343 33 75 11 70 313 154 31 338

116 139 116 Arun S East 158 127 267 66 83 237 235 96 97 93 300 218

85 153 117 Stratford-on-Avon W Mid 213 151 128 123 116 68 242 114 248 90 150 285

87 128 118 Castle Point E Eng 163 72 308 75 195 282 110 127 46 135 280 30

153 182 119 Kensington and Chelsea London 377 121 238 261 20 41 99 105 274 118 2 366

102 133 120 Ashford S East 266 102 172 90 163 123 253 132 142 71 238 57

82 116 121 Bromsgrove W Mid 233 151 234 192 305 19 35 13 164 208 189 232

159 144 122 East Riding of Yorkshire Yrk & Hum 157 304 20 115 134 119 217 264 233 148 79 363

84 129 123 Maidstone S East 267 102 69 55 145 67 208 218 148 201 219 170

78 121 124 Swindon S West 128 35 281 296 186 161 206 133 39 96 193 190

139 92 125 Sedgemoor S West 101 47 21 158 58 285 308 193 169 214 343 211

86 140 126 Braintree E Eng 177 72 167 10 178 253 250 28 85 161 279 305

104 127 127 Slough S East 249 189 221 208 222 302 53 40 111 210 28 334

178 178 128 Westminster London 379 121 262 244 4 9 74 3 328 89 4 378

113 186 129 Havering London 340 308 163 325 60 113 1 165 304 77 48 306

226 164 130 Bedford E Eng 295 163 9 38 201 110 151 104 94 215 339 260

134 97 131 Harrogate Yrk & Hum 30 248 303 8 347 109 279 113 247 57 64 128

183 90 132 Babergh E Eng 32 213 14 20 291 182 335 200 89 113 274 317

149 102 133 Ribble Valley N West 33 366 206 174 306 250 295 23 122 140 55 145

155 70 134 Craven Yrk & Hum 21 248 105 28 339 301 197 176 319 84 82 123

100 115 135 South Hams S West 15 179 223 93 46 353 371 188 210 179 86 101

196 180 136 Gedling E Mid 143 315 324 227 114 219 158 294 22 81 128 258

151 154 137 Harlow E Eng 312 72 242 70 179 324 5 81 48 189 289 97

206 130 138 Richmondshire Yrk & Hum 19 248 88 15 265 92 367 274 227 126 132 45

106 169 139 Basildon E Eng 292 72 278 58 177 238 42 64 65 147 306 210

162 113 140 South Somerset S West 100 47 148 167 75 284 364 192 96 149 284 112

70 105 141 Chorley N West 87 366 44 247 350 236 96 61 151 271 148 38

133 202 142 Portsmouth S East 218 269 135 215 64 15 120 323 149 184 330 309

43 145 143 Warrington N West 216 176 269 213 263 184 4 73 225 188 39 321

154 141 144 Wealden S East 63 127 151 111 112 230 323 234 103 243 265 141

172 193 145 Bexley London 321 308 290 304 36 254 56 197 236 88 35 257

234 136 146 Hambleton Yrk & Hum 22 248 309 17 190 62 312 211 284 122 95 228

193 112 147 Somerset West and Taunton S West 106 47 53 144 63 326 357 270 115 177 299 115

156 155 148 Daventry E Mid 206 86 140 156 198 154 271 37 181 106 272 239

191 170 149 Amber Valley E Mid 159 315 187 238 130 133 233 239 130 176 108 272

31 125 150 Forest of Dean S West 31 35 98 197 144 111 365 265 73 261 298 130

89 123 151 Huntingdonshire E Eng 181 213 292 105 85 356 192 144 127 52 161 342

117 100 152 East Cambridgeshire E Eng 136 213 175 67 61 373 293 92 188 75 242 330

219 208 153 Isle of Wight S East 78 269 70 219 55 58 311 299 192 346 287 136

229 213 154 Southwark London 372 64 154 335 30 220 76 41 358 141 9 292

245 104 155 Na h-Eileanan Siar Scot 1 6 60 98 282 328 376 83 306 185 296 25

111 156 156 Reading S East 261 189 133 188 228 317 172 85 86 61 126 270

125 199 157 Gravesham S East 324 102 136 110 140 51 106 225 135 171 234 267

220 160 158 Vale of Glamorgan Wales 134 13 149 230 288 216 190 360 198 46 43 187

114 99 159 Cambridge E Eng 303 213 157 64 77 378 109 136 63 191 204 181

247 176 160 South Derbyshire E Mid 94 315 296 234 118 221 258 143 15 249 113 324

118 197 161 Lichfield W Mid 96 237 260 266 311 24 98 150 200 190 137 183

214 135 162 Ryedale Yrk & Hum 22 248 121 49 207 130 358 149 353 142 67 284

213 81 163 Mid Suffolk E Eng 34 213 127 48 243 249 342 90 124 129 264 301

143 175 164 Thurrock E Eng 264 72 39 166 199 374 45 124 76 143 152 360

225 172 165 Mid Devon S West 13 179 220 131 44 335 374 186 160 200 229 150

124 117 166 South Kesteven E Mid 139 290 26 69 273 193 294 187 101 232 187 308

142 143 167 Orkney Islands Scot 2 6 286 95 283 203 379 170 345 40 261 10

171 177 168 North Tyneside N East 178 115 259 300 203 139 119 203 159 308 93 66

175 204 169 Lewes S East 118 127 68 77 128 305 265 315 66 292 335 140

316 219 170 Waltham Forest London 355 308 188 337 41 207 14 100 350 78 27 372

207 163 171 Southampton S East 280 269 34 264 57 227 200 328 165 166 286 174

80 165 172 Cheshire West and Chester N West 149 176 76 129 255 217 270 111 246 157 168 173

184 159 173 Teignbridge S West 15 179 276 104 79 309 353 285 156 231 250 82

152 223 174 Solihull W Mid Met 313 359 205 254 319 99 12 66 224 111 38 227

20

Page 172



2011 
rank

2020 
rank

2021 
rank Area Region

Sa
fe

ty
 &

 
Se

cu
rit

y

Pe
rs

on
al

 
Fr

ee
do

m

G
ov

er
na

nc
e

So
ci

al
 

Ca
pi

ta
l

In
ve

st
m

en
t 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t

En
te

rp
ris

e 
Co

nd
iti

on
s

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re

Ec
on

om
ic

 
Q

ua
lit

y

Li
vi

ng
  

Co
nd

iti
on

s

H
ea

lth

Ed
uc

at
io

n

N
at

ur
al

 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

t

157 190 175 High Peak E Mid 165 315 169 198 110 87 263 308 129 254 172 282

109 109 176 North Kesteven E Mid 54 290 1 151 343 228 319 257 112 307 212 349

224 188 177 West Devon S West 15 179 207 44 38 322 375 318 242 267 243 14

188 215 178 Brent London 362 297 295 326 27 188 63 49 339 151 24 328

94 174 179 Fylde N West 59 366 110 256 358 156 246 47 174 263 130 65

275 224 180 Erewash E Mid 182 315 266 255 143 160 139 291 37 237 191 286

192 205 181 Exeter S West 126 179 316 153 69 350 256 306 108 269 199 36

200 183 182 Luton E Eng 320 163 80 168 196 342 33 35 120 170 275 290

148 142 183 Trafford Gtr Manch 335 349 304 201 285 208 85 34 208 240 7 172

140 195 184 Stafford W Mid 119 237 239 228 225 101 210 180 253 230 127 131

242 239 185 North East Derbyshire E Mid 84 315 345 258 142 102 282 242 137 162 179 111

250 181 186 North Devon S West 41 179 230 76 35 306 372 221 278 187 311 102

335 217 187 Newham London 364 64 164 317 45 263 37 94 335 121 21 377

204 212 188 Lambeth London 368 64 174 344 31 357 30 84 307 136 18 348

167 222 189 Tamworth W Mid 160 237 150 303 351 168 27 57 153 347 251 118

176 259 190 Eden N West 46 258 91 137 150 218 369 91 359 287 153 72

177 201 191 South Staffordshire W Mid 77 237 258 278 274 135 161 67 270 205 98 280

166 236 192 Redditch W Mid 231 151 108 243 330 98 122 62 180 303 309 64

251 206 193 Northampton E Mid 339 86 111 211 213 132 168 107 36 178 305 244

232 56 194 Broadland E Eng 80 213 236 103 307 222 302 97 128 110 241 298

126 167 195 Southend-on-Sea E Eng 281 72 199 200 189 332 248 229 56 228 75 188

222 240 196 Staffordshire Moorlands W Mid 70 237 58 274 226 84 338 131 292 262 211 186

179 185 197 Torridge S West 41 179 48 117 34 320 377 337 303 273 355 9

262 214 198 East Northamptonshire E Mid 234 86 204 157 218 170 252 152 78 235 319 178

73 189 199 Malvern Hills W Mid 222 151 45 179 262 40 336 71 310 238 247 153

161 134 200 East Suffolk E Eng 92 213 40 65 281 213 318 198 134 209 295 323

120 187 201 Canterbury S East 290 102 55 88 149 321 240 338 189 73 227 288

315 191 202 Aberdeen City Scot 207 256 126 310 352 82 300 178 147 109 297 23

252 246 203 Cornwall S West 45 343 194 143 171 122 337 313 221 223 226 215

221 230 204 Shetland Islands Scot 3 6 288 134 361 72 378 298 361 35 262 15

189 280 205 Gateshead N East 220 115 302 368 216 3 113 317 238 330 100 61

239 157 206 Northumberland N East 133 115 240 327 184 148 291 272 237 291 133 41

158 203 207 Rother S East 145 127 117 102 180 243 316 333 158 284 268 162

274 294 208 Chesterfield E Mid 212 315 344 269 139 77 176 357 104 225 174 116

190 89 209 South Norfolk E Eng 89 213 83 96 251 288 332 231 141 119 270 322

186 275 210 East Staffordshire W Mid 142 237 159 221 310 37 296 162 150 279 258 225

304 151 211 Stirling Scot 123 53 233 212 373 272 255 268 196 155 206 4

235 209 212 Newcastle upon Tyne N East 268 115 190 374 200 167 102 332 245 165 101 31

243 231 213 Newark and Sherwood E Mid 187 315 255 191 103 125 209 300 125 234 222 367

265 158 214 Monmouthshire Wales 115 13 184 294 261 112 307 311 354 145 40 189

307 256 215 Leicester E Mid 274 86 254 223 97 6 175 277 202 257 334 341

231 210 216 Medway S East 305 102 256 207 154 171 160 235 77 204 183 343

310 306 217 Ashfield E Mid 247 315 300 260 124 206 121 296 74 163 310 204

181 251 218 North Warwickshire W Mid 239 151 285 181 123 298 89 173 295 150 235 300

135 198 219 Folkestone and Hythe S East 277 102 216 91 146 338 205 208 175 218 260 194

103 118 220 South Ribble N West 287 366 209 262 341 234 164 10 176 245 121 110

205 138 221 West Suffolk E Eng 28 213 52 118 250 365 322 181 100 124 342 350

122 228 222 Wychavon W Mid 223 151 210 154 264 22 310 48 263 168 271 319

51 173 223 Gloucester S West 196 35 332 245 170 267 154 260 179 239 254 83

331 315 224 Haringey London 376 64 180 316 32 120 49 171 365 153 30 345

198 293 225 Cannock Chase W Mid 175 237 337 319 270 18 142 164 184 331 224 55

236 243 226 Peterborough E Eng 300 213 131 193 88 336 54 217 161 212 367 268

209 249 227 Nuneaton and Bedworth W Mid 284 151 246 236 133 251 18 276 255 260 215 276

240 274 228 Newcastle-under-Lyme W Mid 173 237 195 295 233 151 237 220 201 293 208 89

107 196 229 West Lancashire N West 99 366 191 270 294 296 112 77 145 336 232 134

164 234 230 Swale S East 294 102 228 74 147 150 198 215 162 229 332 316

288 227 231 Scottish Borders Scot 7 1 273 178 293 300 366 324 282 139 322 28

281 192 232 Powys Wales 11 13 93 276 229 64 360 353 375 216 107 103

212 221 233 Perth and Kinross Scot 40 53 283 209 349 90 325 269 223 128 350 16

211 309 234 Carlisle N West 189 258 185 237 202 159 324 196 289 312 263 7

170 179 235 West Lindsey E Mid 148 290 4 136 327 226 317 261 143 310 220 357

285 271 236 Herefordshire, County of W Mid 180 151 22 189 157 114 370 322 346 258 147 252

21

Page 173



2011 
rank

2020 
rank

2021 
rank Area Region

Sa
fe

ty
 &

 
Se

cu
rit

y

Pe
rs

on
al

 
Fr

ee
do

m

G
ov

er
na

nc
e

So
ci

al
 

Ca
pi

ta
l

In
ve

st
m

en
t 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t

En
te

rp
ris

e 
Co

nd
iti

on
s

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re

Ec
on

om
ic

 
Q

ua
lit

y

Li
vi

ng
  

Co
nd

iti
on

s

H
ea

lth

Ed
uc

at
io

n

N
at

ur
al

 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

t

97 226 237 Stockport Gtr Manch 337 349 250 185 259 172 140 86 231 181 102 78

223 225 238 Lancaster N West 171 366 160 253 268 212 77 195 261 348 158 69

165 216 239 Dover S East 263 102 208 78 148 367 218 227 220 250 185 197

216 237 240 Kettering E Mid 283 86 156 206 217 259 224 199 121 203 337 220

270 320 241 Bolsover E Mid 170 315 320 283 119 179 239 281 107 253 281 283

297 218 242 City of Edinburgh Scot 282 53 329 233 357 197 101 232 138 74 184 185

257 245 243 Scarborough Yrk & Hum 22 248 146 40 256 158 321 251 336 280 353 147

253 283 244 Croydon London 361 338 364 373 43 29 36 233 348 91 52 269

241 263 245 Plymouth S West 193 179 348 218 73 361 278 304 90 302 231 77

201 276 246 Stockton-on-Tees N East 279 332 274 359 205 164 107 158 287 199 96 221

276 232 247 Corby E Mid 310 86 112 190 221 270 134 119 59 344 369 168

227 295 248 Tendring E Eng 244 72 197 36 188 141 280 224 60 370 361 303

244 119 249 North Norfolk E Eng 81 213 43 94 317 233 348 283 171 211 292 344

228 253 250 Mid Ulster N Ire 132 202 327 97 240 368 305 259 269 101 123 50

261 252 251 Telford and Wrekin W Mid 273 237 107 323 249 275 103 228 232 327 154 152

256 300 252 Allerdale N West 127 258 143 210 160 204 352 310 296 357 197 62

286 171 253 Selby Yrk & Hum 29 248 277 39 309 286 303 153 254 233 259 318

317 290 254 County Durham N East 256 332 306 288 223 2 264 273 272 297 145 137

318 220 255 Cardiff Wales 254 13 227 272 279 224 116 350 334 116 71 289

309 297 256 Lewisham London 365 64 90 339 39 343 55 223 368 160 41 361

347 340 257 Coventry W Mid Met 327 359 263 322 131 78 38 191 279 195 196 333

323 310 258 Greenwich London 363 308 328 355 40 337 40 137 312 174 33 332

199 307 259 Wirral M’side 201 231 319 330 257 245 78 185 207 299 213 127

311 264 260 South Ayrshire Scot 95 1 245 252 363 316 254 320 308 319 253 5

266 272 261 South Tyneside N East 200 115 294 349 204 247 97 355 241 286 142 95

160 267 262 Worcester W Mid 223 151 193 241 280 140 226 226 214 272 315 142

217 254 263 Sefton M’side 225 231 305 290 258 304 24 237 211 335 169 146

174 260 264 Wyre N West 65 366 280 235 322 124 261 55 230 367 221 107

185 257 265 Halton N West 235 231 325 285 252 277 22 56 197 322 336 177

202 152 266 Ipswich E Eng 278 213 138 145 286 314 185 236 132 300 326 92

278 296 267 Bassetlaw E Mid 221 315 310 159 101 329 238 292 88 222 276 359

273 288 268 Sunderland N East 238 115 315 378 227 27 88 267 266 270 239 96

280 285 269 Hastings S East 271 127 225 172 181 205 289 342 173 334 307 32

210 250 270 Moray Scot 8 6 333 182 346 289 356 340 267 175 358 1

295 346 271 Barrow-in-Furness N West 174 258 349 162 215 20 333 156 178 362 313 79

319 238 272 West Lothian Scot 56 53 293 246 376 370 124 247 170 144 356 19

325 242 273 Pembrokeshire Wales 39 20 24 229 231 240 345 364 376 226 245 199

282 301 274 Darlington N East 296 332 299 342 224 96 84 253 288 305 84 98

145 207 275 Rossendale N West 172 366 192 240 340 303 273 39 163 320 190 230

260 273 276 Lisburn and Castlereagh N Ire 179 202 363 232 239 351 244 243 219 125 97 104

264 277 277 Ards and North Down N Ire 153 202 359 120 242 344 251 280 239 172 141 85

147 304 278 Wyre Forest W Mid 231 151 64 187 312 117 171 238 309 325 331 229

305 284 279 Angus Scot 60 53 354 222 354 74 326 336 217 108 360 8

263 268 280 Shropshire W Mid 167 237 291 248 187 118 341 312 283 276 122 243

271 282 281 Antrim and Newtownabbey N Ire 211 202 318 152 237 348 223 279 234 227 144 121

169 308 282 Bury Gtr Manch 342 349 244 231 276 198 132 177 215 194 162 76

291 229 283 Argyll and Bute Scot 25 6 186 214 355 187 354 316 349 350 283 13

277 279 284 Wellingborough E Mid 328 86 252 184 220 209 179 102 93 275 363 278

342 289 285 Swansea Wales 183 20 189 346 323 201 202 377 326 224 104 67

168 247 286 Hyndburn N West 230 366 232 298 326 313 149 88 177 326 195 117

334 270 287 Carmarthenshire Wales 18 20 134 199 253 246 344 369 379 283 124 129

287 337 288 Enfield London 367 308 326 328 29 166 65 134 371 251 51 355

353 235 289 East Lothian Scot 9 53 323 226 356 311 339 302 167 180 348 39

346 262 290 Fife Scot 117 53 334 265 375 11 213 207 216 281 357 196

293 342 291 Derby E Mid 293 315 313 329 138 45 215 263 205 264 301 295

284 266 292 Torbay S West 161 179 211 291 106 352 349 375 136 366 166 51

343 319 293 Mansfield E Mid 272 315 335 280 120 215 178 329 166 248 318 240

279 194 294 Norwich E Eng 317 213 196 171 345 195 173 240 113 294 340 139

302 261 295 Flintshire Wales 138 13 102 239 298 265 330 286 299 242 237 307

267 302 296 Armagh C, B’bridge and Craigavon N Ire 202 202 350 149 245 349 249 327 250 133 151 106

195 244 297 Pendle N West 176 366 75 273 335 290 272 53 190 324 362 149

330 265 298 Gwynedd Wales 185 20 139 267 284 239 327 378 341 220 105 71

22

Page 174



2011 
rank

2020 
rank

2021 
rank Area Region

Sa
fe

ty
 &

 
Se

cu
rit

y

Pe
rs

on
al

 
Fr

ee
do

m

G
ov

er
na

nc
e

So
ci

al
 

Ca
pi

ta
l

In
ve

st
m

en
t 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t

En
te

rp
ris

e 
Co

nd
iti

on
s

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re

Ec
on

om
ic

 
Q

ua
lit

y

Li
vi

ng
  

Co
nd

iti
on

s

H
ea

lth

Ed
uc

at
io

n

N
at

ur
al

 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

t

203 287 299 St. Helens M’side 276 231 251 286 266 347 16 166 240 329 248 246

296 345 300 Copeland N West 73 258 275 186 208 333 328 266 316 377 194 27

268 184 301 Breckland E Eng 151 213 226 92 272 281 350 216 226 206 341 279

237 281 302 Calderdale Yrk & Hum 343 264 272 175 353 100 135 172 262 318 88 235

313 335 303 Sheffield Yrk & Hum 301 345 311 225 337 25 169 241 258 169 223 233

338 365 304 Walsall W Mid Met 326 359 248 365 121 26 26 182 337 360 277 302

197 248 305 Preston N West 203 366 347 284 321 202 174 63 204 345 236 93

269 318 306 Mid and East Antrim N Ire 228 202 312 124 236 362 236 359 314 246 129 44

283 303 307 Fenland E Eng 226 213 218 107 80 372 320 305 185 183 345 374

218 255 308 Lincoln E Mid 314 290 12 142 338 307 199 366 68 374 290 202

208 286 309 Thanet S East 332 102 130 106 162 364 188 352 213 314 291 216

215 168 310 South Holland E Mid 129 290 5 79 234 346 343 301 194 356 328 375

272 200 311 King’s Lynn and West Norfolk E Eng 156 213 168 135 260 192 347 258 191 265 323 371

246 317 312 Eastbourne S East 237 127 301 130 136 354 268 356 195 358 325 43

292 313 313 Newry, Mourne and Down N Ire 198 202 361 121 244 345 313 321 286 193 135 46

194 241 314 Blackburn with Darwen N West 236 366 153 311 315 327 159 116 323 369 83 135

329 323 315 Dumfries and Galloway Scot 61 1 224 216 320 334 346 351 330 207 352 108

238 305 316 Fermanagh and Omagh N Ire 146 202 289 204 235 377 331 331 302 274 125 20

290 316 317 Causeway Coast and Glens N Ire 192 202 365 139 238 308 283 362 276 244 140 47

249 269 318 East Lindsey E Mid 190 290 3 122 299 146 351 354 182 363 324 373

339 328 319 Conwy Wales 195 20 71 287 289 291 290 376 364 259 180 100

301 355 320 Dudley W Mid Met 306 359 229 345 161 200 10 194 259 301 370 304

322 338 321 South Lanarkshire Scot 209 1 362 263 364 273 229 293 252 221 349 40

314 322 322 Wigan Gtr Manch 336 349 271 224 300 292 69 205 235 309 205 169

341 311 323 Bridgend Wales 137 20 213 367 292 280 260 343 370 296 138 176

289 258 324 Highland Scot 47 6 100 147 379 210 363 319 366 315 375 18

255 299 325 Kirklees Yrk & Hum 333 264 219 155 334 185 133 204 281 268 233 351

298 278 326 Leeds Yrk & Hum 346 264 268 164 325 211 123 183 265 186 257 339

328 327 327 Derry City and Strabane N Ire 262 202 336 217 241 299 234 334 351 285 165 34

326 291 328 Ceredigion Wales 20 20 103 309 232 325 368 379 378 328 49 84

333 325 329 Denbighshire Wales 252 20 49 289 278 264 304 371 377 266 201 99

248 331 330 Bolton Gtr Manch 353 349 282 275 290 186 23 151 298 338 188 171

306 312 331 Redcar and Cleveland N East 275 332 257 363 212 248 194 275 273 352 167 254

336 351 332 Barnsley Yrk & Hum 299 345 367 277 344 50 150 161 256 164 282 209

308 211 333 Boston E Mid 166 290 6 116 254 375 334 358 152 373 321 370

258 314 334 Burnley N West 289 366 161 281 328 261 136 43 325 375 347 73

350 329 335 Isle of Anglesey Wales 90 20 129 361 304 319 340 349 374 298 118 167

362 324 336 Caerphilly Wales 186 20 322 313 297 283 182 339 324 288 228 251

367 358 337 Nottingham E Mid 307 315 366 354 113 42 143 363 206 290 288 320

374 341 338 Midlothian Scot 51 53 374 249 369 330 306 287 126 198 376 21

359 343 339 Newport Wales 286 13 356 268 287 165 184 344 338 247 156 296

300 298 340 North Lincolnshire Yrk & Hum 269 304 66 161 314 358 298 256 271 278 207 376

327 321 341 Falkirk Scot 164 53 358 271 370 366 111 209 229 255 354 165

337 292 342 Renfrewshire Scot 205 283 351 292 374 371 105 271 260 252 302 22

365 334 343 Rhondda Cynon Taf Wales 112 20 231 375 303 278 231 368 293 316 308 180

344 330 344 Wrexham Wales 229 13 201 315 324 255 292 341 343 311 285 200

303 344 345 Liverpool M’side 308 231 343 348 269 225 47 189 264 371 256 245

356 339 346 Torfaen Wales 219 20 237 360 302 260 216 370 372 219 266 214

360 333 347 North Ayrshire Scot 55 6 346 338 377 340 232 335 277 349 365 11

349 371 348 Barking and Dagenham London 370 308 377 370 68 131 29 148 367 213 90 353

372 361 349 Neath Port Talbot Wales 131 20 243 318 336 323 220 346 347 282 320 331

355 362 350 Kingston upon Hull, City of Yrk & Hum 347 304 212 369 174 44 59 365 373 361 209 354

345 348 351 Inverclyde Scot 162 283 166 314 371 379 153 347 294 364 359 2

371 374 352 Sandwell W Mid Met 334 359 357 372 155 152 13 106 322 337 346 364

351 363 353 Birmingham W Mid Met 349 359 331 297 332 14 7 222 360 355 217 365

375 352 354 East Ayrshire Scot 135 1 375 332 366 287 262 348 243 354 377 3

364 357 355 Belfast N Ire 331 202 338 183 246 341 167 219 331 365 198 265

378 336 356 Clackmannanshire Scot 122 53 368 250 378 360 286 54 311 236 379 33

373 347 357 Merthyr Tydfil Wales 114 20 118 377 295 363 230 373 344 342 368 59

324 360 358 Hartlepool N East 323 332 247 371 214 241 155 254 317 376 255 275

358 369 359 Stoke-on-Trent W Mid 291 237 162 366 248 104 201 295 352 378 351 256

299 353 360 Knowsley M’side 258 231 360 336 271 339 39 32 321 359 378 253

23

Page 175



2011 
rank

2020 
rank

2021 
rank Area Region

Sa
fe

ty
 &

 
Se

cu
rit

y

Pe
rs

on
al

 
Fr

ee
do

m

G
ov

er
na

nc
e

So
ci

al
 

Ca
pi

ta
l

In
ve

st
m

en
t 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t

En
te

rp
ris

e 
Co

nd
iti

on
s

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re

Ec
on

om
ic

 
Q

ua
lit

y

Li
vi

ng
  

Co
nd

iti
on

s

H
ea

lth

Ed
uc

at
io

n

N
at

ur
al

 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

t

369 350 361 North Lanarkshire Scot 270 283 370 299 368 153 68 288 291 256 374 156

357 359 362 Salford Gtr Manch 360 349 340 358 275 199 60 76 244 323 329 291

321 356 363 Rochdale Gtr Manch 358 349 297 341 308 242 66 155 275 353 327 138

340 364 364 Rotherham Yrk & Hum 298 345 342 357 348 71 156 290 300 339 269 299

294 349 365 Bradford Yrk & Hum 352 264 235 257 333 297 145 278 280 332 338 274

354 378 366 Wolverhampton W Mid Met 338 359 376 364 141 174 17 246 355 372 293 287

352 332 367 Wakefield Yrk & Hum 330 264 307 306 277 331 187 284 301 317 294 340

376 372 368 Blaenau Gwent Wales 215 20 261 356 316 318 277 372 357 313 364 113

320 367 369 Tameside Gtr Manch 350 349 373 362 313 235 117 201 297 340 182 208

348 326 370 Great Yarmouth E Eng 265 213 341 176 331 294 315 361 212 304 371 327

366 373 371 Manchester Gtr Manch 375 349 371 340 301 138 127 78 320 321 225 217

370 366 372 Dundee City Scot 318 53 372 305 367 136 204 374 290 306 366 37

361 370 373 Doncaster Yrk & Hum 319 345 330 279 318 274 189 230 329 333 304 368

312 354 374 North East Lincolnshire Yrk & Hum 309 304 171 333 329 369 245 367 333 295 267 362

332 375 375 Oldham Gtr Manch 356 349 369 331 296 252 228 202 251 343 317 241

377 368 376 West Dunbartonshire Scot 214 283 379 307 372 376 180 326 318 341 373 12

379 376 377 Glasgow City Scot 351 283 378 352 362 175 100 309 356 289 372 248

368 377 378 Middlesbrough N East 354 332 353 379 209 359 148 297 369 368 333 195

363 379 379 Blackpool N West 311 366 355 376 360 7 243 345 362 379 344 70

24

Page 176



Merseyside has some of the 
best infrastructure in the UK.

Credit: shutterstock.com

25

Page 177



Prosperity is a multi-dimensional concept, which the 
Prosperity Index seeks to measure, explore, and under-
stand as fully as possible. The framework of the Index 

captures prosperity through 12 equally-weighted pillars, each 
with constituent elements—the building blocks and policy 
areas crucial for achieving prosperity for the residents of the 
UK. The 12 pillars are grouped into three domains, which are the 
essential foundations of prosperity—Inclusive Societies, Open 
Economies, and Empowered People.

INCLUSIVE SOCIETIES

The Inclusive Societies domain captures the relationship 
structures that exist within a society, among individuals and 
between individuals and broader institutions, and the degree  
to which they either enable or obstruct societal cohesion and 
collective development. These social and legal institutions are 
essential in protecting the fundamental freedoms of individuals, 
and their ability to flourish. 

This domain consists of the Safety and Security, Personal 
Freedom, Governance, and Social Capital pillars, and it com-
prises 77 indicators captured within 17 elements.

OPEN ECONOMIES

The Open Economies domain captures the extent to which 
an economy is open to competition, encourages innovation 
and investment, promotes business and commerce, and facil-
itates inclusive growth. For a society to be truly prosperous, it 
requires an economy that embodies these ideals. This domain 
consists of the Investment Environment, Enterprise Conditions, 
Infrastructure, and Economic Quality pillars, and it comprises 
75 indicators captured within 15 elements.

EMPOWERED PEOPLE

The Empowered People domain captures the quality of peo-
ple’s lived experience and the associated aspects that enable 
individuals to reach their full potential through autonomy 
and self-determination. This domain consists of the Living 
Conditions, Health, Education, and Natural Environment pillars, 
and it comprises 104 indicators across 21 elements. 

An infographic that sets out the construction of the 2021 UK 
Prosperity Index, and the linking of the three domains, 12 pillars 
and 53 elements is found on page 8. The pages that follow 
examine each of these domains, pillars, elements, and the indi-
cators underpinning this structure, in more detail.

Pillar profiles

26

Page 178



Credit: shutterstock.com

27

Page 179



Defining Inclusive Societies

Inclusive Societies are an essential requirement for prosperity, 
where social and legal institutions protect the fundamental free-
doms of individuals, and their ability to flourish. This domain 

explores the relationships structures that exist within a society, 
and the degree to which they either enable or obstruct societal 
cohesion and collective development. Areas within this domain 
range from the relationship of citizen and state, to the degree to 
which violence permeates societal norms, to the interaction of 
freedoms of different groups and individuals, to the way in which 
individuals interact with one another, their communities, and insti-
tutions. These issues have been both a practical consideration for 
the majority of modern human experience, as well as a subject of 
academic study. We examine the fundamental aspects of Inclusive 
Societies across four pillars, each with component elements. 

Safety and Security measures the degree to which individuals 
and communities are free from violent crime, property crime, civil 
disorder, and terrorism. The lives of individuals, their freedoms, and 
the security of their property are at risk in a society where these 
activities are present, both through their current prevalence, and 
long-lasting effects. In short, a community or society can prosper 
only in an environment of security and safety for its citizens.

Personal Freedom measures basic legal rights (agency), individual 
liberties (freedom of assembly and association, freedom of speech 
and access to information), the absence of legal discrimination and 
the degree of social tolerance experienced in a society. Societies 

that recognise and protect these rights and freedoms have been 
shown to enjoy increased levels of satisfaction among their citi-
zens. Furthermore, a country benefits from higher levels of national 
income when its citizens’ personal liberties are protected and when 
it is welcoming of the diversity that stimulates innovation.

Governance measures the extent to which there are checks and 
restraints on power, and whether government operates effectively 
and without corruption. The nature of an area’s governance has a 
material impact on its prosperity. The quality of local democracy 
and government integrity contribute significantly to prosperity, 
as do competent governments that enact policy efficiently and 
design regulations that deliver policy objectives without being 
overly burdensome. 

Social Capital measures the family and personal relationships, 
social networks and the cohesion a society experiences where there 
is high institutional trust, and people respect and engage with one 
another (civic and social participation), both of which have a direct 
effect on the prosperity of a country. A person’s wellbeing is best 
provided for in a society where people trust one another and have 
the support of their family and friends. Societies with lower levels 
of trust tend to experience lower levels of economic growth. Thus, 
the word ‘capital’ in ‘social capital’ highlights the contribution of 
social networks as an asset that produces economic returns and 
improves wellbeing.

Rank Local Authority

1 Na h-Eileanan Siar (Scot)
2 North Kesteven (E Mid)
3 Babergh (E Eng)
4 Epsom and Ewell (S East)
5 Rutland (E Mid)
6 Orkney Islands (Scot)
7 Aberdeenshire (Scot)
8 Bath and North East Somerset (S West)
9 East Renfrewshire (Scot)
10 Winchester (S East)
11 West Berkshire (S East)
12 Shetland Islands (Scot)
13 Mole Valley (S East)
14 Isles of Scilly (S West)
15 Mendip (S West)
16 East Hampshire (S East)
17 Scottish Borders (Scot)
18 Hart (S East)
19 South Holland (E Mid)
20 Windsor and Maidenhead (S East)

Top 20 Local Authorities

Rank

1–63 64–126 127–189

190–254 255–317 318–379

Bottom 20 Local Authorities

Rank Local Authority

360 Brent (London)
361 Haringey (London)
362 Camden (London)
363 Birmingham (W Mid Met)
364 Kensington and Chelsea (London)
365 Rochdale (Gtr Manch)
366 Blackpool (N West)
367 Greenwich (London)
368 Enfield (London)
369 Sandwell (W Mid Met)
370 Salford (Gtr Manch)
371 Oldham (Gtr Manch)
372 Croydon (London)
373 Middlesbrough (N East)
374 Glasgow City (Scot)
375 Wolverhampton (W Mid Met)
376 Tameside (Gtr Manch)
377 Westminster (London)
378 Manchester (Gtr Manch)
379 Barking and Dagenham (London)

Inclusive Societies 2021

28

Page 180



Londoners have the highest 
trust in institutions out of all 
regions of the UK, although 
they also experience weak 
Safety and Security.

Credit: shutterstock.com

29

Page 181



Inclusive Societies in the UK
The UK has some of the strongest institutions in the world, ranking 
15th out of 167 nations for Inclusive Societies. Globally, it ranks 
21st for Safety and Security, 19th for Personal Freedom, 13th for 
Governance and 12th for Social Capital. 

Despite this strength, there has been a decline in the contribu-
tion that these core institutions have made to overall prosperity 
in the UK in recent years. The UK is facing higher crime levels and 
increased terrorist attacks. While the UK still has strong national 
institutions, public engagement with local government has been 
declining. 

Safety and Security (Global Rank: 21st)

People living in the UK do not face many of the threats to their 
safety that people in other countries face—there is little chance 
of death from conflict or being internally displaced, and unlike in 
other countries, the government does not engage in systematic 
violence when there is dissent. However, despite the strengths we 
see in international comparisons, the UK still shares problems that 
are faced in other developed countries. It ranks 25th for violent crime 
and 55th for property crime globally, with its homicide rate 38th in 
the world. 

Furthermore, safety and security is worsening in the UK. All regions, 
except Scotland and Northern Ireland, have seen deteriorations. The 
biggest declines have come in areas that have already have poor 
levels of safety and security—particularly the Industrial Heartlands, 
Post-Industrial Urban areas, and Coastal Towns. Worsening rates of 
violent crime are the major contributor, particularly knife crime, 
robbery, homicide, and sexual offences. For example, in Greater 
Manchester, the homicide rate has increased from 15 to 22 per 
100,000 over 10 years. London is the worst performing region, 
with the highest rates of knife crime, robbery, modern slavery refer-
rals and forced marriages. Unsurprisingly, rural areas are safer with 
lower crime rates than urban areas—for example, knife crime in the 
South West is one quarter of that in London. 

Furthermore, civil disorder has worsened, with increasing rates 
of weapon possession and public order offences. The UK has also 
been increasingly targeted by terrorist attacks over the last decade, 
with the Manchester bombings and multiple London terror attacks 
being the most prominent. The number of attacks in England has 
increased from 65 in the 2000s to 129 in the 2010s. Northern 
Ireland has a disproportionately large number of terrorist incidents, 
although in the last decade there have been far fewer deaths and 
injuries than in previous decades, with just 17 deaths since 2011. 

One of the bright spots is that the rate of property crime is declin-
ing. The UK as a whole is improving in the areas of criminal damage, 
theft, and burglary—and these improvements are seen in each 
region. For example, the number of criminal damage offences per 
1,000 people fell from 15 to 9. In Scotland, where property crime 
has fallen the most, the rate of criminal damage offences fell from 
18 to 9.

Personal Freedom (Global Rank: 19th)

Globally and outside of the pandemic, citizens of the UK have been 
able to enjoy basic freedoms. The UK’s relative strengths are in 
Freedom of Assembly and Association (where it ranks 10th), while 
it ranks 16th in Agency. Although before the pandemic personal 
freedom had improved slightly in the UK, one concern has been 
the decline in freedom of speech and access to information. One 
of the concerns raised by Freedom House has been the rise of mass 
surveillance technology, including the use of biometric data and 
facial recognition software. Most recently, they note that no privacy 
assessment was undertaken prior to the Covid-19 contact tracing 
system being rolled out.

According to Gallup, tolerance of ethnic minorities, LGBT individ-
uals, and immigrants has improved over the last 10 years, with 
the percentage of people saying their area is a good place to live 
for LGBT individuals rising from 66% to 75%, and for immigrants 
it rose from 72% to 76%. According to the British Election Study, 
tolerance for different religions has also improved. In social toler-
ance, Greater Manchester, London, and Yorkshire and the Humber 
have improved the most.

Governance (Global Rank: 13th)

The UK has a strong set of national institutions that ensure there 
are strong executive constraints, political accountability, and rule 
of law. Furthermore, corruption is relatively rare, although the UK 
government has recently faced allegations of ‘cronyism’. 

However, the quality of governance has declined in the UK, mainly 
as a result of a deterioration in the quality of local democracy. While 
turnout has increased in recent general elections, local election 
turnout has dropped. Northern Ireland is the strongest performer, 
with an average turnout of more than 50% in its local elections, 
while the three non-London metropolitan regions—Merseyside, 
Greater Manchester and the West Midlands metropolitan area —all 
have had turnouts of less than 35%. Turnout for national elections 
is higher than for local elections. Furthermore, few councils see 
changes in the party with overall control; in 66 local councils there 
has been no change in the party in power for the last 20 years, 
which indicates that there could be little real policy change or a 
proper contest of ideas in those local authorities. 

The UK political system is one of the most centralised in the world, 
with less than 5% of overall government tax revenue raised locally. 
There are opportunities to devolve more power to local authorities, 
which could reinvigorate local democracy.2 

Government effectiveness has improved. Measures of administra-
tive competence, such as the time taken to process housing benefit 
claims and the proportion of successful planning appeals, have 
improved over the decade. Within England, industrial areas such as 
Merseyside and Greater Manchester have the least effective local 
governments. Outside of England, it is the more rural areas that 
tend to perform poorly in government effectiveness.

30

Page 182



Credit: shutterstock.com

Social Capital (Global Rank: 12th)

Social capital is one of the UK’s strengths, but it has deteriorated 
in the UK over the last decade. The primary reasons for it declin-
ing include the worsening social networks and weakening trust in 
institutions, with a slight deterioration in the strength of family 
relationships. 

Trust in members of parliament, as well as the local MP, has fallen. 
Confidence in the government has also declined—just 34% (down 
from 38%) of UK respondents express confidence, which is 134th 
in the world. The lowest institutional trust is found in Wales, 
Lancashire, and Post-Industrial Urban areas. 

Within family relationships, there are mixed outcomes. There has 
been a large fall in underage pregnancy and the percentage of lone 
parent families has also decreased slightly. The number of teen-
age pregnancies, for example, has fallen from 7 per 10,000 girls 
aged 13-16 to just 3. However, there are also challenges. Based 
on data collected before lockdown, the average number of days in 
a week that families eat together has fallen slightly. The number 

of children requiring child protection has also increased. There 
are major regional differences in family relationships. Generally, 
it is in Wales, Post-Industrial Urban areas (such as Blackpool, 
Sunderland, and Plymouth), and Lancashire, where there are weaker 
family relationships. For example, in Lancashire 26% of families 
are lone parent families, whereas in the Commuter Belt it is just 
18%. Furthermore, couples are increasingly choosing cohabitation 
rather than marriage, and cohabiting couples are more likely to 
separate and account for half of family breakdown. There is also 
a growing marriage gap between rich and poor—of families with 
children under 5, 87% of high earner families (over £43,000) are 
married, while just 24% of low earner families are married.3

Furthermore, while overall civic and social participation has risen 
over the decade, there have been declines in volunteering and the 
number of community spaces. For example, the number of pubs has 
fallen—there are now 5.8 pubs or bars per 10,000, people, com-
pared with 7.5 a decade prior, with the South West and Wales losing 
the most. The economic fallout from the Covid-19 pandemic will 
likely reduce this further. 

31

Page 183



56

58

60

62

64

66

202120192017201520132011

Pi
lla

r s
co

re

Safety and Security

40 50 60 70 80

London (-)

Greater Manchester (-)

West Midlands metropolitan (-)

Yorkshire and The Humber (-2)

Merseyside (-)

North East (-5)

East of England (-2)

Northern Ireland (+4)

East Midlands (+1)

West Midlands non-metro (-)

North West non-metro (-3)

South East (-)

Scotland (+6)

Wales (+1)

South West (-)

Safety & Security: Regions score and score change (rank change), 2011-2021

ELEMENT (WEIGHT %) 

Violent Crime (50%) assesses the level of violent crime based on 
the extent of knife crime, robbery, sexual offences, domestic abuse, 
homicides, modern slavery, and forced marriages.

Property Crime (30%) captures the level and impact of property 
crime, based on criminal damage, theft, burglary, and fraud.

Civil Disorder (15%) captures the level of disorderly behaviour, 
looking at public order offences, possession of weapons, firearms 
offences, and perceived anti-social behaviour.  

Terrorism (5%) captures the deliberate and targeted harm inflicted 
by non-state actors on a community, taking into account the number 
of incidents, injuries and also deaths that result.

Safety and Security is an integral component of prosperity. 
Citizens’ wellbeing is dependent on having personal safety, 
where their person and property are free from violence and 

theft. A secure and stable environment is necessary for attracting 
investment and sustaining economic growth. In short, a society can 
prosper only in an environment of security and safety for its citizens.

Safety and Security

32

Page 184



Change in Safety & Security, 2011-2021

-30 -25 -20 -15 -10 -5 0 +5 +10

Terrorism

Civil Disorder

Property Crime

Violent Crime

Safety and Security 2021

Rank

1–63 64–126 127–189 190–254 255–317 318–379

Rank Local Authority

1 Na h-Eileanan Siar (Scot)
2 Orkney Islands (Scot)
3 Shetland Islands (Scot)
4 East Renfrewshire (Scot)
5 Aberdeenshire (Scot)
6 Isles of Scilly (S West)
7 Scottish Borders (Scot)
8 Moray (Scot)
9 East Lothian (Scot)
10 East Dunbartonshire (Scot)
11 Powys (Wales)
12 Rutland (E Mid)
13 East Devon (S West)
13 Mid Devon (S West)
15 South Hams (S West)
15 Teignbridge (S West)
15 West Devon (S West)
18 Carmarthenshire (Wales)
19 Richmondshire (Yrk & Hum)
20 Ceredigion (Wales)

Top 20 Local Authorities

Bottom 20 Local Authorities

Rank Local Authority

360 Salford (Gtr Manch)
361 Croydon (London)
362 Brent (London)
363 Greenwich (London)
364 Newham (London)
365 Lewisham (London)
366 Tower Hamlets (London)
367 Enfield (London)
368 Lambeth (London)
369 Hammersmith and Fulham (London)
370 Barking and Dagenham (London)
371 Islington (London)
372 Southwark (London)
373 Camden (London)
374 Hackney (London)
375 Manchester (Gtr Manch)
376 Haringey (London)
377 Kensington and Chelsea (London)
378 City of London (London)
379 Westminster (London)

33

Page 185



Pi
lla

r s
co

re

Personal Freedom

54

56

58

60

62

64

202120192017201520132011

30 40 50 60 70

West Midlands metropolitan (-1)

Greater Manchester (+1)

North West non-metro (-)

Yorkshire and The Humber (-)

East Midlands (-1)

North East (-4)

London (+2)

Merseyside (+1)

Northern Ireland (-2)

West Midlands non-metro (-2)

South East (+3)

East of England (+3)

South West (-)

Scotland (-1)

Wales (+1)

Personal Freedom: Regions score and score change (rank change), 2011-2021*

ELEMENT (WEIGHT %) 

Agency (10%) captures the degree to which individuals are free from 
coercion or restriction and are free to move. At its heart, an individual 
experiences agency if they have the freedom to act independently 
and make their own free choices.

Freedom of Assembly and Association (10%) captures the degree 
to which people have the freedom to assemble with others in public 
spaces to express opinions freely, with autonomy from the state, and 
to form collective interest organisations.

Freedom of Speech and Access to Information (10%) captures 
the ability of people to express political opinion without reproach 
and the extent to which the media is censored and is independent 
from and not influenced by the ruling government.

Absence of Legal Discrimination (10%) assesses the level of 
discrimination in law or by government and whether the law protects 
individuals and groups from suffering discrimination. This dimen-
sion captures multiple factors, including gender, sexuality, religion, 
ethnicity, and economic background.

Social Tolerance (60%) captures the degree to which societies are 
tolerant of class, ethnic, and religious differences within the popula-
tion, and the level of tension arising over these differences. Societal 
discrimination and intolerance can engender serious issues within 
a society, and are a significant inhibitor of an individual’s freedoms.

*Note that all region variation is driven by the Social Tolerance element. The other four elements have national level data only.

Personal Freedom

Personal Freedom captures the extent to which the people in a 
society are free to determine the course of their lives without 
undue restrictions. This includes freedom from coercion and 

restrictions of movement, speech and assembly. Central to this is 
the level of agency an individual experiences, their freedom from 
discrimination, and how tolerant society is.

34

Page 186



Change in Personal Freedom, 2011-2021
-10 -5 0 +5 +10

Social Tolerance

Absence of Legal Discrimination

Freedom of Speech and
Access to Information

Freedom of Assembly
and Association

Agency

Personal Freedom 2021

Rank

1–63 64–126 127–189 190–254 255–317 318–379

Rank Local Authority

1 Scottish Borders (Scot)
1 Dumfries and Galloway (Scot)
1 South Ayrshire (Scot)
1 East Ayrshire (Scot)
1 South Lanarkshire (Scot)
6 Na h-Eileanan Siar (Scot)
6 Orkney Islands (Scot)
6 Shetland Islands (Scot)
6 Moray (Scot)
6 Argyll and Bute (Scot)
6 Highland (Scot)
6 North Ayrshire (Scot)
13 Powys (Wales)
13 Monmouthshire (Wales)
13 Vale of Glamorgan (Wales)
13 Flintshire (Wales)
13 Wrexham (Wales)
13 Cardiff (Wales)
13 Newport (Wales)
20 Pembrokeshire (Wales)

Top 20 Local Authorities

Bottom 20 Local Authorities

Rank Local Authority

359 Dudley (W Mid Met)
359 Walsall (W Mid Met)
359 Coventry (W Mid Met)
359 Sandwell (W Mid Met)
359 Wolverhampton (W Mid Met)
359 Birmingham (W Mid Met)
366 Ribble Valley (N West)
366 Fylde (N West)
366 Wyre (N West)
366 Chorley (N West)
366 West Lancashire (N West)
366 Lancaster (N West)
366 Rossendale (N West)
366 Pendle (N West)
366 Preston (N West)
366 Hyndburn (N West)
366 Blackburn with Darwen (N West)
366 South Ribble (N West)
366 Burnley (N West)
366 Blackpool (N West)

35

Page 187



Pi
lla

r s
co

re

Governance

44

46

48

50

52

54

202120192017201520132011

30 40 50 60 70

Northern Ireland (-1)

Greater Manchester (-2)

Scotland (+2)

Merseyside (-3)

West Midlands metropolitan (-1)

North East (+3)

Yorkshire and The Humber (-2)

London (-)

Wales (+4)

North West non-metro (-2)

East Midlands (-)

West Midlands non-metro (-1)

South West (+3)

East of England (-)

South East (-)

Governance: Regions score and score change (rank change), 2011-2021

ELEMENT (WEIGHT %) 

Quality of Local Democracy (35%) captures the engagement of 
people in local and national governance, using local and national 
election voter turnout, maximum number of years that the same 
party has held power in a local council and the percentage of votes 
in local elections that are non-mainstream.

Government Integrity (30%) assesses the perceived integrity of a 
government, encompassing the degree of trust in local and national 
politicians.

Government Effectiveness (35%) captures the quality of local 
service delivery, the quality of the bureaucracy, and the competence 
of officials.

Governance

Governance captures the extent to which there are checks 
and restraints on political power, and whether governments 
operate effectively and without corruption. The nature of 

governance has a material impact on prosperity. The quality of local 
democracy and low corruption contribute significantly to economic 
growth, as do competent governments that enact policy effectively 
and design regulations that deliver policy objectives without being 
overly burdensome.

36

Page 188



Change in Governance, 2011-2021
-10 -5 0 +5 +10

Government Effectiveness

Government Integrity

Quality of Local Democracy

Governance 2021

Rank

1–63 64–126 127–189 190–254 255–317 318–379

Rank Local Authority

1 North Kesteven (E Mid)
2 Epsom and Ewell (S East)
3 East Lindsey (E Mid)
4 West Lindsey (E Mid)
5 South Holland (E Mid)
6 Boston (E Mid)
7 Hart (S East)
8 Central Bedfordshire (E Eng)
9 Bedford (E Eng)
10 Winchester (S East)
11 Bath and North East Somerset (S West)
12 Lincoln (E Mid)
13 Three Rivers (E Eng)
14 Babergh (E Eng)
15 Rutland (E Mid)
16 Mendip (S West)
17 St Albans (E Eng)
18 West Berkshire (S East)
19 Windsor and Maidenhead (S East)
20 East Riding of Yorkshire (Yrk & Hum)

Top 20 Local Authorities

Rank Local Authority

360 Knowsley (M'side)
361 Newry, Mourne and Down (N Ire)
362 South Lanarkshire (Scot)
363 Lisburn and Castlereagh (N Ire)
364 Croydon (London)
365 Causeway Coast and Glens (N Ire)
366 Nottingham (E Mid)
367 Barnsley (Yrk & Hum)
368 Clackmannanshire (Scot)
369 Oldham (Gtr Manch)
370 North Lanarkshire (Scot)
371 Manchester (Gtr Manch)
372 Dundee City (Scot)
373 Tameside (Gtr Manch)
374 Midlothian (Scot)
375 East Ayrshire (Scot)
376 Wolverhampton (W Mid Met)
377 Barking and Dagenham (London)
378 Glasgow City (Scot)
379 West Dunbartonshire (Scot)

Bottom 20 Local Authorities

37

Page 189



Pi
lla

r s
co

re

Social Capital

44

46

48

50

52

54

202120192017201520132011

20 30 40 50 60

North East (-)

West Midlands metropolitan (-)

Merseyside (-1)

London (+1)

Wales (-4)

Greater Manchester (-)

Scotland (-1)

West Midlands non-metro (+3)

North West non-metro (-1)

Yorkshire and The Humber (+3)

East Midlands (-)

Northern Ireland (-)

South West (-2)

South East (-)

East of England (+2)

Social Capital: Regions score and score change (rank change), 2011-2021

ELEMENT (WEIGHT %) 

Family Relationships (30%) captures the strength of the clos-
est-knit personal relationships and family ties. These relationships 
form the crux of support that individuals can turn to, emotionally, 
mentally, and financially on a daily basis.

Personal Support (10%) assesses the support that individuals feel 
from their community. 

Social Networks (15%) captures the strength of, and opportu-
nities provided by, ties that an individual has with people in their 
wider network. These ties are a vital part of social support, and these 
networks can bolster bridging capital when social and community 
networks span different groups in society. Local social networks 

depend on building and maintaining relationships with other indi-
viduals and families, including neighbours.

Institutional Trust (20%) captures the degree to which individuals 
trust their institutions, such as the courts and Parliament. Trust in 
institutions is an important foundation upon which the legitimacy 
and stability of political systems are built.

Civic and Social Participation (25%) captures the degree to which 
people participate in civic and social spheres in their community, 
through volunteering, donating money, and local meeting places 
such as pubs and sports clubs.

Social Capital

Social Capital captures how cohesive a society is in terms of 
people trusting, respecting and helping one another, and the 
institutional structures they interact with. A person’s wellbe-

ing is best provided for in a society where people trust one another 
and have the support of their family and friends. Societies with lower 
levels of trust tend to experience lower levels of economic growth 
and social wellbeing. Thus, the word ‘capital’ in ‘social capital’ high-
lights the contribution of social networks as an asset that produces 
economic returns and improves wellbeing.

38

Page 190



Change in Social Capital, 2011-2021

-15 -10 -5 0 +5

Civic and Social Participation

Institutional Trust

Social Networks

Personal Support

Family Relationships

Social Capital 2021

Rank

1–63 64–126 127–189 190–254 255–317 318–379

Rank Local Authority

360 Torfaen (Wales)
361 Isle of Anglesey (Wales)
362 Tameside (Gtr Manch)
363 Redcar and Cleveland (N East)
364 Wolverhampton (W Mid Met)
365 Walsall (W Mid Met)
366 Stoke-on-Trent (W Mid)
367 Bridgend (Wales)
368 Gateshead (N East)
369 Kingston upon Hull, City of (Yrk & Hum)
370 Barking and Dagenham (London)
371 Hartlepool (N East)
372 Sandwell (W Mid Met)
373 Croydon (London)
374 Newcastle upon Tyne (N East)
375 Rhondda Cynon Taf (Wales)
376 Blackpool (N West)
377 Merthyr Tydfil (Wales)
378 Sunderland (N East)
379 Middlesbrough (N East)

Bottom 20 Local Authorities

Rank Local Authority

1 Uttlesford (E Eng)
2 Windsor and Maidenhead (S East)
3 Waverley (S East)
4 St Albans (E Eng)
5 Isles of Scilly (S West)
6 East Hertfordshire (E Eng)
7 Welwyn Hatfield (E Eng)
8 Harrogate (Yrk & Hum)
9 Mole Valley (S East)
10 Braintree (E Eng)
11 Dacorum (E Eng)
12 Sevenoaks (S East)
13 Wokingham (S East)
14 Three Rivers (E Eng)
15 Richmondshire (Yrk & Hum)
16 Maldon (E Eng)
17 Hambleton (Yrk & Hum)
18 Guildford (S East)
19 Watford (E Eng)
20 Babergh (E Eng)

Top 20 Local Authorities

39

Page 191



Rank Local Authority

1 City of London (London)
2 Camden (London)
3 Westminster (London)
4 Islington (London)
5 Hackney (London)
6 Richmond upon Thames (London)
7 Hounslow (London)
8 Tower Hamlets (London)
9 Hammersmith and Fulham (London)
10 Harrow (London)
11 Merton (London)
12 Surrey Heath (S East)
13 Elmbridge (S East)
14 Ealing (London)
15 Hillingdon (London)
16 Hart (S East)
17 Redbridge (London)
18 Runnymede (S East)
19 Hertsmere (E Eng)
20 Bromley (London)

Top 20 Local Authorities Bottom 20 Local Authorities

Rank Local Authority

360 Conwy (Wales)
361 Orkney Islands (Scot)
362 Midlothian (Scot)
363 Blaenau Gwent (Wales)
364 Gwynedd (Wales)
365 East Lothian (Scot)
366 North Ayrshire (Scot)
367 Merthyr Tydfil (Wales)
368 Isle of Anglesey (Wales)
369 Scottish Borders (Scot)
370 West Dunbartonshire (Scot)
371 Fermanagh and Omagh (N Ire)
372 Moray (Scot)
373 North East Lincolnshire (Yrk & Hum)
374 Dumfries and Galloway (Scot)
375 Boston (E Mid)
376 Highland (Scot)
377 Shetland Islands (Scot)
378 Inverclyde (Scot)
379 Ceredigion (Wales)

Rank

1–63 64–126 127–189

190–254 255–317 318–379

Defining Open Economies

Open Economies encourage innovation and investment, 
promote business and commerce, and facilitate inclu-
sive growth. This domain captures the extent to which 

regional and local economies embody these ideals. Without an 
open, competitive and dynamic economy, it is challenging if not 
impossible to create lasting social and economic wellbeing where 
individuals, communities, and businesses are empowered to reach 
their full potential.

Trade and commerce between regions, communities, and other 
nations is fundamental to the advance of innovation, knowledge 
transfer, and productivity, which creates economic growth and 
prosperity. Open economies are more productive, while in an 
uncompetitive market, or one that is not designed to maximize 
welfare, growth stagnates, and crony capitalism thrives, with 
knock-on impacts elsewhere in society. One of the biggest oppor-
tunities for policymakers is to embrace open and pro-competitive 
economic policy that attracts innovation, ideas, capital, and talent. 
While most policymakers focus on the big fiscal and macroeco-
nomic policy tools at their disposal, the microeconomic factors are 
sometimes overlooked, and their potential to drive openness and 
growth is underestimated. With a focus on these microeconomic 
factors, we examine the fundamental aspects of Open Economies 
across four pillars, each with component elements.

Investment Environment captures the amount and variety of 
investment finance available and how easy it is for businesses to 
start, compete, and expand. Contestable markets with low barriers 
to entry and adequate pools of funding are important for businesses 
to innovate and develop new ideas. 

Enterprise Conditions captures how easy it is for businesses to 
start, compete and expand. Open markets with low barriers to entry 
are crucial for businesses to innovate and develop new ideas, and for 
entrepreneurs to thrive. This is essential for a dynamic and enter-
prising economy, where regulation enables business and responds 
to the changing needs of society.  

Infrastructure captures the quality of the infrastructure that enables 
commerce. Businesses require infrastructure that allows for efficient 
communication, adequate provision of water and electricity, and 
connects them to transport hubs and economic centres. This leads 
to more competitive and efficient markets, allowing new products 
and ideas to be commercialised and transported within the UK and 
overseas, ultimately benefiting consumers through a greater variety 
of goods at more competitive prices.

Economic Quality captures how robust an economy is as well as 
how an economy is equipped to generate wealth. A strong economy 
is dependent on high labour force engagement and the production 
and distribution of a diverse range of valuable goods and services.

Open Economies 2021

40

Page 192



Within the Open Economies domain, 
the UK has seen improvements in 
communications infrastructure, 
transport infrastructure, and labour  
force engagement.

Credit: shutterstock.com

41

Page 193



Historically, the UK has had one of the strongest economies in the 
world, ranking 10th globally for Open Economies. It has high pro-
ductivity and competitiveness and a national culture that supports 
entrepreneurialism and enterprise.

Most regions in the UK have benefitted from improving economic 
prosperity over the last decade, with the East Midlands seeing the 
greatest rise due to a significant improvement in the quality of its 
investment environment, including an increased supply of capital 
for businesses. All regions have seen strong improvements in infra-
structure and increasing labour force engagement. 

There are strong regional patterns. Firstly, and unsurprisingly, 
it is the large cities that outperform other areas—London and 
Birmingham, are ranked highly, as well as many local authorities 
in the Commuter Belt around London. Secondly, Wales, Scotland 
and Northern Ireland all perform much more poorly than England; 
even urban local authorities within these regions find it challeng-
ing to provide a thriving economy for business. The top ranked 
local authority in each nation is Cardiff (284th), Fife (231st), and 
Belfast (280th).  Northern Ireland has seen the largest decline in this 
domain, with deteriorating labour market flexibility, an increasing 
regulatory burden, and businesses lacking confidence in obtaining 
finance through the banking sector.

Investment Environment (Global Rank: 7th) 

At a national level, the UK has a high-quality environment for 
investment, with good property rights, investor protections, con-
tract enforcement and few restrictions on international investment. 
As one of the world’s global financial centres, the supply of capital 
is relatively good—for example there has been an improvement 
in how experts perceive the soundness of banks, and increased 
success at financing projects. Unsurprisingly, London has the best 
Investment Environment in the UK, followed by the South West 
and the South East. 

However, there has been an overall national decline in the percep-
tion of banking services and demand for investment. For example, 
the confidence of SME managers in obtaining finance in the future 
has fallen from 71% to 61%. The percentage of small businesses 
attempting to raise external finance to fund new product develop-
ment has fallen from 19% to 14%. 

This has not been felt equally—demand for investment actually 
increased in the East Midlands, South East, London and Wales 
over the last decade. These regions, excluding Wales, have seen an 
increase in capital supply to meet the increasing demand. Wales 
has seen an increase in venture capital over the decade, from £13 

per capita to £31 per capita, although there has been a decrease in 
the supply of loans.

Enterprise Conditions (Global Rank: 12th) 

The UK has one of the best business environments in the world 
and it is frequently seen as an easy place for international corpora-
tions to do business. However, across the UK, local conditions for 
enterprise have declined. Regulation remains a national challenge, 
especially in the post-Brexit era. As we noted in a 2019 report, the 
tax code is complex and corporations spend a lot of time filing 
taxes.4 A further challenge is skills shortages. On average, 26% of 
vacancies are generated by skills shortages within businesses; this 
is as high as 36% in the South West. 

Despite these challenges, the UK’s domestic market contestability 
has improved in recent years, largely because of increased local 
competition. The least competitive markets are in Wales, Northern 
Ireland, and Merseyside, with few businesses facing competition 
locally, although Merseyside is starting to see this improve.

Infrastructure (Global Rank: 7th) 

Globally, the UK performs well in measures of infrastructure, and 
there has been steady improvement in the quality of the UK’s 
infrastructure.  

In communications, there has been a steady growth in internet 
speeds and availability. Average download speeds have risen nine-
fold from 8 Mb/s to 72.1 Mb/s over the last decade. However, while 
the UK has a strong communications network globally, it still lags 
behind some countries on download speeds.  The most recent data, 
from February 2021, put the UK 49th in the world for its fixed broad-
band speed, and 31st for its mobile coverage.5 The UK government 
has committed to increasing internet speeds and coverage, aiming 
to increase the amount of gigabit-capable broadband across the 
country.6

The UK also has a well-developed transport infrastructure, ranking 
eighth in the world. The UK is investing heavily in major rail projects 
such as Crossrail and HS2. Through the northern powerhouse and 
the Government’s ‘levelling up’ agenda, there has been a raft of 
projects announced in the north of England, including the £4.8 
billion Levelling Up fund recently announced.7 One major example 
is the £380 million upgrade of the London to Newcastle A1, which 
could reduce journey times by 20%.8 While much of this invest-
ment is directed at the north of England, there are other areas that 
have worse transport infrastructure. According to the UK index, the 
South West and the West Midlands (excluding Birmingham) have 
the worst transport infrastructure, while thanks to the connected 

Open Economies in the UK

42

Page 194



Credit: shutterstock.com

nature of the Mersey travel network, Merseyside now has the best 
transport connectivity outside London. 

Economic Quality (Global Rank: 16th) 

Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, the UK economy was relatively 
strong. There had been steady (albeit low) growth, and declining 
unemployment. Over the 10 years prior to the pandemic, unem-
ployment nearly halved, decreasing from 7.7% to 3.9%.  The UK 
was also the second most dynamic economy in the world, with 
high capacity to attract talented people and many new businesses. 

However, the response to the pandemic has shut down large parts 
of the economy and increased unemployment. Government debt 
has risen sharply. One of the challenges will be ensuring that cen-
tral and local government remain able to fund important services. 

Throughout the 10 years prior to the pandemic, financial pressure on 
local authorities throughout the UK had been increasing following 
the post-financial crash austerity policies. The total percentage 
of service expenditure spent on social care has increased from an 
average of 28% to 35%. These pressures will likely increase in the 
coming years.

In some regions of the UK, there is low productivity, competitive-
ness and dynamism, particularly in Scotland, Northern Ireland and 
Wales. These regions for example, have much lower numbers of 
new businesses and lower spending power per dwelling. In these 
three areas, the second-year business survival rate is 31 businesses 
per 10,000 people for Scotland, 28 for Wales, and 23 for Northern 
Ireland, compared with the UK average of 44. 

43

Page 195



Investment Environment

35

37

39

41

43

45

202120192017201520132011

Pi
lla

r s
co

re

Investment Environment 

20 30 40 50 60

Scotland (-)

Greater Manchester (-9)

Yorkshire and The Humber (-1)

Wales (+1)

North West non-metro (-9)

Merseyside (-2)

Northern Ireland (-2)

West Midlands non-metro (-4)

West Midlands metropolitan (+3)

North East (+3)

East of England (+6)

East Midlands (+10)

South West (-)

South East (+4)

London (-)

Investment Environment: Regions score and score change (rank change), 2011-2021

ELEMENT (WEIGHT %) 

Financing Services (20%) captures how responsive the banking 
sector is to the demands of business, by measuring the perceptions 
of the banking sector and experience.

Investment Demand (30%) captures the demand for new invest-
ment finance, through measuring demand for investment in new 
processes, new products and overseas expansion, from sources 
including banking and more sophisticated financial markets.

Capital Supply (50%) captures how much capital is available, and 
whether different types of financing (such as venture capital) are 
available. It also captures the extent to which a lack of finance avail-
ability threatens projects. 

Investment Environment captures the extent to which a variety 
of domestic and international capital is available for investment. 
An adequate supply of capital of the right type for investable 

propositions is essential to an area’s economy.

44

Page 196



-15 -10 -5 0 +5

Capital Supply

Investment Demand

Financing Services

Change in Investment Environment, 2011-2021

Investment Environment 2021

Rank

1–63 64–126 127–189 190–254 255–317 318–379

Rank Local Authority

1 City of London (London)
2 Ealing (London)
3 Camden (London)
4 Westminster (London)
5 Guildford (S East)
6 Winchester (S East)
7 East Hampshire (S East)
8 Test Valley (S East)
9 Islington (London)
10 Waverley (S East)
11 Barnet (London)
12 Hart (S East)
13 Runnymede (S East)
14 Surrey Heath (S East)
15 Woking (S East)
16 Rushmoor (S East)
17 Spelthorne (S East)
18 Hammersmith and Fulham (London)
19 Richmond upon Thames (London)
20 Kensington and Chelsea (London)

Top 20 Local Authorities

Rank Local Authority

360 Blackpool (N West)
361 Shetland Islands (Scot)
362 Glasgow City (Scot)
363 South Ayrshire (Scot)
364 South Lanarkshire (Scot)
365 East Dunbartonshire (Scot)
366 East Ayrshire (Scot)
367 Dundee City (Scot)
368 North Lanarkshire (Scot)
369 Midlothian (Scot)
370 Falkirk (Scot)
371 Inverclyde (Scot)
372 West Dunbartonshire (Scot)
373 Stirling (Scot)
374 Renfrewshire (Scot)
375 Fife (Scot)
376 West Lothian (Scot)
377 North Ayrshire (Scot)
378 Clackmannanshire (Scot)
379 Highland (Scot)

Bottom 20 Local Authorities

45

Page 197



Enterprise Conditions

Pi
lla

r s
co

re

Enterprise Conditions 

38

42

46

50

54

58

202120192017201520132011

20 30 40 50 60

Northern Ireland (-6)

Merseyside (-13)

East of England (-1)

Wales (+3)

Scotland (-3)

Greater Manchester (-8)

South West (+1)

Yorkshire and The Humber (-5)

North West non-metro (-3)

South East (+7)

East Midlands (+9)

London (+7)

West Midlands non-metro (+4)

North East (+4)

West Midlands metropolitan (+4)

Enterprise Conditions: Regions score and score change (rank change), 2011-2021

ELEMENT (WEIGHT %) 

Domestic Market Contestability (30%) examines how open the 
market is to new participants, versus protection of the incumbents.

Business Environment (40%) captures the legislative and policy 
driven factors that encourage entrepreneurialism, including property 
costs, compliance, and local government restrictions.

Labour Market Flexibility (30%) captures how dynamic and flex-
ible the workplace is for both employer and employee.

Enterprise Conditions captures the degree to which regulations 
enable businesses to start, compete, and expand. Contestable 
markets with low barriers to entry are important for businesses 

to innovate and develop new ideas. This is essential for a dynamic 
and enterprising economy, where regulation enables business and 
responds to the changing needs of society.

46

Page 198



Change in Enterprise Conditions, 2011-2021

-15 -10 -5 0 +5

Labour Market Flexibility

Business Environment

Domestic Market Contestability

Enterprise Conditions 2021

Rank

1–63 64–126 127–189 190–254 255–317 318–379

Rank Local Authority

1 South Lakeland (N West)
2 County Durham (N East)
3 Gateshead (N East)
4 St Albans (E Eng)
5 Sevenoaks (S East)
6 Leicester (E Mid)
7 Blackpool (N West)
8 Hackney (London)
9 Westminster (London)
10 Wokingham (S East)
11 Fife (Scot)
12 Cheshire East (N West)
13 Islington (London)
14 Birmingham (W Mid Met)
15 Portsmouth (S East)
16 Bromley (London)
17 City of London (London)
18 Cannock Chase (W Mid)
19 Bromsgrove (W Mid)
20 Barrow-in-Furness (N West)

Top 20 Local Authorities

Rank Local Authority

360 Clackmannanshire (Scot)
361 Plymouth (S West)
362 Mid and East Antrim (N Ire)
363 Merthyr Tydfil (Wales)
364 Thanet (S East)
365 West Suffolk (E Eng)
366 Falkirk (Scot)
367 Dover (S East)
368 Mid Ulster (N Ire)
369 North East Lincolnshire (Yrk & Hum)
370 West Lothian (Scot)
371 Renfrewshire (Scot)
372 Fenland (E Eng)
373 East Cambridgeshire (E Eng)
374 Thurrock (E Eng)
375 Boston (E Mid)
376 West Dunbartonshire (Scot)
377 Fermanagh and Omagh (N Ire)
378 Cambridge (E Eng)
379 Inverclyde (Scot)

Bottom 20 Local Authorities

47

Page 199



Infrastructure

Pi
lla

r s
co

re

Infrastructure 

42

46

50

54

58

62

202120192017201520132011

30 40 50 60 70

South West (-)

Wales (-)

Northern Ireland (-8)

Scotland (+1)

East Midlands (-)

West Midlands non-metro (-)

North West non-metro (+3)

Yorkshire and The Humber (+1)

South East (-1)

North East (+1)

East of England (+3)

Greater Manchester (-1)

Merseyside (+1)

London (-)

West Midlands metropolitan (-)

Infrastructure: Regions score and score change (rank change), 2011-2021

ELEMENT (WEIGHT %) 

Communications (40%) captures how well businesses can use the 
internet for commerce, measuring the speed of internet and how 
widespread access to superfast internet is.

Electricity & Gas (10%) assesses the access and affordability of 
electricity and gas services.

Water (5%) assesses the quality of water infrastructure and the 
reliability and cost of water.

Transport (45%) assesses the ease and efficiency for people and 
goods to travel within the UK. This measures the quality, diversity, 
and penetration of road and rail transport within a local authority, 
as well as access to key transport hubs.

Infrastructure captures the quality of communications, trans-
port and resources infrastructure. Where markets have sufficient 
infrastructure, with easy communication, adequate water and 

electricity, and access to transport hubs, they can flourish. Such 
commerce leads to more competitive and efficient markets, 
allowing new products and ideas to be tested, funded, and com-
mercialised, ultimately benefiting consumers through a greater 
variety of goods at more competitive prices.

48

Page 200



Change in Infrastructure, 2011-2021

-10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15 +20 +25 +30 +35 +40

Transport

Water

Electricity & Gas

Communications

Infrastructure 2021

Rank

1–63 64–126 127–189 190–254 255–317 318–379

Rank Local Authority

1 Havering (London)
2 Hertsmere (E Eng)
3 Watford (E Eng)
4 Warrington (N West)
5 Harlow (E Eng)
6 Crawley (S East)
7 Birmingham (W Mid Met)
8 Richmond upon Thames (London)
9 Milton Keynes (S East)
10 Dudley (W Mid Met)
11 Hillingdon (London)
12 Solihull (W Mid Met)
13 Sandwell (W Mid Met)
14 Waltham Forest (London)
15 Hounslow (London)
16 St. Helens (M'side)
17 Wolverhampton (W Mid Met)
18 Nuneaton and Bedworth (W Mid)
19 Merton (London)
20 Dartford (S East)

Top 20 Local Authorities

Rank Local Authority

360 Powys (Wales)
361 Mendip (S West)
362 Aberdeenshire (Scot)
363 Highland (Scot)
364 South Somerset (S West)
365 Forest of Dean (S West)
366 Scottish Borders (Scot)
367 Richmondshire (Yrk & Hum)
368 Ceredigion (Wales)
369 Eden (N West)
370 Herefordshire, County of (W Mid)
371 South Hams (S West)
372 North Devon (S West)
373 Isles of Scilly (S West)
374 Mid Devon (S West)
375 West Devon (S West)
376 Na h-Eileanan Siar (Scot)
377 Torridge (S West)
378 Shetland Islands (Scot)
379 Orkney Islands (Scot)

Bottom 20 Local Authorities

49

Page 201



Economic Quality

Pi
lla

r s
co

re

Economic Quality 

42

44

46

48

50

52

202120192017201520132011

20 30 40 50 60

Wales (-)

Northern Ireland (-)

Scotland (-3)

North East (+1)

East Midlands (-5)

Yorkshire and The Humber (+2)

South West (-2)

West Midlands metropolitan (+3)

West Midlands non-metro (-2)

Merseyside (+3)

South East (-4)

Greater Manchester (+4)

East of England (-)

North West non-metro (+2)

London (+1)

Economic Quality: Regions score and score change (rank change), 2011-2021

ELEMENT (WEIGHT %) 

Fiscal Sustainability (20%) assesses the ability of a local govern-
ment to sustain its current spending, tax, and other policies in the 
medium to long term.

Macroeconomic Stability (10%) captures the stability of the local 
economy, measuring key elements of the economy including the 
GVA per capita growth rate, inactivity shocks, economic shrinkage, 
and SME growth. 

Productivity and Competitiveness (30%) captures the efficiency 
with which inputs can be converted into outputs. Competition 

enhances productivity by forcing firms to innovate new ways to 
reduce cost and time constraints.

Dynamism (20%) captures the level of innovation and competi-
tion that occurs within a local authority by measuring the churn of 
businesses—the number of new start-ups entering and failed firms 
exiting an economy.

Labour Force Engagement (20%) covers the rates of unemploy-
ment, economic activity rates, job satisfaction, and degree of part-
time and non-permanent employment.

Economic Quality reflects how well a local economy is 
equipped to generate wealth sustainably and with the full 
engagement of its workforce. A strong economy is dependent 

on the production of a diverse range of valuable goods and services 
and high labour force participation.

50

Page 202



Change in Economic Quality, 2011-2021

-5 0 +5 +10 +15

Labour Force Engagement

Dynamism

Productivity and Competitiveness

Macroeconomic Stability

Fiscal Sustainability

Economic Quality 2021

Rank

1–63 64–126 127–189 190–254 255–317 318–379

Rank Local Authority

1 City of London (London)
2 Camden (London)
3 Westminster (London)
4 Islington (London)
5 Tower Hamlets (London)
6 Elmbridge (S East)
7 Brentwood (E Eng)
8 Hertsmere (E Eng)
9 Hackney (London)
10 South Ribble (N West)
11 Hounslow (London)
12 South Cambridgeshire (E Eng)
13 Bromsgrove (W Mid)
14 Epping Forest (E Eng)
15 Crawley (S East)
16 Richmond upon Thames (London)
17 Three Rivers (E Eng)
18 Epsom and Ewell (S East)
19 Surrey Heath (S East)
20 Milton Keynes (S East)

Top 20 Local Authorities

Rank Local Authority

360 Vale of Glamorgan (Wales)
361 Great Yarmouth (E Eng)
362 Causeway Coast and Glens (N Ire)
363 Nottingham (E Mid)
364 Pembrokeshire (Wales)
365 Kingston upon Hull, City of (Yrk & Hum)
366 Lincoln (E Mid)
367 North East Lincolnshire (Yrk & Hum)
368 Rhondda Cynon Taf (Wales)
369 Carmarthenshire (Wales)
370 Torfaen (Wales)
371 Denbighshire (Wales)
372 Blaenau Gwent (Wales)
373 Merthyr Tydfil (Wales)
374 Dundee City (Scot)
375 Torbay (S West)
376 Conwy (Wales)
377 Swansea (Wales)
378 Gwynedd (Wales)
379 Ceredigion (Wales)

Bottom 20 Local Authorities

51

Page 203



Defining Empowered People

Empowered People captures the quality of people’s lived expe-
riences and the conditions present that enable individuals 
to reach their full potential through self-determination. This 

domain starts with the resources required for a basic level of well-
being, and then considers, health, education outcomes and access 
to a safe and clean natural environment. Many of these issues are 
inter-related. The four distinct pillars throw light on the different 
experiences of people who live in different local authorities to allow 
us to identify areas of the country that are successfully unlocking 
prosperity and those that are not. The four pillars are:

Living Conditions This captures the conditions necessary for indi-
viduals to attain a basic level of wellbeing. It includes material 
resources, housing provision, the extent to which people benefit 
from digital connectedness, the ease of access to local amenities, 
and the extent to which people live and work in a physically safe 
environment. These enable people to be productive members of 
society, acquire prosperity and build a flourishing life.

Health This captures health service provision and people’s health 
outcomes, including their quality of mental health and physical 
health, which contribute to life expectancy. It assesses behavioural 
and physiological risk factors that affect the quality of people’s 

health as well as the quality of healthcare provision by measuring 
care systems and preventative interventions. For an area to prosper, 
its residents must have good physical and mental health and well-
run health and care systems.

Education This captures the enrolment, attendance, and attainment 
outcomes at four different stages of the education system—pre-pri-
mary, primary, secondary, and tertiary. It also includes the level 
of adult skills in the population. Education allows people to lead 
more fulfilling lives and a more educated population is more able 
to contribute to society. Over the long term, education drives eco-
nomic development and growth while improving social and health 
outcomes, as well as leading to higher levels of political and civic 
engagement.

Natural Environment This captures the quality of people’s sur-
rounding environment, which has a direct impact on their ability 
to flourish. It measures the extent to which natural ecosystems are 
sustainably managed. A well-managed rural environment yields 
crops, material for construction, wildlife and food, and sources of 
energy.

Empowered People 2021

Rank Local Authority

1 Wokingham (S East)
2 East Renfrewshire (Scot)
3 Richmond upon Thames (London)
4 Waverley (S East)
5 Epsom and Ewell (S East)
6 Isles of Scilly (S West)
7 St Albans (E Eng)
8 Woking (S East)
9 Rutland (E Mid)
10 Windsor and Maidenhead (S East)
11 East Dunbartonshire (Scot)
12 Mole Valley (S East)
13 City of London (London)
14 Watford (E Eng)
15 Kingston upon Thames (London)
16 Bracknell Forest (S East)
17 Reigate and Banstead (S East)
18 Elmbridge (S East)
19 Bath and North East Somerset (S West)
20 Guildford (S East)

Top 20 Local Authorities Bottom 20 Local Authorities

Rank Local Authority

360 Neath Port Talbot (Wales)
361 Burnley (N West)
362 Great Yarmouth (E Eng)
363 Hartlepool (N East)
364 Blaenau Gwent (Wales)
365 Boston (E Mid)
366 Dudley (W Mid Met)
367 Walsall (W Mid Met)
368 East Lindsey (E Mid)
369 South Holland (E Mid)
370 Birmingham (W Mid Met)
371 Glasgow City (Scot)
372 Doncaster (Yrk & Hum)
373 Wolverhampton (W Mid Met)
374 Middlesbrough (N East)
375 Kingston upon Hull, City of (Yrk & Hum)
376 Sandwell (W Mid Met)
377 Knowsley (M'side)
378 Stoke-on-Trent (W Mid)
379 Blackpool (N West)

Rank

1–63 64–126 127–189

190–254 255–317 318–379

52

Page 204



The percentage of secondary 
students achieving level 2 
qualifications in English and 
maths has increased from 56% 
to 70% over 10 years. 

Credit: shutterstock.com

53

Page 205



Empowered People in the UK
People in the UK enjoy some of the best living conditions in the 
world—they have access to high quality healthcare, world-leading 
education institutions and a rapidly improving natural environment.

Across the domain of Empowered People, we find that all regions 
of the UK have seen an improvement, led by Northern Ireland, 
which has seen a major improvement in education. Education is 
improving across the country, mortality rates are declining, less 
waste is ending up in landfills, and fewer pollutants are entering the 
atmosphere. Larger numbers of people now live in a good standard 
of housing, and more people now have access to digital technology.

Living Conditions (Global Rank: 10th)

Living conditions are improving in all regions, with the largest gains 
in some metropolitan areas. Merseyside has seen the greatest 
improvement in overall living conditions, including a reduction in 
the proportion of people living in poverty, from 26% to 23%. An 
increasing proportion of individuals are in persistent poverty and 
more children are eligible to receive free school meals. Portsmouth 
has seen the proportion of children on free school meals double 
to 22%. 

Despite this, there are many positive trends in Living Conditions, 
with just 11% of people living in hazardous housing, a reduction of 
over a third in the last decade. The quality of housing has improved, 
with fewer homes in need of urgent repairs and larger numbers of 
more energy-efficient homes, though housing pressure has led to 
an increase in homeless households from 1.4 to 2 of all households 
per 100,000. Whilst rough sleeping has increased across the decade, 
we have seen a decrease in the last year as a result of initiatives 
put in place during Covid-19. From its highpoint in 2017, with 8 
rough sleepers per 100,000 people, the number has fallen to 4.6 
per 100,000.

Overall, the UK has seen more individuals able to connect digitally, 
with increasing 4G coverage and a greater proportion of regular 
internet users. 

Health (Global Rank: 25th)

Health has deteriorated across all regions over the last decade, 
even before Covid-19. Life expectancy has stalled, especially for 
women in disadvantaged areas where it is in decline.9 There are 
major inequalities in the years of good health experienced by indi-
viduals; people in more deprived areas spend more of their lives 
in ill-health.10 For example, the most prosperous local authority, 
Wokingham, ranks 55th for Physical Health, whereas the least pros-
perous, Blackpool (379th), is also the lowest ranking local authority 
in terms of Physical Health. 

The quality of the healthcare system has also deteriorated on a 
number of metrics. There have been decreases in the number of care 
home beds and in the percentage of people that are admitted, dis-
charged or treated within four hours of attending A&E. There have 
also been decreases in the proportion of people who are treated 

within 18 weeks for routine procedures or within 62 days for urgent 
cancer treatment. 

Nevertheless, there are encouraging signs for future health, with 
clear reductions in risk factors such as smoking and physical inac-
tivity. Smoking rates in the UK are among the lowest in the EU.11 
Scotland has seen the smallest deterioration in overall health, which 
means that it now ranks 5th out of 15 regions. Scotland’s most sig-
nificant improvement has been in raising people’s life expectancy. 
In Scotland there are fewer still births, and infant mortality has 
now fallen to 3.3 per 1,000 live births, compared with a UK average 
of 4.2. 

Covid-19 has had a profound effect on health in the UK in the last 
18 months. Alongside millions of infections and thousands of deaths 
from Sars-CoV-2, there has been increased strain on the health 
care system and effects on mental and physical health. For exam-
ple, in March 2021 it is estimated that 1.7% of the UK population 
had self-reported long COVID symptoms.12 Furthermore, social 
distancing measures to control the spread of Covid-19 are likely 
to have had large effects on health and health inequalities.13 For 
example, the number of people waiting for surgical procedures more 
than doubled, with nearly 10 million people in the UK on waiting 
lists.14 For many people these prolonged waits could have further 
consequences for health.

Education (Global Rank: 17th)

Educational standards have improved throughout the decade. All 
regions have experienced improvements in educational outcomes 
at secondary level and in the skill levels of the adult population. 
However, there are still significant discrepancies in the educational 
achievement of low-income students at both primary and second-
ary level. For example, the percentage of low-income secondary 
students achieving level 2 English and maths qualifications is just 
44%, compared with 70% of all secondary pupils. In rural areas, 
the disadvantage gap is often wider. Some local authorities, such 
as Windsor and Maidenhead, have had notable success in closing 
the gap.15

Northern Ireland and Wales have seen the greatest improvements 
and are ranked 2nd and 5th best regions nationally. While they have 
both seen improvements in the qualification level of their working 
age population, the factors driving their schools’ improvement are 
very different. In Northern Ireland the improvement has been driven 
primarily by an increase in the proportion of secondary students 
achieving a grade C or higher in GCSE English and mathematics. In 
contrast, Wales has seen dramatic improvements in the proportion 
of students reaching the expected standard in literacy and numer-
acy at the end of primary school and only modest improvements in 
attainment at the secondary level. There has also been a narrowing 
of the attainment gap for low-income students at primary level in 
Wales. However, there have only been modest improvements in 
attainment at the secondary level.

54

Page 206



Credit: shutterstock.com

Natural Environment (Global Rank: 25th)

All regions within the UK have seen their natural environment 
improve. Nationwide, a reduction in emissions and exposure to air 
pollution is good news for the quality of life for individuals in the 
UK. The decreases in CO2 emissions in the UK are a result of the 
changes in fuel mix for electricity generation as more is invested 
in renewable energy sources, lower energy demand due to greater 
energy efficiency, and a decline in the importance of energy-inten-
sive industry.16 Greater Manchester is the region that has seen the 
greatest improvement for emissions.

Scotland has had a fourfold increase in the area of woodland that is 
being planted. As a result, it is the region that has seen the greatest 
improvement in the natural environment. With the UK Government 
having pledged to plant an additional 75,000 acres of trees a year by 
the end of the next Parliament, the area of woodland should con-
tinue to grow.17 There has been a decrease in the number of people 
using woodland areas for recreational purposes over the last decade.

55

Page 207



Living Conditions reflects the extent to which a reasonable 
quality of life is extended to the whole population. This includes 
being free from poverty through access to sufficient resources, 

access to adequate housing, safety at work and in the lived envi-
ronment, and the ability to connect and engage in core activities 
in society.

54

56

58

60

62

64

202120192017201520132011

Pi
lla

r s
co

re

Living Conditions

Living Conditions

30 40 50 60 70

Wales (-)

West Midlands metropolitan (-)

London (-2)

Northern Ireland (-)

Yorkshire and The Humber (-4)

Greater Manchester (-)

North East (-3)

West Midlands non-metro (-)

Scotland (-2)

Merseyside (+7)

North West non-metro (+4)

South West (-1)

East Midlands (+1)

East of England (-)

South East (-)

Living Conditions: Regions score and score change (rank change), 2011-2021

ELEMENT (WEIGHT %) 

Material Resources (30%) captures the proportion of individuals 
with the minimum amount of resources that is necessary to survive 
and attain wellbeing. This element also measures the number of 
children in poverty. 

Shelter (25%) reflects the quality of accommodation and the 
impact of the accommodation environment on the health of 
residents. It includes measures of sleeping rough, homelessness, 
overcrowding, housing availability, hazardous housing, and energy 
efficiency. 

Access to Local Amenities (15%) captures the extent to which 
individuals are able to access the core services that citizens of a 
society require, such as school, local shops, and the GP.

Digital Connectedness (15%) captures the extent to which indi-
viduals are able to interact with society through digital technology.

Protection from Harm (15%) captures the safety of the environ-
ment that individuals live and work in, measuring injuries and acci-
dental deaths from workplace-based activities.

56

Page 208



Change in Living Conditions elements, 2011-2021

-5 0 +5 +10 +15

Protection from Harm

Digital Connectedness

Access to Local Amenities

Shelter

Material Resources

Living Conditions 2021

Rank

1–63 64–126 127–189 190–254 255–317 318–379

Rank Local Authority

1 Wokingham (S East)
2 Brentwood (E Eng)
3 Epsom and Ewell (S East)
4 Watford (E Eng)
5 Windsor and Maidenhead (S East)
6 Reigate and Banstead (S East)
7 Woking (S East)
8 Bracknell Forest (S East)
9 Blaby (E Mid)
10 Oxford (S East)
11 Isles of Scilly (S West)
12 St Albans (E Eng)
13 Spelthorne (S East)
14 Mid Sussex (S East)
15 South Derbyshire (E Mid)
16 South Gloucestershire (S West)
17 Worthing (S East)
18 Broxtowe (E Mid)
19 Adur (S East)
20 Rochford (E Eng)

Top 20 Local Authorities

Rank Local Authority

360 Birmingham (W Mid Met)
361 Shetland Islands (Scot)
362 Blackpool (N West)
363 Hackney (London)
364 Conwy (Wales)
365 Haringey (London)
366 Highland (Scot)
367 Barking and Dagenham (London)
368 Lewisham (London)
369 Middlesbrough (N East)
370 Bridgend (Wales)
371 Enfield (London)
372 Torfaen (Wales)
373 Kingston upon Hull, City of (Yrk & Hum)
374 Isle of Anglesey (Wales)
375 Powys (Wales)
376 Pembrokeshire (Wales)
377 Denbighshire (Wales)
378 Ceredigion (Wales)
379 Carmarthenshire (Wales)

Bottom 20 Local Authorities

57

Page 209



48

50

52

54

56

58

202120192017201520132011

Pi
lla

r s
co

re

Health

30 40 50 60 70

Merseyside (-)

West Midlands metropolitan (-)

North West non-metro (-3)

Greater Manchester (-)

North East (-3)

West Midlands non-metro (-3)

Yorkshire and The Humber (-3)

Wales (+1)

Northern Ireland (+6)

East Midlands (-2)

Scotland (+6)

South West (-1)

East of England (-1)

London (+3)

South East (-)

Health: Regions score and score change (rank change), 2011-2021

ELEMENT (WEIGHT %) 

Behavioural and Physiological Risk Factors (15%) assesses the set 
of physiological characteristics and lifestyle patterns that increase 
the likelihood of developing disease, injury or illness, or of suffering 
from premature death.  

Preventative Interventions (15%) captures the extent to which 
a health system prevents diseases, illnesses, and other medical 
complications from occurring, to save many children and adults 
from an early death.

Care Systems (15%) assesses the ability of a health system to 
treat and cure diseases and illnesses, once they are present in the 
population.

Mental Health (15%) captures the level and burden of mental 
illness on the living population. Mental health can have a significant 
impact on an individual’s wellbeing and ability to participate effec-
tively in the labour market and in society more broadly.

Physical Health (20%) captures the level and burden of physical 
illness on the living population. Physical health can have a significant 
impact on an individual’s wellbeing and ability to participate effec-
tively in the labour market and in society more broadly.

Longevity (20%) captures the mortality rate of a country’s popu-
lation through different stages of life.

Health

Health captures the extent to which people are healthy 
and have access to necessary services to maintain good 
health. Those who enjoy good physical and mental health 

report high levels of wellbeing, whilst poor health provides a major 
obstacle to people fulfilling their potential. The coverage and 
accessibility of effective health care, combined with behaviours 
that sustain a healthy lifestyle, are critical to both individual and 
societal prosperity.

58

Page 210



Change in Health elements, 2011-2021

-25 -20 -15 -10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15

Longevity

Physical Health

Mental Health

Care Systems

Preventative Interventions

Behavioural and Physiological
Risk Factors

Health 2021

Rank

1–63 64–126 127–189 190–254 255–317 318–379

Rank Local Authority

1 Isles of Scilly (S West)
2 Wokingham (S East)
3 Waverley (S East)
4 Windsor and Maidenhead (S East)
5 Elmbridge (S East)
6 Richmond upon Thames (London)
7 Mole Valley (S East)
8 St Albans (E Eng)
9 Surrey Heath (S East)
10 Wandsworth (London)
11 Guildford (S East)
12 North Hertfordshire (E Eng)
13 West Berkshire (S East)
14 Tandridge (S East)
15 Kingston upon Thames (London)
16 Bath and North East Somerset (S West)
17 East Hertfordshire (E Eng)
18 Buckinghamshire (S East)
19 East Renfrewshire (Scot)
20 Welwyn Hatfield (E Eng)

Top 20 Local Authorities

Rank Local Authority

360 Walsall (W Mid Met)
361 Kingston upon Hull, City of (Yrk & Hum)
362 Barrow-in-Furness (N West)
363 East Lindsey (E Mid)
364 Inverclyde (Scot)
365 Belfast (N Ire)
366 Torbay (S West)
367 Wyre (N West)
368 Middlesbrough (N East)
369 Blackburn with Darwen (N West)
370 Tendring (E Eng)
371 Liverpool (M'side)
372 Wolverhampton (W Mid Met)
373 Boston (E Mid)
374 Lincoln (E Mid)
375 Burnley (N West)
376 Hartlepool (N East)
377 Copeland (N West)
378 Stoke-on-Trent (W Mid)
379 Blackpool (N West)

Bottom 20 Local Authorities

59

Page 211



Education

Education is a building block for prosperous societies; the accu-
mulation of skills and capabilities contributes to economic 
growth and education provides the opportunity for individuals 

to reach their potential, and live a more fulfilled and prosperous life. 
A better-educated population also leads to greater civic engagement 
and improved social outcomes—such as better health and lower 
crime rates.

Pi
lla

r s
co

re

Education

48

50

52

54

56

58

202120192017201520132011

40 50 60 70 80

Scotland (-)

Merseyside (-5)

West Midlands metropolitan (-3)

East Midlands (-)

East of England (-4)

Yorkshire and The Humber (+1)

West Midlands non-metro (-1)

Greater Manchester (-6)

South West (-3)

North West non-metro (-3)

Wales (+8)

South East (+1)

North East (+3)

Northern Ireland (+12)

London (-)

Education: Regions score and score change (rank change), 2011-2021

ELEMENT (WEIGHT %) 

Pre-primary education (10%) captures how well early education is 
attended and the educational outcomes of early childhood educa-
tion. It supports the development of linguistic, cognitive, social and 
emotional skills.

Primary education (30%) captures the provision and outcomes of 
primary education in a local authority area, including core literacy 
and numeracy skills. 

Secondary education (30%) captures provision and outcomes of 
secondary education in a local authority area, including core literacy 
and numeracy skills. Attaining level 2 qualification in English and 
Maths are an important step in an individual’s educational journey 

opening up tertiary education opportunities as well as employment 
pathways. 

Tertiary education provision (10%) captures the extent to which 
students from a particular local authority will go on to further educa-
tion, either through apprenticeships or university.

Adult skills (20%) captures the level of skills in a local adult popu-
lation, by measuring the number of adults with different levels of 
qualifications.

60

Page 212



Change in Education elements, 2011-2021

-20 -15 -10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15 +20 +25 +30

Adult skills

Tertiary education provision

Secondary education

Primary education

Pre-primary education

Education 2021

Rank

1–63 64–126 127–189 190–254 255–317 318–379

Rank Local Authority

1 City of London (London)
2 Kensington and Chelsea (London)
3 Richmond upon Thames (London)
4 Westminster (London)
5 Hammersmith and Fulham (London)
6 Barnet (London)
7 Trafford (Gtr Manch)
8 Tower Hamlets (London)
9 Southwark (London)
10 Harrow (London)
11 Wandsworth (London)
12 Sutton (London)
13 Redbridge (London)
14 East Renfrewshire (Scot)
15 Ealing (London)
16 Kingston upon Thames (London)
17 Wokingham (S East)
18 Lambeth (London)
19 Merton (London)
20 Camden (London)

Top 20 Local Authorities

Rank Local Authority

360 Angus (Scot)
361 Tendring (E Eng)
362 Pendle (N West)
363 Wellingborough (E Mid)
364 Blaenau Gwent (Wales)
365 North Ayrshire (Scot)
366 Dundee City (Scot)
367 Peterborough (E Eng)
368 Merthyr Tydfil (Wales)
369 Corby (E Mid)
370 Dudley (W Mid Met)
371 Great Yarmouth (E Eng)
372 Glasgow City (Scot)
373 West Dunbartonshire (Scot)
374 North Lanarkshire (Scot)
375 Highland (Scot)
376 Midlothian (Scot)
377 East Ayrshire (Scot)
378 Knowsley (M'side)
379 Clackmannanshire (Scot)

Bottom 20 Local Authorities

61

Page 213



Pi
lla

r s
co

re

Natural Environment

44

46

48

50

52

54

202120192017201520132011

30 40 50 60 70

West Midlands metropolitan (-1)

London (+1)

Yorkshire and The Humber (-)

East Midlands (-1)

West Midlands non-metro (-1)

East of England (-1)

Greater Manchester (+3)

Merseyside (-)

North West non-metro (-)

Wales (-1)

South East (-1)

South West (+2)

North East (-)

Northern Ireland (-1)

Scotland (+1)

Natural Environment: Regions score and score change (rank change), 2011-2021

ELEMENT (WEIGHT %) 

Emissions (30%) captures the level of emissions of greenhouse 
gas and other gases from within a local authority. This captures the 
long-term effect of pressures on the atmosphere that a given local 
authority will have.

Exposure to Air Pollution (25%) captures the level of pollution to 
which a local authority’s population is physically exposed, and the 
effect this has on mortality.

Forest, Land and Soil (20%) assesses the quality of a local author-
ity’s outdoor spaces and forests.

Flooding and Water Management (10%) assesses the quality of a 
local authority’s water and the risk of flooding.

Waste Management (15%) captures quantity of waste collected 
and the local authority’s recycling efforts.  

Natural Environment

Natural Environment captures the parts of the physical 
environment that have a direct effect on people in their 
daily lives and changes that could impact the prosperity of 

future generations. A well-managed natural environment benefits 
a nation by yielding crops, material for construction, wildlife and 
food, and sources of energy, while clean air leads to a higher quality 
of living for all.

62

Page 214



Change in Natural Environment elements, 2011-2021

-10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15 +20

Waste Management

Flooding and Water Management

Forest, Land and Soil

Exposure to Air Pollution

Emissions

Natural Environment 2021

Rank

1–63 64–126 127–189 190–254 255–317 318–379

Rank Local Authority

1 Moray (Scot)
2 Inverclyde (Scot)
3 East Ayrshire (Scot)
4 Stirling (Scot)
5 South Ayrshire (Scot)
6 East Renfrewshire (Scot)
7 Carlisle (N West)
8 Angus (Scot)
9 Torridge (S West)
10 Orkney Islands (Scot)
11 North Ayrshire (Scot)
12 West Dunbartonshire (Scot)
13 Argyll and Bute (Scot)
14 West Devon (S West)
15 Shetland Islands (Scot)
16 Perth and Kinross (Scot)
17 Isles of Scilly (S West)
18 Highland (Scot)
19 West Lothian (Scot)
20 Fermanagh and Omagh (N Ire)

Top 20 Local Authorities

Rank Local Authority

360 Thurrock (E Eng)
361 Lewisham (London)
362 North East Lincolnshire (Yrk & Hum)
363 East Riding of Yorkshire (Yrk & Hum)
364 Sandwell (W Mid Met)
365 Birmingham (W Mid Met)
366 Kensington and Chelsea (London)
367 Newark and Sherwood (E Mid)
368 Doncaster (Yrk & Hum)
369 Tower Hamlets (London)
370 Boston (E Mid)
371 King's Lynn and West Norfolk (E Eng)
372 Waltham Forest (London)
373 East Lindsey (E Mid)
374 Fenland (E Eng)
375 South Holland (E Mid)
376 North Lincolnshire (Yrk & Hum)
377 Newham (London)
378 Westminster (London)
379 City of London (London)

Bottom 20 Local Authorities

63

Page 215



64

Page 216



Credit: shutterstock.com

65

Page 217



UNITED KINGDOM 
PROSPERITY INDEX

2021

Why clusters matter
Unfortunately, much of the debate about how to ‘level-up’ the 
UK focuses on crude distinctions between the ‘north and south’, 
‘cities and towns’ or socially conservative ‘Red Wall’ areas versus 
socially liberal university towns. This can encourage a blanket policy 
approach whereby very different areas are often lumped together 
under regional approaches or, at the other end, policies are tailored 
to individual local authority areas. Both of these approaches are 
unhelpful as they neglect the patterns that cut across different 
regions. 

This is why we shape our analysis of prosperity in the UK around 
a set of distinct clusters that each come with its own challenges, 
opportunities and examples of best policy practice. Focusing on 
clusters, rather than individual areas, allows us to develop a more 
fine-tuned view of the varying levels of prosperity in the UK, and 
develop policies that are better suited for clusters of areas that face 
the same social, economic and political challenges. And crucially, for 
policy, it allows us to identify the specific ‘success stories’ that are 
outperforming their cluster peers, which opens the door to finding 
more effective policy solutions.  

For example, Coastal Towns cut across several southern regions 
and have a unique fingerprint. They have strong social capital, 
good living conditions and can be a fertile environment for busi-
ness investment. However, despite these strengths, families that 
live in Coastal Towns will often see their children struggle to reach 
the same level of educational attainment as their peers in other 
clusters, and will often suffer disproportionately from poor levels 
of mental and physical ill-health. This underlines the urgent need 
for a bespoke package of policy measures for Coastal Towns that 
can promote school readiness for young children, interventions to 
promote strategies to safeguard against the deterioration of mental 
health and the need for local clinical commissioning groups to con-
sider whether early support could be cost-effective in preventing 
severe mental and physical ill-health. 

RURAL ARCHETYPES

Adopting a cluster approach also reveals the problems in how we 
talk about rural areas, which are often regarded as homogeneous. 
But England actually contains two distinct sub-types of rural areas, 
Rural England and Remote Rural England, which have above average 
prosperity. In contrast, Rural Wales (which excludes the valleys) and 
Rural Northern Ireland are much less prosperous. 

Despite increasing prosperity in Rural Wales over the last decade, 
including low crime, good governance and a well-stewarded natural 
environment, it faces distinctive challenges in developing a healthy 
economy for businesses. Pembrokeshire is leading the way in this 
respect, having seen a reduction in the numbers of businesses that 

view local government restrictions as a barrier to their operations; 
fewer businesses face recruitment challenges due to the skills of the 
workforce than a decade ago. One initiative that has been used by 
the Pembrokeshire County Council is the Kickstart Scheme, which 
provides funding to employers to create job placements to for 16- to 
24-year-olds.18 The progress made by Pembrokeshire could act as a 
blueprint for other local authorities in Wales and other rural local 
authorities across the UK.  

NORTHERN ARCHETYPES

The neighbouring clusters of Lancashire and the Industrial 
Heartlands are two less prosperous archetypes in the UK and face 
distinct challenges. 

The Industrial Heartlands suffer from high crime, which is under-
mining their safety and security. There are 17 homicides per 100,000 
people compared with the UK average of 11, underlining the need to 
focus on crime prevention strategies. Furthermore, living conditions 
are poor, with 23% of people living in poverty and 18% experiencing 
income deprivation. Few people engage in local politics—election 
turnout is the lowest in the UK, with just 34% of people turning 
out to vote at local elections, and few believing that their vote will 
make a difference. Strong community engagement to address these 
issues appears to be the most targeted way to make a difference to 
lived experiences in the Industrial Heartlands.  

In contrast, for neighbouring Lancashire, the challenges to pros-
perity are more focused on the business sector. One aspect of this 
is that employers struggle to attract the appropriate workforce to 
fill vacancies. Nearly 50% of vacancies are deemed ‘hard-to-fill’, 
and 38% of vacancies are due to skills shortages. Furthermore, 
less than 2% of businesses are seeking investment for new process 
development or expansion to overseas markets, the lowest rates in 
the country. Local authorities could support local businesses with 
training in entrepreneurship, adult education, and apprenticeships 
to help enhance the skills of the working age population. Developing 
a thriving business environment could help to diversify the employ-
ment opportunities, which are concentrated in only a few sectors, 
and strengthen the economy to act as a driver of prosperity. By 
considering the differing characteristics of these two areas, we can 
start to see the real power of the clusters in identifying distinct 
themes for policy focus to increase prosperity. 

BEST PRACTICE EXAMPLES

Not only can these clusters provide a new route to differentiat-
ing policy to target the most appropriate areas, but they can also 
provide a route for local authorities to collaborate and learn from 
one another. This can be illustrated using the Post-Industrial Urban 

66

Page 218



archetype. Despite the Post-Industrial Urban archetype having 
some of the lowest prosperity in the UK, some areas within it have 
seen significant improvements in prosperity over the last decade. 
County Durham, Stoke-on-Trent, and the City of Kingston upon 
Hull have all seen improvements in their overall prosperity, rising on 
average 22 places in the rankings. For County Durham (304th), if this 
trajectory were to continue for the next decade it would become as 
prosperous as Westminster (205th) is today. These authorities can 
set an example for other areas in their cluster. 

Stoke-on-Trent has seen significant improvement in aspects of 
social capital for its residents over the last decade, despite this 
being a typical area of weakness for Post-Industrial Urban areas. 
Over the last decade, its residents have increasingly volunteered in 
different ways to support their communities, and those that donate 
money to charity have donated greater sums of money more often. 
There have been improved efficiencies in local government and 
fewer residents feel lonely and isolated. Local authorities wishing 
to enhance community cohesion can look to analyse the strategies 
that have been successful here.  

Another example is the provision of shelter in Central London.  
Central London performs poorly for both Living Conditions and 
Shelter. For example, nearly 30% of its resident live in poverty, there 
are 3.3 homeless households per 100,000 households, and 14.5 
rough sleepers per 100,000 population, which is the highest rate in 
the country. However, there are some London boroughs that seem 
to be seeing success in this area. Homelessness in Lewisham, at just 
1.3 homeless households per 100,000 households, is four times 
lower than in Kensington and Chelsea and Southwark. Furthermore, 
other boroughs could look to Newham and Hammersmith and 
Fulham for strategies to address rough sleeping and support rough 
sleepers into alternative living arrangements, as these boroughs 
have the lowest rates of rough sleeping in Central London. In 
Hammersmith and Fulham, the borough has consulted over 100 
homeless people in developing their Rough Sleeping Procurement 
Strategy and has prioritised a compassionate and collaborative 
approach.19 

Two years ago, Newham established a rough sleeping task force 
based on a holistic approach, bringing together partners from local 
charities, businesses, health networks, national charity groups, gov-
ernment, the Greater London Authority and people with experience 
of rough sleeping.20 Other boroughs could look at these policy 
approaches and evaluate where similar strategies could be applied 
in their local areas, as well as gleaning specific insights about the 
implementation and where there are lessons to be learnt from these 
boroughs’ experiences.  

SUB-ARCHETYPES

This approach to archetypes can also be applied at a smaller scale 
within the defined clusters. For example, the Commuter Belt is the 
most prosperous cluster, performing well in all but two pillars. Some 
local authorities within this archetype, such as Wokingham (1st), St 
Albans (5th), and Hart (8th) not only have some of the highest overall 
prosperity in the UK but have also seen the greatest improvements 
over the last decade. For these areas, policy to enhance prosperity 
further could focus on a more granular level again. Whilst their 
individual local authorities might well be seeing success in a broad 
range of areas, there may be pockets of local deprivation where 
residents do not experience all the positive drivers of prosperity 
that their neighbours do (for example, several local authorities 
have high rates of property crime). For these local authorities, the 
UK Prosperity Index may help to develop hypotheses about what 
policy areas could be the most important to enhance the lives of 
their residents. Pairing these insights with additional granular data 
at a more local level, for example from the index of multiple dep-
rivation, may prove most fruitful in targeting interventions to the 
communities where they can make the most difference.  

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, we believe that these clusters offer a wealth of possi-
bilities to reimagine the policy landscape in the UK, and we will be 
working with dozens of local authorities to do exactly this. In order 
to raise prosperity from the recent plateau, we should leave behind 
traditional geographic policy decision-making and embark upon a 
journey to explore the policy-making potential of these 17 clusters.  

Greater London+ Urban Dispersed Urban Rural

Higher 
Prosperity

Commuter Belt

Mid-Sized Urban Hubs
Rural England

Outer London
Remote Rural EnglandCentral London

Mid 
Prosperity

Coastal Towns
North Midlands The Islands

Rural Scotland
Lancashire Rural Northern Ireland

Lower 
Prosperity

Post-industrial Urban Welsh Valleys
Rural Wales

Industrial Heartlands Central Belt – Scotland

The 17 clusters of prosperity

67

Page 219



Commuter Belt 
Example LAs: Surrey Heath, Sevenoaks, St Albans 
This is the most prosperous cluster, with the best health, governance, living 
conditions and social capital out of all the clusters. Its weak points are high 
levels of property crime and pollution. People are generally healthy, and 
a 65-year-old in the Commuter Belt can expect to live for 20 years and 
11 months. Local authorities are the most effective, dealing with housing 
benefit claims within 16 days and collecting 98% of council tax owed. There 
are strong family relationships; the rate of looked after children is just 38 
per 10,000 children, the lowest rate in the country. Just 18% of residents 
experience poverty, lower than the UK average of 22%.

Outer London
Example LAs: Croydon, Kingston upon Thames, Waltham Forest 
Outer London has a strong economy, good health and education, but suf-
fers from weak institutions and a high crime rate. Secondary education 
attendance rates are 95%, and 59% of low-income students gain level 
2 qualifications in English and mathematics, the highest outside Central 
London. Venture capital investment is £407 per capita, the highest in the 
UK. Superfast broadband is available for 97.3% of premises, the greatest 
proportion nationally. Residents can access regional rail hubs in under 35 
minutes, the shortest time outside Central London. However, there are high 
concentrations of poverty and robbery rates are 2.9 offences per 1,000 
people, which is also the highest rate outside Central London. Pollution is 
also a weak point, with a high concentration of coarse particulate matter 
(17µg/m3). 

Central London 
Example LAs: Camden, Lambeth, Newham 
Central London benefits from both the best economy and best education 
system in the UK. It exhibits greater tolerance for those of other ethnicities 
and religions than Outer London, and has a high degree of government 
integrity, with the fewest people believing that MPs do special favours for 
donors. However, Central London has the highest levels of violent crime, 
property crime and civil disorder in the country. Furthermore, 29% of people 
live in poverty, with 16% experiencing income deprivation. Homelessness 
and overcrowding rates are some of the highest in the country. Vaccination 
and cancer screening rates in Central London are the lowest in the country. 
Only 88% of infants have received their 6-in-1 vaccination and just 60% 
of eligible women are screened for breast cancer.

Greater London+
Greater London+

Higher 
Prosperity

Commuter belt

Outer London

Central London

68

Page 220



Urban

Mid-Sized Urban Hubs 
Example LAs: Oxford, Leicester, Kettering 
Mid-Sized Urban Hubs have good economies and living conditions, while 
also having some of the worst crime in the UK. They have the fastest internet 
with download speeds of 90 Mb/s. There is excellent 4G coverage, with 98% 
of outdoor areas having strong signal. Residents have more confidence in the 
integrity of politicians and MPs than the UK average. However, rates of prop-
erty crime are high, and there are 3.3 sexual offences recorded per 1,000 
people. This is the second highest rate in the UK and a rate that has nearly 
trebled in the last decade. In common with most urban areas, pollution is a 
challenge, although CO2 emissions from domestic use are just 1.3 tonnes per 
capita, the lowest outside Central London. While the overall health of the 
population of mid-sized urban hubs is relatively good, health care systems 
and preventative interventions and perform poorly. For example, just 71% 
of eligible women are screened for cervical cancer.  

Coastal Towns
Example LAs: Eastbourne, Great Yarmouth, Southend-on-Sea 
Coastal Towns are characterised by strong social capital combined with high 
rates of unemployment (especially NEET), poor health, poor education and 
weak enterprise conditions. Just 15% of school leavers progressed directly 
to higher education, compared with the UK average of 24%. Residents have 
poor mental and physical health, with 25% of residents reporting high levels 
of anxiety. There are also high levels of homelessness and rough sleeping. 
These Coastal Towns benefit from strong communities; 20% of residents 
volunteer and they have the lowest rate of single parent families. 

Post-Industrial Urban 
Example LAs: Kingston Upon Hull, Newcastle, Blackpool 
Post-Industrial Urban areas have low social capital and poor health, with 
enterprise conditions and infrastructure being a relative strength. They have 
the highest unemployment rate of any of the clusters at 5.4%. Furthermore, 
24% of the population are in poverty and 18% are income deprived, some 
of the highest rates in the country. Life expectancy at the age of 65 is just 
18 years and 10 months, the lowest outside Scotland’s Central-Belt. Family 
and personal relationships are weak—the underage pregnancy rate is 4.7 
conceptions per 1000 women aged 13-15 and 9% of people report that 
they feel lonely. These are the highest rates in the UK, demonstrating weak 
personal and family relations. The potential for economic revival also exists, 
with good road conditions and transport links; communications infrastruc-
ture is strong, with average download speeds of 84 Mb/s. Furthermore, only 
23% of job vacancies are due to skills shortages, the lowest rate outside 
the North Midlands. 

Industrial Heartlands 
Example LAs: Oldham, Warrington, Sheffield, Belfast
The Industrial Heartlands is the least prosperous cluster in the UK, with high 
rates of crime, poor local governance, and poor health. It has the highest 
homicide rate in the UK, at 17.1 homicides per 100,000 people. Engagement 
with local democracy is low; local election turnout is 34%, the lowest in 
the country and general election turnout is just 63%. Social networks are 
weak, with only 25% of the population having a sense of belonging to the 
community. Health is undermined by diet; only 49% of people eat their 
five portions of fruit and vegetables a day. While the unemployment rate is 
high, fewer workers experience temporary and part-time employment than 
in many other areas. More promisingly, the Industrial Heartlands has good 
infrastructure; outside London it has the highest connectedness, taking just 
46 minutes to reach the nearest rail hub by public transport. Furthermore, 
the rate of new business formation is above the UK average. 

Urban

Higher 
Prosperity

Mid-Sized Urban Hubs

Mid 
Prosperity

Coastal Towns

Lower 
Prosperity

Post-Industrial Urban

Industrial Heartlands

69

Page 221



North Midlands 
Example LAs: Chesterfield, Mansfield, Bassetlaw 
The North Midlands is the median cluster. It has a strong investment 
environment and good living conditions, although it has a weak natural 
environment and low social tolerance. Residents of the North Midlands 
have the lowest rates of persistent poverty, at 9%, and over indebtedness, 
also 9%. Just 2% of households in the North Midlands are overcrowded, 
the lowest rate in the UK. The supply of capital is good, with no businesses 
reporting delayed or cancelled projects due to lack of investment. Moreover, 
58% of small businesses are aware of their Local Enterprise Partnership, the 
highest rate in the UK. However, prosperity is held back by low levels of both 
productivity and new business formation. There are high levels of both emis-
sions and air pollution. Furthermore, physical health is poor, with the highest 
prevalence of dementia, diabetes, and chronic kidney disease nationally.

Lancashire 
Example LAs: Preston, Burnley, Blackburn with Darwen 
While having moderately good economic outcomes and crime levels, 
Lancashire has the worst health and social tolerance out of any cluster. It 
has low rates of public order offences, and the rate of weapons possession 
offences is 18 times lower than the UK average. Their authorities have high 
levels of public works investment, having taken out loans of £1,379 per 
capita, tenfold higher than the UK average of £124 per capita. The gross 
value-added per capita growth of 1.5% is high. Despite this the investment 
environment is poor. Only 1.6% of business are seeking investment for 
overseas expansion to new markets. It also has some of the most negative 
health outcomes in the country, across mental health (14% of residents 
are depressed) and physical health (the highest prevalence of respiratory 
disease). Mortality rates are high across all age groups. Furthermore, peo-
ple’s tolerance for those of different ethnicities, religions or classes is the 
lowest in the country.

Welsh Valleys 
Example LAs: Swansea, Merthyr Tydfil, Bridgend 
The Welsh Valleys benefit from low property crime, high degrees of tol-
erance and strong social networks. The population enjoys good levels of 
physical and mental health, albeit lower than average life-expectancy. 
Primary education is strong, and at the end of primary school, 91% of stu-
dents have made the expected progress in numeracy and 89% in literacy, 
the highest rates in the UK. We see similar for students from low-income 
families, 78% and 81% in literacy and numeracy respectively. Industrial and 
commercial CO2 emissions have halved in the last decade. On the other 
hand, they suffer from weaker family relationships and institutional trust, 
economic outcomes, and enterprise conditions. There are 127 looked-after 
children per 10,000 children, almost double the UK average. Enterprise 
conditions are challenging, with 19% of businesses saying that a lack of 
support is a barrier to their business. There is also poor capital supply—the 
value of loans provided to small businesses by major banks is just £2,714 
per capita, lower than the UK average of £4,560. 

Central-Belt Scotland 
Example LAs: Glasgow City, Inverclyde, Dundee 
While the Central Belt of Scotland has reasonable infrastructure, it has the 
worst local governance and investment environment in the UK, with health 
and educational outcomes also extremely weak. A 65-year-old in the Central 
Belt can expect to live just 18 years and 2 months; this is more than two and 
a half years less than their counterparts in the Commuter Belt. Furthermore, 
19% of the population smoke and 64% of the population are overweight or 
obese. Knife crime is high, 1.1 offences per 1,000 people, compared to the UK 
average of 0.8 offences per 1,000 people. There are 26 drug-related deaths 
per 100,000 people, the highest rate in the UK. In contrast, transport infra-
structure is relatively good and improving. Compared with Rural Scotland, 
journey times to the nearest rail hub or airport are 10 minutes faster.

Dispersed Urban

Mid 
Prosperity

North Midlands

Lancashire

Lower 
Prosperity

Welsh Valleys

Central Belt – Scotland

Dispersed Urban

70

Page 222



Rural England
Example LAs: Buckinghamshire, Braintree, Boston 
While Rural England is weak on economic pillars and the natural environ-
ment, it has strong local governance and social capital, with particularly 
high civic and social participation. There are strong family relationships with 
just 277 per 10,000 children classed as ‘in need’ by social services, com-
pared with a UK average of 356 per 10,000 children. Over 90% of planning 
decisions are made in a timely manner and councils collect 98% of council 
tax owed. However, these local authorities have weak infrastructure with a 
70-minute journey to the nearest regional rail hub. Aspects of their natural 
environment are weak; 24% of properties are at a medium or high flood 
risk. Furthermore, education provision is weak with only 57% of low-income 
primary students attaining numeracy standards, the lowest in the UK.

Remote Rural England
Example LAs: Cornwall, Northumberland, County of Herefordshire
Remote Rural England is safe, has good social capital, is healthy and has 
good secondary education and high levels of adult skills, although it has 
weak infrastructure. It has the highest voter turnout in general elections 
(72%) and 43% turnout in local election. It has the lowest rates of crime in 
England with less than a third as many robberies (0.4 robberies per 1,000 
people) as the UK average (1.4 robberies). Excluding the Islands, it has the 
smallest percentage of adults with no qualifications. It has a weak economy, 
with 49% of job vacancies being hard-to-fill, the highest proportion in the 
UK. It takes on average 90 minutes to travel to the nearest major rail station 
by public transport and over two hours to travel to the nearest airport.

The Islands 
Example LAs: Scilly Isles, Orkney Islands, Shetland Islands 
While the Islands are remote and have weak infrastructure and investment 
environments, they have exceptionally low crime, strong social capital, good 
health, and a good natural environment. Rates of robbery are 14 times lower 
than the UK average. They have high quality healthcare systems, particularly 
preventative interventions. For example, over 83% of eligible women take 
up the offer of breast cancer screening. However, infrastructure is weaker 
than the rest of the UK. The Islands have the slowest internet in the UK with 
download speeds just 36 Mb/s. 

Rural Scotland 
Example LAs: Aberdeenshire, Perth and Kinross, Highland 
While Rural Scotland has the second-best natural environment in the UK, 
strong social tolerance and low crime rates, it also has a weak investment 
environment, weak infrastructure and poor education outcomes. Thirteen 
percent of businesses reported cancelling projects due to a lack of invest-
ment, the highest rate in the UK. Secondary and primary attainment is low, 
with just 69% of primary students meeting required attainment levels for 
literacy, compared to the UK average of 77%. However, the robbery rate is 
more than six times lower than the national figures. Rural Scotland has the 
highest turnout national elections (72%). 

Rural Northern Ireland 
Example LAs: Antrim and Newtonabbey, Derry City and Strabane  
While Rural Northern Ireland has strong personal and family relationships, 
good education and a good natural environment, the economy underper-
forms and there are challenges with local governance. Turnout in national 
elections is only 61% and only 55% of planning decision are made in a 
timely manner. Businesses are struggling, with 30% citing problems with 
recruitment and retention. However, less than 7% of people feel lonely or 
isolated; families eat together 2.7 times per week, the highest rate in the UK. 
At 1.1 conceptions per 1000 women aged 13-15 the underage pregnancy rate 
is less than half the UK average. Rural Northern Ireland sends 44% of school 
leavers to higher education, the greatest proportion in the UK.

Rural Wales 
Example LAs: Pembrokeshire, Conwy, Carmarthenshire 
While Rural Wales has better local governance and lower rates of crime 
than the Welsh Valleys, its economy and infrastructure is weak, and it also 
has poor living conditions. There is poor access to local amenities, with dis-
tance to the nearest GP the longest in the UK at 27 minutes. There are just 
36 new businesses per 10,000 people, much lower than the UK average of 
59; the high-tech business share is just 5.8%. Download speeds are just 44 
Mb/s, the slowest on the UK mainland. However, knife crime is the lowest 
in the mainland UK at just 0.4 offences per 1,000 people. Governance is 
also strong, with local election turnout at 45% and most local councils are 
governed by coalitions or see regular changes in political control.

Rural

Higher 
Prosperity

Rural England

Remote Rural England

Mid 
Prosperity

The Islands

Rural Scotland

Rural Northern Ireland

Lower 
Prosperity

Rural Wales

Rural

71

Page 223



Credit: shutterstock.com

72

Page 224



Region

Pr
os

pe
rit

y

Sa
fe

ty
 &

 
Se

cu
rit

y

Pe
rs

on
al

 
Fr

ee
do

m

G
ov

er
na

nc
e

So
ci

al
 

Ca
pi

ta
l

In
ve

st
m

en
t 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t

En
te

rp
ris

e 
 

Co
nd

iti
on

s

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re

Ec
on

om
ic

 
Q

ua
lit

y

Li
vi

ng
  

Co
nd

iti
on

s

H
ea

lth

Ed
uc

at
io

n

N
at

ur
al

  
En

vi
ro

nm
en

t

South East 1 4 5 1 2 2 6 7 5 1 1 4 5

South West 2 1 3 3 3 3 9 15 9 4 4 7 4

East of England 3 9 4 2 1 5 13 5 3 2 3 11 10

London 4 15 9 8 12 1 4 2 1 13 2 1 14

East Midlands 5 7 11 5 5 4 5 11 11 3 6 12 12

West Midlands non-metro 6 6 6 4 8 8 3 10 7 8 10 9 11

North West non-metro 7 5 13 6 7 11 7 9 2 5 13 6 7

North East 8 10 10 10 15 6 2 6 12 9 11 3 3

Wales 9 2 1 7 11 12 12 14 15 15 8 5 6

Northern Ireland 10 8 7 15 4 9 15 13 14 12 7 2 2

Scotland 11 3 2 13 9 15 11 12 13 7 5 15 1

Merseyside 12 11 8 12 13 10 14 3 6 6 15 14 8

Yorkshire and The Humber 13 12 12 9 6 13 8 8 10 11 9 10 13

West Midlands metropolitan 14 13 15 11 14 7 1 1 8 14 14 13 15

Greater Manchester 15 14 14 14 10 14 10 4 4 10 12 8 9

Regional Rankings

UNITED KINGDOM 
PROSPERITY INDEX

2021

Regional profiles
The performance of prosperity across the UK largely follows 
expected patterns. The south of England performs better than the 
north, and the least prosperous areas are the northern cities. The 
more urban areas, such as Greater Manchester or Merseyside, tend 
to be stronger on economic pillars than on the pillars under Inclusive 
Societies or Empowered People. 

All regions have seen an improvement in prosperity over the last 
10 years, although not all have risen at the same rate. London, 
Wales, and Scotland have improved the most, thanks in large part 
to improving Infrastructure and Education (among other aspects). 
Greater Manchester, Merseyside, and the North West non-met-
ropolitan area have all risen the least. In the last five years, every 
region but London has seen a decline. 

It is important to remember that the clusters discussed in the 
previous pages sit across these regions—the Commuter Belt, for 
example, is made up of some of the most prosperous parts of the 
South East and East of England, while Coastal Towns are also found 
in many regions across the UK. The discussion that follows discusses 
prosperity in the context of these clusters. Many regions are made 
up of groups that are more prosperous than other groups, or share 
different characteristics.  

The following pages explore in more detail how and why prosperity has 
been changing in each of these regions over the last decade. We have 
broadly followed the ONS’s 12 regions, except that we have made 
Merseyside, Greater Manchester, and the West Midlands metropolitan 
area separate regions, because, like London, they are large self-gov-
erning areas that have significant autonomy to determine policy. We 
have also included the cluster regions on the maps for each region.

73

Page 225



48

50

52

54

56

202120192017201520132011

Pr
os

pe
rit

y 
sc

or
e

South East UK

Local Authority Rank

Wokingham 1

Waverley 2

Elmbridge 3

Epsom and Ewell 4

Woking 5

Hart 6

Surrey Heath 9

Guildford 10

Mole Valley 11

Winchester 13

East Hampshire 15

Fareham 16

Runnymede 17
Windsor and 
Maidenhead

18

Reigate and Banstead 19

Mid Sussex 21

Tandridge 23

Horsham 24

Rushmoor 25

Basingstoke and Deane 28

Milton Keynes 31

West Berkshire 32

Eastleigh 34

Test Valley 35

West Oxfordshire 38

Bracknell Forest 39

South Oxfordshire 43

Vale of White Horse 46

Buckinghamshire 47

Chichester 48

Adur 50

Spelthorne 51

Local Authority Rank

Brighton and Hove 54

Sevenoaks 59

Cherwell 63

New Forest 66

Crawley 67

Havant 69

Worthing 74

Tunbridge Wells 80

Tonbridge and Malling 85

Gosport 100

Oxford 111

Dartford 114

Arun 116

Ashford 120

Maidstone 123

Slough 127

Portsmouth 142

Wealden 144

Isle of Wight 153

Reading 156

Gravesham 157

Lewes 169

Southampton 171

Canterbury 201

Rother 207

Medway 216

Folkestone and Hythe 219

Swale 230

Dover 239

Hastings 269

Thanet 309

Eastbourne 312

South East and UK Prosperity

OVERVIEW

The South East is the most prosperous region in the UK; 34 of the 60 
top-performing local authorities are in this region. It is also becom-
ing more prosperous over time, benefitting from improvements in 
its Investment Environment, Education and Natural Environment. 
The region includes four archetypes, covering the Commuter Belt, 
Mid-Sized Urban Hubs, Rural England and Coastal Towns. Overall, 
it has low crime, good governance, a strong social fabric, good 
health and living conditions, and a strong economy with a fruitful 
environment for investment. However, there are notable challenges 
in the Coastal Towns; of the 11 authorities where prosperity has 
declined, 6 are Coastal Towns. This deterioration is being driven 
by rising crime, deteriorating health, falling living conditions, and 
challenging conditions for local businesses.

South East (1st)

Milton Keynes has some of the best maintained 
roads in the country, with just 1% of roads 
requiring maintenance.

Waverley had one of the highest 
turnouts in the UK in the 2019 
general election at 76%.

In Winchester, 24% of individuals have volunteered 
to support community sport more than once in the 

last year, which is one of the UK’s highest rates.

Folkestone and Hythe has seen the 
greatest strengthening of family 
relationships within  
the South East, with  
a decrease in the percentage 
of lone parent families, from 20% 
to 17% over the decade.

West Oxfordshire has seen the greatest 
reduction in emissions in the South East. 
Domestic CO2 emissions have fallen from 2.9 
tonnes per person to 1.7 over 10 years.

The Vale of White Horse is ranked 27th for 
Safety and Security and has the lowest rate 

of domestic violence in the UK.

Southampton has seen the greatest reduction 
in exposure to air pollution in the region. The 
concentration of coarse particulate matter has 
decreased from 19 µg/m3 to 15 µg/m3. 

Wokingham has seen the biggest 
improvement in labour market flexibil-
ity in the region. It has the fewest skills 

gaps, in the country with just 1.5% of 
workers not meeting the present skill 

requirements for their jobs.

74

Page 226



-15 -10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15

Natural
Environment

Education

Health

Living
Conditions

Economic
Quality

Infrastructure

Enterprise
Conditions

Investment
Environment

Social
Capital

Governance

Personal
Freedom

Safety &
Security

Below UK average Above UK average

Open Economies Empowered People

Inclusive Societies

• People in the South East enjoy the highest Living Conditions in 
the country, with low rates of homelessness and poverty. The 
overall rate of poverty is 18%, compared with the UK national 
average of 22%. One area of weakness is travel times to local 
amenities, where it ranks 10th in the UK. 

• The South East is ranked highest for Health, with low rates of 
mental illness and long life expectancy. However, 9 of the 10 
lowest ranked local authorities in the region are Coastal Towns, 
and they suffer from poor mental and physical health. The prev-
alence of cancer in Eastbourne, Hastings and Lewes is 4.3%, 
compared with the UK average of 3.1%. These three local author-
ities also have the highest prevalence of depression in the entire 
South East region at 14.5%.

• Overall, the South East region performs above average in 
Education, and has stronger adult skills than everywhere except 
London. There is an uneven distribution of educational perfor-
mance within the region, with the Commuter Belt significantly 
outperforming Coastal Towns in every aspect of education. All 
14 Coastal Town local authorities in the South East fall below 
the UK average for the percentage of their students meeting 
numeracy attainment requirements at primary school.

• The Natural Environment is strong across the region, with 
relatively low levels of industry CO2 emissions. Industry CO2 
emissions have more than halved, falling from 18 tonnes per 
unit of GVA to just 7 tonnes since 2011. Exposure to air pollution 
in the form of particulate matter is also decreasing over time.

• With the exception of Coastal Towns, such as Eastbourne and 
Dover, the South East has strong economies that provide a fertile 
environment for business and entrepreneurship. The availability 
of finance and demand for investment to stimulate expansion 
into overseas markets are the highest outside London. The 
number of businesses that are successful in obtaining equity 
investments has risen from 44% to 63%. Furthermore, nearly 
two-thirds of businesses are confident that they will be able to 
secure finance in the future. 

• The region has strong Enterprise Conditions, with flexible labour 
markets, local competition that drives innovation, and good 
support for small and medium business. The Commuter Belt 
has high levels of productivity, competitiveness and labour force 
engagement. The major challenge is business costs; property 
costs are the second highest in the country.

• The South East is ranked 7th for Infrastructure, just below the 
UK average, and is also ranked 6th for Transport. It has improved 
three places in the rankings for transport, due to improvements 
in the condition of roads and an increase in the number of pas-
sengers using rail stations. However, roads in this region are still 
more likely than the UK average to require maintenance, with 
4% of principal roads potentially requiring maintenance. 

• When it comes to Economic Quality, the South East is ranked 
5th overall. It has many private sector companies and the lowest 
proportion of workers employed in the public sector in the UK at 
just 15%, compared with the UK average of 18%. Furthermore, 
many private sector businesses are in high-tech industries with 
high research and development expenditure.

• Local communities in the South East are strong, safe and secure. 
The region has some of the lowest rates of violent crime, and 
civil disorder in the UK. While the Mid-Sized Urban Hubs and 
Coastal Towns in this region suffer from disproportionately high 
rates of property crime, the South East has the second lowest 
homicide rate in the country, with 7.1 homicides per 100,000 
people. 

• The South East performs slightly better than average for Personal 
Freedom, with people mostly tolerant of different ethnicities. 

• Prosperity in the South East is underpinned by strong gover-
nance, with high trust and relatively effective local governments. 
Residents are more likely than the UK average to perceive politi-
cians to have integrity, and greater freedom from the influence 
of financial donors. Local councils manage housing benefit 
claims and tax collection in a timely and effective manner. 

• Communities in the South East also have strong social capital. 
The strength of family relationships, trust in institutions and 
rates of civic and social participation are among the highest in 
the country. They also have low rates of looked after children, 
with 53 looked after children per 10,000 children, compared 
with the UK average of 74 looked after children.

Performance of South East across the three Prosperity domains

South East vs UK average

75

Page 227



48

50

52

54

56

202120192017201520132011

Pr
os

pe
rit

y 
sc

or
e

South West UK

Local Authority Rank

Bath and North  
East Somerset 27

South Gloucestershire 30

Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole 40

Isles of Scilly 42

North Somerset 52

Stroud 58

Tewkesbury 88

Cotswold 91

Cheltenham 92

Dorset 94

East Devon 102

Mendip 107

Bristol, City of 110

Wiltshire 112

Swindon 124

Local Authority Rank

Sedgemoor 125

South Hams 135

South Somerset 140

Somerset West  
and Taunton 147

Forest of Dean 150

Mid Devon 165

Teignbridge 173

West Devon 177

Exeter 181

North Devon 186

Torridge 197

Cornwall 203

Gloucester 223

Plymouth 245

Torbay 292

Bath and North East Somerset has 
the highest turnout for national parlia-

mentary elections, with 77% of registered 
voters participating. 

The average time taken to 
process all new claims relating 
to housing benefits in South 
Somerset is 31.5 days, one of 
the longest in the UK. 

In Mid Devon 11% of children aged 
4-5 years are classified as over-

weight or obese, which is the lowest 
percentage in the UK. 

Swindon has seen a decline in the 
value of loans supplied to SMEs by 

major banks from £2,396 to £1,857.

The value of loans provided to 
small and medium enterprises 

by major banks in Teignbridge is 
£1,900 per capita, which is one of 

the lowest in the South West.

The unemployment rate in South Hams was one 
of the lowest in the South West at 2%, which had 
decreased from 4% in 2010.

Residents of the Coastal Town, Torbay, have less trust towards 
the banking sector, ranking 361st in the UK. It is failing to attract 
external investment for local business.

West Devon has the slowest 
average download speeds at 36.9 
Mb/s in the whole of the UK.

South West and UK Prosperity

South West (2nd)

OVERVIEW

The South West is the second most prosperous region in the UK; 25 out of its 30 local authorities are found in the top half of the Index. 
It has strong institutions, social capital and health and relatively low rates of poverty. Its major weakness is economic: local employers 
face skill shortages, there is a lack of adequate infrastructure, and financial pressures on local councils are increasing. The region contains 
five clusters: 22 out of 30 local authorities are in Remote Rural England, five are Mid-Sized Urban Hubs, Torbay is the only Coastal Town, 
Plymouth the only Post-Industrial Urban local authority, and the Isles of Scilly belong to the Islands.

Torridge has some of the lowest 
Nitrogen Oxides concentrations in 

the UK, with just 4.3 µg/m3.

76

Page 228



-15 -10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15

Natural
Environment

Education

Health

Living
Conditions

Economic
Quality

Infrastructure

Enterprise
Conditions

Investment
Environment

Social
Capital

Governance

Personal
Freedom

Safety &
Security

Below UK average Above UK average

Open Economies Empowered People

Inclusive Societies

• The South West has good Living Conditions, with low rates of 
poverty and adequate housing. There are low rates of home-
lessness across the region, with 1.4 households per 100,000 
household classified as homeless compared with the UK average 
of 2 households, although this has worsened over time. The 
two major challenges are improving digital connectedness and 
access to local amenities such as supermarkets, schools and 
GP surgeries. 

• Health care in the South West is good. There are high rates 
of screening and vaccinations, as well as reasonable wait-
ing times and a high degree of satisfaction with health care. 
However, physical health is poor. The South West has the high-
est prevalence of cancer and musculoskeletal conditions in the 
UK—cancer prevalence is 3.8% compared with the UK average 
of 3.1%. 

• While Education has improved, it is still weaker than average, 
especially for pre-primary and primary education. Pre-primary 
enrolment is the lowest in the country, and low-income primary 
attainment in literacy and numeracy is also lower than the UK 
average. However, in many authorities, secondary education 
is a relative strength, particularly attainment rates. Secondary 
attainment is 72%, compared with the UK average of 70%. 

• The South West has a strong Natural Environment, with low 
emissions and good waste management—49% of all rubbish 
being recycled, which is the second highest in the UK. However, 
the remote rural areas have a higher proportion of properties 
that are more prone to flooding.

• The South West’s Investment Environment is relatively strong. 
Loans are readily available for small and medium enterprises, 
especially in Plymouth and Remote Rural England areas. The 
average amount loaned per capita is £6,128, compared with a 
UK average of £4,560.

• Overall, the South West has below average Enterprise 
Conditions, with especially low labour market flexibility. 
Plymouth, Torbay and remote rural areas suffer from large skill 
gaps, with almost half of all job vacancies considered hard to 
fill by local employers. There are some authorities that provide 
good business environments—many have low property costs, 
and businesses report strong support for SMEs. 

• Across the South West, infrastructure is poor, especially in 
coastal towns and remote rural areas. Other than the City of 
Bristol, transport in the South West is poor. Local authorities 
surrounding Bristol have excessive levels of congestion, seeing 
an average of 103 hours lost by drivers per year. Apart from the 
Mid-Sized Urban Hubs and some Remote Rural England author-
ities, the region has poor communications infrastructure, with 
download speeds slower than the UK average. 

• The South West’s labour market engagement has improved 
over the last decade, with falling unemployment and rising 
economic activity. Furthermore, productivity and competitive-
ness have been increasing, with the complexity and diversity 
of the workforce improving. The major weakness is the fiscal 
sustainability of local government, which is deteriorating, due 
to increased financial pressure through social care spending, 
which has increased from 30% to 39% of all service expenditure 
(compared with the UK average of 35%). 

• The South West is one of the safest regions in the UK; nearly half 
of its authorities are in the top quarter for Safety and Security 
nationally, and none are in the bottom. Violent crime is the 
lowest in the UK, with just4 knife crime offences per 10,000 
people, half of the UK average. However, Bristol and Gloucester 
have higher rates of violent and property crime.  

• The South West has average levels of Social Tolerance. In more 
rural parts of the region, there is a greater degree of intolerance 
shown, especially when survey respondents are asked about 
different classes and ethnicities. 

• Governance is relatively strong. General election turnout has 
increased from 69% to 72% in the past decade, higher than 
the UK average. The percentage of council tax collected is 97%, 
slightly above the UK average. However, there is a general lack of 
trust in politicians; many people believe that politicians simply 
do what their financial donors want.  

• Social Capital is stronger than the national average. However, 
there are weaknesses—for example, the percentage of people 
feeling isolated is 8.1%, compared with the UK average of 6.7%. 
Furthermore, Social Capital has been deteriorating across the 
South West, as more of the population feel isolated and lonely, 
with worsening social networks and institutional trust. The 
number of children in need in the South West has increased in 
the past decade from 300 to 320 per 10,000 children. 

Performance of South West across the three Prosperity domains

South West vs UK average

77

Page 229



48

50

52

54

56

202120192017201520132011

Pr
os

pe
rit

y 
sc

or
e

East of England UK

In Broadland, the percentage of 
working-age women who are 
either in work or actively seeking 
it is the highest in the region at 
89%.

Some of the slowest 
download speeds in the 

region are in Breckland and 
King’s Lynn, both under 45 

Mb/s, compared with the UK 
average of 72 Mb/s.

The citizens of North  
Hertfordshire are the second health-

iest in the East of England and are 
in the top 20 in the UK. It has some 
of the lowest still births and infant 

mortality in the region. 

In Uttlesford 29% of adults aged 16+ volunteer regularly 
to support sport and physical activity, compared with 13% 
across the UK.

Underage pregnancies are more 
common in Harlow with 6 per 10,000 

women giving birth at the age of 13-16, 
which is among the highest in the UK.

Southend-on-Sea has the longest 
journey delays in the East of England 
during the weekdays at 69 seconds 
per vehicle mile.

Cambridge has the 
highest rate of theft in the 

region at 64%.

In Luton, 7.3% of workers do not 
meet skills requirements for their 

jobs, compared with the UK average 
of 4.6%.

OVERVIEW

Prosperity in the East of England is higher than average in the UK. 
Its Commuter Belt includes some of the most prosperous areas 
in the country, where its economic strength is located. Beyond 
this, the region has a relatively poor Investment Environment and 
weak Enterprise Conditions. Furthermore, its rural areas, Mid-Sized 
Urban Hubs, and Coastal Towns have areas of deprivation and low 
performance. Prosperity in the region overall has been deteriorating 
in recent years. While its Infrastructure, Education and Natural 
Environment have all been improving, it has been losing ground in 
Health, Safety and Security and in Enterprise Conditions. 

East of England and UK Prosperity

East of England (3rd)

78

Local Authority Rank

St Albans 8

Three Rivers 14

Hertsmere 22

East Hertfordshire 29

Watford 33

North Hertfordshire 36

Brentwood 44

Dacorum 49

Welwyn Hatfield 53

Central Bedfordshire 55

Epping Forest 56

Uttlesford 57

Colchester 68

South Cambridgeshire 77

Rochford 87

Broxbourne 89

Chelmsford 95

Maldon 101

Stevenage 108

Castle Point 118

Braintree 126

Bedford 130

Babergh 132

Local Authority Rank

Harlow 137

Basildon 139

Huntingdonshire 151

East Cambridgeshire 152

Cambridge 159

Mid Suffolk 163

Thurrock 164

Luton 182

Broadland 194

Southend-on-Sea 195

East Suffolk 200

South Norfolk 209

West Suffolk 221

Peterborough 226

Tendring 248

North Norfolk 249

Ipswich 266

Norwich 294

Breckland 301

Fenland 307

King’s Lynn and  
West Norfolk 311

Great Yarmouth 370

Page 230



-15 -10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15

Natural
Environment

Education

Health

Living
Conditions

Economic
Quality

Infrastructure

Enterprise
Conditions

Investment
Environment

Social
Capital

Governance

Personal
Freedom

Safety &
Security

Below UK average Above UK average

Open Economies Empowered People

Inclusive Societies

• Living Conditions in the East of England are among the best in 
the country, with most areas enjoying strong digital connect-
edness, protection from harm, and a poverty rate of 18%, the 
third lowest. However, many rural local authorities lack access 
to basic amenities, with travel times to supermarkets, secondary 
schools, and GPs longer than the UK average (although these 
issues are typical for rural communities). 

• People who live in the East of England tend to be healthier 
than the rest of the UK. For example, St Albans and North 
Hertfordshire are among the top 15 areas for Health in the UK. 
However, Coastal Towns have some of the weakest health and 
care systems in the country. Tendring and Colchester have 18 
and 23 suicide deaths per 100,000 respectively, compared with 
the UK average of 10.

• Outside of the Commuter Belt, most areas in the region are 
struggling with Education. Attainment and also attendance in 
areas such as Peterborough and Great Yarmouth are among the 
lowest in the country. Out of 32 local authorities outside the 
commuter belt, 21 are below the UK average attainment rate 
for literacy, while all 30 authorities are below the UK average 
for maths attainment. In the Commuter Belt, all authorities are 
above average for literacy.

• Nearly half of all authorities are in the bottom quartile for 
Natural Environment with only 7 in the top 100—Castle Point, 
Watford and Stevenage. The main contributing factor to the 
weak performance is high exposure to air pollution and the 
reduced access to green spaces. Average concentration of coarse 
particulate matter is 15 µg/m3 compared with the UK average 
of 13 µg/m3.

• The quality of the Investment Environment in the East of England 
is below average. Norwich, Great Yarmouth and North Norfolk 
have some of the weakest Investment Environments in the UK, 
characterised by little investment demand and few plans for 
business expansion. Just 8% of small businesses attempted to 
raise finance for new products, compared with the UK average 
of 14%.

• The region as a whole has some of the weakest Enterprise 
Conditions in the country, although the Commuter Belt has 
strong Enterprise Conditions. This is due to factors like high prop-
erty costs, low awareness of local enterprise partnerships, and 
many businesses reporting that legislation and tax compliance 
are major barriers to doing business. For example, just 29% of 
small business owners are aware of their local enterprise part-
nership and its services, compared with a UK average of 37%.  

• Infrastructure in the Commuter Belt and Mid-Sized Urban Hubs 
is better than in rural areas and Coastal Towns. Many authori-
ties are some distance from major transport hubs. The average 
distance from the nearest major rail station is 62 minutes, and 
102 minutes to the nearest airport, which are both slightly more 
than the UK average.  

• The region’s strong economic outcomes are driven by local 
authorities in the Commuter Belt. The Commuter Belt has a 
large number of high-tech businesses, high productivity and a 
diverse workforce, making it productive and competitive. Across 
the East of England, GVA per hour is £2,301, compared with the 
UK average of £2,147. Coastal Towns, in sharp contrast, suffer 
from low productivity and competitiveness as well as higher 
unemployment rates. 

• The East of England is relatively safe and secure, although the 
picture has been deteriorating in recent years. It has lower than 
average levels of violent crime and property crime. West Suffolk 
is the safest area in this region, while Mid-Sized Urban Hubs 
such as Luton, Bedford, and Norwich are the least safe. They 
all have a higher theft rate than the UK average of 30 offences 
per 1,000 people.

• The region is above the UK average for Social Tolerance, and 
people are most tolerant when asked of their views toward dif-
ferent classes.

• The East of England has strong Governance and the highest 
levels of government effectiveness in the UK. Local governments 
are very competent at managing housing benefits, council tax 
and planning appeals. However, local election turnout is also 
often low, with 38 local authorities falling below the national 
average of 39%. In Coastal Towns such as Great Yarmouth and 
Castle Point the quality of government is lower. 

• One of its main strengths is Social Capital; 33 out of 45 local 
authorities are in the top 100 nationally. Uttlesford, St Albans, 
and East Hertfordshire have the strongest levels of Social Capital 
in the UK. The main strengths are low levels of loneliness and 
strong families, with the proportion of lone parent families, at 
19% of all families, the second lowest in the UK. 

Performance of East of England across the three Prosperity domains

East of England vs UK average

79

Page 231



47

49

51

53

55

202120192017201520132011

Pr
os

pe
rit

y 
sc

or
e

London UK

Local Authority Rank

Richmond upon Thames 7

City of London 20

Harrow 37

Kingston upon Thames 61

Merton 65

Camden 71

Bromley 76

Barnet 78

Wandsworth 79

Islington 82

Sutton 84

Hounslow 86

Tower Hamlets 90
Hammersmith and 
Fulham

93

Ealing 97

Redbridge 104

Hackney 113

Local Authority Rank

Hillingdon 115

Kensington and Chelsea 119

Westminster 128

Havering 129

Bexley 145

Southwark 154

Waltham Forest 170

Brent 178

Newham 187

Lambeth 188

Haringey 224

Croydon 244

Lewisham 256

Greenwich 258

Enfield 288

Barking and Dagenham 348

Westminster has the highest rate 
of robbery, knife crime, theft and 
burglary in the country, with 208 
thefts per 1,000 people.

Kensington and Chelsea has the 
lowest local election voter turnout 
rates in London at 30%, compared 

with Tower Hamlets at 47%.

Hammersmith and Fulham has the 
lowest rates of recycling in the UK. 

Only 16% of the waste material 
collected by Hammersmith and 

Fulham is recycled, compared with the 
UK average of 41%.

Croydon has one of the longest waits to process housing 
benefit applications—ranked 378th nationally and taking 
over 34 days to process a new claim. 

Kingston upon Thames has one 
of the highest rates of secondary 
attainment in the UK, at 82%.

While urban congestion is more 
prevalent in London than the rest 
of the UK, drivers in Havering 
lose only 39 hours per year in 
congestion, compared to more 
than 140 hours in most local 
authorities of London.

Camden is among the three local 
authorities where the number 
of businesses that survive their 
second year of operations is one 
of the highest at 192 per 10,000 
population, compared with the UK 
average of 44.

Secondary education in Barnet is the strongest in London and 
the second best in the UK. The percentage of pupils that are 

awarded level 2 qualifications in English and mathematics is 
among the highest at 81%.

Islington has 495 children in need 
per 10,000, the highest rate in 
London.

The vaccination rate for the 6-in-1 vaccination 
is only 80% in Hackney, compared with the UK 
average of 95%.

OVERVIEW

London has a strong economy, infrastructure, environment for business and education system but is suffering from a decline in safety and 
security and inclusive communities. While London is becoming more prosperous, this is undermined by a general failure to build inclusive 
and connected communities, and the highest rate of poverty in the UK. 

London and UK Prosperity

London (4th)

80

Page 232



-15 -10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15

Natural
Environment

Education

Health

Living
Conditions

Economic
Quality

Infrastructure

Enterprise
Conditions

Investment
Environment

Social
Capital

Governance

Personal
Freedom

Safety &
Security

Below UK average Above UK average

Open Economies Empowered People

Inclusive Societies

• Homelessness, over-indebtedness, and deep poverty are sig-
nificant problems, especially in Central London; 29% of the 
population is in poverty, 12% in deep poverty, and 43% of chil-
dren live in households that experience poverty, compared with 
the UK averages of 22% in poverty, 7% in deep poverty, and 33% 
of children in poverty.  

• Londoners enjoy relatively good health, with 65-year-olds on 
average expected to live another 21 years. There is also good 
physical health, and mental health. Prevalence of cardiovascular 
conditions, for example, is just 1.2%, the lowest in the UK. It also 
has the lowest adult obesity rates. However, preventative mea-
sures are weak. For example, vaccination coverage (before Covid) 
and cancer screenings are much lower than the UK average. The 
bottom 22 ranked authorities for Preventative Interventions are 
all in London.  

• London has best Education in the UK, with all boroughs in the 
top 100 nationally. Primary and secondary education are espe-
cially strong. The adult skill level of the working age population 
is also strong, with over 93% of people holding some type of 
qualification.  

• London’s Natural Environment is of lower quality than the rest 
of the UK, excluding the West Midlands metropolitan areas. 
London has the highest concentrations of particulate matter and 
nitrogen oxides in the country. Concentration of fine particulate 
matter is, on average, 12 µg/m3, compared with the UK average 
of 9 µg/m3. An estimated 6.4% of adult deaths are from air 
pollution, compared with 5% nationally.  

• London’s Investment Environment, which captures the supply 
of capital and investment demand, is the strongest in the UK. 
Unsurprisingly, it has the highest amount of venture capital in 
the country, at £407 per person, and the highest rate of equity 
finance success.  

• London’s labour market is strong and flexible, with few skills 
gaps and fewer hard to fill vacancies than other regions. Just 
33% of job vacancies are hard to fill, compared with the UK 
average of 38%. At the same time, the businesses face extremely 
high property costs, low levels of local enterprise partnership 
awareness and a perceived lack of support for small and medium 
sized enterprises. 

• London’s Infrastructure is among the strongest in the coun-
try and has improved over time. The vast majority of premises, 
96.5%, have superfast broadband available, while transport 
networks are strong. London businesses are better connected 
than anywhere else to airports and major rail stations.  But there 
remain problems. The main roads are in poor condition, and 
congestion causes drivers to lose 140 hours in traffic each year.  

• London’s economy is dynamic, productive and competitive. It 
enjoys large numbers of new businesses, higher rates of business 
survival and many small businesses making use of innovation 
vouchers. In the most recent year, its rate of new businesses (119 
per every 10,000 people) far exceeds any other region. However, 
unemployment is high in many London boroughs, none more so 
than Enfield, which has an unemployment rate of 6%, compared 
with the UK average of 3.9%.

• Londoners suffer some of the worst Safety and Security in the 
UK, including the highest rates of knife crime and robbery. There 
are 4.5 robbery offences per 1,000 people compared with the 
UK average of 1.4. Civil Disorder is among the worst in the UK, 
with public order offences and possession of weapons a prob-
lem. Since 2010, there have been 24 terror attacks, resulting in 
22 deaths. 

• London is, overall, a tolerant city, especially in Central London 
where there is greater tolerance when people are asked about 
social classes, ethnicities and religions than in Outer London. 

• Governance is average in London. While it has good government 
integrity, there are eight boroughs across London that have little 
competition in politics, where the local council has been held by 
the same party for 20 years.  Furthermore, there is little political 
diversity, with just 14% of the vote going to non-mainstream 
parties, the lowest in the UK.

• Many people in London feel bereft of strong social support, with 
10% of people saying they lack companionship, the highest in 
the UK. London has some of lowest rates of civic and social 
participation. Just 10% of adults volunteer to help sports, com-
pared with 13% in the UK. However, there is also a high level of 
institutional trust. 

Performance of London across the three Prosperity domains

London vs UK average

81

Page 233



47

49

51

53

55

202120192017201520132011

Pr
os

pe
rit

y 
sc

or
e

East Midlands UK

Local Authority Rank

Rutland 12

Harborough 26

Charnwood 45

Hinckley and Bosworth 60

Melton 64

Broxtowe 70

Rushcliffe 72

Blaby 73

Oadby and Wigston 81

North West Leicestershire 96

South Northamptonshire 98

Derbyshire Dales 106

Gedling 136

Daventry 148

Amber Valley 149

South Derbyshire 160

South Kesteven 166

High Peak 175

North Kesteven 176

Erewash 180

Local Authority Rank

North East Derbyshire 185

Northampton 193

East Northamptonshire 198

Chesterfield 208

Newark and Sherwood 213

Leicester 215

Ashfield 217

West Lindsey 235

Kettering 240

Bolsover 241

Corby 247

Bassetlaw 267

Wellingborough 284

Derby 291

Mansfield 293

Lincoln 308

South Holland 310

East Lindsey 318

Boston 333

Nottingham 337

Rutland is the safest local authority in 
East Midlands. Criminal damage offences 
are exceptionally low at 4.7 offences per 
1,000 population. 

Derbyshire Dales has one of the lowest 
percentages of adults classified as overweight 

or obese in East Midlands, at 56%. 

Drivers in Bassetlaw lose only an average of 4 
hours per year in urban congestion, which is 
one of the lowest in the UK.

In Harborough, citizens are more active when it comes to volunteering 
to support sport and physical activity, with 20% of the population 
volunteering at least twice in the last 12 months, compared with the UK 
average of 13%. 

With a loan supply of over £16,000 per 
capita and no businesses reporting delays 

or cancellations to projects due to a lack 
of finance, the Derbyshire Dales has one of 
the best investment environments outside 

London and the South East.

Prior to Covid-19, Lincoln 
had one of the highest 
unemployment rates across 
the UK at 5.5%.

Nottingham has seen the number of sexual 
offences per 1,000 population double, from 2 

to 4 in the last decade.

South Holland has some of 
the slowest internet speeds 
in the UK, with download 
speeds of just over 40Mb/s 
compared with the UK 
average of 72Mb/s. 

OVERVIEW

Prosperity across the East Midlands is varied. Overall, the East Midlands has low crime, high levels of personal connectedness, low rates of 
poverty, good provision of housing and low rates of mental ill-health. Living Conditions in the East Midlands are better than average—but 
Health, Education and the Natural Environment are weaker than average. Rural England areas and the North Midlands are more prosperous 
than the UK average, while urban areas have lower prosperity. 

East Midlands and UK Prosperity

East Midlands (5th)

Leicester ranks 349th for 
Preventative Interventions, 

with an HPV vaccination 
rate of just 81%, compared 

with the UK average of 
88%. 

82

Page 234



-15 -10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15

Natural
Environment

Education

Health

Living
Conditions

Economic
Quality

Infrastructure

Enterprise
Conditions

Investment
Environment

Social
Capital

Governance

Personal
Freedom

Safety &
Security

Below UK average Above UK average

Open Economies Empowered People

Inclusive Societies

• Living Conditions across the East Midlands are stronger than 
all regions, except the South East and East of England. The East 
Midlands has strong digital connectedness and low poverty. 
Only 3% of households do not have a mobile phone and only 
1% of residents are unbanked.  However, in the urban areas of 
Leicester, Derby and Nottingham, homelessness, income depri-
vation and overcrowding are more prevalent. 

• Health in the East Midlands is just below the UK average. The 
main area of poor performance is the region’s care systems, with 
just 73% of A&E attendances dealt with in four hours, com-
pared with the UK average of 79%. Individuals in rural areas 
and the North Midlands enjoy better health than residents in 
urban areas. This urban-rural divide is most noticeable when 
considering mental health outcomes. For example, the suicide 
rate is only 5.5 per 100,000 in rural Harborough and over 12 per 
100,000 in both Lincoln and Nottingham.  

• Across all stages of school education, the East Midlands performs 
poorly, especially in urban areas, with only Rutland, Rushcliffe 
and Broxtowe in the top quartile nationally. Less than pupils in 
40% of low-income households pass GCSE English and maths, 
which is one of the lowest rates in the UK. Furthermore, adults in 
this region have low levels of qualifications. The most successful 
aspect of education in this region is the progression of school 
leavers to both apprenticeships and further education courses. 

• The quality of the Natural Environment of the East Midlands is 
below the UK average, primarily due to a lack of green spaces 
and significant exposure to air pollution. It has the fourth worst 
rate of exposure to fine particulate matter, at 9.9 µg/m3. 

• Two thirds of authorities in the East Midlands have a stron-
ger than average Investment Environment. The Investment 
Environment has also been improving, countering the declining 
UK trend. For example, 25% of small businesses sought financing 
for new processes, up from 8% a few years ago. 

• The East Midlands has good Enterprise Conditions and is only 
marginally behind London. Nottingham and Derby typify 
supportive business environments in the region, with few frus-
trations around tax compliance or local government restrictions. 
There are encouraging signs of a healthy labour market in the 
East Midlands, with hard to fill vacancies at less than 30%, lower 
than the UK average of 38%.  

• The East Midlands has weak Infrastructure. Rural areas and the 
North Midlands lack high quality internet connections, and the 
region, particularly in rural areas, is poorly connected to rail and 
airport hubs. The average train station is more than 76 minutes 
from homes in the East Midlands, compared with the UK average 
of 59. There are around five rail passenger journeys per capita 
per year, compared with the UK average of 23. 

• Economic Quality in the East Midlands is poor. There is par-
ticularly weak Fiscal Sustainability, with an increasing share of 
expenditure put towards social care spending, while spending 
power per dwelling has also declined. The region lacks com-
petitiveness, having one of the lowest export rates for small 
businesses and only 8% of all businesses being high-tech, com-
pared with the UK average of 10%. 

• While crime rates are increasing, the East Midlands has low over-
all crime rates. The homicide rate is 9.1 per 100,000 people, 
compared with the UK average of 11.2. However, Mid-Sized 
Urban Hubs, as well as the Industrial Heartlands areas of Derby 
and Nottingham, have higher rates of crime. For example, 
Lincoln has 5.8 sexual offences per 1,000 people, compared 
with the regional average of 2.7.

• Whilst there is a high level of tolerance for individuals of differ-
ent ethnicities in the East Midlands, people are less likely than 
average to be tolerant when asked about different classes and 
religions. 

• The average quality of governance in the East Midlands is above 
the UK average. The effectiveness of local government is strong 
and improving; 90% of planning decisions go through on time, 
compared with the UK average of 85%. However, the quality of 
local democracy has declined. Half of all local authorities have 
had the same party in control for at least 16 of the last 20 years. 
Leicester and Nottingham are notable exceptions to other areas, 
having seen increases in local turnout. 

• The East Midlands is ranked 5th in the UK for social capital. Its 
residents have a sense of companionship and are unlikely to feel 
lonely. Just 7% of people feel lonely, the third lowest in the UK. 
There are also high levels of institutional trust, particularly in 
Parliament and government.  

Performance of East Midlands across the three Prosperity domains

East Midlands vs UK average

83

Page 235



47

49

51

53

55

202120192017201520132011

Pr
os

pe
rit

y 
sc

or
e

West Midlands non-metro UK

Local Authority Rank

Warwick 62

Rugby 105

Stratford-on-Avon 117

Bromsgrove 121

Lichfield 161

Stafford 184

Tamworth 189

South Staffordshire 191

Redditch 192

Staffordshire Moorlands 196

Malvern Hills 199

East Staffordshire 210

Local Authority Rank

North Warwickshire 218

Wychavon 222

Cannock Chase 225

Nuneaton and Bedworth 227

Newcastle-under-Lyme 228

Herefordshire, County of 236

Telford and Wrekin 251

Worcester 262

Wyre Forest 278

Shropshire 280

Stoke-on-Trent 359

Stoke-on-Trent experiences the highest rates 
of crime and civil disorder in the region. Sexual 

offences have increased from 1.4 to 4 per 1,000 
people in the past decade, one of the highest rates 

in the UK.

Tamworth is the sole local 
authority in the region that 
has seen a reduction in crime. 
The number of domestic abuse 
incidents decreased from 12 to 10 
incidents per 1,000 population.

Telford and Wrekin is one of the most 
effective local councils in the area, 

dealing with housing benefit claims 
within 10 days on average and dealing 
with 95% of development decisions in 

a timely manner.

Shropshire has the highest 
rate of obesity in the region, 

with 72% of adults over-
weight or obese.

Worcester has 98.9% superfast 
broadband availability, the 10th 

highest in the UK.

Lichfield is one of the highest 
performing local authorities in the 
region with a high proportion of small 
businesses accessing public sector 
contracts.

The percentage of state-funded school 
leavers who go on to higher education is the 
highest among students in Stratford-on-
Avon at 33%.

OVERVIEW

Prosperity in the West Midlands non-metropolitan area is similar to the UK average. The region is a predominantly rural area, with Worcester 
and Stoke-on-Trent the only authorities that are classically urban archetypes—a Mid-Sized Urban Hub and Post-Industrial Urban area, 
respectively. The strengths of this region include the quality of Governance, its Safety and Security, and high Social Tolerance. There is 
a contrasting trend in Infrastructure, Education, and the Natural Environment where, despite improvements, the region still performs 
worse than the UK average.

West Midlands non-metropolitan and UK Prosperity

West Midlands non-metro (6th)

84

Page 236



-15 -10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15

Natural
Environment

Education

Health

Living
Conditions

Economic
Quality

Infrastructure

Enterprise
Conditions

Investment
Environment

Social
Capital

Governance

Personal
Freedom

Safety &
Security

Below UK average Above UK average

Open Economies Empowered People

Inclusive Societies

• Living Conditions are below the UK average. Travel times to local 
amenities are longer than most other areas in the UK, and there 
are also high rates of accidents. There are 305 non-fatal injuries 
for every 100,000 employees each year, compared with the UK 
average of 263. In the urban areas such as Worcester and Stoke-
on-Trent, there are also high rates of homelessness.   

• Health is also poor. The quality of care systems and people’s 
physical health are significantly worse than the UK average. Just 
71% of cancer referrals are able to start treatment within the 
62-day target, compared with the UK average of 78%.  

• Education outcomes are lower than the UK average. Secondary 
attainment among students from low-income families is just 
39%, compared with the UK average of 44%. Rural areas have 
high levels of skills within the working age population, partic-
ularly Stafford, where over 97% of the population have some 
qualifications. Stoke-on-Trent and Worcester are among the 
weakest performers in the region—in both regions, less than 
88% of adults have some qualifications.

• As a predominantly rural region, there are low levels of emissions 
from industry and transport, and the concentrations of nitrogen 
oxides are also low. Despite its rurality, the average size of the 
nearest green spaces close to residential areas in Shropshire, 
South Staffordshire and Stratford-on-Avon are particularly 
small; in Stratford-on-Avon it is under 70,000m2, whereas the 
UK average is over 385,000m2.

• The Investment Environment in this region is weak, with low 
demand for new investment. Just 2% of small businesses tried 
to raise capital to fund new products, the second lowest in the 
UK, and only 4% tried to raise capital for new processes, the 
third lowest. 

• The conditions for local enterprise in this region are generally 
strong; it is ranked 3rd in the UK. Few small businesses feel that 
the living wage legislation is a barrier to their business, and there 
are few skills gaps among employees. However, attracting new 
skilled employees is a challenge, with 43% of vacancies deemed 
hard to fill, the second highest in the UK. 

• Overall Infrastructure is poor, with the region ranked 10th in 
the UK. The average download speed is just 65 Mb/s. Transport 
infrastructure is also poor. There are a low number of passengers 
using rail stations (6.6 journeys per person per year) and road 
conditions are poor. These problems are most pronounced in 
Herefordshire, which has slow broadband speeds, few houses 
connected to the gas network, few superfast broadband connec-
tions, and poor road conditions, and the average journey time 
to a rail hub by public transport is over two hours. 

• The region is ranked 7th in the UK for its Economic Quality. Stoke-
on-Trent and Remote Rural areas of the region show few signs of 
dynamism or competition. Labour Force Engagement is better 
than any other region, with high economic activity rates for men 
and women of 86% and 77%. However, SME growth and GVA 
growth are both low. 

• Overall crime rates in this region are low. It has one of the lowest 
rates of criminal damage offences, at just 8 offences per 1,000 
people, compared with the national average of 9. The highest 
rates of crime are in local authorities adjacent to Birmingham 
and in Stoke-on-Trent.  

• This is overall a tolerant region compared with the UK average, 
with the greatest tolerance when asked about different classes, 
followed by those of different ethnicities and religions. 

• Governance is strong within the West Midland non-metropolitan 
area, ranking 4th overall in the UK. National election turnouts are 
high, with Stratford-on-Avon ranked 11th nationally with a turn-
out of over 75%. However, there has been a decline in the quality 
of local democracy, driven in part by an increasing number of 
local authorities that have had little change in political power. 

• The Social Capital of West Midlands non-metropolitan area is 
weak. Just three local authorities have better social capital than 
the UK average. In this region, 8.8% of people feel left out and 
8.4% of people feel lonely, which is similar to the UK averages. 

West Midlands non-metropolitan vs UK average

Performance of West Midlands non-metropolitan across the three Prosperity domains

85

Page 237



47

49

51

53

55

202120192017201520132011

Pr
os

pe
rit

y 
sc

or
e

North West non-metro UK

Local Authority Rank

Cheshire East 75

South Lakeland 99

Ribble Valley 133

Chorley 141

Warrington 143

Cheshire West 
and Chester 172

Fylde 179

Eden 190

South Ribble 220

West Lancashire 229

Carlisle 234

Lancaster 238

Local Authority Rank

Allerdale 252

Wyre 264

Halton 265

Barrow-in-Furness 271

Rossendale 275

Hyndburn 286

Pendle 297

Copeland 300

Preston 305

Blackburn with Darwen 314

Burnley 334

Blackpool 379

OVERVIEW

The North West non-metropolitan region is below average in prosperity. Its strengths lie in the quality of local governance and the stable, 
if relatively unproductive, economy. It has the local authority with the lowest level of prosperity in the UK, Blackpool, which performs 
poorly across most pillars. Generally, better performing areas are located in the rural areas and have better education and health. The rest 
of the local authorities, such as the Remote Rural areas, Lancashire and the Industrial Heartlands suffer from poor mental health and low 
rates of further education. The rural areas have stronger societal relationships than the more urban zones.

North West non-metropolitan and UK Prosperity

North West non-metro (7th)

Halton has some of the best 
transport infrastructure in 

the region, with average time 
to the nearest major airport 
just 47 minutes, compared 
with the UK average of 94 

minutes.

In Eden life expectancy at 65 is 22 years, compared 
with the UK average of 20 years.

In Pendle, more than 20% of the adult population 
have no qualification, compared with 8% across the 
UK. Just 60% have level 2 qualifications or higher and 
28% have level 4 qualifications, compared with the UK 
average of 76% and 40%.

Ribble Valley is one of the safest local authorities in 
the region, with no offences for possession of weap-
ons recorded in recent years. 

Cheshire West and Chester has the region’s highest local election voter 
turnout rate at 68% in 2018 and has seen an improvement in the last 10 
years with nearly 25% more of the electorate voting. 

In Blackpool the accidental death rate is 
more than twice the UK average.

South Lakeland has 44 properties per 1,000 
population at a medium risk of flooding and 28 
properties per 1,000 population at a high risk of 

flooding. These figures are among the highest 
in the UK. 

86

Page 238



-15 -10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15

Natural
Environment

Education

Health

Living
Conditions

Economic
Quality

Infrastructure

Enterprise
Conditions

Investment
Environment

Social
Capital

Governance

Personal
Freedom

Safety &
Security

Below UK average Above UK average

Open Economies Empowered People

Inclusive Societies

• The region’s Living Conditions are just below average. There is 
poor access to local amenities and some danger from accidents. 
Travel times to nearby local amenities are also relatively long, 
and the 21% of people live in food deserts, the second highest 
in the UK.

• The region’s low Health ranking is driven by poor mental and 
physical health. The percentage of patients with depression the 
second highest in the UK, with 14% of patients on GP lists being 
diagnosed (compared with the UK average of 11%). The region 
also has the second highest prevalence of cardiovascular condi-
tions and dementia, with rates of 2.4% and 0.9% respectively. 

• Education is slightly below average. Pre-primary enrolment 
is below the national average of 72%. The region has a high 
number of students going into apprenticeships, but a relatively 
low enrolment of 15% in higher education, compared with the 
national average of 23%. In Lancashire and the urban areas, few 
students go onto higher education, and the provision of adult 
skills is among the lowest in the country. 

• The quality of the Natural Environment is above average, with 
relatively low emissions rates and low exposure to air pollu-
tion across the whole region. For example, the concentration of 
coarse particulate matter, at just 10 µg/m3, is the second lowest 
in the UK. It is within the Remote Rural areas where there are 
major issues with flooding and water management, with high 
risk levels of floods.

• The region has one of the weakest Investment Environments in 
the UK and has been weakening over time. The percentage of 
small businesses making use of equity financing or loans from 
either banks, other businesses, or connections such as angel 
investors is at 20%, decreasing from 28% over the last 10 years, 
which is low compared with the UK average. There is little real 
appetite for investment for overseas expansion for future proj-
ects, with just 1.9% of small businesses attempting to raise 
finance for expansion into new overseas markets.  

• The environment for starting and running a business is good—
there are low property costs, awareness of local enterprise 
partnerships, and low regulatory barriers. However, there are 
major challenges in the labour market—many firms report skill 
shortages and skill gaps, with 31% of vacancies due to skills 
shortages, the highest in the UK.

• The region has below-average Infrastructure, with especially 
poor water provision. It has high rates of leakage and a large 
number of supply interruptions. Several authorities are discon-
nected from major transport hubs, with most of the remote 
rural areas more than the UK average of 60 minutes from a 
major railway station. 

• The region has benefited from relatively prudent management 
of local authority finances, good labour force engagement, and 
little economic volatility. Eleven local authorities have more 
than 100% of their expenditure in reserves. However, there is 
low diversity in its workforce, and the share of firms in industries 
with high research and development expenditure is minimal. 

• Safety and Security in this region is good. It also has the lowest 
rate of domestic abuse, with just 5 incidents per 1,000 people. 
However, violent crimes, especially sexual offences, have 
increased. Furthermore, its overall homicide rate is 13 homi-
cides per 100,000 people, compared with the UK average of 11.

• The region is the least socially tolerant area in the UK, across 
ethnicity, classes and religions. 

• Governance is relatively strong, particularly for the effectiveness 
of local government. The region has the highest local election 
turnout in England, at 44%. There is significant regional varia-
tion across Governance. For example, while local election voter 
turnout is high in places such as Cheshire East at 67%, eight (out 
of 24) local authorities have a turnout rate below the national 
average of 34%.  

• Social Capital is relatively weak and deteriorating, compared 
with the rest of the UK. There is a significant challenge with 
family breakdown. It also has one of the highest rates of lone 
parent families, with 26% of all families being lone parent, 
compared with the UK average of 22%. The number of children 
in need and looked after children are both higher than the UK 
average. Trust in government and institutions is low, while civic 
and social participation is declining.

North West non-metropolitan vs UK average

Performance of North West non-metropolitan across the three Prosperity domains

87

Page 239



46

48

50

52

54

202120192017201520132011

Pr
os

pe
rit

y 
sc

or
e

North East UK

OVERVIEW

The North East is less prosperous than the UK average. With the exception of Northumberland, it is made up entirely of Post-Industrial 
Urban local authorities. Its greatest challenge lies in its social capital, where there have been high levels of family breakdown. It has seen 
a decline in trust in societal institutions, from local members of parliament to courts. While it has relative strengths such as good infra-
structure, it still underperforms economically, especially in labour market engagement. There are major challenges in health outcomes 
and poverty rates, which are among the weakest in the UK. 

North East and UK Prosperity

North East (8th)

Newcastle-upon-Tyne has the 
best Health in the North East, with 

the prevalence of hypertension at 
just 12%, compared with the UK 

average of 14%.
Sunderland has one of the lowest 
national election voter turnout rates  
at 58%, compared with the UK average  
of 67%.

In Redcar and Cleveland, 30% of 
children are overweight or obese, one of 
the highest rates in the UK. 

In Middlesbrough, the unemployment rate 
was 7.6%, compared with the regional 

average of 5.8%, and the national average 
of 3.9% (pre-Covid-19). 

The percentage of vacancies 
that are hard to fill by employ-

ers in Hartlepool is only 18%, 
which is low when compared 

with the UK average.

South Tyneside has 97% of properties connected to the  
gas network and an average download speed of 88 Mb/s, 
among the best in the North East.

Hartlepool has 698 children in need per 
10,000, one of the highest in the UK.

In Northumberland, 12% of school 
leavers pursue apprenticeships, the 

highest in the region.

North Tyneside is the most prosperous local authority in  
the North East. It has low exposure to air pollution, with 
concentration of fine particulate matter of 6.5 µg/m3, 
compared with the UK average of 9 µg/m3.

88

Local Authority Rank

North Tyneside 168

Gateshead 205

Northumberland 206

Newcastle upon Tyne 212

Stockton-on-Tees 246

County Durham 254

South Tyneside 261

Sunderland 268

Darlington 274

Redcar and Cleveland 331

Hartlepool 358

Middlesbrough 378

Page 240



-15 -10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15

Natural
Environment

Education

Health

Living
Conditions

Economic
Quality

Infrastructure

Enterprise
Conditions

Investment
Environment

Social
Capital

Governance

Personal
Freedom

Safety &
Security

Below UK average Above UK average

Open Economies Empowered People

Inclusive Societies

• One of the North East’s major challenges is its persistent and 
widespread poverty. Its poverty rate of 26% is second only to 
London’s, and it has one of the highest number of students eligi-
ble for free school meals. The region also has one of the highest 
accident death rates in the UK. 

• Health outcomes are poor. Risk factors, such as drug misuse, 
hypertension, and alcohol misuse, are high, with drug-related 
deaths at 13 per 100,000, one of the highest levels in the UK. 
The region also has the poorest physical health in the country, 
including the highest rates of cardiovascular conditions, respi-
ratory conditions, disability and dementia. These outcomes are 
poor across all local authorities. However, the region does have 
some of the best healthcare systems in the country, with a high 
number of care home beds, and relatively short waiting times.

• The North East has a good education system for pre-primary and 
primary aged children, with high rates of literacy and numeracy 
attainment at primary level. The region’s major challenge is the 
low level of education in the adult population. Just 32% of the 
adult population have level 4 qualifications, compared with the 
UK average of 40%. 

• The region outperforms the UK average for its Natural 
Environment. While the North East has higher industry and 
transport CO2 emissions compared with other regions, there 
is low exposure to air pollution and fewer issues with flooding 
management. There is a high amount of waste produced per 
person and low recycling rate, at just 36%, compared with the 
UK average of 41%.

• The North East’s Investment Environment is weaker than the 
UK average. The average loan supplied, which is £3,035, is much 
lower than the UK average of £4,560. The percentage of small 
business managers who trust the banking sector is just 60%, 
which is just below the UK average of 63%. One strength is the 
supply of capital—there are very few projects that are stopped 
or delayed because of lack of capital. 

• The North East has good Enterprise Conditions. Its major 
strength is labour market flexibility—employers generally report 
there being few barriers to employing workers and recruiting. For 
example, just 6% of businesses see the living wage as a barrier, 
compared with the UK average of 11%.

• There is good infrastructure in the North East, with a reliable and 
affordable energy and water network, in addition to good road 
conditions. Northumberland and County Durham have slower 
internet speeds (both less than 46 Mb/s) and worse transport 
links than most urban areas. One weakness across all areas is a 
lack of access to major railway stations or airports. In every local 
authority, the average travel time to the nearest major airport 
(Newcastle) is more than the UK average of 100 minutes. 

• The North East’s Economic Quality is generally low. The region’s 
economy lacks dynamism. The number of new businesses 
starting is at 36 per 10,000 population (compared with the UK 
average of 59), and only 28 new businesses per 10,000 popula-
tion survive to their second year (compared with the UK average 
of 44). Male and female participation in the labour force is also 
lower than in other parts of the country, and 7% of those aged 
16-18 are not in employment, education or training, compared 
with the UK average of 5%.

• The region performs above average for Safety and Security, 
although it still ranks 10th, with high rates of violent crime. 
Domestic abuse is high across the region, with 16 incidents per 
1,000 population, almost twice the UK average. There are also a 
high number of sexual offences and homicides, with four author-
ities (Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-on-Tees, Hartlepool, and 
Middlesbrough) having the third highest homicide rates in the 
country (26 homicides per 100,000 population). 

• Governance is poor in the North East. While local governments 
are relatively effective, there is weak government integrity. 
Engagement in local democracy is more mixed: local election 
turnout is relatively high in many authorities, with an overall 
turnout average of 41%, but there is a general cynicism around 
how much one’s vote actually makes a difference. Furthermore, 
in 6 out of 12 local authorities, there has been virtually no 
change in the party that holds power in the last 20 years. 

• The North East has the weakest Social Capital out of any region. 
It is weak in the amount of personal support people receive and 
the strength of families. It has the highest rates of teen pregnan-
cies and lone parent families in the UK, with 26.8% compared 
with the UK average of 22.3%. Trust in institutions is also low, 
with trust in members of Parliament the lowest in the country.

North East vs UK average

Performance of North East across the three Prosperity domains

89

Page 241



46

48

50

52

54

202120192017201520132011

Pr
os

pe
rit

y 
sc

or
e

Wales UK

Local Authority Rank

Vale of Glamorgan 158

Monmouthshire 214

Powys 232

Cardiff 255

Pembrokeshire 273

Swansea 285

Carmarthenshire 287

Flintshire 295

Gwynedd 298

Conwy 319

Bridgend 323

Local Authority Rank

Ceredigion 328

Denbighshire 329

Isle of Anglesey 335

Caerphilly 336

Newport 339

Rhondda Cynon Taf 343

Wrexham 344

Torfaen 346

Neath Port Talbot 349

Merthyr Tydfil 357

Blaenau Gwent 368

In Rhondda Cynon Taf, over the last decade 
the rate of teenage pregnancies has more 
than halved from 12 to 5 conceptions for 
every 1,000 women aged 13-15.

While Cardiff has the best infrastructure 
in Wales, it has one of the highest journey 

delays and urban congestion in the UK, with 
around 87 hours lost by drivers per year.

The Vale of Glamorgan has 
the best health in Wales, 
with the lowest rates of 

childhood obesity and 
the lowest prevalence of 

hypertension.

In Ceredigion, the suicide rate has 
increased from almost four-fold to 21 

deaths per 100,000 people.

Merthyr Tydfil has seen the greatest 
improvement in communications 

infrastructure, with download speed 
increasing from 6Mb/s to 44Mb/s. 

Superfast broadband is now available 
in 97% of properties.

Monmouthshire has seen the average time 
taken to process housing benefit claims fall 
from 46 to 17 days. 

Blaenau Gwent has seen the greatest 
reduction in property crime. The number 
of criminal damage offences has reduced 
from 28 to 16 offences per 1,000 people 
in the last decade.

There are 28 community amateur sports clubs 
per 10,000 people in  Powys, one of the highest 

numbers in Wales and the UK. 

Caerphilly has the lowest 
local election turnout in 
Wales at 36%.

Adults in Monmouthshire are the most 
qualified in Wales, with 96% having 
some qualifications and 83% having 
level 2 qualifications. 

OVERVIEW

Prosperity in Wales was improving, and it has risen from 14th to 9th in the regional rankings, but since 2018 prosperity has been in decline, 
driven primarily by weakening Health and a deterioration in the quality of the Investment Environment. Overall, the Welsh economy is weak 
and is undermined by insufficient Infrastructure and poor conditions for enterprise. Compared with the rest of the UK, the performance of 
Wales in Health, the living conditions of its people and the quality of its education is generally poor. Rural Wales tends to perform more 
strongly than the Welsh Valleys, being safer, better governed and having higher levels of social capital. 

Wales and UK Prosperity

Wales (9th)

90

Page 242



-15 -10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15

Natural
Environment

Education

Health

Living
Conditions

Economic
Quality

Infrastructure

Enterprise
Conditions

Investment
Environment

Social
Capital

Governance

Personal
Freedom

Safety &
Security

Below UK average Above UK average

Open Economies Empowered People

Inclusive Societies

• Living Conditions are below the UK average. More than 1 in 20 
households experience deep poverty, which is the highest pro-
portion outside London. The percentage of children who are 
living in households experiencing poverty has decreased from 
37% to 31%.   

• The quality of Health in Wales is slightly below average. It has 
low vaccination rates and the second highest childhood obesity 
rate, at 26%.  However, the prevalence of diabetes is just 6%, 
which is the second lowest in the UK. Wales has also recorded 
slight improvements in uptake of the MMR vaccine and bowel 
cancer screening increasing from 92% to 94.5% and from 52.3% 
to 55.5%, respectively. 

• Wales has a large discrepancy in educational performance 
between primary and secondary levels. Primary attendance 
and attainment are higher than the UK average, whereas at 
secondary level attendance and attainment at the GCSE level 
is far below the UK average, although the difference in curric-
ulum might explain some of the variation. All local authorities 
in Wales are ranked in the bottom 50 for secondary education, 
with no more than 34% of low-income students achieving GCSE 
qualifications in English and maths. 

• The quality of the Natural Environment in Wales is better than 
the UK average, with its main strengths in low emissions and low 
air pollution. There has been a substantial reduction in nitrogen 
dioxide concentration from 10.2 µg/m3 to 6.7 µg/m3 over the 
last decade.

• Businesses in Wales have a weak Investment Environment with 
low capital supply, little demand for expansion, and 31% of proj-
ects are delayed due to a lack of financing, the highest rate in the 
UK. In the Welsh Valleys, the value of loans provided to SMEs by 
major banks per head of the population is £2,714, much lower 
than in Rural Wales, which is £9,516. 

• There is little local competition, which limits business innova-
tion. Commerce is dominated by a small number of businesses, 
when measured both in terms of the employment share and the 
turnover share. Just 0.3% of public sector contracts are fulfilled 
by small businesses, compared with 1.5% across the UK. 

• Infrastructure is also weak. The region’s broadband lags behind 
other regions, with average download speed just 58 Mb/s, com-
pared with the national average of 71. Far more properties lack 
access to electricity and gas in Rural Wales, where 37% of houses 
lack a connection to the gas network, which is six times higher 
than in the Welsh Valleys. In Carmarthenshire, Powys, Gwynedd, 
and the Isle of Anglesey, over 50% of properties lack connections 
to these networks.   

• All Welsh authorities are in the bottom 100 for Economic 
Quality. Wales is the weakest performing region in terms of 
productivity and competitiveness, and the fiscal sustainability of 
its local authorities. Just 6.7% of Welsh businesses are high-tech, 
which is the second lowest in the UK. Welsh local authorities 
have, on average, the lowest reserve to expenditure ratio in the 
UK. While unemployment in Wales has decreased over the last 
decade at 4.1%, it is still above the UK average.

• Wales has low rates of crime, although there have been increas-
ing amounts of civil disorder and violent crime in recent years. 
The homicide rate across Wales is 7 per 100,000 population, 
compared with the UK average of 11. Whilst there are higher 
rates of violent and property crime in the Welsh Valleys than 
Rural Wales, these areas are still safer than the UK average. One 
exception is found in the Welsh Valleys where domestic abuse, at 
16 incidents per 1,000 population, is higher than the UK average 
of 9 incidents. 

• Compared with their peers in other regions, people in Wales 
enjoy the highest levels of Social Tolerance, especially toward 
different religions.

• The quality of local Governance in Wales has also improved over 
the last decade. It has strong local democracy, high turnout 
and people who believe that voting makes a difference. Average 
turnout in local elections was high, at 42%. The effectiveness of 
local government has also recently improved. 

• However, prosperity in Wales is being undermined by an erosion 
of Social Capital. Wales has a large number of underage pregnan-
cies and looked-after children, with 108 looked-after children 
per 10,000. Family relationships are stronger in Rural Wales than 
in the Welsh Valleys. Rural Wales has lower rates of looked-after 
children, children in need, and children on child protection plans. 

Wales vs UK average

Performance of Wales across the three Prosperity domains

91

Page 243



Local Authority Rank

Mid Ulster 250

Lisburn and Castlereagh 276

Ards and North Down 277

Antrim and Newtownabbey 281

Armagh City, Banbridge 
and Craigavon 296

Mid and East Antrim 306

Newry, Mourne and Down 313

Fermanagh and Omagh 316

Causeway Coast and Glens 317

Derry City and Strabane 327

Belfast 355

46

48

50

52

54

202120192017201520132011

Pr
os

pe
rit

y 
sc

or
e

Northern Ireland UK

OVERVIEW

Prosperity in Northern Ireland is lower than the UK average. Belfast, which can be classified as a typical Industrial Heartland local govern-
ment district, has lower overall prosperity than the rest of Northern Ireland (Rural Northern Ireland). Northern Ireland’s weakest pillars 
are Governance, Enterprise Conditions, and Economic Quality. It has strengths in Social Capital, Education, and the Natural Environment.

Northern Ireland and UK Prosperity

Northern Ireland (10th)

61% of waste in Antrim and 
Newtownabbey is recycled, which is the 

highest in Northern Ireland.

Lisburn and Castlereagh has the region’s 
highest rate of school leavers progressing to 
higher education at 51%.

In Derry City and Strabane, the unemployment 
rate has fallen from 16.7% to 1.5% over the 

decade. 

The average download speed in 
Belfast is 94 Mb/s, which is the 
fastest in Northern Ireland.

Mid Ulster is the highest-ranking local 
government district in Northern Ireland and 

has the lowest rate of underage pregnancy 
in the UK.

Belfast has the region’s highest 
concentration of NOx, a gaseous 
pollutant. At 15.7µg/m3 this is more 
than double the concentration in any 
other local government district in 
Northern Ireland.

Fermanagh and Omagh has 
the region’s highest turnout 

in local elections, at 63%. 

Ards and North Down has seen the 
largest improvement in preventative 
interventions, with bowel cancer 
screening increasing from 56% to 65%.

92

Page 244



-15 -10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15

Natural
Environment

Education

Health

Living
Conditions

Economic
Quality

Infrastructure

Enterprise
Conditions

Investment
Environment

Social
Capital

Governance

Personal
Freedom

Safety &
Security

Below UK average Above UK average

Open Economies Empowered People

Inclusive Societies

• Living Conditions in Northern Ireland is below the UK average. 
Although the persistent poverty rate has decreased from 17% 
to 15%, it is still the highest level outside London. Only 64% of 
properties have indoor coverage for 4G, which is the lowest for 
any region in the UK. 

• Overall morbidity and the quality of healthcare systems in 
Northern Ireland are weaker than the rest of the UK, with Belfast 
the weakest performing of all districts. There has also been a 
decline in the quality of healthcare systems, illustrated by the 
decrease from 83% to 68% of A&E attendances that are admit-
ted, transferred or discharged within four hours. Similarly, the 
percentage of patients starting cancer treatment within 62 days 
of GP referral has decreased from 88% to 57%. 

• Northern Ireland has good education provision. It is ranked 2nd 
for Secondary Education and 1st for Tertiary Education Provision. 
Northern Ireland has a high proportion of low-income students 
attaining level 2 qualifications in English and mathematics, 
ranked 2nd as a region behind London. However, its low levels 
of adult skills are in stark contrast to its strengths in the rest of 
the pillar. However, the qualifications of the working age popu-
lation have improved; the proportion with level 4 qualifications 
has increased from 27% to 36% in the last decade.

• The Natural Environment in Northern Ireland has improved over 
the last decade, primarily due to its reduction in CO2 emissions 
and a decrease in the concentrations of particulate matter and 
nitrogen oxides, and it now has the lowest concentrations of 
atmospheric nitrogen oxides. Overall recycling rates in Northern 
Ireland are the highest in the UK. 

• Northern Ireland has low overall rates of crime. For example, the 
number of sexual offenses is 1.9 per 1,000 people, and the rate 
of theft offenses is 10 per 1,000 people, both the lowest rates 
in the UK. Crime rates are highest in Belfast. For example, there 
are 23.3 thefts per 1,000 people in Belfast, more than double 
the rate in any other Northern Irish local government district. 
Northern Ireland has experienced a reduction in property crime, 
although there has been an increase in terrorist incidents over 
the last decade. 

• Governance is weak in Northern Ireland. While Northern Ireland 
has the highest average local election voter turnout out of all 
regions, at 53%, it has the second-lowest turnout in national 
elections, with just 62% voting. Local councils are also poor 
at returning planning applications—just 55% of all plans are 
returned in a timely manner, compared with the UK average 
of 85%.  

• Social Capital is Northern Ireland’s highest-ranking pillar (4th). 
Northern Ireland has less than 7% of people reporting feelings 
of isolation or loneliness. It also has strong Civic and Social 
Participation, with the largest average donation amount (£343) 
and highest frequency of charitable donations in the UK.

• Northern Ireland has low levels of private sector investment. 
The value of venture capital invested per head of the popula-
tion is just £20, much lower than the UK, which averages £146. 
Increasing numbers of businesses in Northern Ireland are delay-
ing projects due to a lack of external financing.

• Businesses in Northern Ireland face challenges with regulatory 
barriers and finding skilled workers. Around 30% of small busi-
ness owners say recruitment and retainment are a barrier, the 
highest proportion in the UK.  

• Infrastructure is poor in Northern Ireland. Overall internet down-
load speed is slow. There is disparity in internet connectivity 
between Belfast and the rest of Northern Ireland, with download 
speeds in Rural Northern Ireland at most 72 Mb/s, the same 
as the UK average, whereas the average speed in Belfast is 94 
Mb/s. There is also major urban congestion, with urban drivers 
losing on average 65 hours per year in congestion in the nearest 
urban centre. 

• Northern Ireland is the weakest region for Economic Quality. 
It has the lowest high-tech business share with just 5.1% and 
the lowest rates of business creation. However, it does have 
high labour force engagement, with the lowest unemployment 
before Covid-19 in the UK (2.4%) and the highest job satisfac-
tion (90%). In Derry City and Strabane, unemployment rates 
have fallen and the NEET rate has also fallen, resulting in it 
seeing the greatest improvement in Economic Quality.

Northern Ireland vs UK average

Performance of Northern Ireland across the three Prosperity domains

93

Page 245



45

47

49

51

53

202120192017201520132011

Pr
os

pe
rit

y 
sc

or
e

Scotland UK

Local Authority Rank

East Renfrewshire 41

Aberdeenshire 83

East Dunbartonshire 109

Na h-Eileanan Siar 155

Orkney Islands 167

Aberdeen City 202

Shetland Islands 204

Stirling 211

Scottish Borders 231

Perth and Kinross 233

City of Edinburgh 242

South Ayrshire 260

Moray 270

West Lothian 272

Angus 279

Argyll and Bute 283

Local Authority Rank

East Lothian 289

Fife 290

Dumfries and Galloway 315

South Lanarkshire 321

Highland 324

Midlothian 338

Falkirk 341

Renfrewshire 342

North Ayrshire 347

Inverclyde 351

East Ayrshire 354

Clackmannanshire 356

North Lanarkshire 361

Dundee City 372

West Dunbartonshire 376

Glasgow City 377

Scotland and UK Prosperity

OVERVIEW

Scotland performs just below the UK average. Outside of urban areas it has low crime and its air quality is good, with low concentrations 
of particulate matter. It is ranked first in the UK for its healthcare systems, with over 90% of A&E attendances being treated, admitted 
or transferred within four hours. Scotland’s main challenge is improving its Education and economic environment, such as its Investment 
Environment for businesses, which is the weakest in the UK. Prosperity in Scotland is also being undermined by weak local governance, 
with councils struggling to deliver key government services. The Scottish Islands are, on average, more prosperous than Rural Scotland 
and the Central Belt of Scotland. Rural areas tend to be safer, more inclusive, and healthier.

Scotland (11th)

Clackmannanshire ranks fourth in the UK 
for dynamism, with high rates of business 

start-ups and large numbers of high 
growth businesses. New business density 

is 548 per 10,000 people, the highest in 
the UK.

West Dunbartonshire has 
some of the fastest internet 

speeds in the UK at over 
100Mb/s. 

There are 21 homicides 
per 100,000 population in 
Glasgow, compared with 
5.4 homicides per 100,000 
population in Fife.

East Renfrewshire is one of two Scottish 
local authorities in the top quartile for 

Education. Primary literacy attainment 
is 86%, the highest in the UK.

In Fife, just 11% of small business owners 
see government not supporting their 
business, compared with the UK average 
of 18%.

In Aberdeenshire, 63% of premises do not 

receive good 4G coverage outdoors, one of the 

lowest in the UK.

The Orkney Islands has the best Health in Scotland. They have the lowest 

rate of depression in the UK, with a prevalence of just 3.4%. 

94

Page 246



-15 -10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15

Natural
Environment

Education

Health

Living
Conditions

Economic
Quality

Infrastructure

Enterprise
Conditions

Investment
Environment

Social
Capital

Governance

Personal
Freedom

Safety &
Security

Below UK average Above UK average

Open Economies Empowered People

Inclusive Societies

• Scotland has poor Living Conditions, with no local authority 
in the top 100. People in Scotland are less connected than 
elsewhere in the UK, with 5% of households having no mobile 
phone. It also has the second-longest travel time to a local 
supermarket at 13.5 minutes, which increases to over 21 minutes 
for those living in Rural Scotland. Scotland has the highest acci-
dental death rate in the UK—there are 43 accidental deaths per 
100,000 people, compared with 25 deaths for the UK average. 
However, it has relatively low rates of poverty and compara-
tively good housing. 

• Overall, Scotland is ranked 5th for Health, which is strongest in 
the Islands and Rural Scotland. It has strong healthcare systems, 
with cancer treatments and A&E visits the most likely in the UK 
to meet their waiting time targets and the highest rates of dental 
check-ups in the UK. However, Scotland has a large number of 
smokers (18%) compared with the UK average (14%) and the 
highest mortality rates for drug and alcohol abuse.  

• Scotland is ranked 15th for Education, with particularly poor pri-
mary and secondary outcomes. For example, the proportion of 
primary students achieving the expected standard at the end 
of primary school is just 70%, 6 percentage points below the 
UK average.  

• Low air pollution and widespread green space mean that 
Scotland’s Natural Environment is the best in the UK, with 26 
out of 32 local authorities in the top 100. One area of weakness 
is Scotland’s high carbon dioxide emissions. For example, domes-
tic energy emissions are 1.6 tonnes per person, compared with 
the UK average of 1.5. 

• Scotland has the weakest Investment Environment in the UK. 
It has deteriorated in every area over the past decade, as fewer 
firms demand new capital and financing services decline. The 
value of loans provided to small and medium enterprises in 
Glasgow by major banks is at £2,831 per capita, which is much 
lower than the UK average £4,560. 

• The conditions for local enterprise have also deteriorated. They 
are particularly weak in the Central Belt. Tax compliance and 
local government restrictions are more likely to be viewed as a 
barrier to business—8% of business owners say that local gov-
ernment restrictions are a barrier to business, the highest in 
the UK. 

• Infrastructure is weak in Rural Scotland and the Islands, which 
have the slowest internet speeds and among the largest number 
of properties that are not connected to the gas network in the 
UK. In contrast, council areas in the Central Belt, for example 
Dundee City, Glasgow City and Inverclyde, have widespread 
superfast internet access and download speeds between 70 and 
90 Mb/s, as well as good transport infrastructure.  

• Scotland has below-average Economic Quality. It has low labour 
productivity and low SME growth. It has the second lowest rate 
of new businesses starting, at just 39 per 10,000 people. It also 
has just 1.7 high growth businesses per 10,000 population, which 
is also the second lowest in the UK. Unsurprisingly, the Central 
Belt outperforms Rural Scotland and the Islands. The Central Belt 
is relatively competitive, with 13% of all businesses high-tech, 
compared with the UK average of 10%.

• Safety and Security is a strength for Scotland, with Rural 
Scotland and the Islands benefitting from low crime rates. Crime, 
especially violent crime, is worse in the Central Belt. For exam-
ple, there are around 5 knife crime offences per 10,000 people 
in Rural Scotland, compared with 11 offences in the Central Belt. 
Glasgow has some of the highest rates of knife crime, domestic 
abuse and homicides, consistently ranking in the bottom 30 
local authorities in the UK for all three indicators.  

• Scotland exhibits more Social Tolerance than the UK average, 
and is second only to Wales. Tolerance is stronger in Rural 
Scotland. 

• The quality of local Governance is weak, with low tax collec-
tion and slow planning processes. Only 61% of all development 
decisions in Scotland were made in a timely manner, which is 
significantly lower than the UK average (85%). However, it does 
have high local election turnout and there is a perception that 
voting makes a difference. 

• Scotland is ranked 9th in the UK for Social Capital, with it being 
dragged down by weak Family Relationships. It has 140 looked 
after children per 10,000, nearly twice the UK average. However, 
there are good social networks, with 44% of people believing 
most people can be trusted, the highest in the UK. There is also 
high civic and social participation.  

Performance of Scotland across the three Prosperity domains

Scotland vs UK average

95

Page 247



Local Authority Rank

York 103

East Riding of Yorkshire 122

Harrogate 131

Craven 134

Richmondshire 138

Hambleton 146

Ryedale 162

Scarborough 243

Selby 253

Calderdale 302

Sheffield 303

Local Authority Rank

Kirklees 325

Leeds 326

Barnsley 332

North Lincolnshire 340

Kingston upon Hull, City of 350

Rotherham 364

Bradford 365

Wakefield 367

Doncaster 373

North East Lincolnshire 374

46

48

50

52

54

202120192017201520132011

Pr
os

pe
rit

y 
sc

or
e

Yorkshire and The Humber UK

OVERVIEW

Despite prosperity increasing over the last 10 years, Yorkshire and the Humber remains a region with comparatively low prosperity. Due 
to other regions rising over the last decade, it has fallen in the regional rankings from 10th to 13th. The region is made up of Rural areas, 
Remote Rural areas, Industrial Heartlands, and Post-Industrial Urban areas. The region’s challenges are particularly acute in the Industrial 
Heartlands such as Doncaster and Rotherham, as well as the Post-Industrial Urban areas of Kingston upon Hull and Grimsby. There is a 
stark contrast in the strength of Governance, crime rates and Social Capital between the rural and urban areas. 

Yorkshire and The Humber and UK Prosperity

Yorkshire and The Humber (13th)

In Doncaster, just 24% of adults have level 4 
qualifications or higher, compared with the 
UK average of 40%. 

Kingston upon Hull has an average 
download speed of over 160 Mb/s, 
which is the fastest in the UK.  

Nearly 84% of properties in North 
Lincolnshire are at a medium or high 
flood risk.

Barnsley has the 
second-lowest local 

election voter turnout in 
the region, at only 27% 

of the electorate.

In Harrogate, people aged 65 years 
can expect to live for a further 21 

years, compared with the UK average 
of 20 years.

75% of adults in York engage in 150 minutes of 
physical exercise per week, compared with just 
55% in Rotherham. 

More than half of small 
business managers in 

Sheffield are aware of their 
local enterprise partner-
ships and the services it 

might offer. 

Selby has one of the largest number of 
sports clubs per head of population in 
the UK, with 27 per 10,000 people.

The average attendance rate of 
primary school pupils in Craven 

state schools is 96.4%, the highest 
in Yorkshire and the Humber.

96

Page 248



-15 -10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15

Natural
Environment

Education

Health

Living
Conditions

Economic
Quality

Infrastructure

Enterprise
Conditions

Investment
Environment

Social
Capital

Governance

Personal
Freedom

Safety &
Security

Below UK average Above UK average

Open Economies Empowered People

Inclusive Societies

• Living Conditions are weaker than the UK average. In industrial 
areas, poverty is particularly high; in many industrial and post-in-
dustrial towns, more than 20% of secondary school children 
receive free school meals, compared with the UK average of 
16.5%. Despite good digital infrastructure, with 80% of premises 
having good indoor 4G signal, 6% of households do not have a 
mobile phone meaning many people are unable to access online 
services. Across the region there are high rates of accidental 
deaths and work-related injuries. In rural areas, the journey times 
to local amenities such as schools and GP surgeries are much 
longer than the UK average.

• Health is below the UK average. Its weakest area is Mental 
Health. There are 12 deaths from suicide per 100,000, compared 
with the UK average of 10. Generally, the Industrial Heartlands 
and Post-Industrial Urban areas perform far worse for health 
outcomes than rural areas. 

• The region is also weak in Education. Rural areas and the city 
of York have better education outcomes than the UK average, 
while other urban areas are failing to achieve good education 
outcomes. For example, secondary attainment of level 2 qual-
ifications in York was 77%, compared with 63% in Bradford. 

• For Natural Environment, the region also falls below the UK 
average. Despite having lower concentrations of air pollutants 
that are harmful to health, such as particulate matter, there are 
high levels of CO2 emissions, especially in the industrial heart-
lands and post-industrial urban areas. Green spaces are also 
smaller than in other areas of the UK.

• The Investment Environment is poor across Yorkshire, with low 
capital supply. The amount of financing obtained by small busi-
nesses has declined in the last two years. The value of loans to 
small businesses is just £3,721 per capita, compared with the 
UK average of £4,560. 

• Enterprise Conditions in the region are roughly equivalent to 
the UK average. However, they have seen a steeper decline 
in recent years than has been seen nationally. The areas that 
have the strongest Enterprise Conditions are shared between 
the remote rural areas and the Industrial Heartlands. A wide 
variety is shown with Sheffield ranking 25th nationally for Labour 
Market Flexibility, as it has few vacancies that are hard to fill, 
and North East Lincolnshire, ranking 369th with extremely poor 
labour market flexibility.  

• The region is roughly equivalent to the UK average for 
Infrastructure. Transport is a particular challenge, with the 
region having significant journey delays, and 16 out of 21 local 
authorities are more than 100 minutes away from the nearest 
major airport, compared with the UK average of 94 minutes. In 
many remote parts of Yorkshire such as Richmondshire internet 
speeds are as low as 40 Mb/s, compared with the UK average 
of 72 Mb/s. 

• The region ranks poorly for Economic Quality. Local authorities 
underperform, with public works investment just £21 per person, 
compared with the UK average of £124. The greatest challenges 
lie in the Post-Industrial Urban areas, where GVA per hour is low 
and there are few new businesses and even fewer that sustain 
operations beyond their second year. 

• Overall, the region has some of the worst crime rates in the 
country. For example, it has 8 burglary offences per 1,000 
people, compared with the UK average of 5. More crime occurs 
in the Industrial Heartlands and Post-Industrial Urban areas. 

• The region shows low social tolerance when people are asked 
about different ethnic groups and social classes across the 
region, although there is a higher tolerance shown for different 
religions. 

• The quality, integrity and effectiveness of government varies 
widely between rural and urban areas. Compared with other 
areas of the country, the Industrial Heartlands areas have weaker 
governance, with particularly low trust in politicians. For exam-
ple, Barnsley ranks in the bottom 30, while East Riding has the 
best governance in the region. 

• Social Capital is slightly above the UK average, and has improved. 
It is strongest in Family Relationships, and weakest in Social 
Networks, where, for example, just 54% of people have access 
to neighbourly help (compared with the UK average of 59%). The 
sharpest divides in this region are seen in family relationships, 
and social and community networks. In Harrogate, for exam-
ple, there are 23 community amateur sports clubs per 10,000 
people, compared with just 2 in Kingston upon Hull.

Performance of Yorkshire and The Humber across the three Prosperity domains

Yorkshire and The Humber vs UK average

97

Page 249



Local Authority Rank

Solihull (W Mid metro) 174

Trafford (G Manchester) 183

Stockport (G Manchester) 237

Coventry (W Mid metro) 257

Wirral (Merseyside) 259

Sefton (Merseyside) 263

Bury (G Manchester) 282

St. Helens (Merseyside) 299

Walsall (W Mid metro) 304

Dudley (W Mid metro) 320

Wigan (G Manchester) 322

Bolton (G Manchester) 330

Local Authority Rank

Liverpool (Merseyside) 345

Sandwell (W Mid metro) 352

Birmingham (W Mid metro) 353

Knowsley (Merseyside) 360

Salford (G Manchester) 362

Rochdale (G Manchester) 363

Wolverhampton  
(W Mid metro) 366

Tameside (G Manchester) 369

Manchester (G Manchester) 371

Oldham (G Manchester) 375

Pr
os

pe
rit

y 
sc

or
e

MerseysideUK Greater
Manchester

West Midlands
metropolitan area

45

47

49

51

53

202120192017201520132011

OVERVIEW

The metropolitan areas are the least prosperous in the UK, and are made up primarily of Industrial Heartlands local authorities, and two 
Post-Industrial Urban local authorities. They have higher crime rates, weaker Social Capital and weaker institutions than other areas of 
the country. They have reasonably vibrant and dynamic economies, particularly the West Midlands metropolitan area. Furthermore, these 
areas have high rates of poverty, poor health outcomes, and relatively poor educational outcomes. 

Metro Regions and UK Prosperity

Metropolitan Regions
Merseyside (12th), West Midlands Metropolitan Area (14th), Greater Manchester (15th)

In Stockport, only 53% of 
small and medium enterprises 
managers have trust in the 
banking sector, compared with 
63% across the UK.

Within the metropolitan regions, 
theft and burglary offences are 
lowest in Wirral, with 20 theft 
offences per 1,000 population 

compared with 67 in Manchester.

The number of 
children on a child 
protection register 
or a child protection 
plan in Salford is 
86 per 10,000, 
compared with 43 
across the UK.

Rochdale has 17.9% of GP 
patients with depression, 

the worst figure across these 
regions.

In Walsall, 7% of job vacancies are the result of skills short-
ages, the lowest in the UK. 

In Solihull, the enrolment rate of children 
attending state-run nursery schools is at 95%, 

compared with the UK average of 72%.

In Birmingham, 9% of households 
are overcrowded, compared with 5% 

across the UK.

Greater Manchester

West Midlands  
metropolitan area

Merseyside

98

Page 250



-15 -10 -5 0 +5 +10 +15

Natural
Environment

Education

Health

Living
Conditions

Economic
Quality

Infrastructure

Enterprise
Conditions

Investment
Environment

Social
Capital

Governance

Personal
Freedom

Safety &
Security

Below UK average Above UK average

Open Economies Empowered People

Inclusive Societies

• The metropolitan areas suffer from high rates of violent crime, 
property crime and civil disorder. In Greater Manchester, the 
homicide rate of 22 per 100,000 is almost double the national 
average. The West Midlands metropolitan area has the UK’s 
highest rate of firearms offences and the highest rate of people 
saying there is a big problem with anti-social behaviour, at 17% 
(compared with the UK average of 7%). 

• All three metropolitan areas show low social tolerance when 
asked about different classes and ethnic groups, although 
Merseyside shows more tolerance toward different religions.

• The quality of governance in these areas is low—they have low 
levels of integrity in local government, low effectiveness and, 
particularly in Merseyside and Greater Manchester, a sense 
among voters that voting does not really make a difference. 
Many local authorities in these areas are among the weakest 
performers when it comes to their overall effectiveness, such as 
the collection of council tax and efficiency of housing benefits. 
In Merseyside, just 94% of council tax is collected. Only Trafford 
has a higher local election turnout than the UK average, with 
41% turnout.

• Social Capital is also low in these areas—they tend to have weak 
social networks, low rates of civic and social participation and 
weak family relationships. Merseyside has 117 looked after chil-
dren per 10,000, the UK’s second highest.

• Merseyside and Greater Manchester both have a weak 
Investment Environment, while the West Midlands Metropolitan 
area is slightly stronger. Businesses in Greater Manchester have 
a much lower demand for business financing than in other areas. 

• These cities are average for Enterprise Conditions, although, 
on its own the West Midlands is the best performer, with flexi-
ble labour markets and low market dominance by firms. There 
remain some challenges—for example in Greater Manchester 
20% of business owners see the living wage as a major barrier 
to doing business, compared with the UK average of 10%.

• Infrastructure is an area of strength for these metropolitan areas. 
The West Midlands metropolitan area has an average download 
speed of almost 90 Mb/s, and over 97% superfast broadband 
availability. These areas benefit from extensive road networks, 
and generally, the roads are in good condition (with the excep-
tion of several local authorities in Greater Manchester). There 
are also good rail links. 

• A number of local authorities also perform well on Economic 
Quality. Greater Manchester has a particularly dynamic econ-
omy—with 80 new businesses per 10,000 people started each 
year (compared with the national average of 56), high use of 
R&D tax credits, and a large number of high-growth companies. 
Greater Manchester also has had little volatility in economic 
activity, and 84% of small businesses recorded a profit in the 
most recent year before Covid. However, just 9% of businesses 
are high-tech, compared with 13% in London. Meanwhile, the 
Merseyside economy lacks dynamism—with low survival rates 
for new business. 

• These metro areas all experience high poverty levels. Each 
has over 20% of school students receiving free school meals, 
and more than 30% of children are in poverty. In contrast to 
the other two metropolitan areas, Merseyside has low rates 
of homelessness, with 1.6 homeless households per 100,000, 
compared with the UK average of 2 households. 

• These regions have some of the weakest health outcomes in the 
UK. Preventative interventions, such as cancer screening and 
vaccinations, are below the UK average. Mental health is also 
among the worst in the country. The prevalence of depression 
is high—out of 20 local authorities with the highest prevalence, 
9 are in one of these three metro areas. 

• Greater Manchester has better educational outcomes than the 
other two regions—with higher pre-primary enrolment rates 
and slightly higher attainment scores than the other regions. 
Nevertheless, none of the local authorities have very strong out-
comes. The level of adult skills is low—in the Western Midlands 
metropolitan area, just 31% of people have qualifications above 
level 4, with the national average almost 40%. 

• The three metropolitan areas diverge when it comes to the 
Natural Environment. Merseyside has better air quality and 
lower emissions than the other areas. Greater Manchester 
produces high emissions, but produces the lowest amount of 
rubbish per person (0.4 tonnes per year) and the third highest 
amount that is recycled out of all the regions (46%). The West 
Midlands produces the highest emissions and has much poorer 
air quality, with an estimated 6% of deaths from air pollution, 
the highest in the UK.

Metropolitan Regions vs UK average

Performance of Metropolitan Regions across the three Prosperity domains

99

Page 251



Credit: shutterstock.com

Methodology and Acknowledgements

100

Page 252



1 

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Methodology

The United Kingdom Prosperity Index has been developed as 
a practical tool to help identify what specific action needs 
to be taken to contribute to strengthening the pathways 

from poverty to prosperity across UK, reflecting both wealth and 
wellbeing at a national, regional, and local level.

The Index aims to capture the richness of a truly prosperous life, 
moving beyond traditional macroeconomic measurements of pros-
perity, which rely solely on indicators of wealth such as average 
income per person. It seeks to redefine the way we measure success, 
changing the conversation from what we are getting to who we 
are becoming. This makes it an authoritative measure of human 
progress, offering a unique insight into how prosperity is forming 
and changing across the nation.

To capture institutional, economic and social wellbeing, and not 
just one or the other, the UK Prosperity Index faces the challenge of 
finding meaningful measures of success at the local authority level. 
We have endeavoured to create an Index that is methodologically 
sound. This is something that the Legatum Institute has sought to 
achieve with academic and analytical rigour over the past decade 
with The Legatum Prosperity IndexTM and the US Prosperity Index. 

We built upon the structure of the global Prosperity Index and the 
US Prosperity Index, to develop an appropriate taxonomy that accu-
rately defines prosperity across the UK. We worked with over 40 
academic and policy experts (see page 109 for a full listing) with 
expertise on the different aspects of prosperity in a UK context. 

Over multiple iterations, through many meetings and subse-
quent correspondence, we developed a taxonomy that captured 
the characteristics across the three domains of prosperity: Open 
Economies; Inclusive Societies; and Empowered People. The result-
ing UK-focused Prosperity taxonomy contains 12 pillars and 53 
policy-focused elements (see page 8).

Establishing the indicators underpinning the UK Prosperity Index 
required the identification and application of datasets that captured 
the different characteristics of prosperity for each of 379 boroughs, 
council areas and local authorities, for which our expert panel pro-
vided invaluable guidance on the most appropriate datasets. 

Full details of the Index can be found in the methodology report, 
available at www.li.com.

101

Page 253



1 

2

3

Step by Step
For the Index, 256 indicators were selected, grouped 
into 53 discrete policy-focused elements and 12 pil-
lars of prosperity. Each of the 12 pillars captures a 
fundamental theme of prosperity, and each element 
helps to capture discrete policy areas measured by 
the indicators. Each pillar has between three and 
six elements, and each element has between one 
and nine indicators.

Standardisation

The indicators in the Index are based on many dif-
ferent units of measurement, including numbers of 
events, years, percentages, and ordinal scales. The 
indicators need to be normalised for comparison 
between indicators and countries to be meaningful. 
We employ a distance to frontier approach for this 
task. The distance to frontier approach compares a 
local authority’s performance in an indicator with 
the value of the logical best case, as well as that of 
the logical worst case. As a result, the distance to 
frontier score captures a local authority’s relative 
position. This approach also enables us to compare 
Index scores over time.

Indicator and Element weights

Each indicator is assigned a weight within the ele-
ment, indicating the level of importance it has in 
affecting prosperity. Four weights are typically used: 
0.5, 1, 1.5, or 2, with a default weighting of one. For 
example, an indicator with a weight of 2 means that 
it is twice as important in affecting the element as 
another indicator in that element with a weight of 
1. Weights were determined by two factors, ordered 
by priority: (1) the relevance and significance of the 
indicator to prosperity, as informed by the aca-
demic literature and our experts’ opinions, and, to 
a lesser degree, (2) the degree of independence of 
the indicator from other indicators in the element. 

Analogously, elements are assigned weights within 
each pillar based on their relative importance, led 
by the same two factors above. At the element 
level, percentages rather than factors are used as 
weights, giving a greater variety of possible weights 
than at the indicator level.

Selecting the indicators

Having established the taxonomy for measuring 
prosperity across the UK, the next stage was to 
identify and capture the variables that best measure 
the different characteristics of prosperity in the UK 
at a subnational level.

In constructing the Index, we identified the most 
relevant indicators within each of the elements, 
driven by a set of selection criteria as well as advice 
from external experts on UK data and research on 
each pillar. We aimed to use an extensive variety 
of publicly available data sources that accurately 
reflected what was happening at the local authority 
level, with coverage of all 379 local authorities. This 
list was refined based on input from the academic 
and policy experts on the issues covered in each 
pillar, who advised on the reliability of data sources, 
alternative measures, and the credibility of indica-
tors’ measurement.

For many indicators, it was possible to find indi-
cators at a local or near local authority level (e.g. 
Police Force Areas, or County and Unitary Authority 
level data in England). However, for some indica-
tors the local authority level data was unavailable, 
due to suppression to preserve anonymity, sample 
size for survey data, or other similar challenges. 
Where data was available at regional or other sub-
regional level (e.g. NUTS2), we have applied that 
value equally to all local authorities in that region. 
In some cases, we have used the UK-wide figure to 
give a picture of how the UK as a whole is changing 
through time. 

An additional challenge was obtaining consistent 
data from all four nations that make up the UK. In 
many cases, we were able to find similarly granu-
lar data for all four nations. In other cases, we had 
to use data at different levels of granularity—for 
example, applying a national value to all local coun-
cils within Northern Ireland. 

In other cases, the specification of data collected by 
nation varied slightly by region. We had to adjust 
values from different nations to make them more 
comparable or impute values. Details on these 
methods and the granularity of data can be found 
in the methodology document (www.li.com). We 
hope that over time we can replace this with more 
granular data.

102

Page 254



Credit: shutterstock.com

4 
equal weight to each domain, as each pillar and 
domain is as important to prosperity as each 
other. The mean of the three domain scores yields 
an overall prosperity score, and ranking, for each 
local authority. While the Index score provides an 
overall assessment of a local authority’s prosperity, 
the pillar (and element) scores serve as a reliable 
guide to how that local authority is performing with 
respect to different foundations of prosperity.

Element and Pillar scores

Element scores are created using a weighted sum 
of indicator scores using the indicator weights 
assigned at the previous step. The same process is 
repeated to determine pillar scores with elements 
within the pillar, using the percentages discussed 
at the previous step. Local authorities were then 
ranked according to their scores in each pillar. 

Domain scores are determined by assigning 
the same weight to each pillar, and the overall 
Prosperity Index score is determined by assigning 

NOTE ON AVERAGES

When calculating scores for the UK, regions and clusters, we 
take a population-weighted average score. This is because we 
want to capture the effect on individuals. For example, if two 
local authorities improve their score, then the more populous 
local authority has a greater effect on the national score than 
the less populous local authority.

103

Page 255



Credit: shutterstock.com

104

Page 256



Source abbreviation Source description Web address

AW Audit Wales https://www.audit.wales/

BEIS Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/depart-
ment-for-business-energy-and-industrial-strategy

BES British Election Study https://www.britishelectionstudy.com/

BVA BVA Group https://www.bva-group.com/en/

BVCA British Venture Capital Association https://www.bvca.co.uk/

CS Crime Survey https://www.crimesurvey.co.uk/en/index.html

CWales Careers Wales https://careerswales.gov.wales/

DEFRA Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/depart-
ment-for-environment-food-rural-affairs

DfE Department for Education (England)
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/depart-
ment-for-education

DFI Department for Infrastructure (Northern Ireland) https://www.infrastructure-ni.gov.uk/

DfT Department for Transport
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/depart-
ment-for-transport

DoE (NI) Department of Education (Northern Ireland) https://www.education-ni.gov.uk/

DWater Discover Water https://discoverwater.co.uk/

EA Environment Agency
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/environ-
ment-agency

EC Electoral Commission https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/

EEA European Environment Agency https://www.eea.europa.eu/

EONI Electoral Office for Northern Ireland https://www.eoni.org.uk/

FCA Financial Conduct Authority https://www.fca.org.uk/

FH Freedom House https://freedomhouse.org/

FR Forest Research https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/

Gallup Gallup https://www.gallup.com/home.aspx

gov.scot The Scottish Government https://www.gov.scot/

gov.uk gov.uk https://www.gov.uk/

gov.wales Welsh Government https://gov.wales/

GSI Global Slavery Index https://www.globalslaveryindex.org/

GTD Global Terrorism Database https://www.start.umd.edu/gtd/

HCL House of Commons Library https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/

Health-ni Department of Health (Northern Ireland) https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/

HMRC Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/hm-reve-
nue-customs

HOff Home Office https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/home-office

HSE Health and Safety Executive https://www.hse.gov.uk/

INRIX INRIX Global Traffic Scorecard https://inrix.com/scorecard/

IPO Intellectual Property Office
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/intellectu-
al-property-office

Kelloggs Kellogg's https://www.kelloggs.co.uk/en_GB/home.html

LGA Local Government Association https://www.local.gov.uk/

MHCLG Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/minis-
try-of-housing-communities-and-local-government

NHS NHS https://www.nhs.uk/

NHS digital NHS digital https://digital.nhs.uk/

Table of sources

105

Page 257



Source abbreviation Source description Web address

NIAO Northern Ireland Audit Office https://www.niauditoffice.gov.uk/

NIDOJ Northern Ireland Department of Justice https://www.justice-ni.gov.uk/

NIE Northern Ireland Elections https://www.ark.ac.uk/elections/

NIHE Northern Ireland Housing Executive https://www.nihe.gov.uk/

NISRA Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency https://www.nisra.gov.uk/

Northern Ireland 
Water

Northern Ireland Water https://www.niwater.com/home/

NRS National Records Scotland https://www.nrscotland.gov.uk/

OCD Open Council Data http://opencouncildata.co.uk/

OFCOM Ofcom https://www.ofcom.org.uk/

ONS Office for National Statistics https://www.ons.gov.uk/

PHE Public Health England
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/pub-
lic-health-england

PHOF Public Health Outcomes Framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-out-
comes-framework

PHScot Public Health Scotland https://www.publichealthscotland.scot/

PHWales Public Health Wales https://phw.nhs.wales/

PRC Pew Research Center https://www.pewresearch.org/

PSNI Police Service Northern Ireland https://www.psni.police.uk/

PWLB Public Works Loans Board
https://www.dmo.gov.uk/responsibilities/local-authority-lend-
ing

RF Resolution Foundation https://www.resolutionfoundation.org/

RQIA The Regulation and Quality Improvement Authority https://www.rqia.org.uk/

RsF Reporters Without Borders https://rsf.org/en

ScotPHO Scottish Public Health Observatory https://www.scotpho.org.uk/

Scottish Water Scottish Water https://www.scottishwater.co.uk/

SE Sport England https://www.sportengland.org/

SMC Social Metrics Commission https://socialmetricscommission.org.uk/

SQA Scottish Qualifications Authority https://www.sqa.org.uk/sqa/70972.html

StatsWales Statistics for Wales https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue

TEC The Elections Centre http://www.electionscentre.co.uk/

UKF UK Finance https://www.ukfinance.org.uk/

US Understanding Society https://www.understandingsociety.ac.uk/

VDEM Varieties of Democracy https://www.v-dem.net/en/

WJP World Justice Project (Rule of Law Index) https://worldjusticeproject.org/our-work/wjp-rule-law-index

106

Page 258



Credit: shutterstock.com

107

Page 259



Credit: shutterstock.com

108

Page 260



Acknowledgements

The United Kingdom  
Prosperity Index Team
The following team has worked tirelessly, and with huge passion and rigour, 
to produce the best possible Prosperity Index and this subsequent report. We 
pay tribute to them and thank them for all their dedication and hard work.

Matthew Goodwin

Daniel Herring

Matthew Latham

Joshua Lee

Rachel Luney

Beata Stepantchenko

Edward Wickstead

The Legatum Institute would like to thank the following advisors who helped 
with the review of the methodology and construction of this Index and 
its component elements. A diverse range of experts were engaged in the 
work, from academics to researchers and policy leads from a wide variety 
of universities and other organisations. This broad collaboration enabled a 
comprehensive range of views to be captured and ensure the best outcome 
at each stage of the review. In reaching a final position at each stage of the 
review (e.g. which indicators to include within an element), the Legatum 
Institute captured and synthesised all the expert views. The views expressed 
in this report, therefore, are those of the Legatum Institute and do not 
necessarily reflect the individual views of these advisors.

Inclusive Societies:

Anand Menon, Professor, King’s College London

Ben Bradley, Member of Parliament of the United Kingdom

Colin Rallings, Professor, University of Plymouth

Edward Fieldhouse, Professor, University of Manchester

Geoffrey Evans, Professor, Nuffield College, Oxford

Baroness Helen Newlove,  
Member of House of Lords of the United Kingdom

Jonathan Mellon, Senior Research Fellow, University of Manchester 

Kelly Beaver, Managing Director, Ipsos MORI

Michael McGuire, Senior Lecturer, University of Surrey

Vernon Bogdanor, Professor, King’s College London

Open Economies:

Andrés Rodríguez-Pose, Professor, London School of Economics

David Bannister, Professor, University of Oxford

David Rae, Professor, De Montfort University

Jane Green, Professor, University of Oxford

Mark Hart, Professor, Aston Business School 

Michael Fell, Senior Research Fellow, University College London

Richard Harris, Professor, Durham University

Richard Kneller, Professor, University of Nottingham

Robert Huggins, Professor, Cardiff University

Stephen Roper, Professor, Warwick Business School

Stuart McIntyre, Senior Lecturer, University of Strathclyde

Todd Landman, Professor, University of Nottingham

Tony Venables, Professor, University of Oxford

Yannis Pierrakis, Associate Professor, Kingston University

Empowered People:

Anthony Seldon, Honorary Visiting Professor, University of Buckingham

Cara Pacitti, Economist, Resolution Foundation

Claudia Hupkau. Professor, London School of Economics

David Laws, Executive Chairman, Education Policy Institute 

Edward Davies, Policy Director, Centre for Social Justice  

Francis Green, Professor, UCL Institute of Education 

Isabelle Hunt, Research Fellow, University of Manchester  

Jane Graney, Research Nurse, University of Manchester 

Jo Blanden, Professor, London School of Economics  

Joe Shalam, Head of the Financial Inclusion Policy Unit,  
Centre for Social Justice 

John Mohan, Professor, University of Birmingham 

Julia Moore, former National Director e-Learning for Healthcare, 
Department of Health and Health Education England

Kristine Beuret, Director, Social Research Associates 

Lucy Heller, Chief Executive, Ark  

Mark Stephens, Professor, Heriot-Watt University  

Mary Curnock Cook, Independent Educationalist 

Michael Kelly, Professor, University of Cambridge  

Nicholas Pleace, Professor, University of York 

Richard Lowes, Research Fellow and Lecturer, University of Exeter

Robert Joyce, Deputy Director, Institute of Fiscal Studies 

Roy Blatchford, Chief Executive, National Education Trust UK 

Unless otherwise stated, all data is from the 2021 United Kingdom 
Prosperity Index.

All original data sources can be found in the methodology report and 
online at www.li.com.

We encourage you to share the contents of this document. In so doing, 
we request that all data, findings, and analysis be attributed to the 2021 
United Kingdom Prosperity Index.

@LegatumInst 
@ProsperityIndex 

109

Page 261



Endnotes
1.  We use local authority to mean multiple types of local government body, such as district councils, borough councils  

and unitary councils. 

2.  Gisela Stuart, and Hugh Carveth, “All politics is local: Strengthening communities, transforming people's lives,”  
The Legatum Institute, 2018.

3. Harry Benson “Marriage as a social justice issue,” Marriage Foundation, September 2019. 

4. Stephen Brien and James Sproule, “Economic Openness: United Kingdom Case Study,” The Legatum Institute, 2019.

5.  “Speedtest Global Index – Monthly Comparisons Of Internet Speeds From Around The World,” Speedtest Global Index,  
accessed March 2021.

6. “Government Launches New £5Bn ‘Project Gigabit’,” GOV.UK, accessed March 2021.

7.  “New levelling up and community investments,” Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government and HM Treasury,  
3 March 2021.

8. “Infrastructure – NPH,” Northernpowerhouse.gov.uk, accessed March 2021. 

9. Michael Marmot, "Health equity in England: the Marmot review 10 years on," BMJ 368, 2020.

10. Michael Marmot, “Health equity in England: the Marmot review 10 years on,” BMJ 368, 2020.

11.  “United Kingdom: Country Health Profile 2019, State of Health in the EU,” OECD/European Observatory on Health Systems  
and Policies, 2019.

12.  “Prevalence of ongoing symptoms following coronavirus (COVID-19) infection in the UK: 1 April 2021,” Office for National 
Statistics, 1 April 2021.

13.  Douglas M, Katikireddi S V, Taulbut M, McKee M, McCartney G. “Mitigating the wider health effects of covid-19 pandemic 
response.“ BMJ 369, 2020.

14. “Too long to wait: the impact of COVID-19 on elective surgery,” The Lancet Rheumatology, February 2021.

15.  Jon Andrews, David Robinson, and Jo Hutchinson. “Closing The Gap? Trends In Educational Attainment And Disadvantage,” 
Education Policy Institute, 2017.

16.  “2019 UK Greenhouse Gas Emissions, Provisional Figures,” UK Gov and Department for Business, Energy and Industrial  
Strategy, 2019.  

17.  “Get Brexit Done: Unleash Britain’s Potential,” The Conservative and Unionist Party, 2019.

18. “Business Advice and Support,” Pembrokeshire County Council, 16 July 2020.

19. “Rough Sleeping Services Procurement Strategy”, London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham, 4 January 2021.

20. “Newham Council sets out new strategy to tackle homelessness and rough sleeping”, Newham Council, 4 December 2019.

110

Page 262



ABOUT THE LEGATUM INSTITUTE

The Legatum Institute is a London-based think-tank with a bold vision to create a global movement of people committed to creating the 
pathways from poverty to prosperity and the transformation of society. We seek to fulfil our mission by raising up leaders of character, 
restoring an ethical vitality to all sectors of society, and developing the practical solutions and data tools that will help build inclusive and 
peaceful societies with open economies and empowered people. Our Centre for Metrics creates indexes and datasets to measure and 
explain how poverty and prosperity are changing. Our Research Programmes analyse the many complex drivers of poverty and prosperity 
at the local, national and global level. Our Practical Programmes identify the actions required to enable transformational change. For more 
information about the United Kingdom Prosperity Index or to speak to one of the Legatum Institute’s experts, please email info@li.com.

Page 263

mailto:info%40li.com?subject=


PROSPERITY INDEX

CREATING THE PATHWAYS FROM POVERTY TO PROSPERITY

MAY 2021

The Legatum Institute is a London-
based think-tank with a bold vision to 

create a global movement of people 
committed to creating the pathways 

from poverty to prosperity and the 
transformation of society.

Legatum Institute
11 Charles Street 

London W1J 5DW  
United Kingdom

T: +44 (0) 20 7148 5400

www.li.com
www.prosperity.com

@LegatumInst 
@ProsperityIndex 

Page 264



People and Health Scrutiny Committee – Forward Plan  
 

Title  Description Date of 
Committee 
Meeting 

Requested 
by 

Report Author Portfolio Holder/s  Other Meetings 
(CLT, SLT, 
Cabinet etc) 

Budget Scrutiny 
(Single item 
meeting) 

Consideration of 
budget proposals 
before proceeding 
to produce the final 
budget paper for 
recommendation 
to Cabinet on 18 
January 2022. 
 

10 December 
2021 
 

Part of 
annual 
budget 
process 

Jim Mcmanus – 
Corporate Director 
Finance and 
Commercial 

 Portfolio Holder for 
Finance Commercial 
and Capital Strategy 

Cabinet – 18 
January 2022 
Full Council – 15 
February 2022 

       

Home First 
 

An update on the 
effectiveness and 
progress of Home 
First 
 

31 January 2022  Kristen Dominey, 
Dorset Healthcare 
Vanessa Read, Director 
of Nursing, CCG  
Vivienne Broadhurst, 
Interim Executive 
Director for People, 
Adults 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Adult Social Care 
and Health 

 

Performance 
Scrutiny 

A review of the 

relevant Dorset 

Council 

performance 

dashboard to 

inform the Scrutiny 

Committee’s 

Forward Plan and 

identify items for 

deep dives. 

 

31 January 2022 David Bonner David Bonner, Service 
Manager for Business 
Intelligence and 
Performance 

Portfolio Holder for 
Corporate 
Development and 
Change 

 

P
age 265

A
genda Item

 9



Title  Description Date of 
Committee 
Meeting 

Requested 
by 

Report Author Portfolio Holder/s  Other Meetings 
(CLT, SLT, 
Cabinet etc) 

Ofsted Feedback To provide the 
committee with 
feedback from the 
recent Ofsted visit. 

31 January 2021 Theresa 
Leavy 

Theresa Leavy, 
Executive Director for 
People - Children 

Portfolio Holder for 
Children, Education, 
Skills and Early 
Help  
 

Cabinet 7 
December 2021 

       

Integrated Care 
System update 
through winter 
 

Review of system 
response to winter 
pressures 
including Home 
First 

14 March 2022 
 

 Vanessa Read, Director 
of Nursing, CCG 
Lesley Hutchinson, 
Corporate Director of 
Commissioning. 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Adult Social Care 
and Health 

 

Fostering Service Review progress 
on the fostering 
improvement plan 

14 March 2022 Chairman Sarah-Jane Smedmor, 
Corporate Director for 
Care and Protection 

Portfolio Holder for 
Children, Education, 
Skills and Early 
Help  
 

Corporate 
Parenting Board 

       
Potential 
agenda items to 
be considered 

      

Dorset Centre of 
Excellence 
 

To scrutinise the 
provision of the 
service 

TBC  
Post September 
2022 

 Theresa Leavy, 
Executive Director 
People, Children 

Portfolio Holder for 
Children, Education, 
Skills and Early 
Help  

 

Progress of 
Implementation 
of the Dorset 
Care Framework 

Consider whether 
actions contained 
in the Cabinet 
report 220621 
have resulted in 
better outcomes 
for residents and 
DC 

Timing TBC 
(dependent on 
when contract 
is agreed and 
following   time 
needed to settle 
in) (November 
2022 TBC) 
 

 Vivienne Broadhurst, 
Executive Director 
People, Adults 

Portfolio Holder for 
Adult Care and 
Health 

 

P
age 266



 

P
age 267



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
The Cabinet Forward Plan - October 2021 - January 2022 (Publication date 6 September 2021) updated 

For the period 1 OCTOBER 2021 to 31 JANUARY 2022  
(Publication date - ???) 

Explanatory Note: 

This Forward Plan contains future items to be considered by the Cabinet and Council.  It is published 28 days before the next meeting of the Committee.  
The plan includes items for the meeting including key decisions.  Each item shows if it is ‘open’ to the public or to be considered in a private part of the 
meeting. 
 
Definition of Key Decisions 

Key decisions are defined in Dorset Council's Constitution as decisions of the Cabinet which are likely to - 

(a) to result in the relevant local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the relevant 
local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (Thresholds - £500k); or 

(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of 
the relevant local authority.” 

In determining the meaning of “significant” for these purposes the Council will have regard to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State in 
accordance with section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 Act.  Officers will consult with lead members to determine significance and sensitivity. 
 
Cabinet Portfolio Holders 2021/22 
Spencer Flower   Leader / Governance, Performance and Communications 
Peter Wharf    Deputy Leader / Corporate Development and Change 
Gary Suttle    Finance, Commercial and Capital Strategy 
Ray Bryan    Highways, Travel and Environment  
Tony Ferrari   Economic Growth, Assets & Property 
David Walsh    Planning 
Jill Haynes   Customer and Community Services  
Andrew Parry   Children, Education, Skills and Early Help 
Laura Miller   Adult Social Care and Health 
Graham Carr-Jones   Housing and Community Safety 
 

P
age 269



 

October 

 
 

 

Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP) and budget strategy 

 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 

 

To receive a budget update for 
2022/23. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 

 
 

Decision Date 
5 Oct 2021 

 

 
 

 

Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 

and Capital Strategy 

Jim McManus, Corporate 
Director - Finance and 

Commercial  
J.McManus@dorsetcc.gov.
uk  

Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 

Dunn) 

Draft Council Plan 

 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 

 

To discuss and agree the updated 
council plan.  

Decision Maker 

Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 

5 Oct 2021 
 

Place and Resources 

Overview Committee  
People and Health 
Overview Committee  

17 Sep 2021  
2 Sep 2021  
 

Deputy Leader - 

Corporate 
Development and 
Change, Leader of the 

Council 

Rebecca Forrester, 

Business Intelligence & 
Performance  
rebecca.forrester@dorsetco

uncil.gov.uk, Bridget 
Downton, Head of Business 
Insight and Corporate 

Communications 
Chief Executive (Matt 
Prosser) 

Dorset Skills Commission 
 

Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 

The establishment of a 
dedicated Commission will 

oversee an effective and at 
pace response to a jobs-led 
approach to COVID-19 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 

 
 

Decision Date 
5 Oct 2021 

 

 
 

 

Portfolio Holder for 
Economic Growth, 

Assets and Property, 
Portfolio Holder for 
Children, Education, 

Skills and Early Help 

John Sellgren, Executive 
Director, Place  

john.sellgren@dorsetcounci
l.gov.uk  
Executive Director, Place 

(John Sellgren) 

Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

P
age 270



 Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

economic recovery.  It would 

also provide an objective and 
independent review of the 
future Dorset Skills landscape, 

helping to shape a world-class 
skills and learning 

infrastructure for all 
communities.  

LGA Finance Peer Review - Report 
and Action Plan 
 

Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 

This report will see the publication 
of the LGA finance peer review 
report and the accompanying 
action plan to address the 
recommendations.  

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 

 

Decision Date 
5 Oct 2021 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy, 

Portfolio Holder for 
Economic Growth, 
Assets and Property, 

Leader of the Council, 
Deputy Leader - 
Corporate 

Development and 
Change 

Jim McManus, Corporate 
Director - Finance and 
Commercial  

J.McManus@dorsetcc.gov.
uk  
Executive Director, 

Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn) 

Tricuro Options Paper 

 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Fully exempt 

 
 

Decision Maker 

Cabinet 
 

Decision Date 

5 Oct 2021 
 

 

 
 

Portfolio Holder for 

Adult Social Care and 
Health 

Lesley Hutchinson, 

Corporate Director for 
Adults Commissioning  
Lesley.Hutchinson@dorsetc

c.gov.uk  
Vivienne Broadhurst 

Weymouth Quay Regeneration 
Project - agreement to make 
payments over £500,000 

 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Fully exempt 

 

Seeking agreement that payments 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 

 

Decision Date 
5 Oct 2021 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Highways, Travel and 
Environment 

Ken Buchan, Head of 
Environment and Wellbeing  
ken.buchan@dorsetcouncil.

gov.uk  
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 

P
age 271



 Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

in excess of £500 can be made in 
relation to the project.  

November 

 
 

 

Phase 2 Parking Charges Project 
 

Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 

To consider a report on the Phase 
2 Parking Charges Project. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 

 
 

Decision Date 
2 Nov 2021 

 

 
 

 

Portfolio Holder for 
Highways, Travel and 

Environment 

Elizabeth Murray, Strategic 
Park ing Project Manager  

elizabeth.murray@dorsetcc.
gov.uk  
Executive Director, Place 

(John Sellgren) 

Review of Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
expenditure 

 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 

 

Recommendation from Place and 
Resources Scrutiny Committee  
Position report on CIL governance 
and expenditure to date.  

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 

 

Decision Date 
2 Nov 2021 
 

Place and Resources 
Scrutiny Committee  
19 Oct 2021  

 

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning 

Andrew Galpin, 
Infrastructure & Delivery 
Planning Manager  

andrew.galpin@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk  
Executive Director, Place 

(John Sellgren) 

Dorset Council High Needs Block 
Management Strategy 
 

Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 

 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 

Decision Date 
2 Nov 2021 
 

 
 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Children, Education, 
Skills and Early Help 

Vik  Verma, Interim Director 
of Education and Learning  
vik .verma@dorsetcc.gov.uk  

Executive Director, People - 
Children (Theresa Leavy) 

Quarter 2 (Q2) Financial 

Management Report 

Decision Maker 

Cabinet 

Decision Date 

2 Nov 2021 

 

 

Portfolio Holder for 

Finance, Commercial 

Jim McManus, Corporate 

Director - Finance and 

P
age 272



 Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

 

Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 

To consider the Council’s revenue 
budget position at the end of Q2 
and the changes since Q1 

 

 

  and Capital Strategy Commercial  

J.McManus@dorsetcc.gov.
uk  
Executive Director, 

Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn) 

Review of Commercial Strategy - 

Commissioning and Procurement 
Overview 
 

Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 

To consider a proposed revision 
to the current Corporate 
Procurement Strategy.  

Decision Maker 

Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 

2 Nov 2021 
 

Place and Resources 

Overview Committee  
17 Sep 2021  
 

Portfolio Holder for 

Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy 

Dawn Adams, Service 

Manager for Commercial 
and Procurement  
dawn.adams@dorsetcounci

l.gov.uk  
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 

Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn) 

Transformation Plan Annual 
Report 
 

Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 

Annual report detailing progress 
against year 1 of the 
transformation plan and setting 
out the proposed year 2 plan 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 
 

 

Decision Date 
2 Nov 2021 
 

 
 
 

Deputy Leader - 
Corporate 
Development and 

Change 

Deborah Smart, Corporate 
Director – Digital & Change  
deborah.smart@dorsetcoun

cil.gov.uk  
Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 

Section 151 Officer (Aidan 
Dunn) 

Establishing a Shared Services 

Joint Committee for BCP and 
Dorset Councils 
 

Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 

Decision Maker 

Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 

2 Nov 2021 
 

 

 
 

Leader of the Council Lisa. Cotton, Head of 

Customer Services, 
Libraries & Archives  
lisa.cotton@dorsetcouncil.g

ov.uk, Jonathan Mair, 
Corporate Director - Legal & 
Democratic Service 

P
age 273



 Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

Report detailing the set up and 
governance arrangements for 
establishing a Joint Committee 
Structure to oversee the shared 
services of:  
• Joint Archives Service 
• Coroner and Mortuary Service 
• Skills and Learning Service 
delivering services for 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole Council and Dorset Council 

Monitoring Officer  

jonathan.mair@dorsetcounc
il.gov.uk  
Corporate Director, Legal 

and Democratic Services - 
Monitoring Officer 
(Jonathan Mair) 

Wareham Neighbourhood Plan 
2019 - 2034 

 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 

 

This report relates to the making 
(adoption) of the Wareham 
Neighbourhood Plan 2019 - 2034. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 

 
 

Decision Date 
2 Nov 2021 

 

 
 

 

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning 

Ed Gerry, Prinicpal 
Planning Policy Team 

Leader  
ed.gerry@dorsetcouncil.gov
.uk  

Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 

Dorchester Town Council - 
Dorchester City Bid 

 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 

 

To approve Dorchester Town 
Council's bid for Dorchester City 
Status 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 

 
 

Decision Date 
2 Nov 2021 

 

 
 

 

Leader of the Council Rebecca Forrester, 
Business Intelligence & 

Performance  
rebecca.forrester@dorsetco
uncil.gov.uk  

Chief Executive (Matt 
Prosser) 

Dorset Domestic Abuse Strategy 
 

Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 
 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 

 
 

Decision Date 
2 Nov 2021 

 

 
 

 

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and 

Community Safety 

Andy Frost, Community 
Safety and Drug Action 

Manager  
andy.frost@dorsetcouncil.g
ov.uk  

P
age 274



 Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

The Council is required to publish 
a domestic abuse strategy under 
the Domestic Abuse Act 2021. A 
strategy has been prepared in 
conjunction with the Local 
Domestic Abuse Partnership 
Board. Cabinet are being asked to 
approve the strategy and agree 
for it to be published. 

Executive Director, People - 

Adults 

December 

 
 

 

Enabling Communities Strategy 
 

Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 
 

The Communities Strategy will 
shape how Dorset Council 
engages and enables of 
communities. 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 

 
 

Decision Date 
7 Dec 2021 

 

People and Health 
Overview Committee  

9 Nov 2021  
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Customer and 

Community Services 

Laura Cornette, Business 
Partner - Communities and 

Partnerships  
Laura.cornette@dorsetcoun
cil.gov.uk  

Chief Executive (Matt 
Prosser) 

Household Recycling Centre (HRC) 

Vehicle Access Policy 
 
Key Decision - Yes 

Public Access - Open 
 

Review of legacy policy controlling 
access to HRCs. This includes the use 
of vans, hire vans, trailers and other 
vehicle types. Policy is applicable to 
all Dorset Council wards. A public 

Decision Maker 

Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 

7 Dec 2021 
 

Place and Resources 

Overview Committee  
21 Oct 2021  
 

Portfolio Holder for 

Customer and 
Community Services 

Gemma Clinton, Head of 

Commercial Waste and 
Strategy  
gemma.clinton@dorsetwast

epartnership.gov.uk  
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 

P
age 275



 Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

consultation will be conducted to 
inform outcomes. 

Park Home Fees Policy 

 
Key Decision - No 
Public Access - Open 

 

The Park Homes Fees Policy 
allows the Council to charge for a 
number of licensing activities 
carried out on park homes sites in 
Dorset under the Mobile Homes 
Act 2013 and Regulations related 
to the Fit and Proper Person 
Register for Park Homes. 

Decision Maker 

Cabinet 
 
 

Decision Date 

7 Dec 2021 
 

Licensing Committee  

17 Nov 2021  
 

Portfolio Holder for 

Customer and 
Community Services 

Richard Conway, Service 

Manager for Housing 
Standards  
richard.conway@dorsetcou

ncil.gov.uk  
Executive Director, Place 
(John Sellgren) 

January 2022 

 
 

 

Quarter 3 (Q3) Financial 
Management Report 

 
Key Decision - Yes 
Public Access - Open 

 

To consider the Council’s revenue 
budget position at the end of Q3 
and the changes since Q2 

Decision Maker 
Cabinet 

 
 

Decision Date 
18 Jan 2022 

 

 
 

 

Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 

and Capital Strategy 

Jim McManus, Corporate 
Director - Finance and 

Commercial  
J.McManus@dorsetcc.gov.
uk  

Executive Director, 
Corporate Development - 
Section 151 Officer (Aidan 

Dunn) 

Budget Strategy Report 
 
Key Decision - Yes 

Public Access - Open 
 

Decision Maker 
Dorset Council 
 

 

Decision Date 
15 Feb 2022 
 

Cabinet  
Place and Resources 
Scrutiny Committee  

People and Health Scrutiny 
Committee  

Portfolio Holder for 
Finance, Commercial 
and Capital Strategy 

Jim McManus, Corporate 
Director - Finance and 
Commercial  

J.McManus@dorsetcc.gov.
uk  

P
age 276



 Subject / Decision Decision Maker Date the 
Decision is 

Due 

Other Committee(s) 
consulted and 

Date of meeting(s) 

Portfolio Holder Officer Contact 

The Council is required to set a 
balanced revenue budget, and to 
approve a level of council tax as 
an integral part of this. 

18 Jan 2022  

10 Dec 2021  
10 Dec 2021  
 

Corporate Director, Legal 

and Democratic Services - 
Monitoring Officer 
(Jonathan Mair) 

 

P
age 277



 

10 

Private/Exempt Items for Decision 
Each item in the plan above marked as ‘private’ will refer to one of the following paragraphs.  

 

1. Information relating to any individual.   
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.  
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information).   

4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 
between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority.   

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.   

6. Information which reveals that the shadow council proposes:- 
 (a)  to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b)  to make an order or direction under any enactment.   

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of cr ime.   
 
 

P
age 278


	Agenda
	5 Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report
	6 Adult Care Market Sufficiency and the Impact of Covid-19
	7 Health Recovery Plans
	MIU Review request form
	review-request-form

	8 Social Mobility Self-Assessment
	Deprivation and Inequality in context with children and adults public health final
	Early Help Outcomes and Impact Statement
	Levelling Up Report - Understanding People - Understanding Places
	UK-Prosperity-Index-2021
	Foreword
	Using the United States Prosperity Index
	Executive Summary
	Defining Inclusive Societies
	Defining Open Economies

	The pillars of u.s. prosperity at a glance
	The U.S. state Prosperity Index
	Pillar profiles



	Defining Empowered People

	County level findings
	Methodology and Acknowledgements




	9 Committee and Cabinet Forward Plans
	Printed plan October 2021 - January 2022 Publication date 6 September 2021 updated Cabinet




